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K EY  F I G U R E S

KEY FIGURES 

1/1 - 12/31/2019 1/1 - 12/31/2018 Change

Consolidated revenues 1,2 in € millions 3,192.2 2,902.9 10%

Consolidated revenues (annualized) 1,2 in € millions 3,390.9 3,333.0 2%

EBITDA 1,2 in € millions 73.7 65.7 12%

Consolidated profit/loss 1,3 in € millions 18.3 -39.5 >100%

Earnings per share

basic 1,2 in EUR -4.73 -0.80 >-100%

diluted 1,2 in EUR -4.30 -0.64 >-100%

Cash flows from operating activities 1 in € millions -76.1 -50.0 -52%

Cash flows from investing activities 1 in € millions 204.6 -148.1 >100%

Free cash flow 1 in € millions 128.5 -198.1 >100%

12/31/2019 12/31/2018 Change

Assets 3 in € millions 2,541.5 2,166.3 17%

of which cash and cash equivalents in € millions 435.7 290.8 50%

Liabilities 3 in € millions 2,113.3 1,627.3 30%

of which financial liabilities in € millions 468.9 480.6 -2%

Equity 3,4 in € millions 428.2 539.0 -21%

Equity ratio 3,4 in % 16.8 24.9 -33%

Employees at the reporting date 13,486 15,131 -11%
1  The prior-year consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of cash flows were adjusted for 

 comparison purposes according to the provisions set forth under IFRS 3.45 ff. and IFRS 5.

2 From continued operations.

3  The prior-year consolidated statement of financial position was adjusted for comparison purposes according to the provisions set  
forth under IFRS 3.45 ff.

4 Including non-controlling interests.
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L E T T E R  TO  S H A R E H O L D E R S

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

Dear shareholders, employees, and friends of our company,

2019 was another successful business year for AURELIUS. We completed the biggest company sale in the history of 
AURELIUS with the sale of SOLIDUS in the middle of 2019. Other company sales, promising acquisitions and the 
positive performance of our portfolio companies are all reflected in the present results for the 2019 financial year. 

In the 2019 financial year, consolidated revenues from continued operations rose by ten percent to EUR 3,192.2 
million and the earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) reached EUR 73.7 million, 
up by twelve percent from the previous year. Thanks to the successful company sales, cash and cash equivalents 
increased substantially, by 50 percent, to EUR 435.7 million. 

Looking back to the beginning, it is clear that our company’s history has been a success story, as outlined below. In 
the time since the company’s founding and IPO in 2006, we have significantly increased the company value of 
AURELIUS. In the same period, we have paid dividends of more than EUR 600 million to our shareholders and in-
vested about EUR 200 million in share buybacks. This very good performance can be credited to your support and 
the dedication of the entire workforce of the AURELIUS Group.

Considering the macroeconomic conditions during the time since the company was founded, our success story is 
not the result of an ideal economic environment, but the consequence of making the right decisions at the right 
times. After all, this period was marked by serious crises. The upheaval of financial markets in 2008/2009 and the 
consequences for the banking system, the potential insolvency of some European nations and the possible end of 
the euro posed substantial risks and generated strong headwinds. From the beginning, the AURELIUS Group has 
specialized in the acquisition of companies and corporate spin-offs in crisis and exceptional situations. For this 
reason, an economy in upheaval presents an exciting and attractive environment for AURELIUS. 

Today, the global economy is under serious strain again. The foreseeable consequences of Brexit, the return to a 
nationalistic economic and trade policy by the United States and the coronavirus outbreak are doubtlessly the 
most significant factors threatening the future development of the global economy. The first two factors have 
hovered over all our heads like a sword of Damocles for some time already. The ongoing coronavirus crisis poses 
as yet unquantifiable risks for the economy in general and therefore also for AURELIUS.

In the past year, we again nevertheless successfully identified and took advantage of opportunities in this 
 uncertain environment. We sold four portfolio companies and acquired five new companies in 2019. In addition 
to the sale of SOLIDUS, which was the biggest exit in the history of AURELIUS with a multiple of 16 on capital 
 employed and an enterprise value of EUR 330 million, we scored another very successful exit in October with the 
sale of the Scandinavian  Cosmetics Group. The five new platform investments made in 2019 provide a highly 
 promising basis for success in the future. The existing portfolio of currently 24 group companies also turned in a 
solid performance. 

We have gotten off to a successful start to 2020. In January the subsidiary GHOTEL hotel & living was sold for 
EUR 63 million. The pipeline of further transactions is well filled. The further effects of the ongoing coronavirus 
crisis on the global economy and our portfolio companies are not foreseeable at the present time. We are 
 monitoring developments closely and will react quickly when necessary. 
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L E T T E R  TO  S H A R E H O L D E R S

As satisfied as we were with the performance of our portfolio companies in the past year, we were much less 
 satisfied with the development of our share price. Besides the generally volatile state of the stock market, the 
repeated manipulation attempts of a short seller caused a substantial drop in our share price last year.

We have done our best to counter these short-selling attacks with facts, and in one case we called in the German 
Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (known in Germany as BaFin) and the criminal prosecution authorities. In 
response, BaFin issued a warning and announced on February 4, 2020 that Ontake Research is in violation of 
 Section 86 (1) of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG). 

We continue to welcome an open and constructive dialog with private and institutional investors and with regis-
tered and regulated providers of securities research. However, we will not engage in discussions with anonymous 
market manipulators, but leave it to BaFin and the German justice authorities to deal with this problem.

We wish to thank our shareholders and all employees, supporters and friends of the AURELIUS Group. Together we 
will write the next chapter of our success story in 2020.

Sincerely yours,

The Executive Board of AURELIUS Management SE,  
personally liable shareholder of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA 

Munich, March 2020

Dr. Dirk Markus Gert Purkert Steffen Schiefer

Fritz Seemann Matthias Täubl
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The Executive Board of AURELIUS Management SE
(from left to right: Fritz Seemann, Gert Purkert, Matthias Täubl, Dr. Dirk Markus, Steffen Schiefer)

T H E  E X E C UT I V E  B OA R D

 Home
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T H E  E X E C UT I V E  B OA R D

THE EXECUTIVE BOARD

Dr. Dirk Markus
Chief Executive Officer

Dr. Dirk Markus has overseen more than 100 private equity transactions since buying his first business in 2002. 
Previously he was with McKinsey & Company, where as a project manager he focused on process optimization 
and digitization as well as restructuring topics. Dirk was born in Regensburg, Germany, and grew up in Austria. He 
studied business administration in St. Gallen, Switzerland, and Copenhagen as a scholar of the German Academic 
Scholarship Foundation (Studienstiftung) and was awarded a PhD by St. Gallen. During his PhD studies, he spent 
a term as Visiting Research Fellow at Harvard University. Dirk is a member of the board of Trustees of the START 
Foundation, providing scholarships to gifted children with a migration background.

Gert Purkert
After studying physics in Leipzig and Lausanne/Switzerland, Gert Purkert worked for McKinsey & Company, 
where he gathered experience in process improvements, cost reduction programs and strategic restructuring 
programs.After that, he co-founded equinet AG in Frankfurt, an investment bank advising mainly small to medi-
um-sized enterprises. As a member of the Executive Board of the Group’s portfolio company, he was responsible 
for conducting numerous M&A transactions and managing the portfolio companies.

Steffen Schiefer
After studying Business Administration at Johann-Wolfgang-Goethe University in Frankfurt am Main, Steffen 
Schiefer worked for DAX-listed Metallgesellschaft AG in Frankfurt am Main. In 1996, he joined ProSiebenSat.1 Me-
dia AG as part of the IPO team. As Vice President Group Accounting, he was responsible for setting up the group 
accounting. He also served as Chief Financial Officer of wetter.com AG, a subsidiary of the ProSiebenSat.1 Group.
In mid-2008, Steffen joined AURELIUS as Director Finance and has been CFO of AURELIUS since 2012. He is respon-
sible for internal and external accounting as well as valuation, taxes, treasury and internal auditing.

Fritz Seemann
Fritz Seemann studied mechanical engineering at Berlin Technical University. Since 1999 he has worked on the 
realignment and operative improvement of companies, first as Senior Principal at Droege & Comp. and then as a 
consultant and interim manager. In 2009, Fritz joined AURELIUS where, among other things, he was responsible 
for the successful realignment of the portfolio companies Secop and Solidus.

Matthias Täubl
Matthias Täubl studied International Business Relations at the University of Applied Sciences in Eisenstadt/
Austria and at Helsinki Business Polytechnic. After a few years with Knorr-Bremse AG and a midsized M&A- and 
restructuring advisory company he joined AURELIUS in 2008 and since then held various positions in the AURELIUS 
Task Force. Among others transactions, Matthias was responsible for AURELIUS‘ successful realignment of Getron-
ics group.

AU RELI US AN N UAL REPORT  I  7



 Home

REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

In financial year 2019, the Supervisory Board duly carried out the tasks within its remit, as is its duty in accordance 
with the law and the Articles of Association and by-laws. In particular, it continuously monitored the work of the 
Executive Board of AURELIUS Management SE, personally liable shareholder of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE 
& Co. KGaA and advised it in relation to its management tasks and in matters concerning the strategic further 
development of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA as well as in relation to key decisions.

In the past financial year 2019, the collaboration between the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board was 
characterized by a close relationship based on trust. The Executive Board of AURELIUS Management SE, personally 
liable shareholder of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA informed the Supervisory Board on a continu-
ous, timely and comprehensive basis, both orally and in writing, of the main matters of relevance to the Company 
and the group companies. All matters were discussed in detail. 

The Supervisory Board examined the situation and prospects of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA in 
detail and advised the Company conscientiously. The most important aspects involved business development 
and financial position, cash flows and financial performance, including the risk situation, significant business 
transactions and corporate planning.

The following report by the Supervisory Board for financial year 2019 explains its main focal points.

Important topics addressed by the Supervisory Board in financial year 2019
In financial year 2019, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA acquired five corporate groups, while four 
corporate groups were sold.

At the end of September 2019, UK-based commercial fleet management company Rivus Fleet Solutions (formerly 
BT Fleet Solutions) was taken over by BT Group Plc. At the beginning of October 2019, AURELIUS completed the 
acquisition from Grafton Group Plc of Belgian building supplies retailer BMC Benelux, which uses the two brand 
names MPRO and YouBuild to target small and medium-sized clients from the construction industry. The takeover 
of Armstrong Ceiling Solutions from Knauf was announced in August 2019, and the transaction is expected to be 
completed in the first quarter of 2020. The purchase of ZIM Flugsitze, a German manufacturer of Economy and 
Premium Economy aeroplane seats, from the founding family was announced in December 2019, and the transac-
tion was closed as of February 28, 2020. Likewise in December, the acquisition of the Distrelec and Nedis divisions 
from the Swiss Dätwyler Group was agreed. The deal was closed on March 16, 2020. 

In February 2019, the Working Links Group left the consolidated group of AURELIUS: The business with welfare 
and rehabilitation services for the UK authorities (‘CRC’ or community rehabilitation companies) was sold to 
 service provider Seetec with its headquarters in Hockley (UK). 

In April 2019, the subsidiary Granovit with its registered offices in Lucens (Switzerland) was sold to the existing 
management under CEO Andreas Fischer as part of a management buy-out. 

In early September 2019, SOLIDUS, a provider of sustainable packaging solutions made from recycled paper, was 
sold to private equity funds advised by Centerbridge Partners L.P. 

The Scandinavian Cosmetics Group was sold to Scandinavian investment fund Accent Equity 2017 upon closing in 
November 2019. 

R E P O RT  O F  T H E  S U P E RV I S O RY  B OA R D
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In November 2019, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities AB, a wholly owned subsidiary of AURELIUS Equity Opportuni-
ties SE & Co. KGaA, placed unsecured and unsubordinated bonds of EUR 75 million with a term of 5 years and an 
interest rate corresponding to the 3-month Euribor (set at at least zero) plus a margin of 425 basis points. The 
bonds can be increased to up to EUR 200 million. The bonds are guaranteed by AURELIUS Equity  Opportunities SE 
& Co. KGaA.

Supervisory Board meetings in financial year 2019
The Supervisory Board of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA convened for three meetings in financial 
year 2019. All board members were present at all meetings. The Supervisory Board adopted resolutions by way of 
written circulation between meetings in certain circumstances. No committees were formed. All current matters 
of interest to the AURELIUS Group are jointly deliberated in the Supervisory Board by all members. All Supervisory 
Board members possess the necessary knowledge and professional experience to perform their duties in an 
 appropriate manner.

A particularly important topic at the Supervisory Board meetings was the operational development of the 
AURELIUS Group’s subsidiaries, i.e. the intended corporate policies and other basic questions of managerial plan-
ning, company profitability, and the course of business, including its investments. The Executive Board regularly 
reported on these matters in the Supervisory Board meetings.

In the meeting held on March 27, 2019, the Supervisory Board dealt with the approval of both the annual financial 
statements and the consolidated financial statements for financial year 2018 alongside regular reporting. 

In the meeting held on July 19, 2019, the Supervisory Board devoted its time to regular reporting and follow-up to 
the Annual General Meeting.

Alongside regular reporting, the Supervisory Board discussed and approved the 2020 budget in the meeting held 
on December 11, 2019.

Collaboration between the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board
Draft resolutions for matters requiring the approval of the Supervisory Board were always presented to it 
promptly. It granted its approval in all cases after reviewing the respective draft resolution as well as after thor-
ough consultation with the Executive Board of the personally liable shareholder. 

The Supervisory Board was informed of all significant transactions between meetings. In certain circumstances, 
it adopted resolutions by way of written circulation.

The reports covered all key aspects for AURELIUS’ business activities, notably including current business perfor-
mance, the development of the business and cash flow situation, relevant business events as well as strategic 
decisions regarding the business strategy and its opportunities and risks. Between the Supervisory Board meet-
ings, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board remained in regular contact; as a result, the Supervisory Board 
was informed at all times of important current developments and was able to provide advisory support for the 
Executive Board. 

Current key indicators and the associated budgets as well as the comparative prior-year values that the Super-
visory Board received as part of monthly reporting in writing formed the basis of the discussions. The Supervisory 
Board examined important documents related to budget planning and financial statements and assured itself 
that these documents were correct and appropriate. The body carefully and thoroughly reviewed and discussed 
all reports and documents presented to it. As a result, there was no cause for subsequent complaint concerning 
the Executive Board. 

R E P O RT  O F  T H E  S U P E RV I S O RY  B OA R D
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R E P O RT  O F  T H E  S U P E RV I S O RY  B OA R D

The Supervisory Board thoroughly discussed the ongoing managerial planning and corporate strategy.

A special focus was placed on the income and risk situation of individual group entities. Basic questions of mana-
gerial planning were also regularly discussed by the Supervisory Board. These included in particular financial, in-
vestment, and human resources planning, questions related to risks and opportunities as well as risk manage-
ment. The body assured itself on an ongoing basis that the Executive Board was conducting the Company’s 
business appropriately and was taking all necessary measures in a timely and effective manner, including appro-
priate measures related to risk provisions and compliance. The Supervisory Board confirmed that the Executive 
Board had taken all suitable measures according to Section 91 (2) AktG and that the risk monitoring system pre-
scribed by that law functions correctly.

Corporate Governance
The Supervisory Board regularly reviews the efficiency of its activities. No conflicts of interest were reported to 
the Supervisory Board in the reporting period.

Audit of the annual financial statements for financial year 2019
The annual financial statements of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA and the consolidated fi-
nancial statements of the Group for financial year 2019 prepared by the personally liable shareholder were 
audited by the Munich branch of KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, together with the accounting 
records and the group management report. The annual financial statements of AURELIUS Equity Opportuni-
ties SE & Co. KGaA prepared by the personally liable shareholder in accordance with German accounting 
standards, together with the bookkeeping system, were audited by the Munich branch of KPMG AG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft. No objections were raised based on the audit. Therefore, an unqualified 
audit opinion was issued for the annual financial statements of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. 
KGaA as of December 31, 2019. The consolidated financial statements prepared by the personally liable share-
holder voluntarily in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the combined 
management report of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA and the Group for financial year 2019 
were audited by the Munich branch of KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, together with the book-
keeping system. An audit opinion was issued for the consolidated financial statements, with the qualifica-
tion that the information required under IFRS 3.59 ff and IFRS 8.23 was not disclosed on an itemized basis in 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements. The annual financial statements of AURELIUS Equity Op-
portunities SE & Co. KGaA, the consolidated financial statements, and the combined management report of 
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA and the Group as well as the auditor’s long-form audit reports 
and the personally liable shareholder’s proposal for utilization of the distributable profit for the year were 
presented to the Supervisory Board promptly for review. The Supervisory Board thoroughly reviewed the 
documents submitted to it in accordance with Section 170 (1) and (2) German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) 
and the audit reports of the independent auditor.

The Supervisory Board concurred with the audit findings of the Munich branch of KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprü-
fungsgesellschaft. As the final result of its own review, the Supervisory Board noted that it had no objec-
tions. The Supervisory Board concurred with the management report prepared by the personally liable 
shareholder. The Supervisory Board approved the annual financial statements of the parent company and 
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for financial year 2019. A total dividend of EUR 89,048 
thousand was paid to the shareholders in financial year 2019 from AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. 
KGaA’s distributable profit for financial year 2018 in the amount of EUR 146,120 thousand in accordance with 
a resolution adopted by the Annual General Meeting held on July 19, 2019. This corresponds to a dividend of 
EUR 3.00 per share of common stock. An amount of EUR 57,072 thousand was carried forward to new  account. 
On the date of the Annual General Meeting, the Company held 1,087,391 treasury shares that do not quality 
for dividends in accordance with Section 71b AktG. The amount attributable to these shares is already 
 included in the ploughed-back figure of EUR 57,072 thousand.
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Under the AktG, the amount of the dividend that can be paid to the shareholders is determined on the basis 
of the distributable profit presented in the annual financial statements of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE 
& Co. KGaA prepared in accordance with German generally accepted accounting principles. The personally 
liable shareholder’s profit allocation proposal is that the distributable profit of EUR 161,121 thousand pre-
sented in the annual financial statements for 2019 prepared in accordance with German generally accepted 
accounting principles should be carried forward in full for the time being. 

The personally liable shareholder will observe and assess the ongoing development of the coronavirus 
COVID-19 crisis and its effects on the AURELIUS Group in the time until the annual general meeting. After the 
financial statements are adopted, the personally liable shareholder will decide on whether to place a differ-
ent profit utilization proposal than the proposal mentioned above on the agenda of the annual general 
meeting. The annual general meeting can then decide on this modified profit utilization proposal (as in the 
previous year).

If the Company holds treasury shares on the date of the Annual General Meeting that do not qualify for div-
idends in accordance with Section 71b AktG, the amounts attributable to such shares will be carried forward 
to new account.

Composition of the Supervisory Board
In financial year 2019, the Supervisory Board of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA comprised the 
 following members: 

Christian Dreyer (Chairman)

Prof. Dr. Bernd Mühlfriedel (Vice Chairman)

Holger Schulze

Dr. Ulrich Wolters

Dr. Frank Hübner-von Wittich

Maren Schulze 

Expression of gratitude
The Supervisory Board would like to thank the members of the Executive Board as well as all of the employees 
for their successful work and their dedication in financial year 2019.

Grünwald, March 26, 2020

Christian Dreyer

Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
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THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

Christian Dreyer
Chairman

After studying engineering at the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology in Zurich, Christian Dreyer earned an MBA 
from the INSEAD business school in the French city of Fontainebleau in 1988. He worked as a management con-
sultant for McKinsey & Company in Munich from 1989 to 1991. In 1991, he became Managing Partner of Hansen & 
Reinders GmbH & Go. Bergbauelektrik KG in Gelsenkirchen, which he internationalized and converted to Hansen 
Sicherheitstechnik AG with its registered head ofce in Munich in 2005. Under his leadership as Chairman of the 
Management Board, the company successfully floated shares on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange in 2006. From 
2003 to 2004, he served as Management Board Chairman of Skidata AG and since 2005 he has been the Managing 
Partner of the private equity and management frm Dreyer Ventures & Management GmbH, Salzburg, whose 
portfolio today comprises investments in established mechanical engineering frms and innovative technology 
companies. He also served as Supervisory Board Chairman of MS Industrie AG from 2010 to 2015 and as a Supervi-
sory Board member from 2010 to 2012, and then as Management Board Chairman of SMT Scharf AG from 2012 to 
2015. Currently, he is a Supervisory Board member of Beno Holding AG, Starnberg and of Gemeinnützige Salz-
burger Landeskliniken Betriebsgesellschaft mbH, Salzburg/Austria. Christian Dreyer was born in Zell am See in 
Austria on November 22, 1962 and currently resides in Salzburg.

Prof. Dr. Bernd Mühlfriedel
After finishing his studies in business economics at the Friedrich-Alexander University Erlangen-Nürnberg and 
completing his MBA at the University of Georgia/USA, Dr. Bernd Mühlfriedel started his professional career as a 
consultant at McKinsey & Company in 1998. He focused on corporate finance and growth studies in the high-tech, 
chemical and energy branches. At the end of 1999, Prof. Dr. Bernd Mühlfriedel founded the 12snap AG, where he 
took the role of chief financial officer until 2008. During this period he completed the Chartered Financial Analyst 
Program at the American CFA Institute. He is also nationally and internationally active as a lecturer and docent in 
business finance, investment management and entrepreneurship topics, among others at TU München, FOM 
München as well as the State University of Economics and Finance in St. Petersburg/Russia since 2001. He com-
pleted his postdoctoral Dr. rer pol. at the TU München in 2012 with summa cum laude. Dr. Bernd Mühlfriedel, CFA, 
was born 1971 and his nationality is German. He is professor in business economics at the University for applied 
Sciences in Landshut, Germany, and managing partner of Zenon Investments GmbH, Gräfelfing, resident in Mu-
nich.

Holger Schulze
After studying industrial engineering at the Technical University of Darmstadt, Mr. Schulze began his career as 
Senior Analyst Global Internal Audit at Procter & Gamble Services in Brussels, Belgium. Following several other 
posts within the Procter & Gamble Group – in his last position he held global financial responsibility for the distri-
bution logistics and the customer service of the perfume business with responsibility for a budget of more than 
EUR 100 million and a team of 12 staff – he joined McKinsey & Company as a project manager. There, he led pro-
jects for clients in the consumer goods, pharmaceuticals and telecommunications industry in Germany, Romania, 
Switzerland, the UK and the US. He is CEO of Vital AG, Seligenstadt, Managing Partner of CaloryCoach Holding 
GmbH, Mainaschaff, and Managing Director of purfitness Holding GmbH, Hanau, and lives in Frankfurt / Main. 
Holger Schulze was born in 1974 and his nationality is German.

T H E  S U P E RV I S O RY  B OA R D
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Dr. Ulrich Wolters
After completing his studies in economics in Cologne and gaining his doctorate at the University of World Trade, 
Dr. Ulrich Wolters began his professional career at the Aldi-Süd Group. After starting there in 1968, he moved up 
the ranks through several positions, including divisional director, head of sales and managing director. He was 
appointed to the senior management of Aldi-Süd in 1971 (until 2001). Dr. Ulrich Wolters is supervisory board chair-
man of Novotergum AG.

Dr. Frank Hübner-von Wittich
Dr. Frank Hübner-von Wittich studied law in Bergen/Norway and Regensburg. After earning a Ph.D., he passed the 
state tax advisor examination in 2010. From 2006 to 2014, Dr. Hübner worked for PwC in Amsterdam/Netherlands 
and Munich as a tax law expert. He has been working for Lotus AG as a lawyer and tax advisor since January 1, 
2015.

Maren Schulze
Maren Schulze studied chemistry and marketing at Reutlingen University of Applied Sciences. After earning a 
master’s degree, she worked for several years at Procter & Gamble in Schwalbach as Senior Researcher Babycare 
and in Brand Management Healthcare. After holding various international management positions in marketing 
and sales with companies in the consumer goods and medical engineering sectors, she took on the company 
succession of the company objective consumer research and consulting GmbH in Frankfurt. This company spe-
cialises in qualitative market research and consulting for the consumer goods and pharmaceuticals industries.

T H E  S U P E RV I S O RY  B OA R D
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T H E  AU R E L I U S  S H A R E

THE AURELIUS SHARE

Volatile share price development with 22 percent growth

The AURELIUS share noted a price increase of 22 percent in the 2019 trading year. Shares climbed from a closing 
price of EUR 31.72 at the end of 2018 to EUR 39.10 as of December 31, 2019. Overall performance was thus roughly in 
line with the DAX. The share’s annual performance can be broken down into four phases. After a fast and sharp 
rise in the first quarter, the AURELIUS share then moved sideways until the middle of the year. It was valued high-
est on May 2, 2019 at EUR 44.76. However, its outperformance of the DAX up until that point could no longer be 
sustained in the third quarter. The price slipped to EUR 33.00 on August 12, 2019 and rebounded to EUR 39.10 by the 
end of the year (closing price on December 30, 2019).

Positive business development versus increasing risk aversion

AURELIUS shares received positive impetus from the development of operations at repeated intervals during the 
course of the year. Publication of the strong earnings for the first quarter of 2019 coincided with the phase with 
valuations of over EUR 40 per share. In June, the share lost some of these price gains in an overall market that was 
developing negatively. However, the annual highs were almost regained when the sale of subsidiary SOLIDUS was 
announced. By contrast, the successful placement of bonds of EUR 75 million met with a lukewarm reception on 
the market. The additional debt was at odds with increasing risk aversion on the market as a whole. Strong busi-
ness figures in the nine-month period and the successful corporate transactions in the fourth quarter propelled 
the share price to EUR 39.10 per share at the end of the year.  

Volatility in the company valuation on the rise

Numerous central banks have once again stepped up market interventions on the back of fears of a recession. 
These measures will initially have positive effects for shares as an investment class. However, they will be fol-
lowed by heightened investor concern that share price levels are out of step with the development of the real 
economy. This is why more and more market participants are responding faster and in more extreme ways to 
corporate news and to changes from external factors. This raised level of market anxiety is reflected in the higher 
volatility in how individual share prices are developing. The ongoing spread of the coronavirus COVID-19 has led to 
an extreme increase in volatility and to considerable share price losses on the stock markets and for the AURELIUS 
share since February 2020 in particular.

Annual General Meeting agrees to proposed dividend of EUR 3,00 per share

As proposed by management, the Annual General Meeting that took place on July 19, 2019 in Munich passed a 
resolution to distribute a dividend of EUR  3.00 per share for financial year 2018. The distribution volume thus 
 totalled EUR 89.0 million accordingly. 

New share buyback program commences in February 2020
Share price volatility is high on the stock markets at present, and the AURELIUS share has not escaped this nega-
tive trend in the first quarter of 2020. Consequently, the Company currently takes the view that share buybacks 
are a particularly relevant way to use its funds. In February 2020, AURELIUS started a share buyback program of up 
to EUR 30 million based on the approval granted by the Company’s Annual General Meeting on May 18, 2018. 
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Key data

WKN  A0J K2A 
ISIN  DE000A0JK2A8
Ticker symbol AR4
Stock exchanges Xetra, Frankfurt, Berlin-Bremen, Hamburg, Munich, Stuttgart
Market segment   m:access (regulated unofficial market) of the Munich Stock Exchange
Share capital EUR 31,680,000,00
Number and type of shares 30,769,944 no par bearer shares
Initial listing June 26, 2006  
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CO R P O RAT E  S O C I A L  R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AT AURELIUS

For AURELIUS, the creation of shareholder value is built on a bedrock of corporate social responsibility, ethical 
 behavior and understanding our responsibilities to society, nature and those in less fortunate positions. Accord-
ingly AURELIUS has embedded social and environmental values firmly within its corporate strategy and these find 
proactive expression in AURELIUS’ business activities.

As a commercial enterprise, AURELIUS embraces and gladly exercises these responsibilities – beginning with our 
13,500 employees. AURELIUS strives to be a GOOD HOME not only for its portfolio companies, but for all stake-
holders – especially the employees. 

OUR COMPASS – THE TEN PRINCIPLES OF THE GLOBAL COMPACT

At AURELIUS, we are firmly convinced that long-term business success is possible only when we operate in a 
responsible manner.

The Ten Principles of the United Nations Global Compact, the world’s largest corporate sustainability initiative, 
serve as a compass for our activities. The Global Compact is a challenge to companies to align their strategies 
and operating activities along globally valid principles of human and labor rights, environmental sustainability 
and anti-corruption.

 
WE FOLLOW THE TEN PRINCIPLES OF THE UN GLOBAL COMPACT:

AURELIUS  
supports and  
respects the  
protection of  
international  
human rights.

1

AURELIUS  
avoids discrimination  

in respect of  
employment and  

occupation.

6

AURELIUS  
tries to ensure that  
it is not complicit  
in human rights  

violations.

2

AURELIUS  
follows a  

precautionary  
approach to  

environmental  
challenges.

7

AURELIUS  
upholds freedom of  

assembly and the  
effective recognition  

of the right to  
collective bargaining.

3

AURELIUS  
promotes greater  

environmental  
awareness.

8

AURELIUS  
works to eliminate  
all forms of forced  

and compulsory labor.

4

AURELIUS  
encourages the use  
of environmentally 

friendly technologies.

9

AURELIUS  
works towards  

the effective abolition 
of child labor.

5

AURELIUS  
rejects corruption  

in all its forms,  
including extortion  

and bribery.

10

16 I   AU RELI US A N N UA L  R E P O RT



CO R P O RAT E  S O C I A L  R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE WITH RESPONSIBILITY

ESG (Environmental Social Governance) stands for sustainable corporate governance in full awareness of 
 responsibility for 

■■ the environment, 
■■ employees, and 
■■ society. 

 
Lasting value can only be created by a company that stands for these values and conducts its business with 
careful attention to all social and environmental ramifications.

AURELIUS therefore integrates ESG aspects into all its activities at every stage of the value chain – both in the 
holding company and in the portfolio companies:

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

PEOPLE

People create success. Our 
success is the result of the  
individual performance of 

every employee.

Respectful treatment of all 
employees

Unconditional respect of 
human rights

Conscious diversity 
and internationality 

of our workforce 

More jobs  
thanks to successful 

growth strategies

ENVIRONMENT

Goal for the year 2025: 
Reduce Groupwide 
CO2 emissions by 

30 percent

Measures have been 
introduced to permanently 

reduce CO2 emissions

Reduction of flights 
through the increased use 

of video conferences 
and online meetings and 

using train travel as 
an alternative

Precautions 
to prevent 

environmental damage

CO2 offsetting of the 
flights of all holding 

company 
employees since 

the 2019 financial year

SOCIAL 
COMMITMENT

AURELIUS Refugee 
Initiative e.V. 

AURELIUS has been 
helping refugees since 2015 

Extensive support of 
the START Foundation 

to promote outstanding 
young people with 

migration backgrounds 
since 2018

Long established  
tradition: 

Christmas-season 
collection drive for  

important social projects; 
AURELIUS matches  

the donations raised by 
employees

CORPORATE 
CODEX

Principles such as  
responsible, sustainable 
management are firmly 

embedded in the  
AURELIUS ESG Policy 

Including:

No investment in the 
arms industry

No investment in 
emissions-intensive 

companies 

No trading in weapons or 
armaments, tobacco or 

tobacco products

Code of Conduct for 
suppliers and service 

providers.

Anti-corruption and 
anti-bribery policy

Protection and support 
for whistleblowers
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Environmental protection in the
portfolio companies

-  Various subsidiaries are certified according to 
ISO 14001 and greenhouse gas reporting according 
to ISO 14064

-  Certification according to  
industry standards like  
BSI 14001 (Briar Chemicals,  
CalaChem)

Social commitment Environmental protection/CO2 reduction

Digitalization initiatives save raw materials 
like paper, etc. ... 

… No print version of the Annual Report,  digitalized 
document management, online travel expense 
 management, etc.

-  Since it was founded in 2015, more than EUR 1 million 
in donations to AURELIUS Refugee Initiative e. V. 
and support of various aid projects 

-  Since 2018, support of the START Foundation: 
 Stipends for a successful professional future  
for outstanding young people with migration  
backgrounds 

-  Christmas donation 2019: 
EUR 68,000 raised for the AURELIUS School for 
 Syrian refugees, which is operated by Avicenna 
Kultur- und Hilfswerk e. V. in western Turkey

AURELIUS is committed to reducing the environmental 
impact of its products and business activities through 
ecologically responsible action and sound processes:

-  30 percent reduction of CO2 emissions in the 
 AURELIUS Group planned by 2025 

-  Increased use of online meetings and telephone 
conferences to avoid flights, use of train travel 
 whenever possible 

-  Offsetting of 685 tons of CO2 for the flights taken 
by AURELIUS holding company employees in the 
2019 financial year and future offsetting of all 
flights 

As investors, owners and managers, we at AURELIUS understand the importance 
of sustainable business practices for pairing economic success with environmental, 
 social and governance (ESG) considerations: Sustainability is essential for lasting 
 value. 

ESG HIGHLIGHTS 2019
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People at AURELIUS

The AURELIUS team works in a wide variety of industries, countries and cultures.
AURELIUS understands diversity to mean the concurrence of different mindsets, capabilities, cultural imprints, 
 experiences and competencies. With its subsidiaries, AURELIUS is represented throughout the world, employing 
 people of different confessions, cultures, generations and sexes.

Diversity

Nationality Number
Germany 81
Ireland 3
Italy 1
Netherlands 3
Austria 3
Sweden 2
Slovenia 1
Spain 1
United Kingdom 17
Poland 13
Total  125

Internationality 

Employees of the following  
nationalities are employed in the  
AURELIUS portfolio companies and  
at the headquarters in Grünwald: Total employees

30
persons

Holding 2009

persons
120
Holding 2019

>

3,500
persons persons

Group 2009

13,500>
Group 2019
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COMBINED MANAGEMENT REPORT AND GROUP MANAGEMENT 
REPORT OF AURELIUS EQUITY OPPORTUNITIES SE & CO. KGaA  
AT DECEMBER 31, 2019 

FUNDAMENTAL STRATEGY OF AURELIUS EQUITY OPPORTUNITIES SE & Co. KGaA 
AND THE GROUP

AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA specializes in identifying, analyzing, developing and exploiting all 
the opportunities afforded by the market when acquiring its portfolio companies. Consequently, AURELIUS does 
not focus on any particular economic sector. Accordingly, the Group’s operating companies are active in a very 
wide range of industries and apply different business models. 

BUSINESS MODEL

AURELIUS specializes in acquiring companies with potential for development. AURELIUS has many years of invest-
ment and management experience in various industries and sectors required to realize the potential inherent in 
its subsidiaries. AURELIUS employs its management capacity and the necessary financial resources in order to 
 enhance the strategy and operations of its Group companies.

AURELIUS operates throughout the world, with five offices in Europe, as well as subsidiaries in Europe, the United 
States, Africa, Asia and Australia.

AURELIUS has extensive transaction experience from more than 100 company acquisitions and sales and great 
 financial strength without having to rely on banks. As a result, AURELIUS is flexible in the structuring of individual 
transactions and capable of actively supporting the further development of its Group companies. Special condi-
tions such as a minimum holding period, job guarantees and the replacement of internal group relationships or 
existing lenders can be agreed at the time of sale and decisions regarding the operational development of Group 
companies can be made independently of other governing bodies.

Investment focus
AURELIUS does not focus on particular industrial sectors when selecting potential target companies. AURELIUS 
acquires investments throughout Europe in medium-sized enterprises and corporate spin-offs, provided they 
meet one or more of the following criteria:

■■ Potential for development that can be unlocked with operational support; 
■■ Below-average profitability or need for restructuring; and/or
■■ Synergies with existing platform investments in specific target sectors.

 
As a general rule, AURELIUS acquires medium-sized enterprises or corporate spin-offs with annual revenues of 
between EUR 50 million and EUR 1 billion and an EBITDA margin that is positive, but which can also be negative in 
exceptional cases. It is important that the company in question has a market environment and core business that 
is stable and the potential for its value to be increased by means of operational measures. AURELIUS generally 
acquires majority interests.
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Acquisition strategy 
For the purpose of identifying suitable acquisition targets, AURELIUS makes use of a broad network of decision- 
makers in industrial corporations as well as M&A consultants and investment banks. The Company’s acquisition 
specialists identify several hundred potential acquisition candidates every year, of which about ten to 15 percent 
undergo a detailed assessment. AURELIUS conducts this due diligence process with internal and external experts 
in the fields of mergers and acquisitions, law and finance.

Managerial support as value driver 
The Group companies are supported by AURELIUS employees who assist corporate management in the opera-
tional and strategic further development of these companies. AURELIUS relies upon a pool of managers and func-
tional specialists in fields such as finance, organization, production, IT, purchasing, contracts, marketing and sales, 
among others. These experts are deployed in the companies on a project-specific basis. 

AURELIUS applies an integrated approach to the further development of its subsidiaries. The various specialists 
assist in the operational and strategic repositioning as agreed with the management of the Group company in 
question. To further develop its portfolio companies, AURELIUS initiates comprehensive measures immediately 
after the acquisition in line with the specific circumstances of the respective company. 

Such measures may include:

■■ Analysis of existing and, where appropriate, the introduction of new, more modern IT systems; 
■■ Development of new sales and marketing concepts; 
■■ Negotiating with banks and creditors on debt restructuring;
■■ Establishing new supplier relationships and settling inherited liabilities;
■■ Agreements with works councils and trade unions; 
■■ Restructuring current assets; 
■■ Reorganizing production processes; and/or 
■■ Streamlining the product portfolio. 

A large share of the compensation granted to the managing directors of the subsidiaries is variable. The amount 
of this variable compensation is based on the success of the respective company. This ensures that the interests 
of the Group companies are aligned with those of the parent company.

Organizational structure of the Group
The AURELIUS Group has a multi-tiered structure. The operating companies are each held by independent inter-
mediate companies below the level of the ultimate parent company AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. 
KGaA. This structure effectively contains the risks of the individual operating subsidiaries.

Sales markets and external factors
The subsidiaries of the AURELIUS Group operate in different sectors and industries. Therefore, please refer to the 
reports from the Group companies for a description of the sales markets and external factors.

Changes in the basis of consolidation
Because several companies are generally bought and sold within a given financial year, the AURELIUS Group’s 
 basis of consolidation usually changes between reporting dates. In accordance with the rules of IFRS 5 applicable 
to the accounting treatment of non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations, companies sold 
during a financial year that are classified as discontinued operations in accordance with IFRS 5 are no longer in-
cluded in the revenue figures presented in the annual report for that year. Instead, they can be found in profit or 
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loss from discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The previous-year 
comparison figures are likewise adjusted in accordance with these rules.

Internal management system 
Directly following the acquisition of a new subsidiary, a uniform Group-wide information and controlling sys-
tem is implemented locally. The purpose of this system is to deliver the critical information required to improve 
the cost and income situation and successfully restructure the respective Group company. The instruments 
employed for this purpose include a weekly liquidity report and a monthly report analyzing variances from the 
annually prepared budget and from the forecast(s) generated during the year. AURELIUS Management SE, the 
personally liable shareholder of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA, represented by its Executive 
Board (hereinafter referred to as the “Executive Board”) is also periodically informed of the current situation in 
the Group companies by the local managing directors and thereby also kept up to date on potentially negative 
 developments so that countermeasures can be taken in good time. 

The management and control of the AURELIUS Group is based on a reporting and controlling system. The key 
planning and managerial indicators tracked for the purpose of internally managing the Group, the subsidiaries 
and the parent company AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA are cash and cash equivalents, reve-
nues, EBITDA and EBIT. All the key indicators mentioned above are  entered into and monitored within the uni-
form Group-wide reporting system. As part of the internal reporting process, the Executive Board receives a 
weekly liquidity report and a monthly report analyzing the  variances with the annually planned budget and the 
forecasts generated during the year.

Any budget variances are examined and countermeasures are adopted as appropriate. For information on the 
methods employed for calculating the key indicators of cash and cash equivalents, revenues, EBITDA and EBIT, 
please refer to the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

No basic research is conducted in the AURELIUS Group. The Group’s total research and development costs 
amounted to EUR 4.0 million in financial year 2019 (2018: EUR 4.1 million). Capitalized development costs 
amounted to EUR 3.5 million at the reporting date of December 31, 2019 (December 31, 2018: EUR 6.7 million). As 
a general rule, research and development activities are conducted exclusively in the subsidiaries (operating 
entities).

HanseYachts 
The development work of HanseYachts focuses on the development of new yachts using modern materials and 
manufacturing processes. The knowledge gained in the optimization of ongoing processes flows into this devel-
opment work. The experience of its own employees is enhanced by collaboration with design firms and yacht 
designers and by the technical innovations of suppliers of deliverable accessories and merchandise. The use of the 
design software Catia V5 makes it possible to model the entire development and manufacturing process, from 
the initial design to the control of production machines. In addition to hardware and software costs, expenses are 
incurred for the training of employees and the use of external specialists. In the reporting period, development 
work focused on the development of new models for the Hanse, Dehler, Fjord, Moody, Sealine and Privilège 
brands. Besides refining the exterior and interior layouts of existing models, the company is working to devise 
new designs and concepts as well as to establish design and production standards.

The research and development expenses recorded separately in the cost accounting system amounted to EUR 3.2 
million in financial year 2019 (2018: EUR 3.1 million). This figure mainly includes personnel expenses and purchased 
services. Insofar as the recognition requirements for intangible assets (development costs) or technical plant and 
equipment/assets under construction (production molds) were met, these costs were capitalized (EUR 2.0 million) 
within the item of internal production capitalized. Therefore, total research and development costs of EUR 1.2 
million were recognized as expenses in the reporting period.
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ECONOMIC REPORT

General economic conditions
According to a preliminary estimate of the International Monetary Fund (IMF) from January 2020, global eco-
nomic output expanded by 2.9 percent in 2019 (2018: 3.6%). Growth declined both in the developed economies 
(from 2.2% in 2018 to 1.7% in 2019) and in the emerging-market and developing countries (from 4.5% in 2018 to 
3.7% in 2019). Except for Japan, which grew by 1.0 percent after 0.3 percent in the previous year, and the United 
Kingdom, which grew by 1.3 percent, unchanged from the previous year, growth weakened in all the major 
 developed economies, according to these calculations: In the Eurozone overall to 1.2 percent (2018: 1.9%) and in 
Germany to 0.5 percent (2018: 1.5%). In the United States, growth was 2.3 percent after 2.9 percent in 2018.

Reasons for the slowing growth were the prolonged international trade disputes, general political uncertainty 
and numerous geopolitical and local tensions, financial policy risks in China and the United States, and rising 
protectionism across the world. In addition, social unrest in some countries and major natural disasters such as 
hurricanes and the extensive wildfires in Australia also contributed to growing uncertainty.

Development of the private equity market in 2019
According to the statistics published by the German Private Equity and Venture Capital Association (BVK), 2019 
was a new record year for the German private equity market. According to these statistics, EUR 14.3 billion (2018: 
EUR 12.0 billion) was invested in around 1,000 companies financed with private equity in Germany last year, re-
flecting a gain of 19 percent. German private equity firms raised EUR 5.2 billion from investors in 2019 (2018: EUR 
4.2 billion), more than ever before. Buy-out funds and venture capital funds increased their fundraising. 

Buy-outs (ownership successions and majority investments) rose substantially to EUR 10.6 billion (2018: EUR 8.3 
billion). Although the average size of individual transactions increased considerably, the number of transactions 
declined accordingly from 176 to 146.

Venture capital companies invested EUR 1.7 billion, 16 percent more than the previous year (2018: EUR 1.5 billion). In 
total, 570 companies were financed with venture capital in 2019.

By contrast, minority investments focused on small and medium-sized enterprises (growth, replacement and 
turnaround financing) declined to EUR 1.9 billion (2018: EUR 2.2 billion). 

Total private equity sales amounted to EUR 2.4 billion, that being much less than in 2018 (EUR 4.3 billion). 45 per-
cent of these sales took the form of trade sales, 31 percent were to private equity firms, and eight percent were 
done over the stock exchange. After a record year in 2018, European private equity deals were again robust in 2019, 
according to PitchBook. A total deal value of EUR 453.5 billion was achieved on 3,867 transactions, corresponding 
to declines of minus 2.4 percent and minus 3.2 percent, respectively, from the prior-year figures. The deal value 
reached its highest level in ten years in 2019, driven largely by the increase in the average deal volume to EUR 30.8 
million (+34.1%). A record amount of EUR 86.4 billion was raised for European private equity funds in 2019.
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Business performance of the Group
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA acquired five corporate groups in the financial year 2019, two of 
which closed already in 2019. In addition, four corporate groups were sold. 

Consolidated revenues from continued operations rose due to acquisitions by ten percent to EUR 3,192.2 million in 
the 2019 financial year (2018: EUR 2,902.9 million). Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization 
(EBITDA) amounted to EUR 73.7 million, reflecting an increase of 12 percent over the prior-year figure (2018: EUR 65.7 
million). 

The AURELIUS share gained 22 percent in 2019, while the DAX rose by 25 percent over the same period. The 
 Executive Board of AURELIUS Management SE attributes this slightly-below-market share price development to 
the persistent uncertainties related to Brexit throughout the year and the growing fears of a global recession. 

The revenue and profit forecasts for the individual sectors that were expressed in last year’s annual report were 
achieved as follows in 2019:

Revenues from continued operations in the Industrial Production sector rose by 42 percent to EUR 444.6 million 
(2018: EUR 313.8 million), which was better than expected. Contrary to expectations, however, the earnings indica-
tors (EBITDA and EBIT) and cash and cash equivalents were lower. SOLIDUS, a supplier of sustainable packaging 
solutions made from recycled paper, was sold in early September 2019.

Revenues from continued operations in the Services & Solutions sector rose by 28 percent to EUR 161.2 million 
(2018: EUR 126.2 million), which was more than expected. Earnings (EBITDA and EBIT) and cash and cash equiva-
lents also increased by more than forecast. Working Links left the consolidated Group of AURELIUS in February 
2019, as the business of social and rehabilitation services for the British authorities (CRCs, Community Rehabilita-
tion Companies) was transferred to the service provider Seetec, which is based in Hockley/United Kingdom. Rivus 
Fleet Solutions (previously: BT Fleet Solutions), a commercial fleet operator in the United Kingdom, was acquired 
in September 2019. 

Revenues from continued operations in the Retail & Consumer Products sector rose by four percent to EUR 2,559.6 
million in 2019 (2018: EUR 2,457.1 million). A stable development of revenues had been expected. Sector earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) rose by a greater-than-expected amount. By con-
trast, sector earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) and cash and cash equivalents did not meet expectations. In 
April 2019, the subsidiary Granovit, which is based in Lucens/Switzerland, was sold to the existing management 
team led by CEO Andreas Fischer in a management buy-out. The Belgian construction materials retail chain BMC 
Benelux was acquired in early October 2019. The Scandinavian Cosmetics Group was sold to Accent Equity 2017, a 
Scandinavian investment fund, in November 2019. 

Revenues from continued operations for the combined Group were slightly higher than the forecast amount. The 
considerably improved consolidated profit/loss compared to the previous year was also achieved as forecast. 
Whereas the EBITDA was positively affected particularly by the new International Financial Reporting Standard 
IFRS 16 (Leases), EBIT was weighed down by depreciation and amortization according to IFRS 16 and impairments 
according to IAS 36. Compared to the internal plan of the parent company AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. 
KGaA, the profit for financial year 2019 was considerably higher on the basis of the forecast company sales, while 
revenues were slightly lower, as planned. The forecast considerable increase in cash and cash equivalents both in 
the Group and at the parent company was likewise achieved.
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Reports from the Group companies

The following comments reflect developments in the individual corporate groups (subsidiaries) that are fully 
 consolidated in the AURELIUS Group. At the reporting date of December 31, 2019, the AURELIUS Group consisted of 
20 operating groups classified as continued operations of AURELIUS under IFRS:

Corporate group Industry Sector Head office

HanseYachts Manufacturer of sailing yachts and 
catamarans

Industrial Production Greifswald, Germany 

CalaChem Producer of fine chemicals Industrial Production Grangemouth,  
United Kingdom

Briar Chemicals Producer of specialty chemicals Industrial Production Norwich, United Kingdom

Hammerl Manufacturer of construction films 
and consumables 

Industrial Production Gemmrigheim, 
Germany

VAG Supplier of water valves for  
water infrastructure 

Industrial Production Mannheim, Germany

LD Didactic Provider of technical teaching 
systems 

Services & Solutions Hürth, Germany

AKAD University Distance learning university Services & Solutions Stuttgart, Germany 

BPG Building Partners 
Group (previously:  
B+P Gerüstbau)

Scaffold building and  
construction site services 

Services & Solutions Berlin, Germany

Transform/ 
The Hospital Group

Provider of surgical and non-surgical 
cosmetic procedures 

Services & Solutions Manchester,  
United Kingdom

Rivus Fleet Solutions Vehicle fleet operator und provider 
of fleet management services 

Services & Solutions Solihull,  
United Kingdom

Scholl Footwear Provider of orthopedic and  
comfort shoes 

Retail &  
Consumer Products

Milan, Italy

MEZ Vendor of handicraft products Retail &  
Consumer Products

Herbolzheim, Germany

Conaxess Trade Group Distributor of  
fast-moving consumer goods

Retail &  
Consumer Products

Soborg, Denmark

Calumet Wex Multi-channel retail chain for photo-
graphy equipment and professional 
lighting systems 

Retail &  
Consumer Products

Hamburg, Germany

Office Depot Europe Vendor of office supplies, 
printing and document services 
facility management and office 
furniture

Retail &  
Consumer Products

Venlo, Netherlands

Silvan “Do-it-yourself” retail chain Retail & 
Consumer Products

Aarhus, Denmark

Bertram Books Globally active multi-channel   
bookseller 

Retail &  
Consumer Products

Norwich, United Kingdom

Ideal Shopping Direct Multi-channel home-shopping 
provider

Retail &  
Consumer Products

Peterborough, 
United Kingdom

NDS Group  
(previously: Hellanor)

Wholesaler of automotive parts Retail &  
Consumer Products

Hagan, Norway

BMC Benelux Construction materials retail chain Retail &  
Consumer Products

Brussels, Belgium

In total, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA has included 307 subsidiaries in its consolidated financial 
statements. Insignificant investments and one associate are recognized as financial instruments within the 
meaning of IFRS 9.
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Corporate transactions in financial year 2019
AURELIUS acquired the following corporate groups in the 2019 financial year. In late September, it acquired 
 Rivus Fleet Solutions (formerly BT Fleet Solutions), a commercial vehicle fleet operator in the United Kingdom. 
In early October, it acquired the Belgian building materials retail chain BMC Benelux, which serves small and 
medium-sized construction companies under the two brand names MPRO and YouBuild. Therefore, both 
 acquisitions were fully consolidated for the first time in 2019.

The acquisitions of three other corporate groups had not yet been completed at the reporting date of Decem-
ber 31, 2019. The acquisition of Armstrong Ceiling Solutions, which sells mineral fiber tiles and ceiling grids, was 
announced in August 2019. The acquisition of ZIM Flugsitze, a German manufacturer of economy and premium 
economy aircraft seats, was announced in December 2019 and was completed on February 28, 2020. Also in 
December, the acquisition of the Distrelec and Nedis operations (online distributor and wholesaler of elec-
tronic products) from the Swiss Dätwyler Group was agreed. This transaction closed on March 16, 2020. The 
acquisition of Armstrong Ceiling Solutions is expected to be completed in March 2020.  

Effective October 7, 2019, AURELIUS provided through AURELIUS Finance Company Ltd. financing to the Ardent 
Group, which is headquartered in the Netherlands, and it also acquired shares qualifying for dividends. In this 
connection, control according to the definition of IFRS 10 was attributed to AURELIUS. Therefore, the Ardent 
Group was fully consolidated and is included in the “Other” sector in the present financial statements at  
December 31, 2019.

Working Links left the consolidated Group of AURELIUS in February 2019. The  business of social and reintegra-
tion services for the British authorities (CRCs, Community Rehabilitation Companies) was transferred to the 
Seetec services company based in Hockley/United Kingdom. 

In April 2019, the subsidiary Granovit based in Lucens/Switzerland was sold to the existing management team 
led by CEO Andreas Fischer under the terms of a management buy-out. 

In early September 2019, SOLIDUS, a provider of sustainable packaging solutions made from recycled paper, was 
sold to private equity funds advised by Centerbridge Partners L.P. 

The Scandinavian Cosmetics Group was sold to Accent Equity 2017, a Scandinavian investment fund, in Novem-
ber 2019, when the transaction closed. 

In December 2019, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities AB, a 100% subsidiary of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & 
Co. KGaA, successfully placed unsecured, non-subordinated bonds in the amount of EUR 75 million, with a term 
of five years and an interest rate equal to 3  month Euribor (specified as zero at least) plus a margin of 425 basis 
points. The bonds can be increased to an amount of up to EUR 200 million. The bonds are guaranteed by 
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA.
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INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTION SECTOR (IP)

Revenues from continued operations in the Industrial Production sector increased by 42 percent to EUR 444.6 
million (2018: EUR 313.8 million). SOLIDUS, a supplier of sustainable packaging solutions made from recycled 
paper, was sold in early September 2019. 

The earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) of this sector amounted to EUR 17.0 
million (2018: EUR 94.0 million). Sector earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) were EUR minus 7.1 million (2018: 
EUR 80.3 million). The declines in both earnings indicators are attributable to the acquisition of VAG in the 2018 
 financial year and the associated gain on bargain purchases. The sector’s cash and cash equivalents amounted 
to EUR 33.6 million at the reporting date of December 31, 2019 (2018: EUR 40.1 million).

HANSEYACHTS

Company
HanseYachts, which has been a member of the AURELIUS Group since 2011, is the world’s second-biggest series 
manufacturer of sailing yachts with a hull length of 30 to 70 feet (10 to 21 meters) and is one of the world’s top 
10 producers of motorboats with a hull length of 30 to 54 feet (10 to 16 meters). The company manufactures 
sailing yachts of the “Hanse,” “Moody” and “Dehler” brands and motor yachts of the “Fjord” and “Sealine” 
brands. The company also manufactures sailing and motor catamarans of the “Privilège” brand. The entire 
product portfolio comprises 40 different models. It exports about 80 percent of its products. The HanseYachts 
share is listed in the General Standard segment of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (ISIN: DE000A0KF6M8).

Structure and organization
HanseYachts AG is the parent company of the HanseYachts Group. It performs central holding company func-
tions and manages most of the operating business of the HanseYachts Group. The management is composed of 
a CEO and a CFO. Research and development and central marketing coordination, including the media and trade 
fair planning of HanseYachts, are performed in Greifswald, a favorable location for production with  waterway 
access to the Baltic Sea. Central procurement, overall sales management and administration are also performed 
here. Another production site is located about 170 km away in Goleniów, Poland. A majority interest in the cata-
maran manufacturer Privilège Marine SAS was acquired from the parent company AURELIUS effective June 28, 
2019. The catamarans of the Privilège brand are produced in Les Sables-d’Olonne, France, which is directly on 
the Atlantic coast. Independent group distribution companies are located in Germany, France and the United 
States. The company’s products are sold across a network of around 180 dealers in more than 45 countries.

Market environment
The global sailing and motor yacht market is subject to intense competition. There are many yacht manufactur-
ers around the world that produce single-digit to double-digit unit quantities per year. On the other hand, there 
are only few competitors in the industrial world that produce triple-digit quantities of yachts per year, like 
HanseYachts, which are more serious competitors of HanseYachts. 
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Current developments
The global maritime market environment for HanseYachts continues to register modest growth, albeit with 
different trends for the group’s individual brands. In particular, the market for motorboats of the Sealine and 
Fjord brands continues to grow, although the competition for Fjord has increased considerably. HanseYachts 
generates its strongest sales in Germany, Spain, the United States, France, Italy and England. 

In a still challenging market environment, HanseYachts achieved revenue growth of around eight percent in 
the 2018/19 financial year (at the reporting date of June 30) thanks to intensive sales activities, production 
innovations and product updates. The revenue growth was particularly achieved in the European region with 
the motor yachts of the Fjord and Sealine brands. The revenues generated in the second half of 2019 
amounted to EUR 49.2 million, below the level of the prior-year period.

In addition, HanseYachts counters the challenging market environment by continuously investing in the 
 development of new yachts and updating its product offering to satisfy the wishes of customers for individ-
uality and variant diversity. Customer preferences are wide-ranging and can vary widely from one region to 
another. The Executive Board of HanseYachts is convinced that only a boat builder with near-series produc-
tion methods and modular designs that can affordably produce a high number of variants, along with clearly 
positioned brands, will be able to position itself successfully in the market over the long term. 

The company’s marketing activities particularly include its regular participation in national and international 
trade fairs such as those in Düsseldorf, Cannes, Palma de Mallorca, Miami, Annapolis and Sydney. The com-
pany is represented by itself or by its dealers in around 80 trade fairs in around 30 countries per year.

Significant factors affecting business performance
HanseYachts operates in an international market environment and faces intensive competition. Its products are 
luxury goods, the demand for which mainly depends on the economic situation of individual customers. Changed 
macroeconomic conditions in key sales markets can therefore have an effect on demand for the company’s prod-
ucts, despite the broad international distribution of the international dealer network. 

Comparable competing products that are often marketed on the basis of aggressive pricing pose a general sales 
risk. The company counters this competition particularly by means of short development cycles and innovative 
products, but also price discounts or improved features in some cases. In addition, the company is targeting a 
larger group of customers by expanding its product portfolio, especially including the motorboats of the Fjord 
and Sealine brands and the catamarans of the Privilège brand. 

In accordance with the seasonality of this business, the operating result is negative in the first half of the financial 
year (July 1 to December 31) and profit contributions are only generated in the second half of the financial year 
(January 1 to June 30).

Outlook 
HanseYachts is well positioned in the water sports market thanks to its constantly growing distribution network, 
increased financial commitment to motor yachts, the addition of catamarans to the product assortment, contin-
ual product innovations and the positive response of customers. The presentation of sailing and motorboat 
brands and the broad range of models at all important boat exhibitions, as well as new developments, should lay 
the groundwork for sales success in the coming season. 

After a renewed revenue increase in the 2018/19 financial year, for the eighth year in a row, and considering the 
acquisition of Privilège Marine SAS at the end of the 2018/19 financial year, HanseYachts expects a continuation of 
growth in the coming 2019/20 financial year. Most revenues are still generated on sales of sailing yachts. In addi-

AU RELI US A N N UA L  R E P O RT   I  29



G R O U P  M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O RT

 Home

tion, HanseYachts expects a further absolute improvement in the earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortization (EBITDA) in the previously offered brands.

CALACHEM

Company
CalaChem is a producer of fine chemicals focusing on agrochemicals and specialty chemicals. Besides produc-
ing fine chemicals, the company also operates an Industrial Services business unit. This unit provides a wide 
range of services for the adjacent Earls Gate industrial estate, including the treatment of industrial waste-
water, the provision of process steam and the supply of electricity. CalaChem has belonged to the AURELIUS 
Group since 2010.

Structure and organization
The company has its headquarters and sole production facility in Grangemouth (Scotland). It operates in two 
segments: contract production of fine chemicals and the provision of industrial services. The management team 
is composed of two persons, a CEO and a CFO.

Market environment
CalaChem operates in the market for outsourced agrochemical production, which is estimated at roughly USD 
7 billion. There is a growing trend toward outsourcing chemical contract production because this enables cus-
tomers to lower their capital expenditures, work with a more flexible base of suppliers, and free up their own 
capacities for new products. A major factor affecting the market are the lower production capacities of manu-
facturers in China due to stricter environmental regulations. This development has also had a positive impact 
on CalaChem. The company has already fielded a number of inquiries related directly to the delivery problems 
of Chinese competitors.

Current developments
CalaChem’s revenues last year were in line with the planned figure. They were adversely affected by the delayed 
start-up of some production processes and by moderate fluctuations in demand.  

Significant factors affecting business performance
CalaChem is benefiting from the heightened focus of customers on supplier reliability and from stricter 
 environmental regulations in China, which are causing customers to increasingly seek out Western alternatives 
to  Chinese suppliers. 

Outlook
The outlook for 2020 is slightly clouded by the loss of a key contract customer. The sale of the pension fund, 
which was completed in 2019, will have a positive effect on profit. The construction of the cogeneration plant in 
Earls Gate Park is proceeding according to plan. The plant will be a supplier of power and heat.
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BRIAR CHEMICALS

Company
Briar Chemicals is an independent contract manufacturer and producer of agrochemicals and fine chemicals. The 
company produces mainly chemical agents and intermediates for herbicides. The location was acquired from 
Bayer CropScience in 2012.

Structure and organization
Headquartered in Norwich (United Kingdom), the company operates a production facility there and produces 
various fine chemicals in different plants. The management team is composed of a CEO and a CFO.

Market environment
Briar Chemicals operates in the market for outsourced agrochemicals production, which is estimated to be 
around USD 7 billion. Thus, this market represents only around seven percent of the worldwide agrochemicals 
market. There is a growing trend toward outsourcing chemical contract production because this enables large 
chemical companies to lower their capital expenditures, work with a more flexible base of suppliers, and free 
up their own capacities for new products. A major factor affecting the market are the lower production capac-
ities of manufacturers in China due to stricter environmental regulations. This development has also had a 
positive impact on the order flow of Briar Chemicals. The company has already fielded a number of inquiries 
and made deliveries related to the reduced delivery capabilities of Chinese manufacturers.

Current developments
Revenues lagged behind expectations in 2019. This was due to the unexpected shutdown of two production 
facilities in the first half of the year, which set off an appreciable chain reaction resulting in production limita-
tions in the second half of the year. Organizational changes are being made to improve efficiency and 
strengthen the company for the future.  

Significant factors affecting business performance
The company was confronted with larger production bottlenecks in the past year. Moreover, production delays 
resulted from the shutdown of a plant due to a work accident in the previous year, which led to new, stricter 
safety regulations, resulted in production delays.

Outlook
The outlook for Briar Chemicals is positive. There is strong demand for certain key products after some Chinese 
competitors pulled out of the market. In addition, the expiration of the patents of large chemical companies will 
lead to increased demand for contract manufacturers. 
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HAMMERL

Company
Hammerl is a manufacturer of construction films, dimpled mats and vapor barrier films in Germany. 

Structure and organization
The company’s headquarters and production facility are located in Gemmrigheim in Baden-Württemberg. The 
company is managed by a CEO.

Market environment
2019 was a good year for the German construction industry with substantial growth over the previous year. The 
main growth driver in the construction industry is new building construction, which increased by 5.4% according 
to estimates of the German Construction Industry Association. 

Current developments
The revenues generated in the first half of 2019 were somewhat less than the comparable period in 2018 due to 
price discounts granted as a result of the competition situation. These discounts were also supported by the gen-
eral decline of commodity prices. Selling prices were kept largely constant in the second half and no significant 
discounts had to be granted. The earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and taxes (EBITDA) were higher 
than the prior-year figure.

Significant factors affecting business performance
Procurement prices for plastics have a significant influence on the company’s business. Price increases and dis-
counts on plastic raw materials can usually be passed on to customers and therefore influence the company’s 
revenues. The development of regranulate prices is particularly dependent on the situation in the Far East. For 
example, an import ban on packaging waste in China led to an oversupply of plastic waste in Europa. At the same 
time, however, there is increased demand for reconditioned regranulate to supply the own industry in Germany 
as a result of the conversion to sustainable production processes. Sudden changes in basic conditions can lead to 
wider price swings. Another factor is energy prices, which vary considerably from one country to the next and are 
highly volatile.

Outlook
The German Construction Industry Association expects a 5.5 percent increase in revenues from main building 
activities in 2020. The basic conditions are still very positive for the construction industry. 

It is to be expected that competition and margin pressure will remain high both nationally and internationally. 
The company will counter these pressures by intensifying its sales activities and by investing in production, 
 energy and automation. Constant improvements of material efficiency and business processes combined with 
strict cost control will ensure a stable financial position, cash flows and financial performance and contribute to 
profitable growth.

New, higher-margin business segments outside of the construction industry have been tapped with the existing 
product portfolio, which will contribute overall to a stabilization and even improvement of profit margins. 
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VAG

Company
VAG is a supplier of valves for water treatment and distribution, wastewater systems, dams, power plants and the 
energy sector. It has belonged to the AURELIUS Group since November 2018. The company is active both in the 
global project business and in the production and distribution of standard applications.

Structure and organization
Headquartered in Mannheim, VAG is managed by four managing directors. The company has six production 
facilities in Germany, the Czech Republic, China, India, South Africa and the United States, as well as 14 own 
sales offices. It exports its products to more than 100 countries.

As a globally active company, fulfilling a diverse range of regulatory requirements is critically important for 
VAG. For this reason, the company has introduced robust processes that make it possible to mitigate the risks 
involved with a worldwide business and so ensure the company’s long-term success.

Market environment
The most important markets for VAG are Europe and particularly Germany, as well as China, North America and 
the Middle East. The strategic goal of VAG is sustainable, profitable growth especially in these markets. Competi-
tors from low-wage countries are increasingly pushing into markets that have previously been dominated by 
 established suppliers, leading to growing competition pressure. 

Current developments
A number of realignment measures were defined and implemented after the acquisition by AURELIUS in Novem-
ber 2018. In the preceding years, customer satisfaction had suffered as a result of various operational problems 
and for this reason one of the priorities of the new management team is to fundamentally improve service qual-
ity. Other priorities are to improve production resources, procurement logistics, internal processes and IT systems 
to enhance efficiency, competitiveness and sustainability. Thanks to the realignment and successful sales activi-
ties, VAG became much more profitable and grew its business in the past year. The company won some larger 
infrastructure projects. Business development was very positive especially in China and the Middle East. 

Significant factors affecting business performance
Another goal of the realignment was to separate the standard business from the customer-tailored business to 
a greater extent. Today these two areas are organizationally separate with dedicated teams pursuing the 
 further development of each market segment.

Two production facilities were merged in both South Africa and the United States and the two sales offices in 
France and Mexico were closed. External partners will handle sales in these two countries in the future. On the 
other hand, a new sales office was opened in Dubai.
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Outlook
The outlook for the current year 2020 is good. Whereas orders for customer-tailored large-scale projects are in-
creasing sharply, the standard business is exhibiting rather moderate growth. The company’s realignment will 
probably continue to have positive effects on operational performance and the financial result. Also in the future, 
the management will place a strong emphasis on strict cost control and the further optimization of business pro-
cesses.
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SERVICES & SOLUTIONS SECTOR (S&S)

Revenues from continued operations in the Services & Solutions sector rose by 28 percent to EUR 161.2 million 
in the 2019 financial year (2018: EUR 126.2 million). In February 2019, Working Links left the consolidated group of 
AURELIUS, as the business of social and rehabilitation services for the British  authorities (CRCs, Community Re-
habilitation Companies) was transferred to the service provider Seetec, which is based in Hockley (United King-
dom). Rivus Fleet Solutions (previously: BT Fleet Solutions), a commercial fleet operator in the United Kingdom, 
was acquired in September 2019. 

The earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) of this sector amounted to EUR 37.3 
million (2018: EUR 6.3 million). Sector earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) came to EUR 23.4 million (2018: 
EUR -0.03 million). The cash and cash equivalents of the Services & Solutions sector amounted to EUR 18.0 mil-
lion at the reporting date of December 31, 2019 (2018: EUR 12.3 million).

LD DIDACTIC

Company
LD Didactic is a provider of technical teaching systems for schools and vocational training. The group offers 
complete solutions for general education in science and vocational training in technology, engineering and 
science.

Structure and organization
Headquartered in Hürth, LD Didactic has a total of three production facilities: two in Hürth und Urbach (both 
in Germany) and one in Cegled (Hungary). In addition, LD Didactic maintains local sales offices for Latin Amer-
ica and the United Kingdom. The management team of LD Didactic is divided into the two areas of sales and 
operations. Besides sales itself, the Chief Sales Officer is also responsible for marketing and communication, 
finance, controlling and human resources. The Chief Operations Officer is responsible for order execution, 
 production logistics, IT and production at the three production facilities.

Market environment
The market environment for LD Didactic did not change significantly in 2019. The worldwide market for vocational 
training and continuing education continues to grow, driven by continuous population growth and the strong 
demand for well-skilled workers in emerging-market countries and companies operating in the areas affected by 
the German industrial modernization initiative Industry 4.0. These trends have created strong demand for sec-
ond-chance education and continuing education programs for working professionals. Furthermore, the growing 
trend of digitalization necessitates modern technical training equipment and modified curricula. The positive 
market outlook may be threatened by government budget cuts due to weaker economic conditions or political 
crises (e.g. in some countries of the Middle East and Latin America). 
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Current developments
The company is focusing on strengthening export sales, reducing fixed costs by relocating production, devel-
oping more digital solutions and reducing complexity in the product portfolio. 

LD Didactic took in a much higher volume of orders in 2019 than in the preceding years, particularly in the sec-
ond half of the year. The order flow benefitted particularly from project business in the export sector. Thus, the 
strengthening of the worldwide dealer network, active dealer management and better market coverage are 
yielding appreciable results. 

To accommodate the fluctuating order flow from large projects in the past and reduce fixed costs to the level 
of base sales, parts of production were shifted within the factory portfolio as part of a restructuring project. 
The final transfer of the finished goods warehouse and shipment logistics to an external logistics service 
 provider was completed in 2019.  

The product portfolio was streamlined without negative effects on new orders. Nonetheless, LD Didactic did 
not meet its planned revenue and EBITDA targets for 2019. This was due to the delays in the transfer of logistics 
because the reduced sales volume during the transfer phase could not be made up completely by the end of 
the year.

Significant factors affecting business performance
LD Didactic generates income both from its regular baseline business and from its irregular large project business. 
Together, these two business lines normally ensure stable income and growth potential, as confirmed by the 
 significant volume of new orders in the project business in the second half of 2019.

Exceptional effects, particularly including the optimization of the company’s production structure described 
above and the final transfer of logistics, influenced the company’s business performance by reducing earnings in 
2019.

Outlook
Based on the strong order backlog at the beginning of the year, LD Didactic is planning for higher revenues in 2020 
compared to the preceding years. Earnings will improve significantly on the basis of revenue growth and the 
 reduction of fixed costs resulting from the now completed restructuring project.  

AKAD UNIVERSITY

Company
AKAD University, which has belonged to AURELIUS since 2014, is a long-established private distance school with its 
headquarters in Stuttgart. It specializes in flexible distance learning “wherever and whenever” for working 
 people. It offers bachelor, master and MBA degree programs in the fields of business and management, technol-
ogy and computer science, and communication and culture, as well as numerous continuing education programs. 
Currently, nearly 8,000 adults, mostly working professionals, are studying at AKAD University. Since 1959, more 
than 66,000 graduates have earned degrees that are recognized in the German business community. 
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Structure and organization
AKAD University is headquartered in Stuttgart. It also operates 33 examination centers throughout Germany. The 
management team is divided into the following areas of responsibility: University and the Institute for Continuing 
Education (ICE), Marketing/Sales (B2C), Corporate Customers (B2B), IT (e-learning technologies), Human Resources 
and Finance. AKAD University employs processes and methods and maintains documentation of responsibilities 
(RACI Matrix) and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), among other things.

Market environment
According to early indications, the German distance learning market for academic degrees and non-academic 
continuing education programs continued to grow at a modest, single-digit percentage rate in 2019. The market is 
currently being influenced by fundamental societal trends such as the scarcity of skilled workers, the growing 
demand for lifelong learning and academic degrees, technological developments, and the increasing digitaliza-
tion of society and work. This latter trend is also giving rise to new offerings and providers in the distance learning 
market.

Current developments
The 2018 continuing education providers study of TESTBild names a total of nine distance learning providers (pro-
viders of accredited online study programs). In the overall evaluation, the study ranks AKAD University in third 
place. AKAD University ranked first place in the evaluation of learning materials, learning success and referrals in 
the areas of electronic data processing, IT and multimedia. Compared to its competitors in general, AKAD Univer-
sity offers a wide range of programs in the three fields of computer science and technology, management and 
business, and languages. The company’s offering is geared to the German-language market. Compared to the 
preceding year, AKAD University increased its overall revenues modestly, in line with the planned figure. Due to 
the planned costs for new study programs (including investments in additional personnel), EBITDA was below the 
prior-year figure but in line with the planned figure.

Significant factors affecting business performance
The company is currently in the optimization phase. It has implemented a platform and modularization plan for 
fast and efficient product development, making it possible to quickly introduce new programs of study. A total of 
20 new study programs were introduced in 2019. Five of these are study programs of the newly introduced Dual 
Study Concept at the company, which are especially meant to attract more B2B customers. Due to the company’s 
business model and student registration trends, the first and fourth quarters of every year are the strongest.

Outlook
The development of new study programs and the entry into new segments will probably be the biggest growth 
drivers for AKAD University in the coming years. New study programs will be introduced in several waves on the 
basis of variably usable module platforms. In addition, new segments such as the above-mentioned dual study 
concept offer good chances for additional revenues. 
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BPG BUILDING PARTNERS GROUP (PREVIOUSLY: B+P GERÜSTBAU)

Company
BPG Building Partners Group (previously: B+P Gerüstbau) is a group of scaffold-building and construction logistics 
companies focused on different regions. The group as a whole is one of the few companies in Germany to possess 
the capacities and technical capabilities to build even the most complex scaffold designs. In its Construction 
Logistics Division, the company also provides services for equipping and operating construction sites. In the past, 
BPG Building Partners Group has been involved in the execution of many large-scale projects throughout 
 Germany. In addition, the corporate group handles numerous medium-sized and small projects. The customer 
base includes renowned construction companies, architects, tradesmen and public-sector institutions. 

BPG Building Partners Group evolved from B+P Gerüstbau, which has belonged to the AURELIUS Group since 2014. 
The Thüringen-based company BSB, which specializes in monument conservation projects, was acquired as an 
add-on acquisition in 2016. B+P Gerüstbau founded an affiliate in Hamburg in 2017 and the business operations, 
including all assets and employees, of Gustav Raetz Gerüstbau GmbH in Munich were acquired as another add-on 
acquisition in April 2018. The former logistics division of B+P Gerüstbau was spun off to the independent company 
LoXite in May 2019 to facilitate the nationwide expansion of the construction logistics business. With the estab-
lishment of the new umbrella brand at the end of 2019, all group companies in all regions now operate under a 
uniform brand identity.

Structure and organization
The group companies offer their services across regions, including the focus regions of Berlin-Brandenburg, 
southeast Germany, northern Hesse, Munich, the Rhine-Ruhr region, Hamburg and Schleswig-Holstein. It 
maintains offices and storage locations at the headquarters of each company in Berlin, Hamburg, Munich, 
Schmölln/Leipzig, and Kaarst/Düsseldorf. BPG Building Partners Group is managed by one managing director.

Market environment
The market for scaffold building and construction site logistics is dependent on the general state of the construc-
tion industry, which remained strong in 2019 thanks to the overall good economic environment and the still low 
level of interest rates, although the growth rates were below those of previous years. Construction industry reve-
nues from main building activities rose by 5.4 percent in 2019. For 2020, the German construction industry expects 
a consistently good development with nominal revenue growth of around 5.5 percent.

Current developments
BPG Building Partners Group affirmed its market position in Berlin-Brandenburg on the strength of strong 
 organic growth. The revenues increased significantly again in financial year 2019 as a result of the expansion of 
business in Munich and northern Germany and the growth of the Construction Logistics Division. The operat-
ing result (EBITDA) for the full year 2019 was much higher than the prior-year figure, but slightly below the 
planned figure due to the costs for expanding the Construction Logistics Division and developing group 
 structures.

38 I   AU RELI US A N N UA L  R E P O RT



G R O U P  M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O RT

Significant factors affecting business performance
No significant changes occurred in the construction industry during the reporting period. The German construc-
tion industry and therefore also the scaffold building industry are currently working at the limits of their capacity, 
mainly due to the limited number of skilled workers in all fields.

Outlook
For 2020, BPG Building Partners Group expects further modest organic revenue growth to result from the expan-
sion of the scaffold building activities of Gerüstbau Raetz in the Munich area, and from higher revenues in the 
greater Hamburg area and throughout northern Germany, particularly from the expansion of the construction 
logistics business. Several large-scale orders were acquired in this business in 2019, which will ensure further 
 revenue growth. The establishment of LoXite branch offices is proceeding according to plan. In accordance with 
its growth strategy, BPG Building Partners Group continues to actively look for companies that can be acquired.  

TRANSFORM/THE HOSPITAL GROUP

Company 
Transform/The Hospital Group is a provider of surgical and non-surgical cosmetic procedures, as well as weight-
loss treatments in the United Kingdom. The companies, which have belonged to the AURELIUS Group since June 
2015 and October 2016, respectively, have a network comprising 18 clinics in England, Scotland and Wales, as well 
as two dedicated cosmetic procedure hospitals.

Structure and organization
Headquartered in Manchester (United Kingdom), Transform/The Hospital Group is managed by a CEO with the 
support of a senior management team in the areas of Finance, Human Resources, IT, Legal and Operations. The 
senior management team is also responsible for the company’s three operating segments of cosmetics, cosmetic 
surgery, and weight loss.

Market environment
The market environment of Transform/The Hospital Group is still very competition-intensive and characterized 
by a general downturn. Among other factors, the persistent uncertainty surrounding Brexit further depressed 
consumer confidence in the United Kingdom. The market position of Transform/The Hospital Group was tempo-
rarily weakened during the course of the year by the company’s restructuring. The difficult market environment 
led to the merger of two competitors at the end of 2019. Transform/The Hospital Group could benefit from this 
merger.

Current developments
The group’s revenues remained below expectations in the past year. This was due to unexpected revenue decline 
resulting from difficulties with the restructuring measures in July 2019. The EBITDA for financial year 2019 was also 
below plan due to losses in the second half of the year.

Significant factors affecting business performance
The company’s restructuring in July 2019 that was done in reaction to the challenging market conditions weak-
ened the operating business and temporarily and unexpectedly led to revenue declines. In the meantime, the 
previous level of revenues has been reached again and the company is performing according to plan. The closure 
of five unprofitable clinics and a hospital led to a significant reduction of fixed costs. 
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Outlook
Based on its lower fixed cost base and enhanced efficiency, the company positioned itself to return to the profit 
zone and invest in future growth. These goals are to be accomplished by means of new, expanded product offer-
ings and membership programs in the areas of cosmetic surgery and weight loss. 

RIVUS FLEET SOLUTIONS

Company
Rivus Fleet Solutions (previously: BT Fleet Solutions) is a commercial vehicle fleet operator in the United Kingdom 
with a nationwide network and an offering of fleet management services for blue-chip customers. Rivus Fleet 
Solutions has belonged to AURELIUS since September 2019. 

Structure and organization
Rivus Fleet Solutions was founded in 2002 and has its headquarters in Solihull in the United Kingdom. The com-
pany has around 950 employees throughout the United Kingdom and takes care of more than 80,000 vehicles 
for more than 30 well-known large companies in different sectors, including the former parent company British 
Telecom (BT Group), which operates the second-biggest vehicle fleet in the United Kingdom. With its network 
of 65 own repair shops, 500 partner repair shops and more than 50 mobile technicians, Rivus Fleet Solutions 
offers an extensive range of fleet management services for all phases of the vehicle life cycle. It focuses on 
commercial fleets, which mostly consist of light and heavy transport vehicles, and on servicing complex 
 specialty vehicles. The company’s extensive fleet management offering is a strong unique selling proposition 
and guarantees a stable business.

Market environment
The fleet management sector is growing at an estimated rate of six percent per year and exhibits a positive 
market development. The company’s biggest customer, the BT Group, continues to invest in its fiber-optic net-
works and the 5G mobile telecommunications standard and Rivus expects that it will therefore continually 
enlarge its fleet further. Brexit and related uncertainties will probably have no effect on the company’s busi-
ness because Rivus Fleet Solutions has long-term contracts and strong business relationships. The sale of the 
former BT Fleet Solutions to AURELIUS is related to the ongoing transformation of the BT Group and focus on its 
core business.

Current developments
The acquisition of Rivus Fleet Solutions was completed in September 2019. Since that time, specialists from 
AURELIUS have been working closely with the management to develop the company’s own IT system and inde-
pendent organization of the finance, IT and personnel administration functions. New staff have been appointed 
to key management positions. The company has launched various cost optimization projects in close cooperation 
with AURELIUS. The organizational restructuring of administration and the repair shop network is advancing and 
has already been completed in some cases. By the middle of 2020, Rivus Fleet Solutions will close eleven of its 
current 65 repair shops that cannot operate profitably in the long term. The closures will increase overall profita-
bility over the long term without having an adverse effect on the business model or contracts with customers.
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2019 was a successful year for Rivus Fleet Solutions. The company has acquired some new contract customers, 
including Kier, the British construction, services and real estate group. Rivus Fleet Solutions will take care of the 
entire fleet of Kier Highways England, a road construction firm in the United Kingdom, over the next five years. 

Significant factors affecting business performance
The company’s earnings in 2019 were positive but less than expected. The efficiency enhancement measures ini-
tiated by AURELIUS and Rivus Fleet Solutions for the entire business will have a significant effect on the company’s 
development and earnings. These measures include process mapping of the operating units, the consolidation of 
the repair shop network, various personnel restructuring measures at headquarters, for example, the realization 
of substantial improvement potential in procurement and the introduction of an efficient department for IT and 
finance.

Outlook
The outlook remains positive and Rivus Fleet Solutions expects improved earnings for the current year 2020. Rivus 
Fleet Solutions is focusing on a new sales strategy based on the entire service portfolio that is meant to ensure 
the future profitability as an independent company. In addition, the company will benefit from the new, im-
proved cost structure. With the support of AURELIUS, Rivus Fleet Solution intends to further grow its business in 
the future, both organically and through suitable strategic add-on acquisitions.

AU RELI US A N N UA L  R E P O RT   I  41



G R O U P  M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O RT

 Home

RETAIL & CONSUMER PRODUCTS SECTOR (RCP)

The revenues from continued operations in the Retail & Consumer Products sector increased by four percent to 
EUR 2,559.6 million in the 2019 financial year (2018: EUR 2,457.1 million). The subsidiary Granovit, which is based in 
Lucens/Switzerland, was sold to the existing management team led by CEO Andreas Fischer in a management 
buy-out in April 2019. The Belgian construction materials retail chain BMC Benelux was acquired in early October 
2019. The Scandinavian Cosmetics Group was sold to Accent Equity 2017, a Scandinavian investment fund, in No-
vember 2019. 

The earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) of this sector amounted to EUR 59.4 
million (2018: EUR 8.5 million). Sector earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) amounted to minus EUR 78.7 million 
(2018: EUR -25.0 million). The cash and cash equivalents of the Retail & Consumer Products sector amounted to 
EUR 161.6 million at the reporting date of December 31, 2019 (2018: EUR 172.1 million).

SCHOLL FOOTWEAR

Company
Scholl Footwear is a long-established manufacturer of shoes offering a high degree of comfort that sells its 
shoes in Europe, Asia, the Middle East, and Australia. In Europe, the company’s shoes are distributed in pharma-
cies and medical supply stores, as well as online and in shoe stores. In Asia, the Middle East, and Australia, its 
products are sold almost exclusively in department stores, malls and shoe stores. Scholl Footwear enjoys very 
widespread brand recognition of up to 80 percent in its main markets. At the present time, Italy, France, Spain 
and Southeast Asia are considered to be the most important markets for Scholl Footwear. The company has 
positioned itself as the expert for comfortable shoes. Design and development work for Europe and the Middle 
East is performed in Italy; in Southeast Asia and Australia, the company has its own development units and 
 license partners. The company has belonged to the AURELIUS Group since 2014.

Structure and organization
Scholl Footwear has its headquarters in Milan (Italy). The senior management bears overall responsibility for 
Scholl Footwear. Each national subsidiary is managed by its own management team, to which the key areas of 
 finance, marketing, sales and logistics report.

Market environment
The global shoe market grew by 4.5 percent between 2018 and 2019, while the shoe market in Europe – the  primary 
market for Scholl to date – increased at a below-average rate of 1.7 percent. In terms of total market volume, 
moreover, Europe’s share (approx. 17 percent of the global market volume) is less than that of North America and 
Asia (approx. 70 percent of total market). The consolidation of the pharmacies market in Europe continues as 
 individually operated pharmacies are increasingly giving way to pharmacy chains. The share of shoes sold by 
 pharmacies continues to shrink.
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Current developments
Overall revenues were stable in 2019 as revenue losses in the European pharmacy business were offset by 
growth in shoe stores and distributors and online sales. Within Asia, revenue declines were registered mainly 
in Malaysia and Singapore, where the market environment proved to still be competitive. Licensing revenues 
from licensing partnerships remained stable. Revenues overall were constant compared to 2018, but 
 remained below the planned amount. By contrast, EBITDA was modestly higher.

Significant factors affecting business performance
The company focused more on expanding both the European distribution network and online sales in 2019. In 
addition, operational improvement measures and other restructuring measures were successfully implemented, 
contributing to the positive development of earnings in the 2019 financial year.

Outlook
The company continues to focus on expanding its distribution and partner business in Europe and on tapping 
new markets in Asia on the basis of distribution agreements and licensing partnerships. The company is also 
focusing more on its own online marketplaces and on tapping new online marketplaces.  

MEZ

Company
With a history that dates back more than 200 years, MEZ is a provider of handicraft products in Europe. It has 
belonged to the AURELIUS Group since 2015. MEZ produces knitting, sewing, embroidery and crochet yarns made 
of cotton in its production facility in Hungary and works primarily with handknitting yarn suppliers from Italy, 
Romania and Turkey. Depending on the material composition, however, the company also uses other suppliers 
from all around the world. MEZ ensures that its suppliers meet European environmental and labor protection 
standards and places great importance on proof of animal-friendly and environmentally friendly production of 
the raw materials it processes. Most of MEZ’s products are certified according to the Oeko-Tex 100 Standard, while 
the company’s well-known Catania cotton yarn is certified according to the Toy Safety Directive EN 91.

Structure and organization
MEZ has its headquarters in the town of Herbolzheim in the German state of Baden-Württemberg. It also has a 
central warehouse in Salach and a production facility in Hungary, as well as sales offices in numerous European 
countries. The management of MEZ is composed of the CEO, who also manages most of the group’s companies as 
sole managing director. He is supported at the second level by three regional sales directors, a Supply Chain Direc-
tor, including logistics and production, and a CFO. As a core function, marketing is organized along the lines of the 
various brands. Corporate functions such as finance, procurement and IT are also bundled regionally.

Market environment
The market environment was just as challenging in the second half of 2019 and the 2019/2020 fall/winter season 
fell short of expectations. Independent retailers in particular reduced their inventories and sustained revenue 
declines, as opposed to revenue growth in online shops. The market continues to weaken in the segments of 
 sewing and sewing accessories. By contrast, the segments of knitting, crochet and embroidery are currently 
 stable.
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Current developments
In line with the general development of the market, the revenues of MEZ were also below plan in the fourth quar-
ter. Although market shares were gained in the knitting category, overall orders remained below the level of the 
previous year. The effects on earnings were limited by spending restraint, a cost savings program and the renego-
tiation of contracts. The Rowan brand continued its growth trend and the introduction of the sewing accessories 
brands MEZ Duet and MEZ Cotton was successful.

Significant factors affecting business performance
Due to its pan-European positioning across different product categories and sales channels, the MEZ business 
model is characterized by a certain complexity that would need to be adjusted if the market contracts further. 

MEZ continued its customer loyalty reinforcement measures in social media channels. The company is 
convinced that this form of marketing will become increasingly important in the handicraft products market. 

Outlook
MEZ expects that sales channels will shift further in the direction of online sales. The company sees itself as being 
well prepared for this shift and intends to further extend its market position. However, the continued market 
shrinkage remains the greatest challenge.

CONAXESS TRADE GROUP

Company
The Conaxess Trade Group emerged from the acquisition of Swiss Valora AG’s distribution business and has 
belonged to the AURELIUS Group since January 1, 2016. The Conaxess Trade Group is a large distributor of 
fast-moving consumer goods in Europe and operates primarily in the following categories: Food, Confection-
ery, Snacks, Alcoholic and Non-Alcoholic Beverages, and Personal Hygiene. The Conaxess Trade Group main-
tains distribution organizations in all Scandinavian countries (Denmark, Sweden, Norway, Finland) as well as in 
Austria and Switzerland. The group represents, promotes, and distributes more than 200 international and 
 local brands, which as a rule do not handle their own distribution in these countries. The brand products are 
marketed systematically over various retail and wholesale channels – from cross-border retail giants, to 
 HoReCa channels (hotel, restaurant, catering), kiosks, and convenience stores.

Structure and organization
The Conaxess Trade Group consists of the seven companies in Denmark, Sweden, Norway, Finland, Austria and 
Switzerland, and Conaxess Trade Beverages AS. The group’s headquarters is located in Soborg (Copenhagen) in 
Denmark. The group’s management team is composed of a CEO and a CFO (Group Controlling), as well as the 
heads of Business Segment Development, Communication, IT and Human Resources. All subsidiaries of the 
Conaxess Trade Group have a similar organization with their own Managing Director, CFO, Marketing Director 
and Sales Director. The company also operates its own logistical centers in Denmark and Switzerland. 
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Market environment
In general, the markets for fast-moving consumer goods are very stable and are not subject to major fluctuations. 
Moreover, the competition environment for the Conaxess Trade Group did not change significantly in 2019. The 
group only advertises and distributes third-party brands. Unlike its competitors, which very often distribute their 
own self-produced and private-label brands to retail outlets, the company assumes no risks in this area. There-
fore, the Conaxess Trade Group sees itself as being well-positioned in comparison with its competitors and can 
operate with a lean cost base. 

The market for fast-moving consumer goods parallels the development of retail sales. According to preliminary 
data from the statistical authorities, retail sales as of November 2019 exhibited positive growth rates of 2.7% in 
Finland, 3.2% in Sweden, 2.9% in Denmark, 1.6% in Norway and 1.3% in Austria. Because these figures are not 
price-adjusted, the real organic growth is considerably lower. These trends are also influenced by exchange rate 
developments and the related priced increases and tax effects (e.g. taxes on sales of candy in Norway). In general, 
the retail environment and retail demand can be described as positive.

Current developments
The business of the Conaxess Trade Group varies according to the seasons, including Easter, Christmas and 
 vacation season, in line with general retail trends, culminating around Christmas in the fourth quarter. 

Although the group’s 2019 revenues were slightly below the level of the previous year, the contribution margin 
and EBITDA improved substantially. The contribution margin was only slightly below plan. EBITDA and EBIT were 
much higher than the planned figures, demonstrating the significant progress made in the group’s realignment.

Significant factors affecting business performance
The group’s general revenue performance is mainly influenced by the introduction of new products and the 
relaunch of existing products and brands, and by changes in or the discontinuation of products and contracts.
The revenues of the Conaxess Trade Group were very much adversely affected in 2019 by the effect of the sugar 
tax in Norway and the termination of not very profitable contracts in Denmark and Sweden. The acquisition of 
the business of Altia Plc in Denmark and new business in Sweden, Norway, Finland and Switzerland had posi-
tive effects on revenues. 

The earnings of the Conaxess Trade Group were adversely affected by the sharp depreciation of the Swedish 
krona and the Norwegian krone against the euro, the US dollar and the British pound because price increases 
can only be passed on after a delay. For this reason, the weakness of the Swedish krona and the Norwegian 
krone had a negative impact on the cost of goods sold. The exchange rates of these currencies stabilized to-
wards the end of 2019 and are signaling a positive trend for 2020.  

Other significant factors affecting business performance were restructuring expenses and the workforce re-
duction resulting from the termination of two important contracts with brand owners. 

The productivity and efficiency enhancement program was continued in 2019. The Conaxess Trade Group im-
plemented a number of restructuring measures, staff levels were reduced in some national subsidiaries. The 
synergies resulting from the add-on acquisition of Galleberg AS and the integration into the Conaxess Trade 
Group in 2018 were fully realized in 2019 and made a significant positive contribution to earnings.
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Outlook
The outlook for the business performance of the Conaxess Trade Group remains positive. It is fundamentally 
 dependent on the brand owners’ strategies for the development of their respective brands, possible new product 
introductions, price increases, and negotiations with retailers. The development of exchange rates (SEK, NOK, CHF 
against EUR, USD and GBP) will have a significant influence on business performance. 

For 2020, the Conaxess Trade Group expects a slight increase in the contribution margin and earnings compared 
to 2019. 

CALUMET WEX

Company
Calumet Wex is a omni-channel vendor of products for photography enthusiasts and professional photographers, 
with 18 specialty shops in the United Kingdom, Germany, Belgium and the Netherlands, as well as online shops in 
Germany and the United Kingdom. The corporate group offers a broad portfolio of brand-name products of 
 reputable manufacturers and own-label brands and services. Calumet has belonged to AURELIUS since 2016, 
Wex since 2017. In addition, Calumet Wex acquired the equity interests in Foto-Video Sauter in late 2018.

Structure and organization
Headquartered in Hamburg, Calumet Wex is managed by a two-person management team. One team mem-
ber is responsible for Calumet’s business in central Europe, the other for Wex’s business in the United Kingdom. 
The extended management team also includes executives for Marketing, Online Sales, IT and Finance. Besides 
the physical stores and online shops, the group also operates two warehouses in northern Germany and the 
United Kingdom in order to ensure the quick delivery of products to the retail stores and online customers.

Market environment
The growing use of smartphones with increasingly better cameras has radically changed the way customers 
deal with photography. Smartphone cameras are always on hand and the wish to take photos has increased 
dramatically since the market introduction of smartphones. This trend has also been helped considerably by 
the popularity of social media, which have created the opportunity to share photographs with others at any 
time. For these reasons, the market for low-cost photography has come under intense pressure. By contrast, 
the market for higher-quality and premium-quality photography has benefitted from the rising interest in 
quality photos because premium products offer significantly more setting and post-processing options and 
even higher image quality than smartphones. The market for photographic equipment is highly fragmented 
and most retailers are family owned enterprises with just one location, putting them at a competitive disad-
vantage compared to larger vendors.

Calumet Wex operates in two key areas: the stable market for high-end photographic equipment and the 
fast-growing service segment. Calumet Wex is the only company in the relevant markets of Europe to focus 
strongly on the high-end segment of semi-professional and professional photographers.
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Current developments
At the end of 2019, Calumet Wex operated a total of 20 shops, including eight in Germany, nine in the United 
Kingdom, and three in the Benelux countries. These shops have been modernized in accordance with a new shop 
concept. A new shop was opened in Frankfurt and a small Foto Sauter store in the Upper Bavarian town of Rosen-
heim was closed last year.

Wex generates nearly half of its revenues from online sales and has attained a market-leading position in the 
United Kingdom. The corporate group increased its revenues and EBITDA over 2018. Revenues were slightly below 
plan, while EBITDA was substantially higher than plan.

Significant factors affecting business performance
One of the competitors of Calumet Wex, the Jessops retail chain, filed for bankruptcy at the end of December 
2019. The future of the 46 Jessops shops is uncertain. 

The new shop opened in Frankfurt in June offers customers a new kind of camera purchasing experience in 
 Europe with highly polished product presentations and separate areas in which customers can try out premium- 
brand cameras. The successful integration of Foto-Video Sauter̀ s business administration processes into the 
headquarters of Calumet Wex is already beginning to have positive effects on efficiency. This effect will be fully 
realized in the current year.

Outlook
Calumet Wex continually invests in new flagship stores and covers all larger metropolitan areas in Germany, the 
Netherlands, and Belgium. Thanks to its presence in all larger cities of the UK, Wex can serve a large proportion of 
potential customers there. The opening of new stores in regions such as the northeast of England offers opportu-
nities for further growth. Increased revenues should result from the introduction of exclusive proprietary brands 
with higher profit margins, the expansion of online sales, sales of second-hand photographic equipment, an 
 in-house repair service, a broad range of rental photographic equipment for semi-professional and professional 
customers, and a broad offering of photography workshops. For 2020, Calumet Wex expects rising sales numbers 
for its proprietary brands and higher revenues and EBITDA overall.

OFFICE DEPOT EUROPE 

Company
Office Depot Europe is the European business of the U.S. company Office Depot Inc., acquired by AURELIUS in early 
2017. The company operates itself in twelve countries of Europe and in other European countries through subsidi-
aries and business partners. Office Depot Europe is one of the leading vendors of office supplies, printing and 
document services, computers and printers, business services such as facility management, and integrated office 
solutions.

In direct sales, small and medium-sized enterprises and individuals are served by the Viking brand in the online 
shop, catalog sales and call centers. The main markets for Viking are the German-speaking countries of Germany, 
Austria and Switzerland, as well as the United Kingdom and Ireland. From its broad sales network, the Contract 
Division supplies a large number of corporate customers primarily in the United Kingdom and Ireland, Benelux, 
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the German-speaking countries and France. The Retail Division operates its own Office Depot City Stores as well 
as stores located in shopping centers in France and Sweden.

Structure and organization
Office Depot Europe has its headquarters in the Dutch city of Venlo. The company is managed according to the 
two operating segments Contract and Direct and by corporate staff functions. The markets of France, Spain, Italy, 
and Sweden are managed locally and independently of each other. The two sales lines Direct and Contract service 
their customer segments with specific marketing and sales processes tailored to individual customer needs. 
By  contrast, the product assortment and procurement are managed centrally in the principal regions. The 
 German-speaking countries, Benelux and the United Kingdom are mainly supplied from distribution centers 
in Großostheim (in Germany), Leicester and Ashton (both in the United Kingdom).

Market environment
The market for office supplies in Europe is undergoing a major transformation. Online sales continue to grow at a 
rapid pace while sales in traditional channels such as stores and catalogs are under heavy pressure and are shrink-
ing. Customers are highly interested in innovative solutions and personalized offerings, while social responsibility 
and cost reductions also play an important role. The market environment therefore remains competition-inten-
sive and demanding.

Current developments
2019 was a challenging year of transformation for Office Depot Europe. Revenues and profit margins came under 
pressure, which had a negative impact on cash flows. While the company continued to invest in its future, it 
achieved some important milestones. The digital transformation is advancing and Office Depot Europe is focus-
ing on further improving the buying experience for existing and new customers, which should benefit online 
sales in particular. The company has invested in numerous growth programs and taken additional measures to 
lower costs. The business in Eastern Europe was successfully sold in November 2019.

Significant factors affecting business performance
The management of Office Depot Europe continued on a course of consolidation in 2019. Numerous measures 
were initiated to further stabilize the business in the coming years. The digital marketplace with an enlarged 
product assortment and improved end-to-end marketing is a key platform for the future growth of online sales. 
The company is investing in information technologies to support this platform. A restructuring program is  helping 
the company become more agile, efficient and effective. Cost savings are improving the profit margin and liquid-
ity situation. 

Brexit remains a challenge for Office Depot Europe’s demand and procurement planning although the manage-
ment is prepared for different scenarios.

Outlook
The consolidation process at Office Depot Europe will continue in 2020. The goal is to stabilize revenues and con-
tinue the positive trend of online sales. In view of the increasingly weaker economy in Europe, this will be a chal-
lenge, also considering that the company’s business performance in the second half of 2019 did not entirely meet 
expectations. Office Depot Europe will rigorously implement the initiated restructuring measures, additional cost 
savings programs and investment projects in order to achieve the business goals for 2020.
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SILVAN

Company
Silvan is a Danish “do-it-yourself” (DIY) retail chain with the highest level of brand recognition in this sector. Silvan 
operates 42 DIY stores and an online shop in Denmark, where it mainly serves individual customers. Silvan’s loca-
tions, which are conveniently located close to larger cities, offer traditional DIY products such as building materi-
als and garden supplies, as well as home improvement. In additional to traditional customer services such as 
click-and-collect, Silvan also offers full-range drive-up options, custom services such as woodcutting and paint 
mixing, as well as machine and trailer rentals. Silvan was acquired by AURELIUS in September 2017.

Structure and organization
Silvan’s headquarters is located in Brabrand, a district of Aarhus in Denmark. The management is composed of 
a CEO, a CFO and a CSO. Other second-tier departments include Category Management, Marketing, HR, IT and 
Logistics.

Market environment
The competition situation was unchanged in 2019 and the market is still undergoing changes. The market envi-
ronment of the DIY sector in Denmark is positive and the market is growing, as in the previous years. As before, 
the most important competitors in the B2B business are Bauhaus, Jem & Fix, and Harald Nyborg, which continue 
to expand and open new stores in Denmark.

Current developments
The restructuring measures were implemented consistently and supplemented with additional measures in 2019. 
The company also focused on expanding key business relationships, particularly with suppliers. Revenues and 
EBITDA remained behind expectations in the 2019 financial year. However, all key performance indicators exhib-
ited a very positive development in the second half of 2019.

Significant factors affecting business performance
The turnaround process is proceeding in a positive direction. Inventories were significantly reduced by almost 
30 percent to a more efficient level and two out of four external warehouses were closed in 2019. The conversion 
of the logistics concept in the second half has already led to a reduction of ongoing logistical costs. This is ex-
pected to result in a substantial reduction of logistical costs in 2020. In addition, two unprofitable stores were 
closed. An efficiency program made it possible to reduce personnel expenses by nearly ten percent in 2019 and 
further  personnel expense reductions are expected in 2020. Additional operational measures such as adjust-
ments of IT structures and the implementation of new price strategies generated substantial cost savings and 
positive EBITDA effects.

Besides continuing the ongoing projects, new initiatives were defined to ensure an optimal long-term business 
development. These initiatives include the opening of new stores in city centers, the further optimization and 
streamlining of processes at headquarters and in the stores, as well as the recalibration of the marketing strategy 
and brand positioning. 

Finally, several measures were implemented to improve the company’s CO2 footprint and offer more climate- 
friendly products to customers. Silvan was one of the first DIY companies in Denmark to voluntarily stop selling all 
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‘Round-up’ brand products since the beginning of 2020. In addition, the company will soon launch a plan to con-
vert the lighting in all stores to LED and sales of plastic bags will be discontinued in 2020.

Outlook
The efficiency enhancement measures initiated in the areas of personnel, logistics, the store network, business 
relationships and process optimization in general, as well as dedicated profit margin improvement programs, are 
expected to result in a considerable improvement of the earnings situation in 2020. 

BERTRAM BOOKS

Company
Bertram Books is a globally active multi-channel bookseller in the primary markets of the United Kingdom 
and Europe. The company was acquired by AURELIUS under its former name Connect Books in early 2018 
and renamed to Bertram Books.

Bertram Books comprises seven independent business models and brands:

■■ Bertram Books is a B2B wholesaler of books in the United Kingdom. 
■■ Bertram offers tailored services from complete warehouse management to the management of online sales. 
■■ Wordery is a B2C online book shop in the UK, offering access to more than 13 million book titles. 
■■ Dawson Books is a supplier of textbooks and e-books, as well as service and information systems for  

universities and other educational institutions. 
■■ Erasmus and Houtschild are internationally active specialty suppliers and curators of premium-quality books 

and journals for academic and corporate libraries, specializing in the procurement of hard-to-find titles.
■■ Bertram Library Services is a supplier of books to lending libraries, especially in the United Kingdom and 

 Ireland. 
■■ Education Umbrella supplies British schools with books and digital media. 

Structure and organization
Bertram Books has its headquarters in Norwich (United Kingdom) and has a total of seven locations in the United 
Kingdom, the rest of Europe and the United States. A warehouse where book orders are assembled and shipped is 
also located at the company’s headquarters. The warehouse also has capacity for other products. The business of 
Bertram Books is divided into the three segments of Online Sales (worldwide), Education (worldwide) and Whole-
sale (United Kingdom). Around eleven million book titles across all categories are available at any time. Bertram 
Books is managed by a management team, which also includes the executives in charge of the various divisions.

Market environment
The book market contracted somewhat in 2019. Whereas sales of printed books increased, the demand for 
e-books declined. Moreover, the market is characterized by a growing shift from the traditional wholesale busi-
ness to the cost-intensive single-customer business. Inflationary pressures in raw materials, personnel expenses 
and capital maintenance measures are weighing on profit margins. These developments have led to a consolida-
tion of the market. Vendors pulled out of the market last year in both Europe and the United States.
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Current developments
2019 was the second year of the company’s restructuring by AURELIUS. The management was reorganized and 
processes improved over the course of the year.

Bertram Books launched a Virtual Inventory Program (VIP) in October 2019. It offers customers an expanded 
 assortment of ten million book titles, including 200,000 that are always in stock. 

Significant factors affecting business performance
The business of Bertram Books is highly cyclical, with demand peaking when the new academic year begins, 
followed by the Christmas season. The revenues generated between April and August 2019 were below the 
level of the prior year due to low inventories and expiring contracts with several university libraries. Additional 
funds were approved to increase inventories for 2019 busy season. However, demand declined again in the 
fourth quarter due to the political uncertainty surrounding Brexit and the possibility of a change of govern-
ment.

Outlook
The market environment for Bertram Books remains challenging. 

IDEAL SHOPPING DIRECT

Company
Ideal Shopping Direct is a multi-channel home shopping provider in the United Kingdom. It has belonged to the 
AURELIUS Group since July 2018. The company purchases, designs, and sells lifestyle products, as well as do-it-
yourself and craft supplies, to more than 600,000 customers via different interactive sales channels such as TV 
shopping, social media, online shops and live events. Ideal Shopping Direct operates four of its own channels, 
Ideal World, Ideal Extra, Create & Craft, and Create & Craft Extra, which distribute TV content in the United 
Kingdom and the United States. Ideal Shopping Direct is celebrating the 20th anniversary of its founding this 
year, making it one of the oldest provider in the British teleshopping market.

Structure and organization
Ideal Shopping Direct has its headquarters in Peterborough (United Kingdom). This is also where the company 
designs, produces, and broadcasts its TV programs and ships its products to end customers. After the acquisition 
by AURELIUS, both the Executive Board and the business divisions were restructured to better meet the chal-
lenges of the market. The company is led by a CEO with the support of an Operating Board that oversees procure-
ment and merchandising, marketing, production and broadcasting, as well as various back-office functions.

Market environment
The retail market environment in the United Kingdom was generally marked by the failure of several very well-
known retailers. Nonetheless, the competition pressure is still intense: There are currently 25 teleshopping chan-
nels in the United Kingdom. Ideal Shopping Direct’s “Create & Craft” channel is the clear market leader for craft 
supplies in the home shopping market.
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Current developments
The product assortment was expanded by more than 30 new and former manufacturers of craft supplies in 
2019, including Crafters Companion and Tonic, the two largest manufacturers of craft supplies in the United 
Kingdom. This reduced the company’s dependence on private label brands. Inventories were reduced by around 
two thirds. Thanks to the resumption of business relationships with earlier suppliers, more than 22,000 earlier 
customers were reactivated and more than 10,000 new customers were acquired. A changed marketing and 
discount strategy increased the profit margins of Create & Craft.

Ideal World has worked together with Independent Television (ITV), the biggest independent TV channel in the 
United Kingdom, since 2018 and uses a midnight broadcast slot for its own program. This collaboration steers 
new suppliers and customers to Ideal World and was decisive in helping Ideal World largely meet its expecta-
tions for 2019.

Ideal Shopping Direct is currently testing a payment system, Openpay, that allows customers to pay for prod-
ucts in 12 monthly installments without interest. This promotional measure should help boost sales while also 
improving the company’s liquidity. 

To protect Ideal Shopping Direct against possibly declining TV viewer numbers in the future, it is planned to 
turn the corporate group into a primarily online vendor. To this end, the company will create an online market-
place that will make an important contribution to revenues in the future. A first test will start in April 2020.

Significant factors affecting business performance
Ideal Shopping Direct completed the turnaround and increased its EBITDA over the prior-year figure in 2019. The 
reduction of jobs and the relocation of the two 100-percent subsidiaries Ideal Sourcing and Craft Channel Pro-
ductions to headquarters considerably reduced the complexity of the organization and costs.

Outlook
Further restructuring measures will be taken and investments made to boost revenues and further reduce costs. 
Such measures include the collaboration with new US home-shopping channels, the establishment of a B2B Divi-
sion and the collaboration with an outside agency that will collect commissions only when an order is received. 

The management does not expect any major effects from Brexit because there are sufficient supplier capacities 
in the Far East and the company could also fall back on British suppliers in the event of import delays. The com-
pany will seek to enlarge its customer base further with innovative teleshopping products. The midnight ITV slots 
will continue to bring attention to Ideal World and generate new customers.
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NDS GROUP (PREVIOUSLY: HELLANOR)

Company
The NDS Group is Norway’s second-biggest wholesaler of automotive parts. The company offers a portfolio of 
parts, shop equipment, and services to a customer base that includes independent mechanic shops, car dealer-
ships, and local wholesalers. In addition, the NDS Group offers repair shop concepts under the in-house brand 
Automester and concepts for third-party customers such as Bosch Car Service, for example. This former division 
of the Hella Group was acquired by AURELIUS in December 2018 and renamed NDS Group (Nordic Distribution and 
Service Group) in June 2019.

Structure and organization
The company has its headquarters in Hagan near Oslo/Norway and operates a central warehouse there, as well as 
more than 20 branches located throughout the country. The management team is composed of a CEO, a CFO, a 
Sales Director, a Director for the connected franchise concept, a Marketing Director and a Director of Operations.

Market environment
The fleet of relevant automobiles for the independent parts market (more than four years old) continues to ex-
pand modestly. The Norwegian automotive parts market is mainly stable, although it will change in the short to 
medium term due to consolidation and in the long term as a result of the rising share of electric cars. Market 
consolidation can be observed in the brand-dependent parts market (OES) and in the independent parts market. 
Dealer chains are generating rising revenues in the OES channel while smaller car dealers are increasingly going 
bankrupt. In the independent parts market, national repair shop chains and repair shops with several locations 
are generating strong growth and are therefore also driving smaller repair shops out of the market.

Current developments
After the 2019 summer break, revenues generated on wear and replacement parts lagged behind expectations 
and the prior-year figures. This development is attributable to falling revenues with smaller customers. In the 
 repair shop equipment line, however, revenues continued to rise. After streamlining its sales and logistics, the 
company is generally focusing more on larger customers who exhibit more sustained growth. In this connection, 
the NDS Group signed a multi-year supply contract with the Bertel O. Steen Group in November 2019. This, the 
biggest contract in the Norwegian market covers the delivery of parts to the biggest Norwegian repair shop group 
Snapdrive and dealers of the brands Mercedes-Benz, Kia, Peugeot, Citroën, DS, Opel, smart, Fuso and Setra, which 
belong to Bertel O. Steen. 

Significant factors affecting business performance
Also in 2020, the target customer segment of independent repair shops will be heavily influenced by digitalization 
and the growing importance of professionalism. In addition, a further consolidation at the repair shop level 
among both brand-dependent and independent repair shops can be expected.

Outlook
As part of its strategic realignment, the company quickly cut sales to small customers that were not very profita-
ble. The focus on larger customers is beginning to yield positive results and will lead to higher revenues with a 
lower cost base, so that a substantial increase in profitability can be expected in 2020.
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BMC BENELUX

Company
BMC Benelux is a leading construction materials retail chain in Belgium. With a market share of around three 
percent, the company is among the top 5 in a highly fragmented market. BMC Benelux serves small and medi-
um-sized  construction industry firms under the two brand names YouBuild and MPro. The chain features a 
dense  network of stores, a broad product offering and excellent services. BMC Benelux has belonged to 
AURELIUS since October 2019.

Structure and organization
BMC Benelux is headquartered in Brussels and operates 17 stores in the greater Brussels metropolitan area and in 
the regions of West Flanders and Hennegau. BMC Benelux also operates its own transport company to supply its 
customers. The management team is composed of a CEO, three executives for finance, procurement and produc-
tion and two sales directors, one for each brand.

Market environment
The Belgian construction materials market is stable and growing at an annual rate of one to two percent. The 
business is subject to seasonal fluctuations, with demand peaks in the spring and autumn, as well as weather 
conditions. Mild winters or warm summers prolong the building season. International suppliers are continually 
pulling out of the fragmented market and putting their businesses up for sale. Family-owned enterprises are 
sometimes unable to find suitable successors. These developments provide an opportunity for growth through 
acquisitions.

Current developments
Immediately after the acquisition, AURELIUS implemented measures to lower fixed costs and increase revenues 
and profit margins. Moreover, the favorable weather conditions at the start of 2019 had a positive impact on 
 revenues. Overall, revenues were above expectations and higher than the prior-year figure. Earnings were also 
better than planned.

Significant factors affecting business performance
The company focuses on small and medium-sized customers. The gradual shift away from larger customers has 
already reduced dependence on individual customers and led to smaller revenue fluctuations. The opening of a 
store in Tournai in West Flanders in November 2019 increased the store density.

Outlook
A differentiated strategy of offering the best possible services is the key to success in a steadily growing, but 
highly fragmented and competition-intensive market. Therefore, the company plans to introduce new products 
and offerings such as tool rental in selected stores in the current year. In addition, the company intends to expand 
its network further in the Brussels-Ghent-Antwerp triangle either by opening new greenfield stores or acquiring 
the stores of competitors. Together with the operational improvements and more efficient administration, these 
measures will have a positive effect on profit margins and profit-oriented growth.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE, CASH FLOWS AND  
FINANCIAL POSITION 

Financial performance

in EUR millions 1/1 - 12/31/2019 1/1 - 12/31/2018 Change

Consolidated revenues 1, 2 3,192.2 2,902.9 10%

Consolidated revenues (annualized) 2 3,390.9 3,333.0 2%

EBITDA 1, 2 73.7 65.7 12%

EBIT 1, 2 -110.4 11.7 >-100%

Consolidated profit/loss attributable to shareholders of 
the parent company 

18.4 -48.2 >100%

Earnings per share (basic), in EUR 1, 2 -4.73 -0.80 >-100%

Earnings per share (diluted), in EUR 1, 2 -4.30 -0.64 >-100%
1  The consolidated statement of comprehensive income has been adjusted for comparison purposes in accordance with IFRS 3.45 ff. and 

IFRS 5.

2 From continued operations.

The consolidated revenues from continued operations of the AURELIUS Group amounted to EUR 3,192.2 million in 
financial year 2019, reflecting an increase of ten percent over the prior-year figure (2018: EUR 2,902.9 million). This 
increase in consolidated revenues is mainly attributable to the acquisitions made in financial year 2018, which 
were consolidated for the full 12 months for the first time in financial year 2019, as well as the new subsidiaries 
added in financial year 2019.

The annualized, i.e. extrapolated to the full 12 months, consolidated revenues from continued operations 
amounted to EUR 3,390.9 million in financial year 2019, as compared to EUR 3,333.0 million in financial year 2018, 
which corresponds to an increase of two percent.

Other income increased by 23 percent to EUR 193.7 million (2018: EUR 158.1 million). This item includes gains on 
bargain purchases in the amount of EUR 65.3 million (2018: EUR 82.8 million) and income from deconsolidation in 
the amount of EUR 16.2 million (2018: EUR 0.3 million). Other income also includes the following items: income on 
disposal of non-current assets in the amount of EUR 28.2 million (2018: EUR 4.4 million), income from the reversal 
of provisions in the amount of EUR 8.4 million (2018: EUR 20.9 million), income from exchange rate changes in the 
amount of EUR 8.9 million (2018: EUR 5.4 million), and income from the derecognition of liabilities in the amount 
of EUR 1.1 million (2018: EUR 7.2 million). The changes in the individual items are usually also due to changes in the 
basis of consolidation.

Purchased goods and services increased by ten percent to EUR 2,058.5 million in financial year 2019 (2018: EUR 
1,865.6 million). The purchased goods and services ratio came to 64 percent. Personnel expenses increased by 
15  percent to EUR 638.8 million (2018: EUR 557.7 million). The personnel expenses ratio came to 20 percent, as 
 compared to 19 percent in the previous year. 

Other expenses amounted to EUR 608.8 million an increase of six percent (2018: EUR 574.9 million). This figure 
mainly includes the following items: freight and transport expenses in the amount of EUR 130.6 million (2018: EUR 
119.0 million), expenses for buildings and machinery in the amount of EUR 81.3 million (2018: EUR 135.1 million), 
marketing expenses and commissions in the amount of EUR 118.4 million (2018: EUR 94.3 million), administrative 
expenses in the amount of EUR 72.5 million (2018: EUR 67.9 million), and consulting expenses in the amount of EUR 
80.7 million (2018: EUR 64.7 million).
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At EUR 73.7 million, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) were higher than the 
corresponding figure for the 2018 financial year (EUR 65.7 million). 

Depreciation, amortization and impairments of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use 
assets increased considerably by 241 percent, to EUR 184.1 million (2018: EUR 54.0), due in particular to the first-time 
application of the new Standard IFRS 16 (Leases), which requires the recognition and subsequent depreciation of 
so-called right-of-use assets. The depreciation of the right-of-use assets to be recognized in accordance with IFRS 
16 amounted to EUR 73.0 million in financial year 2019 (2018: EUR 0 million). In addition, impairments totaling EUR 
39.1 million (2018: EUR 0 million) are included in the item of depreciation, amortization and impairments as a result 
of impairment tests conducted in accordance with IAS 36. Earnings before taxes and interest (EBIT) amounted to 
minus EUR 110.4 million in financial year 2019, which was therefore also well below the prior-year figure (2018: EUR 
11.7 million). 

Net financial income/expenses amounted to minus EUR 34.7 million (2018: EUR -10.7 million). This increase also 
 resulted from the application of the new Standard IFRS 16, which requires the recognition of an interest compo-
nent in addition to depreciation. The total interest expenses resulting from the application of IFRS 16 amounted to 
EUR 17.5 million in financial year 2019 (2018: EUR 0 million).

Especially due to the successful exits of SOLIDUS und the Scandinavian Cosmetics Group, the profit/loss from 
discontinued operations increased significantly to EUR 158.7 million in financial year 2019, after minus EUR 24.9 
million in financial year 2018.

The consolidated profit/loss for the 2019 financial year amounted to EUR 18.3 million, after minus EUR 39.5 million 
in financial year 2018.

The breakdown of revenues, EBITDA and EBIT by the individual sectors of Services & Solutions, Industrial Produc-
tion and Retail & Consumer Products, as well as discontinued operations, is presented in the table below:
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Services & Solutions 226,239 65,038 161,201 446,946 320,717 126,229

Industrial Production 700,579 255,990 444,589 775,873 462,051 313,822

Retail & Consumer Products 2,658,529 98,914 2,559,615 2,553,125 96,060 2,457,065

Other 26,778 - / - 26,778 5,821 - / - 5,821

AURELIUS Group 3,612,125 419,942 3,192,183 3,781,765 878,828 2,902,937

in kEUR EBITDA EBIT

1/1 - 12/31/2019 1/1 - 12/31/2018 Change 1/1 - 12/31/2019 1/1 - 12/31/2018 Change

Services & Solutions 37,316 6,316 >100% 23,420 -26 >100%

Industrial Production 16,985 93,987 -82% -7,110 80,292 >-100%

Retail & Consumer Products 59,418 8,486 >100% -78,745 -25,036 >-100%

Other -39,973 -43,071 7% -47,965 -43,543 -10%

AURELIUS Group 73,746 65,718 12% -110,400 11,687 >-100%
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In the Services & Solutions sector, revenues from continued operations rose by 28 percent EUR 161.2 million in 
 financial year 2019 (2018: EUR 126.2 million). Sector earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) amounted to EUR 23.4 
million (2018: EUR -0.03 million). In February 2019, Working Links left the consolidated group of AURELIUS as the 
business of social and rehabilitation services for the British authorities (so-called CRCs, Community Rehabilitation 
Companies) was transferred to the service provider Seetec, which is based in Hockley (United Kingdom). Rivus 
Fleet Solutions (previously: BT Fleet Solutions), a commercial fleet operator in the United Kingdom, was acquired 
in September 2019.

In the Industrial Production sector, revenues from continued operations rose by 42 percent to EUR 444.6 million 
(2018: EUR 313.8 million). Sector earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) amounted to minus EUR 7.1 million (2018: 
EUR 80.3 million). SOLIDUS, a provider of sustainable packaging solutions made of recycled paper, was sold in early 
September 2019. 

In the Retail & Consumer Products sector, revenues from continued operations rose by four percent to EUR 2,559.6 
million in financial year 2019 (2018: EUR 2,457.1 million). Sector earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) amounted 
to minus EUR 78.7 million (2018: EUR -25.0 million). In April 2019, the subsidiary Granovit, which is based in Lucens 
(Switzerland), was sold to the existing management team led by CEO Andreas Fischer, in a management buy-out. 
The Belgian construction materials retail chain BMC Benelux, which serves small and medium-sized  construction 
companies under the two brand names MPRO and YouBuild, was acquired in early October. The Scandinavian 
Cosmetics Group was sold to Accent Equity 2017, a Scandinavian investment fund, in  November 2019. 

Please refer to the Segment Report in Note 22 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional 
information on the operating segments.

Cash flows 

in EUR millions 1/1 - 12/31/2019 1/1 - 12/31/2018 * Change

Cash flow from operating activities -76.1 -50.0 -52%

Cash flow from investing activities 204.6 -148.1 >100%

Cash flow from financing activities 12.8 -161.4 >100%

Free cash flow 128.5 -198.1 >100%

Cash and cash equivalents at 12/31 435.7 290.8 50%

*  The prior-year consolidated statement of cash flows has been adjusted for comparison purposes in accordance with IFRS 3.45 ff. and 
IFRS 5.

AURELIUS generated cash flow from operating activities in the amount of minus EUR 76.1 million in financial year 
2019 (2018: EUR -50.0 million). The decrease resulted mainly from the sale of profitable companies in financial year 
2019, which are no longer included in continued operations in accordance with IFRS 5.  

The cash flow from investing activities amounted to EUR 204.6 million, after minus EUR 148.1 million in financial 
year 2018. This increase can be attributed to the following factors: Several large company sales are included in the 
figure for financial year 2019, considerable amounts of money were invested in the AURELIUS portfolio in the form 
of acquisitions of new equity stakes in 2018, and no sales of this magnitude were included in the previous year. 
The cash flow from investing activities includes cash inflows of EUR 15.1 million (2018: outflows of EUR 98.8 million) 
for the acquisition of shares in companies, cash inflows of EUR 229.8 million (2018: outflows of EUR 9.5 million) 
from the sale of subsidiaries, cash inflows of EUR 41.0 million (2018: EUR 22.5 million) from the sale of non-current 
assets, and cash outflows of EUR 81.3 million (2018: EUR 62.4 million) for investments in non-current assets.
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The investments of the individual sectors are presented in the table below:

Investments

in kEUR 1/1 - 12/31/2019 1/1 - 12/31/2018 Change

Services & Solutions 11,781 8,762 34%

Industrial Production 17,864 35,507 -50%

Retail & Consumer Products 48,198 24,088 >100%

Other 3,503 252 >100%

AURELIUS Group 81,346 68,609 19%

The free cash flow of EUR 128.5 million was considerably higher than the free cash flow of minus EUR 198.1 million 
in financial year 2018. The cash flow from financing activities amounted to EUR 12.8 million (2018: EUR -161.4 mil-
lion). This figure includes the dividend payment to the shareholders of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE &  
Co. KGaA in the amount of EUR 89.0 million (2018: EUR 141.0 million). This item also includes the cash inflow from 
the borrowing of non-current financial liabilities resulting from the unsecured, non-subordinated bonds for EUR 
70.7 million successfully placed by AURELIUS Equity Opportunities AB, a 100% subsidiary of AURELIUS Equity  
Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA, in December 2019. The bonds can be increased to an amount of up to EUR 200 mil-
lion. The bonds are guaranteed by AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA.

Cash and cash equivalents amounted to EUR 435.7 million at the reporting date of December 31, 2019 (December 
31, 2018: EUR 290.8 million). Of this total, an amount of EUR 22.1 million was subject to restrictions on disposal at 
December 31, 2019 (December 31, 2018: EUR 18.7 million). In addition, cash totaling EUR 8.4 million (December 31, 
2018: EUR 12.2 million) is presented within Assets held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5. 

Please refer to notes 57 ff. (Financial instruments) of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for infor-
mation on the type, maturity, currency and interest rate structure of the Group’s liabilities. The financing capacity 
of AURELIUS was not endangered at any time in financial year 2019 and the Company was capable of meeting its 
financial obligations at all times. No future financing shortfalls are anticipated. 

Financial position

in EUR millions 12/31/2019 12/31/2018 Change

Total equity and liabilities 2,541.5 2,166.3 17%

Equity 428.2 539.0 -21%

Equity ratio 16.8% 24.9% -33%

Liabilities 2,113.3 1,627.3 30%

thereof financial liabilities 468.9 480.6 -2%

 
At December 31, 2019, the total assets of the AURELIUS Group amounted to EUR 2,541.5 million, which is 17 percent 
higher than the prior-year figure (December 31, 2018: EUR 2,166.3 million). The changes within assets resulted 
mainly from changes in the basis of consolidation and from the application of the new Standard IFRS 16 (Leases).

Non-current assets increased significantly, by 35 percent, to EUR 859.8 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 638.9 mil-
lion) and accounted for 34 percent (December 31, 2018: 29%) of total assets. Within the category of non-current 
assets, intangible assets declined by 25 percent to EUR 171.0 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 227.0 million). Prop-
erty, plant and equipment declined by 33 percent to EUR 246.7 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 368.4 million). 
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 Financial assets rose to EUR 14.5 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 10.2 million). The increase in non-current assets 
resulted particularly from the recognition of right-of-use assets in the amount of EUR 398.5 million (December 31, 
2018: EUR 0 million) due to the first-time application of IFRS 16. 

Current assets increased by ten percent to EUR 1,681.7 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 1,527.4 million) and  accounted 
for 66 percent of total assets (December 31, 2018: 71%). 

Inventories declined by 20 percent to EUR 370.9 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 463.7 million). Finished goods and 
merchandise were mainly held by Office Depot Europe in the amount of EUR 94.8 million (2018: EUR 111.9 million), 
Silvan in the amount of EUR 46.9 million (2018: EUR 66.1 million), the Conaxess Trade Group in the amount of EUR 
26.4 million (2018: EUR 43.9 million), and Calumet Wex in the amount of EUR 23.7 million (2018: EUR 22.0 million). 
Inventories of raw materials and supplies were mostly held by VAG in the amount of EUR 13.0 million (2018: EUR 
16.2 million) and HanseYachts in the amount of EUR 11.7 million (2018: EUR 11.6 million). Unfinished goods and 
 services were mainly held by HanseYachts in the amount of EUR 15.8 million (2018: EUR 17.6 million) and VAG in the 
amount of EUR 9.5 million (2018: EUR 12.6 million). The decrease in inventories resulted particularly from the 
 successful sales of the portfolio companies SOLIDUS and the Scandinavian Cosmetics Group in financial year 2019.

Trade receivables declined by 13 percent to EUR 406.2 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 468.3 million). Trade receiv-
ables were mainly held by Office Depot Europe in the amount of EUR 150.3 million (2018: EUR 189.3 million), Rivus 
Fleet Solutions in the amount of EUR 50.2 million (2018: EUR 0 million), VAG in the amount of EUR 31.1 million (2018: 
EUR 40.8 million), and the Conaxess Trade Group in the amount of EUR 26.5 million (2018: EUR 59.5 million). 

Other financial assets increased by 19 percent to EUR 149.6 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 126.1 million). They 
consist mainly of creditors with debit balances in the amount of EUR 37.6 million (2018: EUR 33.3 million), financial 
receivables from third parties in the amount of EUR 55.8 million (2018: EUR 61.9 million), and security deposits in 
the amount of EUR 7.1 million (2018: EUR 9.9 million).

Other assets declined by 14 percent to EUR 59.2 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 68.7 million). They consist mainly 
of VAT receivables in the amount of EUR 23.0 million (2018: EUR 36.2 million), and receivables from down  payments 
in the amount of EUR 3.9 million (2018: EUR 3.4 million). 

Cash and cash equivalents increased significantly to EUR 435.7 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 290.8 million). They 
were mainly held by AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA in the amount of EUR 176.6 million (2018: EUR 
43.7 million), Office Depot Europe in the amount of EUR 70.0 million (2018: EUR 80.2 million), and the Conaxess 
Trade Group in the amount of EUR 40.0 million (2018: EUR 38.6 million).

The Group’s equity declined by 21 percent to EUR 428.2 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 539.0 million). The equity 
ratio came to 17 percent at the reporting date of December 31, 2019 (December 31, 2018: 25%). The decrease in the 
Group’s equity compared to December 31, 2018 resulted particularly from the dividend payment of EUR 89.0 mil-
lion.

Non-current liabilities increased by 50 percent to EUR 685.2 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 457.1 million). The in-
crease resulted from the lease liabilities recognized in connection with the recognition of right-of-use assets in 
accordance with IFRS 16. The resulting non-current lease liabilities totaled EUR 385.0 million at December 31, 2019 
(December 31, 2018: EUR 0 million). Non-current liabilities also include pension obligations in the amount of EUR 
41.6 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 24.9 million), reflecting an increase of 67 percent. 

At December 31, 2019, non-current financial liabilities amounted to EUR 133.0 million, which was 51 percent less 
than the prior-year figure (December 31, 2018: EUR 271.5 million). This item includes liabilities from bonds to third 
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parties at AURELIUS Equity Opportunities AB in the amount of EUR 70.7 million (2018: EUR 0 million). Non-current 
financial liabilities also include liabilities to banks in the amount of EUR 37.4 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 59.1 
million). The decrease resulted mainly from the reclassification of financial liabilities related to the convertible 
bond of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA from non-current to current financial liabilities. 

Current liabilities increased by 22 percent to EUR 1,428.2 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 1,170.2 million). This item 
includes trade payables of EUR 470.2 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 535.7 million). The trade payables relate par-
ticularly to Office Depot Europe in the amount of EUR 154.3 million (2018: EUR 178.8 million), Bertram Books in the 
amount of EUR 43.9 million (2018: EUR 63.5 million), the Conaxess Trade Group in the amount of EUR 43.5 million 
(2018: EUR 52.3 million), and Silvan in the amount of EUR 34.8 million (2018: EUR 50.4 million). This item also  includes 
current lease liabilities of EUR 77.9 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 0 million).

Current financial liabilities amounted to EUR 335.9 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 209.1 million). This item  includes 
the liabilities of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA to the creditors of the convertible bond issued in 
December 2015 in the amount of EUR 100.9 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 98.6 million). This item also includes 
current financial liabilities to banks, particularly at Silvan in the amount of EUR 24.3 million (2018: EUR 22.2 million), 
Office Depot Europe in the amount of EUR 19.8 million (2018: EUR 0 million), Bertram Books in the amount of EUR 
16.2 million (2018: EUR 17.4 million), and HanseYachts in the amount of EUR 11.7 million (2018: EUR 7.8 million).

The assets and liabilities of the sectors are presented in the table below:

Assets Liabilities

in kEUR 12/31/2019 12/31/2018 Change 12/31/2019 12/31/2018 Change

Services & Solutions 243,204 120,138 >100% 150,901 42,719 >100%

Industrial Production 345,891 595,169 -42% 148,561 258,471 -43%

Retail & Consumer Products 1,392,333 1,245,603 12% 1,027,234 704,611 46%

Other 335,111 99,543 >100% 101,073 37,698 >100%

Circumstances endangering continued operations
The legal representatives of Office Depot International BV, Venlo, Netherlands, and Office Depot UK Ltd., Leices-
ter, United Kingdom, have stated that the companies are undergoing a restructuring phase and based on their 
business plans, they will generate sufficient positive operating cash flows in the next two years; however, this is 
dependent on the successful implementation of the measures assumed in the business plans, particularly in-
cluding the stabilization and subsequent increase in revenues and the further adjustment of the companies’ 
cost structure. Otherwise, the companies would need financial support and the provision of cash and cash 
equivalents by the parent company.
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Executive Board’s overall assessment of the Company’s performance and situation
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA completed the biggest exit in the Company’s history to date with 
the sale of SOLIDUS in the 2019 financial year. In addition, the Scandinavian Cosmetics Group was sold. On the 
acquisition side were five acquisitions, two of which were completed and fully consolidated for the first time in 
2019. The acquisitions of three other corporate groups had not yet closed at the reporting date of December 31, 
2019. Two of these acquisitions were completed in the first quarter of 2020. Thus, the Group’s development in fi-
nancial year 2019 can be described as favorable.

This is also reflected in the following results: Consolidated revenues from continued operations increased by ten 
percent to EUR 3,192.2 million in financial year 2019 (2018: EUR 2,902.9 million) particularly as a result of the new 
acquisitions. Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) amounted to EUR 73.7 mil-
lion, reflecting a twelve percent increase over the prior-year figure (2018: EUR 65.7 million). This figure includes 
gains on bargain purchases in the amount of EUR 65.3 million, after EUR 82.8 million in financial year 2018. Thanks 
to the successful company sales, cash and cash equivalents rose to EUR 435.7 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 
290.8 million), despite a dividend of EUR 89.0 million to shareholders of AURELIUS.

Employees
AURELIUS had an average of 12,712 employees in financial year 2019 (2018: 13,895 employees). This number includes 
5,912 wage earners (2018: 5,995 wage earners) and 6,801 salaried employees (2018: 7,900 salaried employees). 
AURELIUS had 13,486 employees at the reporting date of December 31, 2019 (December 31, 2018: 15,131 employees).

The decrease in the number of employees resulted mainly from the sales of portfolio companies in financial year 
2019. 

Personnel expenses rose by 15 percent to EUR 638.8 million in financial year 2019 (2018: EUR 557.7 million). The per-
sonnel expenses ratio came to 20 percent, after 19 percent in the previous year. 

Financial and non-financial performance indicators 
The AURELIUS Group does not manage its operations on the basis of non-financial performance indicators. For 
information on financial performance indicators, please refer to the comments on the management system of 
the AURELIUS Group on page 22 ff. of the Group management report.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE, CASH FLOWS AND FINANCIAL  
POSITION OF AURELIUS EQUITY OPPORTUNITIES SE & Co. KGaA

The separate financial statements of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA have been prepared in accord-
ance with the regulations of Sections 264 ff. of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB) for 
 medium-sized corporations and in compliance with the German Stock Corporations Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG). 
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA is the parent company of the AURELIUS Group. The business perfor-
mance of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA is essentially subject to the same opportunities and risks 
as that of the AURELIUS Group. 

The results of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA are significantly influenced by the directly and indi-
rectly held subsidiaries. The outlook for the Group therefore also reflects to a large extent the expectations for 
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA due to the numerous interconnections between the parent entity 
and its subsidiaries and the weight of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA in the Group.

Financial performance 
The Company generates revenues almost exclusively by advising subsidiaries. 

The revenues of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA amounted to EUR 17.4 million in financial year 2019 
(2018: EUR 20.4 million). Other income declined to EUR 6.5 million (2018: EUR 7.8 million). 

Personnel expenses rose to EUR 35.5 million (2018: EUR 12.5 million). This figures includes the compensation of the 
Executive Board of AURELIUS Management SE, the personally liable shareholder of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities 
SE & Co. KGaA, and the Company’s employees. The increase over the previous year is attributable to the higher 
variable compensation resulting mainly from the virtual co-investment sub-interests granted to the Executive 
Board members in connection with corporate transactions. The Company had five employees on average in fi-
nancial year 2019 (2018: 4 employees).

Due to negative developments in some portfolio companies, asset impairments (mainly loan agreements) total-
ing EUR 32.9 million were recognized in financial year 2019 (PY: EUR 8.4 million). Other expenses rose to EUR 77.4 
million (2018: EUR 39.9 million). This item mainly includes the costs of the service holding companies that are 
charged to AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA and the settlement of virtual co-investment sub-inter-
ests, which are not settled by way of personnel expenses. 

Income from equity investments in the amount of EUR 222.1 million (2018: EUR 27.8 million) consists exclusively of 
profit distributions from affiliated companies, particularly including distributions of profits from financial year 
2018 and advance distributions in financial year 2019. An important component of income from equity invest-
ments derived from the sale of SOLIDUS in financial 2019. Income from profit and loss transfer agreements con-
sists of the income or expenses from the profit and loss transfer agreements concluded between AURELIUS Equity 
Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA and its subsidiaries. Losses of EUR 3.7 million were transferred in financial year 2019 
(2018: EUR 8.8 million). 

Other interest and similar income in the amount of EUR 11.8 million (2018: EUR 10.2 million) includes interest 
 income on loans granted to affiliated companies in the amount of EUR 11.6 million (2018: EUR 9.8 million). Interest 
and similar expenses amounted to EUR 4.1 million (2018: EUR 4.5 million).
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AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA generated a profit of EUR 104.0 million in financial year 2019, after a 
loss of EUR 8.8 million in financial year 2018. The distributable profit for the 2019 financial year amounted to EUR 
161.1 million (2018: EUR 146.1 million).

Cash flows and financial position
The total assets of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA amounted to EUR 490.7 million at December 31, 
2019 (December 31, 2018: EUR 386.4 million). After the payment of the dividend of EUR 89.0 million in financial year 
2019 and the financial year profit/loss of EUR 104.0 million, equity amounted to EUR 261.2 million (December 31, 
2018: EUR 246.2 million) and the equity ratio came to 53 percent at the reporting date (December 31, 2018: 64%). 

The liabilities of EUR 212.1 million were above the level of the previous year (December 31, 2018: EUR 119.4 million).
The liabilities include EUR 103.1 million (2018: EUR 103.1 million) in liabilities from the non-subordinated and unse-
cured convertible bond maturing at December 1, 2020, convertible into new and/or existing no-par value bearer 
shares of the Company. The convertible bond was initially measured at the original nominal amount of EUR 166.3 
million. After the conversions of individual bond creditors in financial year 2018, the convertible bond is now 
measured at the remaining nominal value of EUR 103.1 million in the separate financial statements of AURELIUS 
Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA prepared in accordance with the regulations of German commercial law. The 
liabilities also include trade payables in the amount of EUR 4.5 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 0.1 million) and 
 liabilities to affiliated companies in the amount of EUR 100.5 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 14.2 million). The 
 increase in liabilities to affiliated companies resulted from the Nordic Bond for EUR 70.7 million placed by AURELIUS 
Equity Opportunities AB, which is a 100% subsidiary of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA.

The non-current assets of EUR 88.2 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 106.7 million) consist mainly of non-current 
financial assets in the amount of EUR 88.2 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 106.7 million). These assets are com-
posed of interests in the holding companies and operating companies of the AURELIUS Group and long-term loans 
granted to affiliated companies. 

Current assets amounted to EUR 402.4 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 279.6 million). They consist of receivables 
and other assets in the amount of EUR 225.8 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 235.9 million) and cash and cash 
equivalents in the amount of EUR 176.6 million (December 31, 2018: EUR 43.7 million). The changes in the financial 
position and cash flows resulted particularly from the significantly higher profit distributions and thus invest-
ment income from the subsidiaries. In addition, a dividend of EUR 89.0 million paid to the shareholders of AURELIUS 
Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA from the distributable profit reduced cash and cash equivalents.

Under the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the amount of the dividend that can be paid to the shareholders 
is determined on the basis of the distributable profit presented in the separate financial statements of AURELIUS 
Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA prepared in accordance with the regulations of German commercial law. The 
personally liable shareholder’s profit utilization proposal states that the full distributable profit of EUR 161.1 mil-
lion presented in the 2019 separate financial statements prepared in accordance with the regulations of German 
commercial law should be carried forward to new account initially. The personally liable shareholder will observe 
and assess the current development of the coronavirus COVID-19 crisis and its effects on the AURELIUS Group. Af-
ter the financial statements are adopted, the personally liable shareholder will decide on whether to place a dif-
ferent profit utilization proposal from the proposal stated above on the agenda of the annual general meeting. 
The annual general meeting can then decide on this modified profit utilization proposal (as in the previous year). 
If the Company holds treasury shares that do not qualify for dividends according to Section 71b AktG on the date 
of the annual general meeting, the amount attributable to these shares will be carried forward to new account.
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NET ASSET VALUE OF GROUP UNITS

(in EUR millions) December 31, 2019 *

Industrial Production 264.5

Retail & Consumer Products 390.7

Services & Solutions 101.8

NAV of portfolio companies 757.0

Other 354.3

Total 1,111.3

* The stated Net Asset Value of Group Units is presented on the basis of the percentage of equity held by AURELIUS. 

 
The valuation was carried out using a discounted cash flow model based on the budgets of the Group companies 
for the next three years (2020 to 2022) that have been approved by the Supervisory Board. 

The budgets were prepared at the level of the Group’s portfolio companies in the period from August to October 
2019 (bottom-up planning) and coordinated with Controlling at headquarters. The budgets each include plans for 
income and expenses as well as balance sheet plans. When assessing the companies’ budgets, it must be taken 
into account that some of the group companies are still undergoing major changes and the financial forecasts of 
these subsidiaries are generally fraught with greater uncertainty. 

The growth rates assumed for the period following this detailed planning period have been set uniformly at 
0.5 percent. The underlying discount rates (WACC, Weighted Average Cost of Capital) ranging from 5.38 to 12.95 
percent as of December 31, 2019 were calculated on the basis of individual peer groups. Where appropriate, risk 
premiums were added to the capital costs in accordance with the restructuring phase in each case. The peer 
groups were determined at the time of the corporate group’s initial consolidation with the support of data from 
Capital IQ, an IT platform of the rating agency Standard & Poor’s, and audited as part of the initial consolidation. 
The input parameters (beta or debt ratio, for example) of the individual peer groups, as well as the additional data 
(e.g. government bonds) used for the determination of the WACCs, are likewise obtained from Capital IQ. As a 
rule, the peer groups remain unchanged during the period in which the entity belongs to AURELIUS. 

The exchange-listed subsidiary HanseYachts AG was valued on the basis of the proportional market capitalization 
at the reporting date of December 31, 2019. 

As a simplification, the value of the Other sector is determined on the basis of the cash and cash equivalents of 
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA and the individual holding companies that were not yet included in 
the NAV calculations for the portfolio companies. The treasury shares of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. 
KGaA and a brand company valued by application of a discounted cash flow model are also applied for this 
 purpose. In addition, loan receivables, which are presented as deductions in the NAV of the portfolio companies, 
are eliminated. The nominal amounts of the issued convertible bonds and the corporate bonds (Nordic Bond) are 
additionally deducted. 

If a group company of AURELIUS has been newly acquired and has therefore belonged to the group for less than 
six months, only the purchase prices are included in the NAV calculation because the budget process has not yet 
been completed and stand-alone budgets prepared by the new subsidiary are not yet available in the brief time 
during which it has belonged to the Group. 
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FORECAST REPORT

Anticipated development of the global economy 
According to experts, the continuing and worsening coronavirus crisis at the time of this report will have consid-
erable effects on the development of the global economy. In an economic forecast published in early March 2020, 
the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development in Europe (OECD) concludes that the continuing 
coronavirus crisis represents the greatest risk to the global economy since the global financial crisis and that eco-
nomic activity will decline sharply throughout the world in the first half of the year. 

The Indicator of Economic Sentiment published by the Leibniz Center for European Economic Research (ZEW) in 
the middle of March 2020 shows a similarly dire situation for the Eurozone and Germany. Economic expectations 
collapsed in February 2020 due to the coronavirus crisis. However, a majority of experts do not expect the 
 economic situation to worsen in the medium term. Given the fluid state of developments in this situation, exact 
estimates were not yet available at the time of this report.

Forecast for the private equity market
In view of the continuing adverse effects of COVID-19, the following estimates are dependent on the short-term 
and medium-term development of economic conditions. 

After the strong, 170 percent growth of the private equity market in the past decade, leading international 
 sector experts see the market at a high point currently and expect consistently strong growth. Also according to 
the German Private Equity and Venture Capital Association, the economic environment is still robust despite 
economic conflicts and growth concerns and the demand for private equity is expected to be stable in 2020. 
The 5,000 companies financed with private equity in Germany and the still strong interest in private equity fi-
nancing provide a good foundation for the outlook for the private equity industry, according to the association.

Outlook for the Company
The revenue and earnings performance of the individual sectors is essentially dependent on acquisitions and 
sales of Group companies in each sector. Based on the Group portfolio at the time of preparation of this report, 
AURELIUS anticipates the following development of the revenues, earnings (EBITDA and EBIT) and cash and cash 
equivalents of the three sectors in financial year 2020. 

The revenues of the Industrial Production sector in financial year 2020 should be stable to slightly lower com-
pared to the previous year. AURELIUS expects earnings (EBITDA und EBIT) and cash and cash equivalents to be 
stable to slightly lower than in financial year 2019. 

A slightly weaker development of revenues and earnings (EBITDA and EBIT) is expected for the Services &  Solutions 
sector. Cash and cash equivalents should also be slightly below the level of the previous year. 

The revenues of the Retail & Consumer Products sector will be slightly lower. Earnings (EBITDA and EBIT) and cash 
and cash equivalents are also expected to be slightly below the respective prior-year figures. 

Nearly unchanged revenues are expected for AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA in financial year 2020, 
while personnel expenses are expected to be lower. However, lower earnings (EBITDA and EBIT) are expected 
compared to financial year 2019 because the income from equity investments will also be lower. Based on the 
planned redemption of the convertible bonds at the end of 2020, , a considerably lower amount of cash and cash 
equivalents is also planned.
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However, the continuing coronavirus crisis poses currently not yet quantifiable risks for general economic condi-
tions and therefore also for AURELIUS and will have an adverse impact in the short term at least on the Group 
companies of AURELIUS. 

Overall assessment of the anticipated development of the AURELIUS Group
Based on the newly acquired group companies, the Executive Board of AURELIUS Management SE, which is the 
personally liable shareholder of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA, anticipates stable to slightly higher 
consolidated revenues from continued operations in financial year 2020. Due to the successful exits in financial 
year 2019 and the first quarter of 2020, the profit will be slightly lower than in 2019. The continuing coronavirus 
crisis poses currently not yet quantifiable risks for general economic conditions and therefore also for AURELIUS. 
There is a risk that portfolio companies may not be able to achieve their business plans in the short term.

The Executive Board expects to strengthen the portfolio of companies by means of additional acquisitions, which 
will lead, in turn, to an increase in consolidated revenues. The revenues of new Group subsidiaries are recognized 
from the time of completion of each transaction. Because it cannot yet be foreseen which Group companies will 
be acquired and sold in 2020, nor when they will be acquired or sold, it is not possible to make an exact statement 
on this subject. Company acquisitions and sales during the course of a financial year lead to changes in the basis 
of consolidation of the AURELIUS Group between reporting dates. Given the nature of AURELIUS’ business model, 
an exact forecast of earnings is subject to uncertainties because revenues are influenced by various factors that 
can only be planned in part or cannot be planned reliably. Such factors include the earnings effects of the acquisi-
tion of new Group companies (gains on bargain purchases), non-recurring and often extraordinary restructuring 
expenses, and complex deconsolidation effects. 

Outlook uncertain due to the current coronavirus crisis 
The emergence of the new coronavirus COVID-19 virus presents special and hard-to-predict risks for the global 
economy, which are also affecting the AURELIUS Group at the present time.  

The Executive Board of AURELIUS Management SE reacted promptly to this crisis. All employees of the holding 
companies can work entirely from home and so the company can be managed by remote access.

Through its operational experts (task force), AURELIUS is always in close communication with the Group com-
panies. This work includes the elaboration and implementation of action plans to mitigate the effects of the 
 challenging exogenous conditions. AURELIUS places the highest priority on the safety of all employees and the 
maintenance of supply chains and production capacities. Measures such as shortened work hours and addi-
tional financial support from governments in various countries of Europe help to maintain operational liquidity 
and to compensate short-term cash needs. 

The coronavirus crisis is already impacting the AURELIUS portfolio. In some cases, supply bottlenecks have been 
encountered, particularly for deliveries from Asia, and in one case there has been a temporary interruption of 
deliveries from a warehouse in Italy. In addition, some Group companies have experienced declines in new orders, 
particularly those related to discretionary consumer spending. If increased supply bottlenecks and even more 
 severe demand-side effects occur, the AURELIUS portfolio would not be immune from the consequences.

The actual medium-term and long-term effects of the coronavirus crisis on the AURELIUS Group cannot yet be 
estimated at the present time. However, it will have a substantially negative impact on business plans in the short 
term at least. Given the fluid state of developments in this situation, the Executive Board will continually re- 
assess the strategy and orientation of AURELIUS and its portfolio companies.
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REPORT ON RISKS AND OPPORTUITIES 

Risk management plays a key role in the AURELIUS business model, helping to identify deviations from the defined 
targets at an early stage and enable appropriate counter-measures to be taken promptly. These deviations may be 
both positive (opportunities) and negative (risks).

Opportunities and risks of the AURELIUS business model

Investment focus
The specific investment focus of AURELIUS of acquiring companies in situations of transition or distress, with-
out a secure succession plan, with poor profitability or a need for restructuring, contains a large amount of 
potential for increasing value. If AURELIUS proves successful in developing the acquired companies, the value of 
these portfolio companies may increase greatly. To this end, the portfolio companies’ strengths and weak-
nesses are analyzed in their market environment as part of the strategy for each company. The opportunities 
and potential for optimization which this process reveals are made available for the portfolio company to 
 exploit.

Acquisition process
The acquisition of companies in situations of transition or distress regularly includes a not inconsiderable busi-
ness risk. Consequently, AURELIUS has experienced experts from the Finance, Legal Affairs, Mergers & Acquisi-
tions and Taxes departments perform detailed due diligence checks on potential subsidiaries. In some cases, 
they are supported by external advisors. Nevertheless, it is conceivable in this context that risks in the target 
companies will not be recognized or be wrongly assessed. Risk notably consists of an incorrect evaluation of a 
given company’s future prospects or ability to be restructured, or in failing to ascertain or identify the subsidi-
ary’s liabilities, obligations and other commitments at the time of acquisition despite careful checks. If the 
achievable market position, earnings potential, profitability, growth options or other key success factors are 
wrongly assessed, this has consequences for the operational development of the company and hence for the 
return on investment. At the same time, the profitability of the corporate group could be depressed by impair-
ment losses in subsequent financial years.

Restructuring of portfolio companies
The fundamental goals of AURELIUS are to restructure a portfolio company for profitability as fast as possible in 
order to keep the liquidity requirements and operating losses to a minimum after the acquisition and to increase 
the value of the acquired company in the medium term and realize earnings on dividends and gains on disposal. It 
is possible, however, that the measures initiated will not prove successful and the breakeven point will not be 
reached for any number of reasons. This could result in subsidiaries having to be sold again for less than their 
 acquisition price or, in the worst case, being forced to file for bankruptcy as a last resort. In this instance, AURELIUS 
would suffer the complete loss of the capital employed, meaning that all funds that the corporate group had em-
ployed to acquire, support and possibly also finance the subsidiary. At the present time, this scenario has a low 
probability with regard to nearly all the corporate groups of the AURELIUS Group. To minimize the effects of a 
possible insolvency of Group companies, AURELIUS generally does not enter into profit-and-loss-transfer agree-
ments or cash-pooling agreements with its subsidiaries. 

Sale of subsidiaries
AURELIUS can generate earnings by selling portfolio companies to private, institutional or strategic investors, or 
arranging an IPO. AURELIUS can, however, not give any guarantees regarding the timing of a possible sale or that 
the disposal of a portfolio company will be possible at all or with a given return. Notably the economic and in-
dustry- specific environment, the condition of the capital markets and also other unforeseeable factors have a 
decisive influence on the amount of possible proceeds upon disposal. In the event of a negative economic and/
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or industry environment and/or weak financial markets, disposals may not be possible or may only be possible 
with high price discounts. Even if the portfolio companies perform well, there is the risk that it will not be 
 possible to realize a suitable price upon disposal due to a negative economic, industry and/or capital market 
environment. At the same time, a strong economic performance can have a positive impact on the earnings of 
the portfolio companies and hence on the purchase price that can be realized in the future.

Risk management
The AURELIUS Group has a systematic, multi-level risk management system in place to avoid, mitigate and man-
age significant risks arising from the business activities of the corporate group to best effect. It is used to identify, 
track and subsequently evaluate existing and potential risks. The risk management system is designed to provide 
a comprehensive overview of the risk position of the corporate group. Events with significant negative financial 
effects on the corporate group must be identified promptly so that measures can be defined and taken to miti-
gate, avoid and manage such risks. Cash flow, revenues, EBITDA and EBIT are the central planning and control 
metrics in the AURELIUS Group in this context. 

The risk management system is geared above all to identifying at an early stage developments that could endan-
ger the continued existence of the company as a going concern. The system is required to ensure tracking of the 
risks and changes therein that could endanger the continued existence of the company as a going concern in its 
respective situation. Since the goal is to identify such risks at an early stage, the risk early warning system must be 
capable of tracking the risks promptly and forwarding the relevant information to the responsible decision-mak-
ers in such a way that these people can respond in a suitable manner. At the same time, the Executive Board of 
AURELIUS must be informed about risks which, alone or in conjunction with other risks, could endanger the con-
tinued existence of the company as a going concern. In order to guarantee this, the company has set up a report-
ing system which reports to AURELIUS on a quarterly basis within the framework of interim reporting. There are 
uniform guidelines in place for tracking, documenting and evaluating risk across the entire AURELIUS Group. The 
Corporate Audit department is responsible for monitoring risk reporting. This department constantly reviews, 
evaluates and optimizes the effectiveness of the internal control systems together with the management and 
monitoring processes. Compliance with the internal guidelines is also monitored on the premises of the respec-
tive subsidiaries and concrete implementation steps are drawn up with the support of the subsidiary manage-
ment. 

The individual subsidiaries are required to list the risks present in their respective area of influence, specifying 
them in a uniform, Group-wide risk matrix in detail as well as regularly reviewing and updating them. Potential 
risks are classified by the eight risk fields of legal disputes, financial risks, sales risks, production risks, procure-
ment risks, IT risks, personnel risks and external risks. The maximum loss potential in euros and the probability of 
occurrence are determined for every risk on the level of the portfolio companies and the holding company. The 
aggregation of the maximum Groupwide potential losses in every risk field yields the size of the respective risk 
field and thus the maximum potential loss of each risk field throughout the Group.

For each risk field, the average probability of occurrence, divided into the five classes of low (<10 percent), improb-
able (10 - 25 percent), possible (25 - 50 percent), probable (50 - 90 percent) and high (>90 percent) is assessed. This 
classification determines the position of the respective risk field in the graph. In addition, counter-measures and 
their effectiveness in the event of occurrence should be defined for all risks and, where appropriate, the level of 
implementation of the counter-measure in question specified. Where early warning indicators exist to permit the 
prompt identification of risk, these are also to be listed. The maximum loss potential per risk field is presented in 
a breakdown by counter-measures in the second graph. The risk fields are reviewed and updated on a quarterly 
basis at the least. New risks or the occurrence of existing risks are each reported immediately to the Corporate 
Audit department and the Executive Board. The risk management system is supplemented by the Group-wide 
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controlling function. The Executive Board receives a detailed evaluation of the indicators regarding the current 
situation of all the subsidiaries based on weekly and monthly reports submitted by all the subsidiaries.

AURELIUS makes a distinction between significant and insignificant opportunities.

Internal control and risk management system
The AURELIUS Group has set up an internal control system which defines rules and regulations for managing 
the company activities (internal control system) and for monitoring compliance with these rules and regula-
tions (internal monitoring system). The parts of the internal control system geared to the company’s business 
activities are designed to ensure their effectiveness and efficiency and to protect the company’s assets. It is 
also the task of the internal control system to ensure the orderliness and reliability of the internal and external 
reporting and ensure compliance with the regulations and laws applicable to the portfolio company. 

The Executive Board bears overall responsibility for the internal control system. In addition, the management 
teams of the subsidiaries are responsible for designing, setting up, monitoring, modifying and refining their 
respective internal control systems. The size, legal form, organization and type of business activity of the com-
pany in question are taken into account in the design and practical application of the internal control system. 
Companies are exposed to a wide range of risks that could endanger achievement of the company’s objectives 
in  accordance with the business strategy defined by company management. Such business risks include finan-
cial, legal, performance and strategic risks. Consequently, the internal control system of the AURELIUS Group 
 encompasses the components described below. 

The control environment represents the framework within which the principles, procedures and measures of 
the internal control system are introduced and applied. It has a major influence on the awareness of staff for 
control issues. Risk assessments are performed to identify and analyze such risks. Thorough risk assessments 
form the basis for decisions made by company management  locally regarding how to deal with the risks arising 
from business activity. They help to ensure that measures required to counter business risk are adopted, and 
must be documented appropriately.

Control activities are principles and procedures that are intended to ensure that the decisions taken by com-
pany management locally are observed. They help to ensure that measures required to counter business risk 
are adopted. Control activities are to be documented appropriately. Information and communication serve to 
obtain and collate the information required by company management to take business decisions in a suitable 
and timely manner and to forward such information to the responsible offices in the company locally. This also 
includes the information required for the risk assessments and the information given to employees regarding 
the tasks and responsibilities within the framework of the internal control system.

Company management and the integrated control officers assigned to the processes and workflows are 
 responsible for monitoring the internal control system. Organizational safeguards for the portfolio companies 
have been set up within the framework of subsidiary documentation in the AURELIUS Group in the form of 
 by-laws, payment guidelines and requirements for subsidiary documentation (offices, branches, outlets, etc.). 
The documentation and conduct of business activities must comply with the requirements arising from the 
company’s legal form, articles of incorporation, by-laws and organizational charts. The documentation of busi-
ness activities in this context follows the main commercial and administrative processes and workflows, and 
contains instructions and guidelines based on the respective operational performance process (such as sales, 
purchasing, production, logistics, internal and external reporting, corporate reporting, HR, administration, 
 research and development, and so on). 
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Furthermore, additional monitoring measures have been introduced such as comprehensive contract and in-
surance management, instructions regarding retention periods under commercial and tax law, and authoriza-
tion and competence arrangements. Compliance rules and regulations have been defined in the subsidiaries to 
ensure compliance with data protection and foreign trade laws, among other things. 

The internal control and risk management system regarding the corporate reporting process  ensures that re-
porting is uniform and in compliance with the statutory provisions and generally accepted  accounting princi-
ples as well as the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Information relevant for reporting is to be 
provided promptly and in full. To this end, an accounting manual has been drawn up for  corporate reporting, 
defining the accounting rules for all AURELIUS Group companies. The goal is to employ various control and 
monitoring mechanisms to ensure that correct, rule-compliant consolidated financial statements are prepared. 
The reporting, controlling and accounting systems of the subsidiaries are examined during regular visits by 
corporate controllers. The Corporate Audit department carries out the regular monitoring of the portfolio com-
panies that is independent of the business process. 

All information from the portfolio companies is collated and analyzed by the Subsidiary Controlling, Financial 
Accounting and Valuation, Risk Control and Cash Management departments in the Finance division of 
AURELIUS. The accounting data are  audited regularly to ensure they are complete, orderly and correct. The inde-
pendent auditors and other audit bodies such as the Internal Audit department with process-neutral audit ac-
tivities are integrated in the control environment of the AURELIUS Group. The Supervisory Board is similarly in-
volved in the internal monitoring system of AURELIUS with process-neutral audit activities. 

A standardized, professional consolidation and  reporting system forms the basis for the planning and reporting 
process in the AURELIUS Group. The relevant data are entered into this system either manually or via auto-
mated interfaces. A qualitative analysis and  monitoring function is ensured at all times by means of internal 
reports.
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PRESENTATION OF RISKS  
(Maximum loss potential)

DEFINITION OF PARAMETERS:

1) Circle size:

2) Explanation of probability of occurrence:

■■ Low: less than 10 %

■■ Improbable: 10 % - 25 %

■■ Possible: 25 % - 50 %

■■ Probable: 50 % - 90 %

■■ High: higher than 90 %

PRESENTATION OF RISKS  
(after counter-measures)

IMPORTANCE OF RISKS 1-9:

1 – Legal disputes
2 – Financial risks 
3 – Sales risks 
4 – Production risks
5 – Procurement risks 
6 – IT risks
7 – Personnel risks
8 – External risks 
9 – Corona COVID-19 crisis 
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Risk management in the individual elements of the business model
Risk management has been established at all levels of the AURELIUS business model. AURELIUS already begins to 
identify business risk at the start of the acquisition process. Once attractive acquisition targets have been 
 selected, potential risks arising from a possible purchase are analyzed in a detailed due diligence process. A team 
of internal specialists filters out individual risks from all areas of operational activity of the acquisition target and 
calculates the maximum aggregate risk of the underlying transaction in accordance with specified steps. AURELIUS 
uses the calculated aggregate risk to determine a maximum purchase price as the basis for submitting an offer 
to the seller. This already contains an adequate risk premium. In order to further limit the maximum extent of 
specific risks, AURELIUS makes use of a holding structure in which the operating risk of each individual subsidiary 
is ring-fenced in a legally independent intermediate company. This approach ensures that the aggregate total 
of any risks that arise cannot exceed the maximum risk calculated previously. This generally corresponds to the 
purchase price paid plus further financing measures less reimbursements from the operating activity of the 
 company received during the course of the holding period. 

The level of Vice President was added to the management hierarchy in financial year 2008. This intermediate 
 hierarchy level between the Executive Board and middle management makes it possible to respond even faster 
to changing market conditions. The newly introduced level maintains even closer contact with the subsidiary 
managers and identified emerging risk potential even faster as a result. The Vice Presidents report on the current 
situation of the subsidiaries and provide concrete decision proposals in regular meetings with the Executive 
Board of AURELIUS Management SE, personally liable shareholder of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. 
KGaA.

Description of significant individual risks
Major risk fields and individual risks can be derived from the aggregate risks identified as part of the risk manage-
ment process, as described below. The risks are presented on the basis of the gross method according to the rules 
of the German accounting standard DRS 20 (see chart on page 71).

Legal disputes
A former holding company and direct subsidiary of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA that is currently 
in liquidation is being sued for payment of an amount in the mid-single-digit millions as a partial claim by the 
 insolvency administrator of a former subsidiary that was sold more than five years ago and has since become 
 insolvent. The assertion underlying the claim is that the payment of a dividend in 2010 was an impermissible, 
prohibited repayment of share capital. The liquidator of the former holding company expects that the claim can 
be successfully defended against on factual and legal grounds.

AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA and three other defendants are being sued as joint and several 
debtors for payment of an amount in the very low double-digit millions by the insolvency administrator of a for-
mer company of the Getronics Group. The defendants all anticipate that the claim can be successfully defended 
against on numerous factual and legal grounds.

The insolvency administrator of ACC Compressors S.p.A. is demanding payment of damages due to allegedly 
 anti-competitive conduct by two former group companies. The claim is for an amount in the low double-digit 
millions. The claim was broadened to include AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co KGaA at the start of 2018. In 
addition, there may be an indemnification obligation inter alia for AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co KGaA 
under the company purchase agreement by which the two aforementioned companies were sold in 2017. How-
ever, we expect that the defendants will be able to successfully defend against the claim.

72 I   AU RELI US A N N UA L  R E P O RT



G R O U P  M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O RT

In relation to its general business activity, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA is also a party to various 
other legal disputes at the reporting date, none of which, however, are to be considered significant in terms of the 
risks and amounts involved.

Please refer to Note 68 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for a detailed description of contin-
gent liabilities, guarantees and legal disputes.

Financial risks
Loss of receivables
It has been observed in the past that commercial credit insurers may be inclined to withdraw from current 
commitments in full or in part, or subject them to intensive audits or adjust the insurance terms to the detri-
ment of the insured. Depending on the circumstances, such behavior could potentially lead to heightened 
 liquidity needs on the part of individual portfolio companies. It would also increase the risk of heightened 
losses on receivables if commercial credits would prove to be uninsurable. AURELIUS attempts to counter these 
risks by conducting receivables management in a manner appropriate for the given market situation. 

In addition, most portfolio companies work with commercial credit insurers that cover most of the potential 
loss on receivables. If it would not be possible to obtain adequate insurance for the given business partner, 
AURELIUS would have the option of demanding payment in advance.

Changes in market interest rates
In the ordinary course of business, AURELIUS invests surplus funds in the capital markets. Changes in the level of 
interest rates could impair the value of the Group’s financial investments, which would have a negative effect on 
its financial performance. Furthermore, the level and development of interest rates could also influence AURELIUS’ 
funding costs. The extent of this risk depends on the general funding need that must be covered with borrowed 
funds, on the current level of interest rates, and on the fixed interest periods of borrowed loans or credits. More-
over, rising interest rates increase the funding costs of the portfolio companies, which could have a lasting nega-
tive effect on the restructuring, dividend-paying capacity and even the sale prospects of the portfolio companies. 

Change in exchange rates
Currency and exchange rate risk can arise when, for instance, subsidiaries are acquired from foreign companies 
and paid for in foreign currency, or when the portfolio companies conduct business with international ramifica-
tions, or when the portfolio companies have foreign subsidiaries. The Corporate Finance department identifies 
and analyzes financial risks in cooperation with the Group’s operating units. A large part of the revenues, earnings 
and expenses of AURELIUS are still generated and incurred in the eurozone. Consequently, the Group is relatively 
independent of changes in exchange rates with respect to these amounts. Where appropriate, derivative finan-
cial instruments are used to hedge exchange rate risk arising on transactions that are denominated in foreign 
currency. 

Convertible bond
On November 24, 2015, AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA (today: AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA) issued an 
unsubordinated, unsecured convertible bond with a total nominal amount of EUR 166.3 million and maturing at 
the end of 2020, convertible into new and/or existing no-par bearer shares of the company (the “shares”). The 
convertible bond was exclusively offered for sale to and placed with institutional investors outside of the United 
States, Canada, Australia, South Africa, New Zealand and Japan, or any other jurisdiction where sales are not per-
mitted under the applicable law, by way of an accelerated book-building process. The convertible bond was 
placed at 100 percent of its nominal value in denominations of EUR 100 thousand per bond. The annually payable 
coupon is 1.0 percent. After the partial conversion of the bond in the previous year, the bond will be convertible 
into 2,406,662 shares (PY: 2,287,131 shares), corresponding to 7.821 percent (PY: 7.433%) of the Company’s current 
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share capital, by exercising the right to issue convertible bonds while excluding the subscription rights of share-
holders. The initial conversion price of EUR 52.5229 was set with a conversion premium of 30.0 percent above the 
reference share price, defined as the volume-weighted average price of the AURELIUS share in the XETRA trading 
system on December 29, 2015. The conversion price was adjusted to EUR 42.8394 by notification of July 22, 2019. 
Under the terms and conditions, the bond can be called by the Company at any time (1) on or after December 22, 
2018 (including accrued interest not yet paid by that time) if the share price exceeds 130 percent of the then appli-
cable conversion price (over a certain period of time), or (2) if 20 percent or less of the total nominal amount of the 
bond is outstanding. The convertible bond falls due for repayment on December 1, 2020; the Executive Board 
currently believes that it will be possible to provide the necessary refinancing. If this is not possible, it will be paid 
from cash and cash equivalents.

Nordic Bond
In December 2019, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities AB, a 100% subsidiary of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & 
Co. KGaA (ISIN DE000A0JK2A8), successfully placed an unsecured, unsubordinated bond of EUR 75 million with a 
term of five years and an interest rate equal to 3-month Euribor (kept at a minimum of zero) plus a margin of 
425 basis points. The bond can be increased to an amount of up to EUR 200 million. The bond is guaranteed by 
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA.

Tax risks
AURELIUS is currently not aware of any tax risks in the AURELIUS Group that would have a significant influence on 
the financial position, cash flows and financial performance of the Group.

Liabilities on the level of the portfolio companies
Because the portfolio companies of AURELIUS are usually in a state of transition, the financial position ratios 
agreed with the banks (covenants) could be missed, which would entitle the respective lenders to terminate 
the loan. If the portfolio company would fail to attain its budget targets, moreover, it could be impossible 
to  repay liabilities, or such repayment could be delayed. To minimize this risk and promptly counter it where 
 necessary, AURELIUS continually reviews the business plans of each portfolio company, in close consultation 
with the respective management team, and regularly analyzes budget variances. 

Risks from the use of financial instruments
In addition to the risks of using financial instruments described above, additional qualitative and quantitative 
 information on individual risks is provided in Notes 57 ff. of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Sales risks
The introduction of new brands or product innovations is an important aspect of the restructuring of the indi-
vidual portfolio companies of the AURELIUS Group. Such product launches harbor the risk that the funds in-
vested in product launches are not recouped by the planned cash flows and budgeted profit contributions are 
not attained. To reduce this risk, products are developed with due care and various tests are conducted.

The loss of key customers or the postponement of primarily larger orders could lead to negative effects on the 
financial performance, cash flows and financial position of individual AURELIUS portfolio companies. The com-
pany counters this risk by actively cultivating customer relationships and conducting systematic sales and mar-
keting work. AURELIUS strives to enter into long-term agreements particularly with customers that make up a 
large percentage of the revenues of the respective AURELIUS portfolio company, as a means of enhancing plan-
ning security.
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In addition, periodic analyses are conducted, particularly in those companies that operate in the consumer 
goods and services segment, for the purpose of enhancing the effectiveness of marketing and customer reten-
tion programs.

Production risks
The individual portfolio companies of the AURELIUS Group are exposed to various production risks, including the 
risk that the production optimization and production cost reduction measures conducted after the acquisition by 
AURELIUS do not yield the intended effects, or only after a delay, and cost savings in production cannot be real-
ized, or only after a delay. Quality problems and delays in the introduction of new products and developments 
could lead to a loss of orders and customers for the respective company. This could adversely affect the financial 
performance, cash flows and financial position of the respective company. AURELIUS counters these risks by de-
ploying its own, experienced functional specialists and by closely monitoring production processes.

Procurement risks
With regard to procurement, the AURELIUS portfolio companies are exposed to risks such as the loss of suppliers, 
late deliveries or quality-deficient deliveries, and price fluctuations particularly of raw materials. AURELIUS coun-
ters these risks by engaging in professional procurement management and by closely monitoring the respective 
suppliers. Price fluctuations are neutralized by hedging transactions whenever possible.

IT risks
The business and production processes, as well as the internal and external communications of the AURELIUS 
Group and its portfolio companies, are increasingly based on information technologies. A serious disturbance or 
even failure of these systems could result in data losses and impair the portfolio company’s business and produc-
tion processes. IT documentation and continuous monitoring are integral aspects of the internal control and risk 
management system of the AURELIUS Group. Other measures include compliance with security guidelines, access 
control and data back-up concepts, and documentation of licenses and internally developed software.

Personnel risks
The extensive experience of the management is crucial to the future success of AURELIUS. However, the planned 
growth of AURELIUS is also dependent on having a sufficiently large number of staff available to handle the acqui-
sition, restructuring and operational management of the portfolio companies in the future. Particularly the 
 restructuring of companies in challenging situations places the highest demands on the management. The avail-
ability of qualified personnel, whether internal or external, with industry-relevant practical experience and 
 considerable managerial talent is critical to the success of the Group’s business model.

External risks
Economic changes
The commercial success of the portfolio companies is influenced by the general economic situation and the 
cyclical development of the markets in which the subsidiary in question operates. A positive economic environ-
ment has a positive effect on the financial position, cash flows and financial performance, and hence on the 
company value, of the portfolio companies, which in the final analysis also has a positive impact on the finan-
cial position, cash flows and financial performance of the AURELIUS Group. Economic downturns, on the other 
hand, generally also have a negative impact on the operational development and restructuring of the individ-
ual portfolio companies. With regard to the acquisition activities of AURELIUS, it should be noted that more 
companies or divisions are put for sale during periods of weak economic growth. Given fewer potential buyers 
at the same time, this can sometimes result in lower purchase prices. However, recessionary tendencies are 
also reflected in significant discounts on the selling prices that can be realized on account of lower valuation 
levels.
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Industry-specific changes
AURELIUS does not focus on any specific industries when identifying suitable acquisition targets. Instead, the 
ability to be restructured and the future prospects are the main criteria when selecting companies. Despite a 
careful selection process, there is a risk for every subsidiary that the restructuring efforts will fail, which could 
 result in the bankruptcy of the subsidiary in extreme cases. AURELIUS does, however, make every effort to mini-
mize the risk arising from the economic development of individual companies, industries or regions within the 
portfolio of subsidiaries by means of diversification. 

Changes in the competitive situation
Building on its long-standing network of contacts with M&A consultants, corporate groups and other potential 
sellers and its experience in dealing with companies in exceptional situations, AURELIUS is regularly involved in 
disposal processes and on occasion even benefits in the form of lower purchase prices. Greater interest in compa-
nies in situations of transition or distress could lead to stronger competition for the companies that are for sale 
and an increase in the average purchase prices to be paid. This would reduce the return prospects on the invest-
ment in question and increase the financial risk for AURELIUS. 

Risks due to the continuing coronavirus crisis
The continuing worldwide outbreak of the novel coronavirus COVID-19 has already had considerable economic 
 effects on the global economy and is also impacting the AURELIUS portfolio companies.

The AURELIUS Executive Board is monitoring the situation and evaluating new developments on a daily basis. In 
addition, the Executive Board together with the operational experts are in close communication with the Group 
companies. Action plans to protect the health of our employees, minimize the risks to our business processes and 
mitigate the effects of the challenging exogenous conditions are being developed and implemented at the differ-
ent levels of the holding companies and Group companies. For example, all white-collar employees are working 
from home and an emergency service has been established to field urgent inquiries in our offices. In addition, safe 
distances have been implemented in the production facilities and workstations are constantly being disinfected. 
The Group places the highest priority on the safety of all employees and the maintenance of supply chains and 
production capacities. To preserve cash, measures such as shortened work hours and additional financial support 
from the governments of various countries in Europe are being evaluated and implemented. 

If it comes to a general lockdown order or further limitations on freight traffic leading to supply bottlenecks and 
disruptions of logistical chains and a further weakening of consumer demand, that would have an adverse impact 
on the development of revenues and earnings in the AURELIUS Group. 

Given the fluid state of developments in this situation, it was not possible to estimate the actual medium-term 
and long-term effects of the coronavirus crisis on the AURELIUS Group at the time of this report. Therefore, there 
is a risk that it may not be possible to meet the targets set in the companies’ business plans. There is also a risk 
that potential sales of companies cannot be realized or only realized at a later time than planned. On the acquisi-
tion side, however, AURELIUS also sees great opportunities already in the second half of 2020. In view of the fluid 
state of developments, the Executive Board will continually re-assess the strategy and orientation of AURELIUS 
and its portfolio companies.

Overall assessment of the opportunity and risk situation of the AURELIUS Group
The AURELIUS business model continues to stand to benefit from the trend for corporate groups to concentrate 
on their core business and dispose of non-core operations as a result. As these peripheral activities were often 
neglected in the past, this yields above-average potential for AURELIUS to boost profitability and hence also the 
value of these companies. In addition, there will be a considerable number of company disposals going forward 
on account of unclear succession arrangements. To exploit these opportunities, AURELIUS employs in-house spe-
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cialists in the Mergers & Acquisitions department who constantly monitor the market for company acquisitions 
and disposals to identify appropriate opportunities. During their restructuring, the portfolio companies benefit 
from the operational deployment of AURELIUS functional specialists. Active operational and financial support 
help to secure the future and jobs at the portfolio companies, improve their market position and hence boost the 
profitability and company value in the long run. Given the present circumstances, the overall risk situation of the 
AURELIUS Group is limited in scope and manageable. Based on the information that is currently available, no risks 
can be identified which, individually or in combination, could endanger the continued existence of the AURELIUS 
Group as a going concern. However, it is possible that, as a result of the still uncertain outlook for the global econ-
omy in particular, future results could deviate from the current expectations of the AURELIUS Executive Board. 
There is no single risk that could threaten the survival of the AURELIUS Group as a whole.

Declaration by the Executive Board regarding corporate governance
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA and the personally liable shareholder, AURELIUS Management 
SE, are subject to the German dual board system. In particular, this requires a strict separation between the 
 Executive Board of the personally liable shareholder as the management and executive body on the one 
hand and the members of the Supervisory Board as the monitoring and oversight body on the other hand, 
each with their own respective functions and powers. The Executive Board of the personally liable share-
holder is  responsible for managing and running the company. It manages the company under its own re-
sponsibility in the interests of the company with a view to creating lasting value. The Executive Board sets 
the strategic direction of the company and the corporate policy, agrees them with the members of the Su-
pervisory Board and initiates their implementation. Another important corporate governance matter, and a 
topic of interest of the Executive Board, is the deployment of women at all hierarchy levels across the com-
pany; implementation is scheduled for the medium term. The Supervisory Board of AURELIUS Equity  
Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA has adopted a resolution stating a target of 30 percent for the minimum num-
ber of seats to be held by women on the Supervisory Board.
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CO N S O L I DAT E D  F I N A N C I A L  STAT E M E N T

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA for the period from January 1 to 
December 31, 2019

in kEUR Note 1/1/ - 12/31/2019 1/1/ - 12/31/2018*

Continued operations

Revenues 13 3,192,183 2,902,937

Change in inventories of finished and unfinished goods -6,098 2,788

Other income 14 193,748 158,108

Purchased goods and services 15 -2,058,481 -1,865,552

Personnel expenses 16 -638,806 -557,695

Other expenses 17 -608,800 -574,868

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and  
amortization (EBITDA)

73,746 65,718

Amortization, depreciation and impairments of intangible 
assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

-184,146 -54,031

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) -110,400 11,687

Other interest and similar income 2,299 2,793

Interest and similar expenses -36,977 -13,487

Net financial income/expenses 18 -34,678 -10,694

Earnings before taxes (EBT) -145,078 993

Income taxes 23 4,645 -15,643

Profit/loss after taxes from continued operations -140,433 -14,650

Discontinued operations 

Profit/loss from discontinued operations 20 158,698 -24,872

Consolidated profit/loss 19 18,265 -39,522

Other comprehensive income/loss  
(to be recognized in profit or loss in the future)

Currency translation differences 23 -1,476 6,146

Other comprehensive income/loss  
(not to be reclassified to profit or loss in the future)

Revaluation IAS 19 23 -31,657 1,526

Other comprehensive income/loss -33,133 7,672

Comprehensive income/loss 19 -14,868 -31,850
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

continued

in kEUR Note 1/1/ - 12/31/2019 1/1/ - 12/31/2018*

Share of consolidated profit/loss attributable to: 19

Shareholders of the parent company 18,414 -48,153

Not-controlling interests -149 8,631

Share of comprehensive income/loss attributable to 19

Shareholders of the parent company -14,719 -40,481

Non-controlling interests -149 8,631

Earnings per share 21

Basic in EUR

From continued operations -4.73 -0.80

From discontinued operations 5.35 -0.86

Total from continued and discontinued operations 0.62 -1.66

Diluted in EUR

From continued operations -4.30 -0.64

From discontinued operations 4.96 -0.79

Total from continued and discontinued operations 0.66 -1.43

*  The prior-year consolidated statement of comprehensive income was adjusted for comparison purposes in accordance with IFRS 3.45 ff. 
and IFRS 5 (see also Notes 12 and 20).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA at December 31, 2019

ASSETS

in kEUR Note 12/31/2019 12/31/2018*

Non-current assets 

Intangible assets 24/25 171,042 227,037

Property, plant and equipment 26 246,729 368,354

Right-of-use assets 27 398,486 - / -

Financial assets 28 14,534 10,203

Deferred tax assets 23 29,049 33,288

Total non-current assets 859,840 638,882

Kurzfristige Vermögenswerte

Inventories 29 370,926 463,698

Trade receivables 30 406,202 468,344

Income tax assets 31 7,169 7,034

Other financial assets 32 149,590 126,109

Other assets 33 59,212 68,660

Derivative financial instruments 215 - / -

Deferred expenses 34 64,074 35,742

Cash and cash equivalents 35 435,743 290,756

Assets held for sale 36 188,562 67,054

Total current assets 1,681,693 1,527,397

Total assets 2,541,533 2,166,279

*  The prior-year consolidated statement of financial position was adjusted for comparison purposes in accordance with IFRS 3.45 ff.  
(see also Note 12).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
continued

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

in kEUR Note 12/31/2019 12/31/2018*

Equity

Subscribed capital 37 30,560 30,560

Additional paid-in capital 38 9,982 9,982

Other reserves 40 -39,895 -6,763

Retained earnings 39 417,463 487,565

Share of equity attributable to shareholders of  
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA 

418,110 521,344

Non-controlling interests 41 10,042 17,635

Total equity 428,152 538,979

Non-current liabilities 

Pension obligations 56 41,628 24,936

Provisions 45 20,558 50,628

Financial liabilities 46 132,991 271,452

Liabilities under finance lease 50 - / - 26,873

Lease liabilities 50 384,962 - / -

Contract liabilities 51 1,553 1,090

Other financial liabilities 52 51,362 29,830

Deferred tax liabilities 23 31,226 39,155

Other liabilities 53 20,945 13,120

Total non-current liabilities 685,225 457,084

Current liabilities

Pension obligations 56 26 26

Provisions 45 47,494 44,200

Financial liabilities 46 335,879 209,135

Liabilities under finance lease 50 - / - 3,712

Lease liabilities 50 77,922 - / -

Contract liabilities 51 37,417 29,093

Trade liabilities 47 470,249 535,743

Income tax liabilities 48 7,397 11,695

Derivative financial instruments 49 69 1

Deferred income 54 11,398 17,943

Other liabilities 53 262,255 262,235

Liabilities held for sale  36 178,050 56,433

Total current liabilities 1,428,156 1,170,216

Total equity and liabilities 2,541,533 2,166,279
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2019
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January 1, 2018 28,953 16,101 591,375 -2,695 -11,740 621,993 6,564 628,557

Comprehensive income/loss

Consolidated profit/loss for the period 19 - / - - / - -48,153 - / - - / - -48,153 8,631 -39,522

Other comprehensive income

Revaluation IAS 19, net after taxes 23 - / - - / - - / - - / - 1,526 1,526 - / - 1,526

Currency translation differences 23 - / - - / - - / - 6,146 - / - 6,146 - / - 6,146

Comprehensive income/loss - / - - / - -48,153 6,146 1,526 -40,481 8,631 -31,850

Equity transactions with shareholders 

Dividend 39 - / - - / - -141,008 - / - - / - -141,008 - / - -141,008

Changes in shareholdings in subsidiaries that do 
not lead to a loss of control 

- / - - / - 9,317 - / - - / - 9,317 - / - 9,317

Changes in shareholdings in subsidiaries that 
lead to a loss of control

9 - / - - / - 781 - / - - / - 781 -1,351 -570

Treasury shares 44 164 - / - 11,010 - / - - / - 11,174 - / - 11,174

Convertible bonds 1,443 -6,119 64,243 - / - - / - 59,567 - / - 59,567

Non-controlling interests through company 
acquisitions 

6 - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - -/ - 3,791 3,791

December 31, 2018* 30,560 9,982 487,565 3,451 -10,214 521,344 17,635 538,979

*  The prior-year consolidated statement of changes in equity was adjusted for comparison purposes in accordance with IFRS 3.45 ff. (see also Note 12).
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in kEUR Other reserves 
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January 1, 2019 30,560 9,982 487,565 3,451 -10,214 521,344 17,635 538,979

Comprehensive income/loss

Consolidated profit/loss for the period 19 - / - - / - 18,414 - / - - / - 18,414 -149 18,265

Other comprehensive income/loss 

Revaluation IAS 19, net after taxes 23 - / - - / - - / - - / - -31,657 -31,657 - / - -31,657

Currency translation differences 23 - / - - / - - / - -1,476 - / - -1,476 - / - -1,476

Comprehensive income/loss - / - - / - 18,414 -1,476 -31,657 -14,719 -149 -14,868

Equity transactions with shareholders

Dividend 39 - / - - / - -89,048 - / - - / - -89,048 -/ - -89,048

Changes in shareholdings in subsidiaries that do 
not lead to a loss of control 

- / - - / - 533 - / - - / - 533 -3,538 -3,005

Changes in shareholdings in 
subsidiaries that lead to a loss of control

9 - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - -4,065 -4,065

Treasury shares 44 - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -

Convertible bonds - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -

Non-controlling interests through  
company acquisitions

6 - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - 159 159

December 31, 2019 30,560 9,982 417,463 1,976 -41,871 418,110 10,042 428,152

AU RELI US AN N UAL REPORTI  83



CO N S O L I DAT E D  F I N A N C I A L  STAT E M E N T

 Home

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA for the period from January 1 to 
December 31, 2019

in kEUR Note 1/1 - 12/31/2019 1/1 - 12/31/2018*

Earnings before taxes (EBT) -145,078 993

Profit/loss from discontinued operations 20 158,698 -24,872

Gains on bargain purchases 14 -65,335 -82,840

Gains (-) / losses (+) on deconsolidations 14/20 -175,332 -8,510

Amortization, depreciation and impairments of intangible 
assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

25/26/27 184,146 54,031

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in pension obligations and other 
provisions 

-14,857 -7,968

Gains (-) / losses (+) on disposal of property, plant  
and equipment 

-25,131 -9,208

Gains (-) / losses (+) on disposal of non-current financial assets -85 1,727

Gains (-) / losses (+) on currency translation 14/17 -7,660 1,016

Net financial income/expenses 18 34,678 10,694

Interest received 1,865 5,492

Interest paid -34,897 -7,290

Income taxes paid -12,694 -3,004

Gross cash flow -101,682 -69,739

Change in working capital and other items

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in inventories 31,790 1,714

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in trade receivables and other assets 36,433 14,531

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in trade payables and other liabilities -63,739 -29,671

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in other items of the statement of 
financial position 

21,103 33,165

Cash flow from operating activities (net cash flow) -76,095 -49,996
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

continued

in kEUR Note 1/1 - 12/31/2019 1/1 - 12/31/2018*

Cash inflows (+) / cash outflows (-) from the acquisition of sha-
res in subsidiaries including cash acquired 

6 15,068 -98,817

Cash inflows (+) / cash outflows (-) from the sale of subsidiaries 
less cash sold 

7 229,816 -9,494

Proceeds from sales of non-current assets 41,046 22,545

Payments for investments in non-current assets -81,346 -62,361

Cash flow from investing activities 204,584 -148,127

Free cash flow 128,489 -198,123

Cash inflows from the borrowing (+) of current financial 
liabilities

46 73,095 30,086

Cash outflows for the repayment (-) of current financial 
liabilities

46 -44,720 -51,619

Cash inflows from the borrowing (+) of non-current financial 
liabilities

46 125,784 73,406

Cash outflows for the repayment (-) of non-current financial 
liabilities

46 -38,190 -47,953

Sale (+) / purchase (-) of treasury shares 44 - / - 11,174

Cash inflows (+) / cash outflows (-) from transactions with 
non-controlling interests without change of status

-3,005 781

Cash inflows (+) / cash outflows (-) from transactions with 
non-controlling interests with change of status

-3,906 - / -

Decrease (+) / increase (-) in restricted cash 35 -3,409 -2,143

Decrease (-) / increase (+) of cash and cash equivalents shown 
under assets held for sale in accordance with the provisions of 
IFRS 5

35 -3,814 -34,124

Dividend of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA 39 -89,048 -141,008

Cash flow from financing activities 12,784 -161,399

Effects of currency fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents -3,510 7,672

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 284,209 636,059

Change in cash and cash equivalents 141,274 -359,522

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 421,973 284,209

Cash and cash equivalents subject to restrictions on disposal 35 22,131 18,722

Cash and cash equivalents shown under assets held for  
sale in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 5

35 -8,361 -12,175

Cash and cash equivalents as per  
Statement of Financial Position

435,743 290,756

*  The prior-year consolidated statement of cash flows was adjusted for comparison purposes in accordance with IFRS 3.45 ff. and IFRS 5  
(see also Notes 12 and 20).
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K EY  A B B R EV I AT I O N S

KEY ABBREVIATIONS 

A
AB  Aktiebolag (stock corporation under Swedsich law)
AED United Arab Emirates dirham (currency)
AG  Aktiengesellschaft (stock corporation under German law)
AktG  Aktiengesetz (German Stock Corporation Act)
ApS Anpartsselskab (limited liability company under Danish law)
AS  Aksjeselskap (stock corporation under Norwegian law)
A/S  Aktieselskab  (stock corporation under Danish law 
AUD  Australian dollar (currency) 

B
BCA  Book Club Associates
BGN Bulgarian lev (currency)
BRL  Brazilian real (currency)
BV  Besloten vennootschap met beperkte aansprakelijkheid  
 (limited liability company under Dutch law)

C
CDO  Chief Development Officer
CAD Canadian dollar (currency)
CEO  Chief Executive Officer
CFO Chief Financial Officer
CGU  Cash Generating Unit
CHF  Swiss franc (currency)
CLP  Chilean peso (currency)
CNY  Chinese yen (currency)
Co.  Company
COO  Chief Operating Officer
CRC Costa Rica colon (currency)
CZK  Czech koruna (currency)

D
d.o.o.  Druzba z omejeno odgovornostjo 
   (limited liability company under Slovenian law)
DBO  Defined benefit obligation 
DCF  Discounted cash flow
DKK  Danish Krone (currency)
Dr.  Doctor

E
EBIT   Earnings Before Interest and Taxes
EBITDA  Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Amortization and Depreciation
EBT  Earnings Before Taxes
EDP  Electronic data processing 
EOOD Bulgarian single-owned limited liability company
etc.  Et cetera
EU  European Union
EUR  Euro (currency)
excl.  Excluding
e.V. Eingetragener Verein (registered association under German law)
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F
FA-AC Financial assets measured at amortized cost  
FA-FV/FA-FVTPL   Financial instruments (assets) designated at fair value with changes in value recognized in profit 

or loss
ff.  and following
FLAC/FL-AC  Measured at amortized cost (liabilities)
FL-FV/FL-FVTPL   Financial instruments (liabilities) designated at fair value with changes in value recognized in 

profit or loss
FVOCI Measured at fair value with changes in value recognized in other comprehensive income 

G
GBP  British pound (currency)
GewStG  Gewerbesteuergesetz (German Trade Tax Act)
GesmbH Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung (limited liability company under Austrian law)
GmbH  Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung (limited liability company under German law)
GmbH & Co. KG  Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung & Compagnie Kommanditgesellschaft (limited partnership  
 with a limited liability company as the personally liable shareholder under German law)

H
HGB  Handelsgesetzbuch (German Commercial Code)
HKD  Hong Kong dollar (currency)
HRB  Handelsregister, Abteilung B (Commercial Register, Section B)
HUF  Hungarian forint (currency)

I
Inc.  Incorporated company 
  (stock corporation under U.S. law)
IAS  International Accounting Standards
IASB  International Accounting Standard Board
IFRIC  International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
IFRS  International Financial Reporting Standards 
IFRS IC  IFRS Interpretation Committee
incl.  including
INR  Indian rupee (currency)
IP  Industrial Production (sector)
IT  Information technology

K
kEUR  Euro thousands
Kft.   Korlátolt Felelösségü Társaság 
  (limited liability company under Hungarian law)
KGaA  Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien (partnership limited by shares under German law)
KRW  South Korean won (currency) 
KStG  Körperschaftsteuergesetz (German Corporation Tax Act)

L
LaR  Loans and receivables
Lda.  Limitada 
 (limited liability company under Portuguese law)
LLC  Limited liability company (limited liability company under U.S. law)
Ltd.  Limited (limited liability company under British law)
Ltda.  Limitada limited liability company under Brazilian law)
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M
MXN Mexican peso (currency)
MYR  Malaysian ringgit (currency)

N
NAV   Net Asset Value
NOK   Norwegian krone (currency)
No.  Number
N.V.  Naamloze vennootschap  
 (stock corporation under Dutch law)

O
Oy Osakeythiö  
 (stock corporation under Finnish law)

P
PCL Public Company Limited (stock corporation under Thai law)
PLN  Polish zloty (currency)
Pte Ltd.  Private Limited 
 (limited liability company under Singaporean law)
Pty Ltd.  Proprietary Limited 
 (limited liability company under Australian law)

R
RCP  Retail and Consumer Products (segment)
RON  Romanian new lei (currency)
RUB Russian ruble (currency)

S
S&S Services & Solutions (sector)
S.L. Sociedad Limitada (limited liability company under Spanish law)
s.r.o. Společnost s Ručením Omezeným (limited liability company under Czech law)
s.r.o. Spoločnosť s Ručením Obmedzeným (limited liability company under Slovakian law)
SA Société Anonyme (stock corporation under French law)
S.A.  Sociedad Anonima (stock corporation organized under the laws of Chile, Argentina, Spain,  

Portugal, and Brazil)
SARL Société à Responsabilité Limitée (limited liability company under French law)
SAS Société par Actions Simplifiée (simplified stock corporation under French law)
SE Societas Europaea (European stock corporation)
SEK Swedish krone (currency)
Sdn. Bhd. Sendirian Berhad (limited liability company under Malaysian law)
SEStEG  Gesetz über steuerliche Begleitmaßnahmen zur Einführung der Europäischen Gesellschaft und zur 

Änderung weiterer steuerrechtlicher Vorschriften (German Act on Tax Measures Accompanying 
the Introduction of the European Company and on the Amendment of Further Tax Regulations)

SGD Singapore dollar (currency)
SIC Standard Interpretations Committee
SpA Società per azioni (stock corporation under Italian law)
Spolka z.o.o. Spółka z Ograniczoną Odpowiedzialnością (limited liability company under Polish law)
SNC Societe en Norm Collectif (partnership under French law)
Srl/S.r.l. Societa a responsabilita limitata (corporation under Italian law)

T
THB  Thai baht (currency)
TRY  Turkish lira (currency)
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U
UK  United Kingdom
US United States
USD US dollar (currency)

W
WKN Wertpapierkennnummer (Security ID No.)
WpHG Wertpapierhandelsgesetz (German Securities Trading Act)

Z
ZAR South African rand (currency)

AU RELI US AN N UAL REPORTI  89



BASIC PRINCIPLES APPLIED 
IN PREPARING

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

BPG BUILDING PARTNERS GROUP I BERLIN I GERMANY

 Home



BASIC PRINCIPLES APPLIED IN PREPARING 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. Reporting company

2. Accounting principles

3. Functional and presentation currency

4. Use of discretionary judgments and estimates

N OT E S  TO  T H E  CO N S O L I DAT E D  F I N A N C I A L  STAT E M E N T S

AU RELI US AN N UAL REPORT  I  91



N OT E S  TO  T H E  CO N S O L I DAT E D  F I N A N C I A L  STAT E M E N T S

 Home

2. Accounting principles

Since the enactment of the Directive of the European Parliament and Council of Ministers of the European Union 
on the Application of International Financial Reporting Standards of June 6, 2002, all capital markets-oriented 
companies are obligated to prepare their consolidated financial statements for financial years that begin after 
December 31, 2004 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

In the period from June 26, 2006, to April 9, 2012, the shares of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA were 
traded in the Open Market section of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. Effective April 10, 2012, the shares of the Com-
pany have been listed in the small and medium-sized enterprises segment m:access (open market) of the Munich 

BASIC PRINCIPLES APPLIED IN PREPARING  
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Reporting company

AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA, Grünwald (“AURELIUS SE” or the “Company”) is a German partner-
ship limited by shares that was originally formed in Munich on March 20, 2006 as AURELIUS AG. After entry into 
the Commercial Register on October 1, 2015, the reorganization of AURELIUS AG from a stock corporation (Aktien-
gesellschaft, AG) into a partnership limited by shares (Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien, KGaA) was completed. 
The Company’s registered head office is located on Ludwig-Ganghofer-Strasse 6 in 82031 Grünwald. The Company 
is registered with the Munich Registry Court (record HRB 221100).

AURELIUS SE today is a holding company with a long-term investment horizon, which specializes in acquiring compa-
nies with development potential. By providing operational and financial support, the Company offers its subsidiaries 
a “good home” for innovation, long-term growth and a secure future. Sustainable business concepts and responsible 
actions provide a stable environment for the subsidiaries, in the interest of all stakeholders. When selecting target 
objects, AURELIUS SE does not pursue a certain industry focus, but has its main focal points of activity in the follow-
ing areas: IT & business services, industrial enterprises & chemicals, and lifestyle & consumer goods. 

The activities of the current portfolio companies of AURELIUS SE include mainly lifestyle and consumer goods, as 
well as industrial and chemical companies.

The consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS SE for the financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2019, 
were prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards as applicable in the European 
Union and the German commercial regulations to be applied additionally in accordance with Section 315e (1) of 
the German Commercial Code (HGB) in conjunction with Section 315e (3) HGB. They were prepared on March 26, 
2020, by AURELIUS Management SE, the personally liable shareholder of AURELIUS SE, represented by its Executive 
Board (hereinafter referred to as the “Executive Board”) and subsequently forwarded to the Supervisory Board for 
review and approval. The consolidated financial statements cover the Company and its subsidiaries (referred to 
collectively as “AURELIUS” or the “Group” and individually as a “portfolio company” or “Group company”), as well 
as the Group’s investments in associates and jointly managed companies.

The consolidated financial statements and group management report are available through the electronic  Federal 
Gazette and on the company’s website, www.aureliusinvest.de.
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3. Functional and presentation currency 

The present consolidated financial statements are presented in euros in accordance with Section 315a para.1 
HGB in conjunction with Section 244 HGB (German Commercial Code). The determination of the functional 
currency is not made for the combined Group, but individually for AURELIUS SE and for each of its domestic and 
foreign portfolio companies. 

This year’s consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, as the functional currency of AURELIUS. All 
financial information presented in euros is rounded to the nearest thousand unless otherwise specified. Due to 
this rounding, minor differences from the figures shown in the notes may arise in calculating totals or percent-
ages. 

Stock Exchange, which is not an organized market within the meaning of Section 2 (5) WpHG. Thus, the Company 
is not a capital markets-oriented company within the meaning of this legal requirement.

The present consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS SE for financial year 2019 were voluntarily prepared 
pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and International 
Accounting Standards (IAS), as published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) in London 
through December 31, 2019, in the manner in which they have been interpreted by the Standard Interpretations 
Committee (SIC) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC). All IFRS and IFRIC 
that had been adopted by the European Union (EU) as of December 31, 2019, and are applicable to the Company 
were observed. A Group management report and the obligatory disclosures to be made under German commer-
cial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB were added to the consolidated financial statements. 

Please refer to the comments in Note 11 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements regarding the key 
accounting policies. The present consolidated financial statements are the first consolidated financial statements 
in which the new International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 16 (Leases) was applied. The changes of signifi-
cant accounting policies are described in Note 10 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

The consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS comprise the statement of comprehensive in-come, the state-
ment of financial position, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows and the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

For the sake of improving the clarity and usefulness of the financial statements, individual items of the consol-
idated statement of financial position and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income have been 
combined and explained separately in the notes.

4. Use of discretionary judgments and estimates 

The preparation of financial statements according to IFRS requires that the management make certain 
 assumptions and estimates that have an effect on the amounts presented in the financial statements and dis-
closures related to them. Estimates and discretionary judgments are made primarily in connection with the 
assessment of the actual value of goodwill, other intangible assets and trade receivables, the adoption of uni-
form Group-wide useful lives for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, and the accounting 
policies on the recognition and measurement of provisions.
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The assumptions underlying such discretionary judgments and estimates are based on the information availa-
ble at the time of preparing the financial statements, particularly with regard to the expected future business 
performance and the circumstances prevailing at the time when the consolidated financial statements are 
prepared. Assumptions must also be made regarding realistic expectations of future market conditions. If 
 actual conditions in the future would differ from the assumptions made, or if future developments would dif-
fer from the underlying assumptions and are beyond the control of the management, the resulting amounts 
may differ from the originally estimated amounts. Estimates are made on the basis of experience values and 
other assumptions that are deemed to be accurate given the prevailing circumstances. Estimates and assump-
tions are reviewed on a regular basis. When changes in estimates only affect a single period, they are only taken 
into account in this period. Revisions of estimates that relate to both the current as well as the subsequent 
 reporting periods are recognized correspondingly in this period and the following periods.

Also in connection with company acquisitions, estimates are generally made for the purpose of measuring the 
fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. Land and buildings are usually measured on the 
basis of standard land values or appraisals conducted by independent experts; such appraisals are used also for 
measuring the value of technical equipment, plant and machinery. Marketable securities are measured at their 
respective market values. In case of intangible assets, depending on the nature of the asset in question and the 
difficulty of measuring the value of such an asset, an independent external expert is consulted or the fair value 
of an intangible asset is determined internally using a suitable valuation method, usually based on a forecast of 
all future cash flows. Depending on the nature of the asset and the availability of information, different valua-
tion techniques are applied. Such techniques are based either on cost, market price or other net present value 
methods.

AURELIUS considers the estimates made with regard to the expected useful lives of certain assets and the  
assumptions made with regard to the future macroeconomic conditions and developments in the industries in 
which AURELIUS operates, as well as the estimates made with respect to the present value of future cash flows, 
to be appropriate. Nonetheless, changes in assumptions or changed circumstances may necessitate  corrections. 
This can lead to additional impairment losses or reversals of impairments in the future if the developments 
expected by AURELIUS are not fully realized.

The companies of AURELIUS are obligated to pay income taxes. Assumptions need to be made for the purpose 
of measuring tax provisions. The final taxation of certain transactions and calculations cannot be conclusively 
determined in the normal course of business. Provisions for the costs of anticipated tax payments are  
measured on the basis of estimates concerning whether and in what amount additional taxes will be owed. If 
the final taxation of such transactions differs from the initially assumed taxation, that difference will have an 
effect on current and deferred taxes in the period when the final taxation is conclusively determined.

At the time of preparing the present consolidated financial statements, no significant changes in the underly-
ing assumptions and estimates are to be expected, so that, from the current perspective, there is no reason to 
expect that significant adjustments will be made to the assets and liabilities presented in the statement of 
 financial position in financial year 2020. The carrying amounts of the items affected by estimates are derived 
from the other chapters in the notes. 
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COMPOSITION OF THE GROUP

5. List of Portfolio Companies 

The Group’s portfolio companies that are to be classified as continued operations according to IFRS are 
 presented in the table below:

Corporate group
Country of 
main activity

Main activity
Share of 

equity 
2019

Share of 
equity 

2018

HanseYachts Germany Manufacturer of sailing yachts and 
catamarans

76.77% 75.72%

CalaChem United Kingdom Producer of fine chemicals 100.00% 100.00%

Briar Chemicals United Kingdom Producer of specialty chemicals 100.00% 100.00%

Hammerl Germany Producer of construction films and 
consumable materials 

100.00% 100.00%

VAG Germany Supplier of water fittings for water 
infrastructure 

91.07% 91.07%

LD Didactic Germany Provider of technical teaching systems 100.00% 100.00%

AKAD University Germany Distance learning college 100.00% 100.00%

BPG Building Partners 
Group (previously:  
B+P Gerüstbau)

Germany Scaffold building and services for 
 building site facilities 

75.00% 75.00%

Transform/ 
The Hospital Group

United Kingdom Provider of surgical and non-surgical 
cosmetic procedures 

100.00% 100.00%

Rivus Fleet Solutions United Kingdom Fleet operator and fleet management 
services 

93.60% - / -

Scholl Footwear Italy Provider of orthopedic and comfort 
shoes 

100.00% 100.00%

MEZ Germany Provider of handicraft products 100.00% 100.00%

Conaxess Trade Group Denmark Distributor of fast-moving consumer 
goods

100.00% 100.00%

Calumet Wex Germany Multi-channel chain of retail outlets 
for photo accessories and professional 
lighting systems

96.41% 89.61%

Office Depot Europe Netherlands Provider of office supplies, printing 
and document services, facility 
 management and office furniture 

100.00% 100.00%

Silvan Denmark  “Do-it-yourself” retail chain 100.00% 100.00%

Bertram Books United Kingdom
Globally active multi-channel 
 bookseller 

98.30% 100.00%

Ideal Shopping Direct United Kingdom
Multi-channel home shopping 
 provider

85.00% 100.00%

NDS Group  
(previously: Hellanor)

Norway Wholesaler of automotive parts 93.70% 100.00%

BMC Benelux Belgium Construction materials retain chain 92.82% - / -

The portfolio companies listed without a 2018 comparison were acquired in financial year 2019. 
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All material companies in which AURELIUS can indirectly or directly exercise governance or control are in-
cluded in the consolidated financial statements, in addition to AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA 
as the parent company.

In accordance with IFRS 10.27, a parent company must determine whether it is an investment entity on the 
basis of the following criteria, all of which must be met. If this is the case, the presentation of financial posi-
tion, cash flows and financial performance must conform to the rules applicable to such companies. An in-
vestment entity is an entity 

■■ that collects funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing those investor(s) with investment 
management services (IFRS 10.27 (a)),

■■ Commits to its investor(s) that its business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from capital apprecia-
tion and/or investment income (IFRS 10.27 (b)),

■■ Measures and evaluates the performance of substantially all of its investments on a fair-value basis  
(IFRS 10.27 (c)).

The condition set out in IFRS 10.27 (a) initially pertains to typical private-equity or venture-capital companies 
 because such companies usually raise funds off market from both institutional and private capital providers for the 
purpose of investing in companies. Some of AURELIUS’ investors fit this description, but it cannot be said that funds 
are collected in this case, and no investment funds are created with such funds. The stock exchange listing in the 
over-the-counter market can be regarded as a collection of funds, but it contradicts both the wording and the 
 underlying concept of the IASB. Considering the fact that AURELIUS has only conducted two capital increases since 
it was founded, it cannot be said that the Company regularly collects funds; moreover, no funds were ever  requested 
directly in connection with the acquisition of companies. Furthermore, AURELIUS does not provide investment 
management services. AURELIUS SE actively influences the company’s operational activities from the first day 
 onward, and this is its primary focus. Therefore, the criterion of IFRS 10.27 (a) is not met.

At first glance, it could be said that AURELIUS SE meets the criterion of IFRS 10.27 (b). Thus, the Company’s business 
object and purpose comprises the acquisition, subsequent restructuring, and afterwards the possible sale of com-
panies or sub-groups. Furthermore, the collection of dividends from subsidiaries is an important element of 
AURELIUS’ business model. However, there is neither a fixed exit time, nor a clearly defined exit plan. In this regard, 
the question arises again as to what active role AURELIUS SE plays in relation to the companies it acquires. In most 
cases, the top management level of the purchased company is replaced and staffed with AURELIUS employees. 
Furthermore, the active role played by AURELIUS is also evidenced by the development of innovations among many 
of its Group companies. Therefore, it can be concluded that AURELIUS is not a passive investor by reason of the very 
close operational support provided to the purchased companies, and therefore the criterion of IFRS 10.27 (b) is not 
met.

Finally, the third criterion stating that the performance of investments is measured on a fair-value basis is not 
met in the case of AURELIUS, and moreover the Company never even contemplated such a practice in the past. 
Company values (Net Asset Value, NAV) have been published at the request of foreign investors, in order to ensure 
even greater transparency beyond the consolidated financial statements according to IFRS. AURELIUS would like to 
accommodate this request by regularly publishing current NAVs. AURELIUS does not manage the portfolio compa-
nies and does not devise potential exit strategies on the basis of NAVs, and also does not plan to do so in the future. 
The NAVs only serve to assist the analysts of institutional investors who are accustomed to this fair-value approach 
in appraising private-equity and venture-capital companies.

Based on the foregoing, AURELIUS is indeed subject to the rules of IFRS 10, but the provisions applicable to invest-
ment entities in IFRS 10.27-33 and IFRS 10.B85A-W are not relevant to AURELIUS.
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The composition of the Group in the reporting period and prior year is presented in the table below:

12/31/2019 12/31/2018

Number of fully consolidated companies (subsidiaries) in

Germany 110 110

Abroad 197 225

Number of companies (subsidiaries) not consolidated for  
materiality reasons in

Germany - / - - / -

Abroad - / - - / -

Number of companies (associated) accounted for  
at equity in 

Germany - / - - / -

Abroad - / - - / -

Number of companies (associates) not accounted for  
at equity for materiality reasons in 

Germany - / - - / -

Abroad 1 3

Total number of companies 308 338

Compared to the previous year, 35 companies were included in the consolidation group for the first time, and 
65 companies were deconsolidated or sold, liquidated or merged.

With the exception of the sub-groups HanseYachts, VAG and Bertram Books and the companies Warehouse 
 Express Group Ltd., Fixation UK Ltd., Warehouse Express Ltd. and Silvan A/S, the reporting date of the companies 
included in the consolidated financial statements is the same as the reporting date of AURELIUS Equity  
Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA. The aforementioned companies likewise prepared IFRS reporting packages at the 
December 31, 2019 reporting date, which formed the basis for inclusion in the present consolidated financial 
statements.

The List of Shareholdings of AURELIUS pursuant to Section 313 (2) (1) to (4) HGB is presented in Note 73 of the 
 present notes to the consolidated financial statements.

As a subsidiary of AURELIUS, Hanse (Deutschland) Vertriebs GmbH & Co. KG satisfied the requirements of section 
264b of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB) as a result of its inclusion in the consolidated 
financial statements and utilizes the exemptions with respect to the preparation, audit, and publication of its 
separate financial statements.

The exchange-listed company HanseYachts AG updated the Corporate Governance Code Declaration prescribed 
by Section 161 of the German Stock Corporations Act for the last time in October 2019 and made it available on its 
website at www.hanseyachtsag.com.
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6. Acquisitions of subsidiaries 

The companies acquired in reporting years 2019 and 2018 are summarized in the following pursuant to  
IFRS 3.B65. 

In financial year 2019, AURELIUS acquired and completely consolidated two corporate groups for the first 
time.

AURELIUS announced the acquisition of Rivus Fleet Solutions (formerly: BT Fleet Solutions), a commercial 
fleet operator in Great Britain, on September 30, 2019. 

AURELIUS also acquired the Belgian construction materials retail chain BMC Benelux, which serves small and 
medium-sized companies in the construction industry under the two brand names MPRO and YouBuild, on 
October 4.

Effective October 7, 2019, AURELIUS provided through AURELIUS Finance Company Ltd. financing to the Ar-
dent Group, which is headquartered in the Netherlands, and also acquired shares qualifying for dividends. In 
this context, control according to the definition of IFRS 10 was attributed to AURELIUS. Therefore, the Ardent 
Group was fully consolidated and is included in the “Other” sector in the present financial statements at 
December 31, 2019.

The cited acquisition dates are the dates of transfer of control.

In the following, the prior-year values have been adjusted for comparison purposes in accordance with  
IFRS 3.45 ff. and IFRS 5.

The purchase prices for the acquired companies totaled EUR 16,934 thousand (PY: EUR 49,947 thousand). The 
purchase prices to be settled in cash amounted to EUR 2,424 thousand (PY: EUR 49,947 thousand). Contingent 
consideration in the sense of purchase price adjustment clauses deemed to be probable occurred in the 
amount of EUR 14,510 thousand (PY: EUR 3,836 thousand). The corresponding cash flows and the amount of 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed resulted in a profit on an acquisition at a price below market value of 
EUR 65,335 thousand (PY: EUR 82,840 thousand), which was recognized as other income in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. The gains generated on purchases below market value in financial year 
2019 resulted mainly from the restructuring contributions of the sellers, which are reflected in purchase 
prices that were lower than the net asset values of the acquired companies.

No goodwill was recognized in the reporting period (PY: EUR 5,418 thousand). Goodwill is not deductible for 
tax purposes.

As in the prior year, no equity shares or replacement of share-based payment awards were used in these 
 acquisitions. 

The acquisitions made in financial year 2019 were conducted in the form of share deals. Non-controlling 
 interests resulted from both these acquisitions.

At December 31, 2019, the purchase price allocation for the Ardent Group is not yet finally completed and is 
therefore provisional in the sense of IFRS 3.45 ff. The reason for this is AURELIUS has not yet received all of the 
relevant information for the purchase price allocation in its final version at the current time. The acquired 
assets and liabilities were largely taken over at their carrying amounts. The process of disclosing hidden 
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 reserves and liabilities is still ongoing. By contrast, the purchase price allocations for Rivus Fleet Solutions 
(formerly: BT Fleet Solutions) and BMC Benelux have been completed.

The aggregate result of the acquired companies in the time from the date of initial consolidation to Decem-
ber 31, 2019, was minus EUR 10,780 thousand (PY: EUR -3,877 thousand). This figure contains start-up and 
 acquisition losses, as well as restructuring losses. This figure does not contain profits from an acquisition at 
a price below market value. The respective results and revenues for the period from January 1, 2019 to the 
acquisition date were not calculated because AURELIUS does not have all the necessary information to do 
this. The cash and cash equivalents of continued operations and outstanding adjustment payments  acquired 
in connection with company acquisitions amounted to EUR 16,389 thousand (PY: EUR 19,006 thousand), 
 leading to an overall cash inflow of EUR 13,965 thousand (PY: cash outflow of EUR 30,941 thousand).

The amounts recorded for the acquired assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition are summarized 
 below:

in kEUR
Carrying 
amount

Carrying 
amount

Fair value Fair value

1/1/-12/31/20191 1/1/-12/31/20181,2 1/1/-12/31/20191 1/1/-12/31/20181,2

Intangible assets 9,556 19,935 23,222 23,465

Right-of-use assets 23,630 - / - 23,630 - / -

Land 96 1,876 96 7,853

Buildings 1,109 18,376 2,075 21,170

Technical equipment, plant and machinery 782 14,806 1,838 18,625

Other non-current assets 13,879 7,268 13,879 7,268

Deferred tax assets 732 6,076 732 7,771

Non-current assets 49,784 68,337 65,472 86,152

Inventories 17,575 91,585 20,009 96,899

Trade receivables 106,044 93,955 106,044 93,955

Other assets 29,525 24,111 29,525 24,111

Cash and cash equivalents 16,389 19,006 16,389 19,006

Current assets 169,533 228,657 171,967 233,971

Provisions 15,685 18,397 15,685 20,828

Trade payables 52,553 102,514 52,553 107,453

Other liabilities 91,205 53,973 80,969 57,871

Deferred tax liabilities - / - 7 5,806 6,602

Liabilities 161,283 174,891 155,013 192,754

Net assets 58,034 122,103 82,426 127,369

thereof attributable to non-controlling interests 4,070 - / - 5,654 - / -
1 Carrying amounts and fair values at the acquisition dates
2 The presentation was adjusted in accordance with IFRS 3.45 ff. and IFRS 5.

The gross amounts of the contractual receivables taken over in connection with acquisitions are not significantly 
different from their carrying amounts.
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The valuation techniques used to determine the fair value of the acquired material assets were as follows: 

Assets Valuation method

Property, plant and 
equipment

Market comparison method and cost method: The measurement model takes listed market 
prices for similar objects into account if they are available, and amortized replacement cost if 
necessary. Amortized replacement cost reflects adjustments for physical deterioration as well 
as functional reconditioning and economic obsolescence.

Intangible assets Relief-from-royalty and net realizable-value method: The relief-from-royalty method takes 
into account the discounted estimated payments of usage fees that are expected to be saved 
 because the assets are owned by the Company. The net realizable-value method takes into 
 account the present value of the expected net cash flows that the intangible assets generate, 
with the exception of all cash flows that are linked to supporting assets.  

Inventories Market comparison method: The fair value is calculated based on the estimated sales price in the 
ordinary course of business less estimated completion and selling costs as well as a reasonable 
profit margin that are based on the necessary efforts for completion and sale of the inventories.  

If new information becomes known within one year after the acquisition date about facts and circumstances 
that existed at the acquisition date and would have led to corrections to the existing amounts or to additional 
provisions, then the accounting for the company acquisition will be adjusted retroactively.

7. Sales of subsidiaries 

As significant corporate groups that meet the definition of discontinued operations according to IFRS 5, SOLIDUS, 
the Scandinavian Cosmetics Group, Working Links and Granovit left the consolidation group of AURELIUS in 2019. 
The sale prices totaled EUR 236,772 thousand (PY: EUR 1,752 thousand), including cash and cash equivalents of EUR 
236,772 thousand (PY: EUR 1,752 thousand).

Working Links left the consolidation group of AURELIUS in February 2019. In a transition process coordinated in 
advance with the Ministry of Justice (MoJ), the business of social and rehabilitation services for the British author-
ities (Community Rehabilitation Companies)) was transferred to the service provider Seetec, based in Hockley/ 
Great Britain. Public-sector budgetary constraints have already led to a substantial consolidation of this market in 
the last few years.

Including all deconsolidation effects, these transactions gave rise to a Group level deconsolidation profit of EUR 
12,324 thousand, which is included within the profit/loss from discontinued operations. 
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in kEUR 2/1/2019

Item of the statement of financial position

ASSETS

Intangible assets 750

Property, plant and equipment 10,823

Trade receivables, other assets 21,066

Cash and cash equivalents 8,978

Assets from discontinued operations 41,617

LIABILITIES

Provisions 9,200

Trade payables 7,348

Other liabilities 37,393

Liabilities from discontinued operations 53,941

Net assets from continued operations -12,324

In early April 2019, AURELIUS sold its subsidiary Granovit, which is based in Lucens/Switzerland, to the manage-
ment team led by CEO Andreas Fischer in a management buy-out. The company produces premixes and com-
pound feed for poultry, pork, cattle and dairy cattle for the Swiss market at three production facilities. The 
product portfolio is supplemented by special feed for pets, horses, zoo animals and medical feed. AURELIUS had 
only purchased the company from Cargill in 2017. The carve-out from the Cargill Group was successfully com-
pleted in just three months. Among other measures, an independent finance department and IT infrastructure 
were established in 2018 and the company was positioned in the market under the new name Granovit. 

Including all deconsolidation effects, this transaction gave rise to a Group level deconsolidation loss of EUR 5,793 
thousand, which is included within the profit/loss from discontinued operations. 

in kEUR 4/1/2019

Item of the statement of financial position

ASSETS

Inventories 9,836

Trade receivables, other assets 12,484

Cash and cash equivalents 3,826

Assets from discontinued operations 26,146

LIABILITIES

Provisions 5,956

Trade payables 10,553

Other liabilities 3,844

Liabilities from discontinued operations 20,353

Net assets from discontinued operations 5,793

In early September 2019, AURELIUS sold its portfolio company SOLIDUS to private equity funds advised by 
 Centerbridge Partners L.P. SOLIDUS is the leading producer of sustainable packaging solutions made from solid 
board on the basis of recycled paper for food, beverages, gardening implements, consumer products and 
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 industrial applications. AURELIUS had purchased SOLIDUS from the exchange-listed Kappa Group as a corporate 
spin-off in 2015. Smurfit Kappa had decided to divest the factories and plants of its solid board and printed 
cardboard divisions, as well as its sales offices in the Netherlands, Belgium and Great Britain. Directly after the 
acquisition, AURELIUS geared the company for future growth. After a first phase of restructuring, an extensive 
investment program was launched to optimize the production and processing equipment and develop shared 
services. The organizational structures and processes were redesigned and the company was made more com-
petitive by means of a cost optimization program. In addition, other experienced experts were appointed to 
assist the existing management team. The next phase of the restructuring of SOLIDUS was aimed at strong 
geographical expansion and the improvement of operational efficiency by means of three strategic acquisi-
tions offering substantial synergy potential. 

Including all deconsolidation effects, this transaction gave rise to a Group level deconsolidation profit of EUR 
139,278 thousand, which is included within the profit/loss from discontinued operations. 

in kEUR 9/5/2019

Item of the statement of financial position

ASSETS

Intangible assets 18,516

Property, plant and equipment 107,722

Financial assets 1,341

Inventories 50,741

Trade receivables, other assets 56,485

Cash and cash equivalents 8,276

Assets from discontinued operations 243,081

LIABILITIES

Provisions 7,363

Trade payables 39,726

Other liabilities 138,491

Liabilities from discontinued operations 185,580

Net assets from discontinued operations 57,501

AURELIUS sold the Scandinavian Cosmetics Group to Accent Equity 2017, a Scandinavian investment fund, in 
 November 2019. AURELIUS has acquired the Scandinavian Cosmetics Group as part of the distribution business of 
the Swiss Valora Group in January 2016. After the successful carve-out from the former owner, the corporate 
group of AURELIUS was set up as a uniform company in northern Europe. This was achieved by establishing a joint 
management structure and opening new branches in Denmark and Finland. Efficiency enhancement and busi-
ness development projects led to profitable growth. Under the leadership of its new owner, the company contin-
ued its transformation process from a company purely focused on distribution to a leading company in complete 
brand management involved in all stages of the value chain: brand development, digital and conventional 
 marketing, category management (CM) and distribution. The group’s market position was further strengthened 
by add-on acquisitions in July 2018, making it the largest manufacturer-independent luxury and consumer brand 
management company in Scandinavia. 
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Including all deconsolidation effects, this transaction gave rise to a Group level deconsolidation profit of  
EUR 20,007 thousand, which is included within the profit/loss from discontinued operations. 

in kEUR 11/15/2019

Item of the statement of financial position

ASSETS

Intangible assets 5,570

Property, plant and equipment 5,665

Inventories 19,168

Trade receivables, other assets 35,211

Cash and cash equivalents 4,958

Assets from discontinued operations 70,572

LIABILITIES

Provisions 38

Trade payables 8,314

Other liabilities 42,234

Liabilities from discontinued operations 50,586

Net assets from discontinued operations 19,986

Effective October 7, 2019, AURELIUS provided through AURELIUS Finance Company Ltd. financing to the Ardent 
Group, which is headquartered in the Netherlands, and it also acquired shares qualifying for dividends. In this con-
text, control according to the definition of IFRS 10 was attributed to AURELIUS. Therefore, the Ardent Group was 
fully consolidated and is included in the “Other” sector in the present financial statements at December 31, 2019. 
The decision was made in the first quarter of 2020 to sell the Ardent Group to a strategic investor. The transaction 
is expected to close in the second quarter of 2020. The Netherlands-based Ardent Group is a globally active service 
provider in the areas of sea rescue, shipwreck disposal and offshore installation removal. 

The decision was made in the first quarter of 2020 to sell Bertram Books in its entirety or significant parts of it to an 
investor. The transaction is expected to close in the second quarter of 2020. Bertram Books, which has its head-
quarters in Norwich, United Kingdom, is a globally active multi-channel bookseller. Bertram Books is included in the 
present financial statements as part of the Retail & Consumer Products (RCP) segment.
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8. Non-controlling interests 

Information on each corporate group within the AURELIUS Group with significant non-controlling interests is 
presented in the table below:

12/31/2019

in kEUR

HanseYachts, 
Greifswald

BPG Building Partners 
Group (formerly: B+P 

Gerüstbau), Berlin

VAG, 
Mannheim

Percentage of non-controlling interests 23.23% 25.00% 8.93%

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests 193 3,345 5,554

Profit or loss of non-controlling interests -229 152 -784

Share of dividends allotted to non-controlling interests - / - - / - - / -

Total current assets 48,203 8,194 90,247

Total non-current assets 48,827 29,488 51,295

Total current liabilities 73,956 6,248 49,639

Total non-current liabilities 20,841 25,622 29,623

Profit or loss -988 606 -8,778

12/31/2018

in kEUR

HanseYachts, 
Greifswald

BPG Building Partners 
Group (formerly: B+P 

Gerüstbau), Berlin

VAG, 
Mannheim

Percentage of non-controlling interests 24.28% 25.00 % 8.93%

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests 3,291 3,081 6,065

Profit or loss of non-controlling interests -6 257 -62

Share of dividends allotted to non-controlling interests - / - - / - - / -

Total current assets 50,449 7,276 95,960

Total non-current assets 44,025 23,831 55,058

Total current liabilities 60,336 7,997 48,751

Total non-current liabilities 20,584 13,907 29,475

Profit or loss -23 1,028 -696

9. Change in non-controlling interests 

There was no significant change in non-controlling interests compared to 2018. The acquisitions of Rivus Fleet 
Solutions (formerly: BT Fleet Solutions) and BMC Benelux led to a modest increase in the percentage of non-cont-
rolling interests compared to the prior year. The decrease in this item resulted particularly from the sale of SOLI-
DUS in financial year 2019.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

10. Basic principles applied in preparing the financial statements 

 10.1  New Standards and Interpretations that have effects on the  
consolidated financial statements for 2019

 10.2  New Standards and Interpretations that have no effects on the  
consolidated financial statements for 2019

 10.3 New Standards and Interpretations that were applied early to the consolidated

 10.4 New Standards and Interpretations that have not yet been applied

11. Significant accounting policies

 11.1  Consolidation

  11.1.1 Acquisitions of subsidiaries

  11.1.2 Subsidiaries

  11.1.3 Changes in the percentage of equity held in existing subsidiaries

  11.1.4 Associates and joint ventures

  11.1.5 Joint operations

 11.2 Revenue recognition

  11.2.1 Sales of goods

  11.2.2 Provision of services

  11.2.3 Usage fees

  11.2.4 Dividends and interest income

 11.3 Income taxes

  11.3.1 Current taxes

  11.3.2 Deferred taxes

 11.4 Foreign currency

 11.1.5 Joint operations

 11.6 Research and development costs

 11.7 Leases – Methodology as of January 1, 2019

  11.7.1 Lessee

  11.7.2 Lessor

  11.7.3 Leases – Methodology applied before January 1, 2019

 11.8 Borrowing costs

 11.9  Intangible assets

  11.9.1 Goodwill

  11.9.2  Intangible assets by way of a business combination

  11.9.3 Other, separately purchased intangible assets

  11.9.4 Internally generated intangible assets

  11.9.5 Impairments of intangible assets

  11.9.6 Derecognition of intangible assets
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 11.10 Property, plant and equipment

  11.10.1 Impairments of property, plant and equipment

  11.10.2 Derecognition of property, plant and equipment

 11.11 Government grants

 11.12 Financial assets

  11.12.1 Classification

  11.12.2 Subsequent measurement of financial instruments

  11.12.3  Impairment of financial assets

  11.12.4 Derecognition of financial assets

 11.13 Factoring

 11.14 Inventories

 11.15 Assets held for sale and discontinued operations

 11.16 Derivative financial instruments

 11.17 Hedge accounting

  11.17.1 Fair value hedges

  11.17.2 Cash flow hedges

  11.17.3 Hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation

 11.18 Cash and cash equivalents

 11.19 Equity

 11.20 Employee benefits

 11.21 Other provisions

 11.22 Financial liabilities

  11.22.1  Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss

  11.22.2 Other financial liabilities

  11.22.3 Derecognition of financial liabilities

 11.23 Financial guarantees

 11.24 Compound financial instruments

 11.25 Contingent liabilities resulting from a business combination

 11.26 Estimation uncertainties and discretionary judgments

 11.27 Segment information

 11.28 Prior-year information

 11.29 Legal disputes, claims for damages and liability risks
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

10. Basic principles applied in preparing the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS have been prepared in accordance with International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Interpretations published by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC), 
which must be followed by companies reporting in accordance with IFRS. The present financial statements are 
conformant with the IFRSs published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

The presentation of the consolidated financial statements is conformant with the provisions of IAS 1. The cost 
summary method is applied for the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. In accordance with IFRS 3, 
gains on bargain purchases are presented within the item of other income and are therefore contained in the 
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA).

In accordance with IAS 1.60 ff., items presented in the consolidated statement of financial position are presented 
separately on the basis of maturity. Accordingly, current assets are assets which are recoverable within one year, 
or are intended for sale or use in the normal course of business, or are held for trading or consist of cash or cash 
equivalents. Conversely, all assets that will remain within the Group for longer than one year are classified as 
non-current assets. In accordance with IAS 1.68, inventories and trade receivables are always presented as cur-
rent assets. Deferred tax assets, by contrast, are always presented as non-current assets. In accordance with 
IAS 1.69, liabilities are classified as current when they are due and payable within twelve months or in the normal 
course of business, or when they are held for trading. By way of exception to this rule, trade payables are always 
judged, like trade receivables, on the basis of their settlement in the normal course of business, not by the 
twelve-month rule, and so they are always presented as current liabilities. Deferred tax liabilities are always 
classified as non-current liabilities. Non-controlling interests are presented as a separate component of equity 
(non-controlling interests).

The consolidated financial statements are prepared based on historical cost, with the exception of some specific 
financial instruments that were measured at fair value on the reporting date, December 31, 2019. Historical costs 
are generally based on the fair value of the consideration paid in exchange for the asset. The fair value is the price 
that would be received in orderly transactions between market participants on the measurement date for the 
sale of an asset or paid for the transfer of liabilities. This applies regardless of whether the price can be directly 
observed or is estimated using a measurement method.

When determining the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account certain features such as 
the condition and location of the asset or restrictions on its sale or use if market participants would likewise take 
these features into account when specifying the price to acquire the respective asset or to transfer the liability 
on the measurement date. In the present AURELIUS consolidated financial statements, the fair value for  
measurement and/or reporting obligations is fundamentally calculated on this basis. Measurement standards 
that are similar to the fair value but do not correspond to it, such as the net realizable value of inventories under 
IAS 2 or the value in use under IAS 36, are excluded. 

The fair value is not always available as a market price. It must frequently be calculated based on various  
measurement parameters. The fair value is assigned to levels 1, 2, or 3 depending on the availability of observable 
parameters and the significance of these parameters for calculating the fair value as a whole.  
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The classification is done according to the following rules:  
■■ Input parameters for Level 1 are listed prices (unadjusted) on active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

that the company can access on the measurement date.
■■ Input parameters for Level 2 are other parameters than the listed prices included in Level 1 that can be 

 directly observed for the asset or liability or can be derived indirectly from other prices. 
■■ Input parameters for Level 3 are parameters that cannot be observed for the asset or liability. 

 
When the input factors used to determine the fair value of an asset or liability can be assigned to different 
levels of the fair value hierarchy, the fair value measurement is assigned in its entirety to the hierarchical level 
that corresponds to the lowest input factor that is decisive for the measurement as a whole. 

In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 5, continued operations are presented separately from discontinued 
operations and from assets and liabilities held for sale (disposal groups). Individual items of the consolidated 
financial statements are presented separately on this basis (see also Sections 20 and 36 of the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the assumption of a going concern. This applies also to 
the portfolio companies Office Depot International BV, Venlo, Netherlands, and Office Depot UK Ltd., Leicester, 
United Kingdom. The legal representatives of Office Depot International BV and Office Depot UK Ltd. have 
stated that the companies are undergoing a restructuring phase and based on their business plans, they will 
generate sufficient positive operating cash flows in the next two years; however, this is dependent on the suc-
cessful implementation of the measures assumed in the business plans, particularly including the stabilization 
and subsequent increase in revenues and the further adjustment of the companies’ cost structure. Otherwise, 
the companies need financial support and the provision of cash and cash equivalents by the parent  company.

10.1  New Standards and Interpretations that have effects on the  
consolidated financial statements for 2019

AURELIUS applied the new IFRS 16 (Leases) for the first time at January 1, 2019. This Standard replaces IAS 17 “Leases” 
and the corresponding Interpretations IFRIC 4 “Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease,” SIC 15 
“Operating Leases – Incentives” and SIC 27 “Evaluating the Substance of Transactions in the Legal Form of a Lease.”

IFRS 16 was applied in accordance with the modified retrospective method, meaning that the comparative 
 information for 2018 was not adjusted, but presented as before in accordance with IAS 17 and the related 
 Interpretations. The changes made to accounting methods are detailed in the following. Furthermore, the 
 disclosure obligations of IFRS 16 were not generally applied to the comparative information. 

Definition of a lease 
Previously, AURELIUS determined whether an arrangement according to IFRIC 4 contained or was a lease at the 
time of lease inception. The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is now based on the 
definition of a lease, as explained in Note 27. In transitioning to IFRS 16, AURELIUS decided to apply the practical 
expedient of retaining the original assessment of which transactions are leases. IFRS 16 is only applied to arrange-
ments that were previously identified as leases. Arrangements that were not identified as leases according to 
IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 were not reassessed to determine whether they are to be classified as leases according to IFRS 16. 
Therefore, the definition of a lease according to IFRS 16 was only applied to contracts that were entered into or 
modified on or after January 1, 2019.
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Accounting treatment as lessee 
As a lessee, AURELIUS leases many assets, including real estate, production facilities and IT equipment. Previously, 
leases had been classified as operating leases or finance leases based on the assessment of whether the lease 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards incident to ownership of the underlying assets to AURELIUS. 
According to IFRS 16, right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are now recognized for most of these leases, meaning 
that the leases are presented in the statement of financial position. The Group allocates the contractually agreed 
fee on the basis of relative standalone prices at the date of lease commencement or when the lease is modified.

Previously, real estate leases had been classified as operating leases according to IAS 17. In the transition, the lease 
liabilities for these leases were measured as the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted at the 
Group’s incremental borrowing rate at January 1, 2019. 

Right-of-use assets are measured as follows:
■■ At the carrying amount as though IFRS 16 had been applied since the commencement date, discounted at 

the Group’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application.
■■ At an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted for initial direct costs and deferred lease payments.

The Group reviewed its right-of-use assets for impairment at the transition date and concluded that there are no 
indications of an impairment of right-of-use assets. The Group exercised a number of simplification options in the 
application of IFRS 16 to leases classified as operating leases according to IAS 17. Specifically, the Group:

■■ recognized neither right-of-use assets nor lease liabilities for leases with a term of twelve months or less 
after the date of initial application; 

■■ recognized neither right-of-use assets nor lease liabilities for leases where the underlying asset has a low 
value (e.g. IT equipment);

■■ disregarded the direct initial costs in measuring the right-of-use assets at the date of initial application; and
■■ determined the terms of leases retroactively.

As lessor 
The Group subleases some of its real property. In accordance with IAS 17, head leases and subleases had been 
classified as operating leases. At the date of transition to IFRS 16, the right-of-use assets under the head lease were 
likewise presented within Property, plant and equipment and measured at fair value. The Group classified the 
subleases on the basis of the right of use and not the underlying assets and concluded that they are operating 
leases according to IFRS 16.

AU RELI US A N N UA L  R E P O RT   I  1 13



N OT E S  TO  T H E  CO N S O L I DAT E D  F I N A N C I A L  STAT E M E N T S

 Home

Effect on the financial statements 
The reconciliation of unrecognized lease commitments at December 31, 2018 with recognized lease liabilities at 
January 1, 2019 is presented in the table below: 

in kEUR

Unrecognized lease commitments at December 31, 2018 650,716

Short-term leases with a term of 12 months or less 2,544

Leases for low-value assets 3,191

Operating lease commitments at January 1, 2019, discounted 644,981

Sufficiently certain renewal and termination options 19,588

Lease liability resulting from the initial application of IFRS 16 at January 1, 2019 664,569

Lease liabilities under finance leases at January 1, 2019 30,585

Total lease liabilities at January 1, 2019 695,154

The effects of IFRS 16 on the consolidated statement of financial position at December 31, 2018 and January 1, 2019 
are presented in the table below: 

Item (in kEUR)

12/31/2018 before 
application of 

IFRS 16

 
Adjustments   

IFRS 16

1/1/2019 after 
application of  

IFRS 16

Right-of-use assets - / - 688,939 688,939

Current lease liabilities 3,712 72,755 76,467

Non-current lease liabilities 26,873 591,814 618,687

10.2  New Standards and Interpretations that have no effects on the consolidated financial 
statements for 2019 

The following Standards and Interpretations were to be applied by the Group for the first time or in amended 
form in the reporting year. However, they had no effects on the present consolidated financial statements. At the 
current time, however, it is not possible to make statements regarding their effects on future transactions or 
agreements.

Amendments to IFRS 9 “Prepayment features with negative compensation”: These amendments to IFRS 9 allow 
reporting entities to measure certain financial assets featuring negative compensation upon early repayment at 
amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income. These assets would otherwise be measured 
at fair value through profit or loss. In order to qualify for measurement at amortized cost, the negative compen-
sation must represent an appropriate fee for the early termination of the contract.

IFRIC Interpretation 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments”: This Interpretation explains how deferred and 
current income tax assets and liabilities are to be accounted for and measured according to IAS 12 when there is 
uncertainty regarding their tax treatment. Estimates and assumptions such as whether an estimate is made 
 separately or together with other uncertainties, whether a probable or expected value is applied for the uncer-
tainty, and whether there have been changes compared to the prior period must be made for recognition and 
measurement purposes. Detection risk is insignificant for the accounting treatment of uncertain items of the 
statement of financial position. The accounting treatment is decided under the assumption that the tax authori-
ties will examine the issue in question and will have full knowledge of all relevant information when doing so. The 
aforementioned estimates, assumptions and discretionary judgments must be disclosed in the notes to the 
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 financial statements. In addition, the potential effects on the uncertainty as a tax-related contingent liability 
 according to IAS 12.88 must be disclosed. 

Amendments to IAS 28 “Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures”: The amendments include the 
following: (1) An additional paragraph 14A was added in order to clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9, including the 
provisions governing impairment, to long-term interests in an associate or joint venture that are part of the net 
investment in this associate or joint venture, but are not accounted for using the equity method, (2) paragraph 41 
was deleted, since in the opinion of the Board it only repeated provisions from IFRS 9 and contributed to the lack 
of clarity regarding the accounting treatment of long-term interests. 

Amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”: The amendments to IAS 19 include rules for the accounting treat-
ment of plan amendments, curtailments and settlements. Reporting entities must use updated actuarial 
 assumptions and the net liability value or net asset value at the time when changes are made to the plan for 
determining the current service cost and the net interest for the period after a plan amendment, curtailment 
or settlement. The effects of changes in the asset ceiling are recognized in other comprehensive income. 

The following IASB accounting rules (Amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11, IAS 12 and IAS 23) are part of the Annual 
Improvements to IFRSs 2015 – 2018 Cycle and have been amended accordingly. 

Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”: When an entity obtains control within the meaning of IFRS 10 of 
a business that is a joint operation by purchasing additional interests in that business, the transaction is a succes-
sive business combination and the previously held interests must be remeasured.  

Amendments to IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements”: If an entity obtains joint control of a business that was previously 
a  joint operation by purchasing additional shares, it does not remeasure the previously held interests in that 
 business. 

Amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes”: The amendments clarify that all income tax consequences of dividend 
payments must be treated in the same way as the profits on which the dividends are based.  

Amendments to IAS 23 “Borrowing Costs”: The amendments clarify that borrowing costs on funds borrowed 
 specifically in connection with the acquisition of qualifying assets are not to be included in the calculation of the 
capitalization rate on funds that an entity borrows generally for the acquisition of qualifying assets until the 
 related asset is ready for its intended use.

10.3  New Standards and Interpretations that were applied early to the consolidated 
 financial statements for 2019 
AURELIUS did not apply ahead of time any IFRS that had already been published and adopted and recognized 
by the EU, the application of which was not required at December 31, 2019. 

10.4 New Standards and Interpretations that have not yet been applied 
AURELIUS will apply amended or newly issued Standards and Interpretations as of the respectively required dates, 
provided that they will have been adopted into European Union law by such times.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 “Definition of Material”: The amendments establish a uniform and precise 
 definition of materiality of information in the financial statements and provide illustrative examples. In this 
context, the definitions from the Conceptual Framework, IAS 1, IAS 8 and the IFRS Practice Statement 2 have 
been harmonized. The amendments are to be applied for the first time as of January 1, 2020. Earlier application 
is permitted and the amendments have already been transposed into EU law. 
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Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards: The revised Conceptual Framework 
consists of a new, introductory explanation “Status and purpose of the conceptual framework” and eight 
 c ompletely included chapters. It now includes chapters on “The reporting entity” and “Presentation and disclo-
sure”; “Derecognition” was added to the “Recognition” chapter. In addition, certain contents were amended: For 
 example, the distinction between “income” and “revenues” on the one hand and “gains” on the other hand is 
explained. The revised Conceptual Framework entails adjustments of the references to the Conceptual Frame-
work in  various. These amendments have already been transposed into EU law.  

IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”: IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4 and establishes uniform principles for the recognition, meas-
urement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts, reinsurance contracts and investment contracts 
with discretionary profit participation features. According to the measurement model of IFRS 17, groups of insur-
ance contracts are measured on the basis of the expected value of discounted cash flows with an explicit risk 
adjustment for non-financial risks and a contractual service margin that represents the unearned profit to be 
recognized as services are delivered. The changes in the liability for insurance coverage protection for which the 
insurance company receives consideration, and part of the premiums that cover the insurance acquisition costs is 
presented as insurance revenue instead of the premium revenue in every period. Cash inflows and outflows from 
savings components are not recognized as revenue or income and expense in the statement of comprehensive 
income. Insurance finance income and expenses result from discounting effects and financial risks. They can be 
recognized for each portfolio either as income or expense in the statement of comprehensive income or in other 
comprehensive income. Modifications of the assumptions that do not pertain to interest or finance risks are not 
recognized directly in the statement of comprehensive income, but are deducted from the contractual service 
margin and therefore recognized over the period when the services are provided. Changes in estimates are recog-
nized directly only in the case of onerous groups of insurance contracts. IFRS 17 specifies an approximation method 
for short-term contracts, under which the liability for insurance coverage is measured as the amount of premiums 
received, as before. Under IFRS 17, liabilities under claims that have been filed but not yet adjusted are to be dis-
counted at the current interest rates in every case. IFRS 17 modifies the general measurement model for large 
parts of life insurance contracts with profit participation features in that changes in the shareholders’ share of 
the development of the profit sources on which the profit participation is based are recognized in the contractual 
service margin and distributed over the remaining period when the services are provided. Subject to transposition 
into EU law, IFRS 17 is applicable in reporting periods that begin on or after January 1, 2021. Earlier application is 
permitted. If retroactive application is not possible, the contractual service margin can be determined at the tran-
sition date on the basis of a modified retroactive method or by comparing the expected value of discounted cash 
flows and risk adjustment with the fair value at the transition date. The new Standard has not yet been trans-
posed into EU law. Earlier application is permitted.

Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”: The amendments clarify that to be considered a business, an 
acquired set of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that to-
gether significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The amendments also adjust the definitions of a 
business and of outputs, and add new guidance and illustrative examples to help entities assess whether a sub-
stantive process has been acquired. Additionally, they remove the assessment of whether market participants 
are capable of replacing any missing inputs or processes and continuing to produce outputs. Finally, they add an 
optional concentration test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and 
assets is not a business. The amendments are applicable in reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2020. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments have not yet been adopted into EU law.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 “Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture”: The amendments address a known inconsistency between the requirements of IFRS 10 and those of IAS 
28 (2011) when assets are sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. Under IFRS 10, a parent company 
must recognize the full gain or loss on the sale of a subsidiary in the statement of comprehensive income when 

116 I   AU RELI US A N N UA L  R E P O RT



N OT E S  TO  T H E  CO N S O L I DAT E D  F I N A N C I A L  STAT E M E N T S

the possibility of control is lost. By contrast, the currently applicable IAS 28.28 requires that the gain or loss on sale 
transactions between an investor and an investee accounted for at equity – whether an associate or a joint ven-
ture – is only to be recognized in the amount of the share held by others in this company. In the future, the full 
gain or loss on a transaction will only be recognized if the sold or contributed assets constitute a business accord-
ing to the definition of IFRS 3. This will apply regardless of whether the transaction is designed as a share deal or 
an asset deal. If, on the other hand, the assets do not constitute a business, only the pro-rated gain or loss may be 
recognized. The IASB has deferred the first-time application date for these amendments indefinitely.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform”: The amendments are based on exist-
ing uncertainties related to the Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (IBOR). Under the existing hedge accounting 
rules, the pending changes in benchmark interest rates would have led to the termination of hedging relation-
ships in many cases. Under these amendments, hedge accounting can be continued for existing hedging relation-
ships for a transitional period. To this end, the amendments allow selectively mandatory exemptions from the 
previous hedge accounting rules such as the assessment of the “highly probable” criterion for expected transac-
tions within the scope of cash flow hedges. Subject to transposition into EU law, the amendments are applicable 
in reporting periods that begin on or after January 1, 2020. Earlier application of the amendments is permitted, 
although EU endorsement is a fundamental prerequisite.
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11. Significant accounting policies 

The separate financial statements of the associates included in consolidation were consolidated on the uni-
form basis of the accounting policies applied at AURELIUS. The accounting policies, as well as the explanations 
and notes to the consolidated financial statements according to IFRS for financial year 2019, differ from the 
 accounting policies applied in the 2018 consolidated financial statements mainly as a result of the introduction 
of IFRS 16 Leases, which the Group has applied since January 1, 2019. Other Standards applicable since January 1, 
2019 and revised IFRSs to be applied in the EU did not lead to significant changes in the reporting period. Unless 
otherwise indicated, the policies applied in 2018 were applied continuously in the two reporting periods 
 covered in this report.

The principal accounting policies of AURELIUS that were applied in the present financial statements or are 
 important for understanding the financial statements are described in the following. An accounting policy can 
be material due to the type of entrepreneurial activity, even if the amounts are not material in the current pe-
riod or earlier periods. When making the decision as to whether a particular method must be disclosed, the 
management must consider whether such a statement makes it easier for the reader to understand how the 
transaction as well as other events and conditions are reflected in the Company’s financial position, cash flows 
and financial performance. AURELIUS’s management considers it useful for the reader of the statement of 
 financial position particularly when a method is selected from a number of methods permitted by a Standard 
or an Interpretation.

Certain comparative amounts in the statement of comprehensive income have been reclassified or adjusted 
due to the discontinuation of operations in financial year 2019. This applies mainly to the portfolio companies 
SOLIDUS, the GHOTEL Group and the Scandinavian Cosmetics Group. 

11.1  Consolidation
11.1.1 Acquisitions of subsidiaries 
The capital consolidation of subsidiaries is conducted by application of the acquisition method according to 
IFRS 3 in conjunction with IFRS 10, by netting the acquisition cost with the fair value of the acquired assets, 
 liabilities and contingent liabilities at the acquisition date. The acquisition cost of a purchase is equal to the fair 
value of the assets transferred, the equity instruments issued and the liabilities incurred or assumed at the 
acquisition date. The fair values of assets and liabilities under contingent consideration agreements, known as 
earn-outs, are likewise included, in exchange for control of the acquired company.

The acquired identifiable assets and assumed liabilities are measured at fair value. The following exceptions 
apply in this context:

■■ Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities and assets or liabilities in conjunction with agreements for 
employee benefits are recognized and measured according to IAS 12 and IAS 19. 

■■ Liabilities and equity instruments that relate to share-based payment or substitution for share-based 
 payment by the Group are measured at the acquisition date according to IFRS 2. 

■■ Assets or disposal groups that are classified as assets held for sale or discontinued operations are measured 
according to this IFRS Standard.

Any excess of net assets measured at fair value over the acquisition cost (goodwill) is recognized as goodwill. If 
the acquisition costs are less than the proportional share of the acquired portfolio company’s net assets meas-
ured at fair value (bargain purchases), the matter is first reviewed again and any remaining difference is recog-
nized directly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (gains on bargain purchases). 
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The non-controlling interests of other shareholders that currently convey ownership rights and grant the 
holder the right in case of liquidation to receive a proportional share of the net assets of AURELIUS are meas-
ured at fair value or at the corresponding share of the recognized assets and liabilities upon acquisition and 
recognized in equity. This option can be exercised anew for each business combination. If other components of 
non-controlling interests exist, they are measured at fair value or by application of the measures of value de-
rived from other Standards.

If the transferred consideration includes contingent consideration, it is measured at the fair value in effect at 
the acquisition date. Changes in the fair value of contingent consideration during the measurement period are 
corrected retroactively and applied in the same amounts to goodwill or gains on bargain purchases. These ret-
roactive changes during the measurement period are only applied when the Group has gained better knowl-
edge of the factors and circumstances in effect at the respective acquisition dates. However, the measurement 
period is not permitted to exceed one year after the acquisition date. Recognition of changes in the fair value 
of contingent consideration that do not represent corrections during the measurement period depends on 
how the contingent consideration is classified. If it is classified as equity, subsequent measurement does not 
occur on successive reporting dates because the settlement is recognized in equity. If the contingent consider-
ation is an asset or a liability, then measurement occurs on successive reporting dates pursuant to IAS 37 or IFRS 
9 and any resulting profit or less is recognized in the Group’s statement of comprehensive income.

In the case of step acquisitions, the shares already held at the time when the company attains control are 
remeasured at the new acquisition date. Any gain or loss arising from the restatement is recognized in profit or 
loss. Changes in the value of the equity shares previously held in the acquired company recognized in other 
comprehen-sive income before the acquisition date are reclassified in the statement of comprehensive income 
if AURELIUS attains control of the acquired company.

If the initial recognition of a business combination under IFRS 3 has not been finally concluded at the end of the 
financial year, AURELIUS indicates provisional amounts for the corresponding items. If new information that il-
luminates the circumstances at the acquisition date becomes known during the measurement period, the 
amounts recognized on a provisional basis are corrected or additional assets or liabilities are recognized if nec-
essary.

11.1.2 Subsidiaries
As a general rule, all domestic and foreign companies that are controlled by AURELIUS SE are included in the con-
solidated financial statements at December 31, 2019, in addition to AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA. 
According to IFRS 10.7, the investor controls an investee if and only if the following criteria are met:

■■ The investor has power over the investee,
■■ The investor is exposed to risk in the form of, inter alia, variable returns from its involvement with the 

 investee,
■■ The investor uses its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.

 
AURELIUS carries out a new assessment of whether an investee is or is not controlled when facts and circum-
stances indicate that one or more of the three control criteria listed above have changed.

If the Company does not hold a majority of voting rights, an investee is nevertheless controlled if the Company 
has the practical possibility of unilaterally directing the primary activities of the portfolio company by exercising 
its voting rights. In assessing whether its voting rights are sufficient for the decision-making power, AURELIUS 
takes all facts and circumstances into account, including:
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■■ The extent of the Company’s voting rights in relation to the extent and distribution of the voting rights of 
other holders of voting rights, 

■■ Potential voting rights of the Company, other shareholders, other holders of voting rights, and other parties, 
■■ Rights from other contractual relationships, and
■■ Additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company does or does not have the present pos-

sibility of directing the primary activities at those dates on which decisions must be made, taking into 
account the voting behavior at earlier shareholder or general meetings. 

 
As a general rule, subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements by way of full consolidation 
from the time when the Group obtains control of or the ability to control the subsidiary. They are deconsoli-
dated at the date when the Group no longer has control or the ability to control, meaning that the Group 
derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, as well as any shares of other non-controlling share-
holders and other elements of the subsidiary’s equity, at this date. The profit or loss and every component of 
other comprehensive income must be attributed to the shareholders of AURELIUS and the interests of other 
shareholders. This also applies if the non-controlling interests show a negative balance.

Revenues, other income and expenses, receivables, liabilities and provisions between fully consolidated 
 companies, as well as intermediate profits on internal transactions within the Group that are not generated on 
 sales to third parties, are completely eliminated in consolidation process. The results of companies that are 
fully consolidated or deconsolidated for the first time in the past financial year are included in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income from the date when the power to control the respective companies is 
obtained or lost, respectively.

The shares of Group equity and the share of the period profit or loss and comprehensive income that are 
 attributable to non-controlling interests are presented separately from the shares attributable to shareholders 
of AURELIUS. 

The separate financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared by application of uniform accounting poli-
cies, as are the separate financial statements of the parent company. If necessary, the separate financial state-
ments of the subsidiaries are adjusted accordingly in order to align the accounting policies with the methods 
used in the Group.

11.1.3 Changes in the percentage of equity held in existing subsidiaries 
Changes in the percentage of equity held by the Group in portfolio companies that do not lead to a loss of 
 control over such companies are recognized as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the shares held by 
the Group and the non-controlling interests are adjusted in such a way that they reflect the changes in the 
proportional percentages in the subsidiaries. Every difference between the amount by which the non-con-
trolling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is immediately recognized 
in equity and attributed to the shareholders of AURELIUS.

When AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA loses control over a portfolio company, the remaining eq-
uity share is revalued at fair value and the resulting difference is recognized as deconsolidation profit or loss in 
the statement of comprehensive income. The deconsolidation result is calculated as the difference between:

■■ The total amount of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of the retained shares, 
and

■■ The carrying amount of the assets including any possible goodwill, the liabilities of the subsidiary, and all 
non-controlling interests. 
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In addition, all amounts presented within the item of other comprehensive income in relation to the respective 
company are accounted for in the manner that would be required if the parent company had directly sold the 
corresponding assets and liabilities. As a result, any profit or loss that had formerly been recognized in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss for the period.

If AURELIUS retains shares in the former portfolio company, they are measured at the fair value determined at 
the date of loss of control. This value represents the acquisition costs of the shares, which are measured ac-
cording to IFRS 9 or the rules applicable to associates or joint venture, depending on the degree of control in 
subsequent periods. 

11.1.4 Associates and joint ventures
Companies over which AURELIUS can exert significant influence (associates), but which it cannot control, and 
companies over which AURELIUS shares control, directly or indirectly, with another company (joint ventures), are 
accounted for by the equity method in accordance with IAS 28. Significant influence is the power to participate in 
the financial and operating policy decisions of the company in which the investment is held. In this case, AURELIUS 
has neither control nor joint control of those policies. A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties 
that have joint control of the arrangement have joint rights to the net assets of the arrangement. Joint control is 
the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about on the 
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. If an associate and/or joint ven-
ture is classified as available for sale, the provisions of IFRS 5 are taken into account.

In such cases, AURELIUS generally holds between 20 and 50 percent of the voting rights. Upon initial recognition, 
such companies are measured at acquisition cost; in subsequent periods, the carrying amount is increased or de-
creased by the share of the associate’s or joint venture’s profit or loss and/or the share of the associate’s or joint 
venture’s other comprehensive income attributable to AURELIUS, less dividends paid to AURELIUS and any impair-
ments. Losses of an associate or joint venture that exceed the Group’s interest in this company are not recognized. 
They are only recognized if AURELIUS has entered into legal or constructive obligations to assume the losses and/
or makes payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or joint venture is accounted for using the equity method beginning with the date 
on which the requirements for this classification are met. Any excess of the cost of the investment over the ac-
quired share of the fair values of the identified assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recognized as good-
will. Goodwill is not tested separately for impairment, but is part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any 
excess of the Group’s share of the fair values of the identified assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the 
cost of the acquired interest (bargain purchase) is recognized immediately as income after revaluation.

The rules of IFRS 9 are applied to determine whether indications exist that the shares in associates or joint ven-
tures are impaired. If an impairment test must be carried out, the carrying amount of the investment including 
any goodwill is tested for impairment according to the rules of IAS 36. For this purpose, the recoverable amount, 
i.e. the higher of the value in use or the fair value less costs to sell of the investment, are compared with the net 
carrying amount. The determined need for impairment is set off against the carrying amount of the investment. 
The impairment loss is not allocated to the carrying amount of the assets contained in the share, including good-
will. If the recoverable amount increases again in subsequent periods, the impairment is reversed in accordance 
with IAS 36.

There is no listed market price in an active market for the companies accounted for at equity in the consolidated 
financial statements of AURELIUS. As a general rule, the accounting policies of associates are adjusted to reflect 
the uniform, Group-wide accounting policies of AURELIUS, so as to ensure uniform Group-wide accounting.
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If the investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, AURELIUS continues to 
apply the equity method and does not remeasure the investment at fair value due to the change in the nature of 
the investment. If as the percentage of equity held by the Group in an associate or joint venture company changes, 
but the Group continues to apply the equity method, the share of the profit or loss previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income that is attributable to the reduction of the percentage of equity held is reclassified to 
profit or loss if this gain or loss would have to be reclassified to profit or loss if the related assets and liabilities 
were sold.

Gains and losses on transactions between Group companies and associates or joint ventures are eliminated in the 
amount of the proportional share of equity held in the joint venture.

11.1.5 Joint operations
A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 
rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the management. Joint control is the contractually 
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities 
 require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. If a Group company carries out activities in the 
context of a joint operation, AURELIUS as the joint venturer recognizes the following items in connection with its 
share in the operation:

■■ Its assets, including the share of any assets held jointly;
■■ its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly,
■■ its revenues from the sale of its share of the output of the joint operation;
■■ its share of the revenues from the sale of the output of the joint operation; and
■■ its expenses, including its share of jointly incurred expenses.

 
The Group recognizes its share of the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses from the joint operation in accord-
ance with the IFRS rules applicable to these assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

In case of transactions such as the sale of assets by a Group company, profits and losses are only recognized in the 
amount of the Group’s share in the joint operation upon resale of the assets to third parties.

11.2 Revenue recognition  
For revenue recognition and measurement, the AURELIUS Group systematically applies the five-step model for 
customer contracts: (i) identification of contracts with customers, (ii) identification of separate performance 
obligations, (iii) determination of the transaction price, (iv) allocation of the transaction price to separate per-
formance obligations, and (v) revenue recognition when or as the corresponding performance obligations are 
satisfied. 

AURELIUS recognizes revenues when the control of distinct goods or services is transferred to the customer, 
meaning that the customer has the ability to direct the use of and obtain substantially all the remaining benefits 
from the transferred goods or services. The preconditions for this are the conclusion of a contract with enforcea-
ble rights and obligations and the probable receipt of consideration. The revenues are equal to the transaction 
price to which AURELIUS is expected to be entitled. Variable consideration is included in the transaction price 
when it is highly probable that its inclusion will not result in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the 
uncertainty has been subsequently resolved. The amount of variable consideration is determined either on the 
basis of experience values or as the most probable amount, depending on which value represents the most accu-
rate estimate of the variable consideration. 
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If the period of time between the transfer of goods and services and the payment date exceeds twelve months 
and a significant benefit for the customer or AURELIUS results from the financing, the consideration is adjusted 
for the time value of money. When a contract provides for multiple distinct goods or services, the transaction 
price is allocated to the performance obligations on the basis of the relative standalone selling prices. If stan-
dalone selling prices are not directly observable, AURELIUS estimates them on the basis of appropriate methods. 
Revenues are recognized for each performance obligation either at a certain point in time or over a certain period 
of time.

However, the sales tax or other kinds of tax are deducted from revenues only when AURELIUS is not the economic 
tax debtor, as in the case of pass-through taxes. Revenues between Group companies are eliminated.

11.2.1 Sales of goods
As a general rule, revenues from sales of goods are recognized when control of a good passes to a customer. The 
transfer of control includes all rights to the good. It includes the ability of the customer to obtain benefits from 
the good, including all the cash flows generated by the good during the rest of its useful life. 

Distinct goods of a product bundle are identified as separate performance obligations. In that case, the transac-
tion price is allocated to the performance obligations on the basis of relative standalone selling prices and any 
identified variable consideration is likewise allocated to the separate performance obligations. The amount of 
variable consideration is determined either on the basis of experience values or as the most probable amount 
that AURELIUS can expect to receive for the transfer of goods. 

The Group generates revenues from multi-component contracts only to an insignificant degree.

11.2.2 Provision of services
Revenues from the provision of services are recognized as soon as control passes to the customer and the deter-
mination has been made as to whether the services are provided at a certain point in time or over a certain period 
of time. Control is transferred over a certain period of time if

■■ the customer simultaneously receives and consumes all of the benefits of the service as it is provided, 
■■ the service creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created, or 
■■ the service does not create an asset with an alternative use to AURELIUS and AURELIUS has a legal claim to 

payment for services already provided.

Revenues from services provided over a certain period of time are recognized according to the progress of 
 performance. AURELIUS employs both input-oriented and output-oriented methods to measure the progress of 
performance. Output-oriented methods are based on measurement by reference to completed milestones, 
percentage of time expended or unites produced and delivered. By contrast, input-oriented methods are based 
on the percentage of inputs already provided by AURELIUS (e.g. cost-to-cost method).

AURELIUS applies the method that faithfully reflects the transfer of control. Selected methods are applied 
 uniformly to similar performance obligations. At the end of every reporting period, the progress of satisfaction of 
the performance obligation is determined anew on the basis of the selected method. 

When one of the parties to the contract with the customer has performed its contractual obligations, a  contract 
asset, a contract liability or a receivable is recognized, depending on the relationship between the provision of 
service by AURELIUS and payment by the customer. Contract assets and liabilities are presented as current assets 
and liabilities if they are due within twelve months or the customary business cycle. 
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Receivables are recognized when the claim to payment of consideration is no longer subject to any conditions. 
Impairments of contract assets and receivables to account for credit standing risks are recognized on the basis 
of the measurement method applied for receivables (see Note 11.12.4.).

If a service is not provided over a period of time, revenues are recognized after the transfer of control.

11.2.3 Usage fees
Income from usage fees (licenses) is recognized on a period accrual basis, at a point in time or over a period of 
time, in accordance with the provisions of the underlying contract. For this purpose, AURELIUS determines 
whether the license conveys the right to use intellectual property over the entire period of time or only at the 
time when the license is granted. The precondition for revenue recognition over a period of time is that essen-
tial activities are undertaken to influence or modify the intellectual property. Revenues from revenue-based or 
usage-based licenses are recognized at the later of the following times: (i) the time when the subsequent sale 
of the licensee is effected or the subsequent use occurs, or (ii) the time when the performance obligation is 
completely satisfied. AURELIUS only recognizes revenues when there are no uncertainties concerning the 
amount. 

11.2.4 Dividends and interest income 
Dividend income is recognized when the shareholder’s right to receive the dividend has been legally established, 
as by way of a dividend resolution, for example. This requires that it is probable that the economic benefit will 
accrue to the Group and the amount of the income can be reliably determined. 

Interest income and expenses are recognized in the corresponding period, with due consideration given to the 
outstanding loan amount and the interest rate to be applied in accordance with the effective interest method as 
set forth in IFRS 9. The interest rate to be applied upon initial recognition is the rate that exactly discounts the 
estimated future cash payments and receipts through the life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of 
the asset.

11.3 Income taxes
Total income tax expenses are calculated as the sum of current tax expenses and deferred taxes. Both types of 
tax expenses are recognized as expenses in the statement of comprehensive income, unless they are imposed on 
items that are recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income, in which case the corresponding 
taxes are also recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. When current or  deferred taxes 
arise from the initial recognition of a business combination, the tax effects are included in the accounting treat-
ment of the business combination.

11.3.1 Current taxes
For the purpose of measuring current German taxes, a uniform corporate income tax rate of 15 percent is applied 
to distributed and retained earnings and a solidarity surtax rate of 5.5 percent is applied to that amount. That 
yields a tax rate of 15.83 percent. In addition, the German trade tax is imposed on profits earned in Germany. The 
trade tax is based on the assessment rates of the various municipalities and the basic federal rate, which is a flat 
rate of 3.5 percent according to the business tax reform of 2008 in Section 11 (2) GewStG. Trade tax varies based on 
the different assessment rates applied by municipalities, but is stated in the consolidated financial statements of 
AURELIUS at the tax rate of the German parent company of 8.4 percent.

The profits earned by the non-German Group companies are calculated on the basis of the national tax laws 
 applicable in each country and taxed at the tax rates in effect in those countries. The country-specific tax rates 
range from five to 35 percent. The Group tax of approximately 24 percent is based on the tax rate of the German 
parent company since this is the most appropriate rate for the purposes of informing the users of the financial 
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statements. Current tax expenses are calculated on the basis of the taxable income for the year. Taxable income 
differs from the net profit presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as a result of the 
expenses and income that will not be taxable or tax-exempt in later years, or ever. The Group’s liability for current 
taxes is calculated on the basis of the tax rates currently in effect or to be in effect in the near future.

11.3.2 Deferred taxes
Deferred tax liabilities in respect of temporary differences related to the Group’s investments in subsidiaries and 
associates are recognized in the consolidated financial statements, unless the Group is able to control the timing 
of reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future, based on the control exerted by the Group. Deferred taxes are also only recognized to the ex-
tent that it is likely that sufficient taxable income will be available with which the claims arising from the tempo-
rary differences can be utilized.

Deferred taxes represent the tax liabilities or assets expected to result from differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements according to IFRS and the tax bases of those assets 
and liabilities. The liability method, which is oriented to the statement of financial position, is applied for that 
purpose. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized in respect of all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax 
assets to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available in the future for which the deductible 
temporary differences can be utilized. Such deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if 
the temporary differences from goodwill or from the initial recognition (except with respect to business combina-
tions under IFRS 3) of other assets and liabilities arise as a result of events that affect neither taxable income nor 
the annual financial statements.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities should be netted when the conditions of IAS 12 are met, that is, 
when the reporting entity has a legal right to settle on a net basis and when the deferred tax assets and deferred 
tax liabilities refer to income taxes that are levied by the same taxing authority on the same entity or on different 
entities that intend to recover the asset and settle the liability at the same time.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed every year at the reporting date and adjustments are 
made when necessary. Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax rates that apply or are expected to 
apply when the liability is settled or the asset is recovered, based on tax laws that have been enacted as of the 
reporting date. The measured value of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences of the 
manner in which AURELIUS expects as of the reporting date to settle the liability or recover the asset. As a general 
rule, deferred taxes are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income, except in the case of items that 
are recognized directly in equity.

11.4 Foreign currency
The items presented in the present consolidated financial statements are measured on the basis of the currency 
of the primary economic environment, also known as the functional currency. It is the currency in which the 
 respective company operates. By reason of the financial, economic and organizational autonomy of the foreign 
subsidiaries, the functional currency is identical to the national currency in nearly all cases. 

By contrast, the consolidated financial statements are denominated in euros, as the functional currency of 
 AURELIUS SE. Unless otherwise stated, all figures are presented in euro thousands (kEUR).

The items presented in the statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of all 
Group companies that have a different functional currency than the Group’s reporting currency are translated to 
the reporting currency as follows:
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■■ Assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate on the respective reporting date, while equity is 
translated at historical exchange rates.

■■ The income and expenses presented in the statement of comprehensive income are translated at the 
 average exchange rate.

■■ Currency translation differences are recognized in equity, in a separate sub-item within the other reserves.
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated at the exchange rate at the transaction date. The profits and los-
ses arising on such transactions and on currency translation at the reporting date of monetary assets and liabi-
lities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income, unless they 
are to be recognized in other comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net invest-
ment hedges.

Foreign currency gains and losses resulting from the translation of cash and cash equivalents and financial liabili-
ties are presented in the statement of comprehensive income within the item of net financial income/expenses, 
affecting net income. All other foreign currency gains and losses are presented in the statement of comprehen-
sive income within the item of other income or other expenses.

The exchange rates applied for currency translation are presented in the table below (equivalent to 1 euro). Where 
no prior-year exchange rates are presented, the corresponding currencies were necessary to the Group for the 
first time in the current year or for the last time in the past financial year:

2019 2019 2018 2018

1 Euro Currency code
Exchange 

rate at the 
 reporting date

Average 
 exchange rate

Exchange 
rate at the 

 reporting date

Average 
 exchange rate

Australia AUD 1.5995 1.6106 1.6220 1.5799

Brazil BRL 4.5157 4.4135 - / - - / -

Bulgaria BGN 1.9558 1.9558 - / - - / -

Chile CLP 843.2400 786.3539 - / - - / -

Costa Rica CRC - / - - / - 696.3788 677.9661

Denmark DKK 7.4715 7.4661 7.4673 7.4532

United Kingdom GBP 0.8508 0.8773 0.8945 0.8847

Hong Kong HKD 8.7473 8.7724 8.9675 9.2599

India INR 80.1860 78.8519 79.7321 80.7298

Canada CAD 1.4598 1.4857 - / - - / -

Malaysia MYR 4.5953 4.6372 4.7317 4.7642

Mexico MXN 21.2202 21.5573 22.4921 22.7159

Norway NOK 9.8638 9.8497 9.9483 9.6006

Poland PLN 4.2568 4.2975 4.3014 4.2606

Romania RON 4.7830 4.7457 4.6635 4.6540

Russia RUB 69.9545 72.4585 79.7130 74.0576

Sweden SEK 10.4468 10.5866 10.2548 10.2567

Switzerland CHF 1.0854 1.1127 1.1269 1.1549

Singapore SGD 1.5111 1.5272 1.5591 1.5928

South Africa ZAR 15.7774 16.1731 16.4593 15.6133

South Korea KRW 1,297.0169 1,305.4830 - / - - / -
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Thailand THB 33.4146 34.7645 37.0521 38.1636

Czech Republic CZK 25.4078 25.6700 25.7241 25.6430

Turkey TRY 6.6615 6.3599 6.0588 5.6986

Hungary HUF 330.5785 325.2033 321.0273 318.7759

USA USD 1.1234 1.1196 1.1450 1.1815

United Arab Emirates AED 4.1189 4.1120 - / - - / -

People’s Republic of China CNY 7.8205 7.7339 7.8751 7.8074

 
For the sale of a foreign operation (a subsidiary, an associate, a joint venture or a branch office whose activities are 
located in a country outside of Germany), all accumulated translation adjustments attributable to the Group 
from this business operation are reclassified to profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive in-
come. The following transactions are regarded as the sale of a foreign operation:

■■ Sale of the Group’s entire share of a foreign operation,
■■ Partial sale with loss of control of a foreign subsidiary, or
■■ Partial sale of an investment in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation.

 
If parts of a portfolio company that includes a foreign operation are sold without a loss of control, the share in 
amount of translation adjustments attributable to the part of the company that has been sold are attributed to 
the non-controlling interests from the disposal date. By contrast, in the case of a partial sale of interests in an 
 associate or joint arrangement without a change in status, the corresponding share of the amount of translation 
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of a foreign operation and adjustments to the fair values of the identifiable 
assets and liabilities are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the exchange 
rate on the reporting date. Resulting translation differences are recognized in the currency translation reserve.

None of the currencies used within the Group are the currencies of hyperinflationary economies within the 
 meaning of IAS 29.

11.5 Earnings per share
In accordance with the provisions of IAS 33, basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the consolidated 
profit after taxes to which the shareholders of the parent company are entitled by the weighted average number 
of shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted earnings per share are presented when the Group has 
issued equity instruments that could lead to a higher number of shares in the future, in addition to the common 
and preferred shares outstanding at the given reporting date. Diluted earnings per share are calculated using the 
assumption that all potentially diluting securities and share-based compensation plans will be converted or exer-
cised.

11.6 Research and development costs 
Costs incurred in connection with the attainment of new technical and/or scientific knowledge (research activi-
ties) are always recognized as expenses in the full amount. On the other hand, costs of development activities, 
meaning activities by means of which research results are implemented in the form of a plan and/or a prototype 
for the production of new or substantially improved products or processes must be capitalized. The necessary 
preconditions for recognizing an internally generated intangible asset resulting from the development activity or 
from the development phase of an internal project are the following: (1) The costs attributable to the develop-
ment of the intangible asset can be measured reliably; (2) The research phase can be distinguished from the 
 development phase; (3) The technical and commercial feasibility has been established, so that the asset can be 
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made ready for use or sale; (4) The reporting entity is able and has the intention to use or sell the asset; (5) Suffi-
cient technical, financial and other resources are available to complete the development phase; and (6) The inflow 
of future economic benefits is probable.

Capitalizable costs include all directly allocable costs required to create, produce and prepare the asset for its in-
tended use. As a general rule, that includes material costs, manufacturing wages and directly allocable overhead 
costs. All other development costs are recognized as expenses.

The amount at which an internally generated intangible asset is measured upon initial recognition represents the 
sum of costs incurred from the date on which the intangible asset fulfills the above-mentioned conditions for the 
first time. If an internally generated intangible asset cannot be capitalized, or if there is no intangible asset, the 
development costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Capitalized development costs are presented in the statement of changes in non-current assets within the item 
of “Other intangible assets.” They are measured at historical production cost, less accumulated amortization and 
accumulated impairments from subsequent periods.

11.7 Leases – Methodology as of January 1, 2019
The Group applied IFRS 16 in accordance with the modified retrospective approach and therefore did not adjust 
the comparative information, but presented it in accordance with IAS 17 und IFRIC 4 as before. The details of the 
accounting methods according to IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 are presented separately. The Group determines whether a 
contract constitutes or contains a lease relationship at the commencement date. This is the case when the 
 contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset over a definite period of time in exchange for 
consideration. The Group applies the definition of a lease according to IFRS 16 in determining whether a contract 
conveys the right to use an identified asset.

This method is applied to contracts concluded on or after January 1, 2019.

11.7.1 Lessee
The Group recognizes an asset for the granted right of use and a lease liability at the commencement date. The 
right-of-use asset is initially measured at the cost corresponding to the initial measurement of the lease liability, 
adjusted for payments made on or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs and the esti-
mated costs of disassembly or removal of the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or location 
where it is located, minus any lease incentives received.

In subsequent periods, the right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis from the commencement date 
to the end of the lease term unless ownership of the underlying asset is transferred to the Group at the end of the 
lease term or the costs of the right-of-use asset are determined on the assumption that the Group will exercise a 
purchase option. In this case, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the duration of use of the underlying asset, 
which is determined in accordance with the principles applied for property, plant and equipment. In addition, the 
right-of-use asset is continually adjusted for impairments, where necessary, and for certain remeasurements of 
the lease liability.
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The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments not yet made at the commence-
ment date, discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease, or if that cannot be readily determined, at the 
Group’s incremental borrowing rate. The Group normally applies its incremental borrowing rate as the discount 
rate.

To determine its incremental borrowing rate, the Group obtains interest rates from various external financing 
sources and makes certain adjustments to account for the lease terms and the type of asset in question.

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise: 

■■ Fixed payments, including de facto fixed payments; 
■■ Variable lease payments that are tied to an index or (interest) rate, measured initially with reference to the 

valid index or (interest) rate at the commencement date;
■■ Amounts expected to be payable on the basis of a residual value guarantee; and 
■■ The exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is sufficiently certain that it will exercise it, lease 
■■ Payments for a renewal option if the Group is sufficiently certain that it will exercise it, and
■■ Penalty payments for early termination of the lease unless the Group is sufficiently certain that it will not 

terminate the lease ahead of term.
 
The lease liability is measured at the amortized carrying amount by application of the effective interest method. 
It is remeasured if (1) the future lease payments change as a result of a change in the index or (interest) rate, (2) if 
the Group adjusts its estimate of expected payments on the basis of a residual guarantee, (3) if the Group changes 
its expectation of exercising a purchase, renewal or termination option, or if a de facto fixed lease payment 
changes.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of 
the right-of-use asset or the adjustment is recognized in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use 
asset has been reduced to zero. 

The Group recognizes right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property within the item 
of Property, plant and equipment in the statement of financial position. Lease liabilities are presented as a sepa-
rate item in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

The Group has decided not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases for low-value assets and 
for short-term leases, including for IT equipment. The Group recognizes the lease payments associated with these 
leases as expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the leases.

11.7.2 Lessor
Upon commencement or when a contract that contains a lease component changes, the Group allocates the 
contractually agreed consideration on the basis of relative standalone prices. When the Group acts as the lessor, 
it classifies the lease as either a finance lease or an operating lease at the commencement of each lease. 

The Group classifies each lease on the basis of an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially 
all the risks and rewards incident to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, the lease is classified as 
a finance lease; if not, it is classified as an operating lease. The Group makes this determination on the basis of 
certain indicators, including for example whether the lease covers most of the useful life of the asset. 

The Group recognizes the head lease separately from the sublease when it acts as an intermediate lessor. It 
 classifies the sublease on the basis of its right of use under the head lease and not on the basis of the underlying 
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asset. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the above-mentioned exemption, it 
 classifies the sublease as an operating lease.

If an agreement contains lease and non-lease components, the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the contractually 
agreed consideration. 

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment provisions of IFRS 9 to the net investment in the lease. The 
Group regularly reviews the estimated, non-guaranteed residual values applied in calculating the gross invest-
ment in the lease.

The Group recognizes lease payments under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease 
and presents them within Other expenses.

The accounting methods according to IFRS 16 applied by the Group as lessor are not fundamentally different from 
those applied in the comparison period with the exception of the subleases concluded in the current reporting 
period, which are classified as finance leases. 

11.7.3 Leases – Methodology applied before January 1, 2019
Leases are classified either as finance leases or operating leases. They are classified as finance leases when, by 
virtue of the lease’s contractual terms and conditions, substantially all the risks and awards incident to ownership 
of the leased asset are transferred to the lessee. The primary criteria to be examined for the purpose of classifying 
finance leases are the contractual clauses applicable to the transfer of ownership, the existence of a favorable 
purchase option, the ratio of the lease term to the useful life of the leased asset, the present value of minimum 
lease payments and/or the degree of specialization of the leased assets. Leases that do not transfer substantially 
all the risks and rewards incident to ownership are operating leases.

In the case of finance leases, the company recognizes both an asset and a liability of equal amount, at the begin-
ning of the lease term. This amount is measured as either the fair value of the leased assets or the discounted 
present value of the minimum lease payments, whichever is lower, plus any incidental costs assumed by the 
 lessee. The corresponding liability due to the lessor is presented as an obligation under finance leases in the con-
solidated statement of financial position. The lease payments are apportioned between the interest expenses 
and repayment of the lease obligation in such a way as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
 remaining balance of the liability. Interest expenses are recognized directly in the statement of comprehensive 
income, unless they can be clearly attributed to a qualifying asset. In this case, interest expenses are capitalized as 
borrowing costs in accordance with the Group’s internal guidelines. Contingent lease payments are recognized as 
 expenses in the period in which they occur.

The depreciation methods and useful lives applied to leased assets under finance leases are the same as those 
applied to similar purchased assets. If at the inception of the lease it is not sufficiently certain that ownership will 
be transferred to the lessee, the asset should be depreciated in full over the shorter of the lease term or the useful 
life of the leased asset.

Lease payments under an operating lease are recognized as expenses (rent payments) over the term of the lease. 
Lease payments are generally recognized as expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, unless 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the benefit to the Group. Contingent rent 
payments are recognized as expenses in the period in which they occur.
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11.8 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are added to the acquisition cost only in the case of certain assets known as qualifying assets. 
According to IAS 23.8 ff., borrowing interest costs should be capitalized in full or proportionately when they can 
be attributed directly or indirectly to the funds borrowed for the purpose of financing the acquisition or pro-
duction of the asset. Borrowing costs are included in the cost of the asset until it is ready for its intended use or 
sale.

Qualifying assets are those assets that take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or 
sale. Such assets may include factory equipment and land or buildings held as investment property. If, how-
ever, the assets are manufactured on a repetitive basis or over a short period of time, they may not be classified 
as qualifying assets.

Income earned from the interim investment of debt accepted for special purposes until it is spent for qualified 
assets is subtracted from the borrowing costs that can be capitalized. All other borrowing costs are recognized 
in profit or loss in the period in which they occur.

11.9  Intangible assets 
11.9.1 Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of acquisition costs of a business acquisition over the 
Group’s proportionate share of the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities of 
a subsidiary at the acquisition date (net assets). Upon initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost; in subse-
quent periods, it is measured at cost minus accumulated impairments. In accordance with IFRS 3, goodwill is not 
subjected to systematic amortization; instead, it is subjected to an annual impairment test according to IAS 36.

For purposes of the impairment test, goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units (CGUs), i.e. to those groups 
of cash-generating units based on identified operating segments that are expected to benefit from the synergies 
of the business combination on which the goodwill arose. When necessary, the CGUs must be written down to 
their recoverable amounts and the corresponding impairments must be recognized in profit or loss (“impair-
ment-only approach”). Any impairment loss in excess of the full impairment of goodwill is allocated proportion-
ately to the other assets on the basis of the carrying amounts of each asset in proportion to the total carrying 
amount of the assets within the cash-generating unit.

When so-called “triggering events” meaning indications of a possible impairment, occur during the year, an im-
pairment test is conducted already at that time and the goodwill is written down to the recoverable amount, if 
necessary. This means that it may be necessary to carry out impairment tests more frequently during the year. For 
that purpose, the recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and the present value of 
 future cash flows expected to be generated from the continued use of the asset in question. A subsequent rever-
sal of impairment losses recognized in goodwill is not permitted. When a subsidiary or joint venture is sold, the 
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on the sale.

11.9.2  Intangible assets by way of a business combination 
Intangible assets acquired in the context of a business combination under IFRS 3 are recognized separately from 
goodwill and measured at fair value at the acquisition date. This may include, inter alia: Customer relationships 
and base, order backlog, technologies, brand rights, etc.

They are recognized as an intangible asset in accordance with IAS 38, measured at fair value and amortized over 
their expected useful lives in the same way as separately purchased intangible assets.
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When so-called “triggering events,” meaning indications of a possible impairment, occur during the year, an 
 impairment test is conducted already at that time and the goodwill is written down to the recoverable amount, if 
necessary.

11.9.3 Other, separately purchased intangible assets
Purchased patents, licenses and trademarks that are not acquired in connection with business combinations, as 
well as other intangible assets, are measured at their historical acquisition or production costs. They have deter-
minable useful lives. They are measured at their acquisition or production costs, minus accumulated amortiza-
tion and impairments. The amortizations are expensed on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life. The 
expected useful lives and the amortization method applied are reviewed at every reporting date and all changes 
in estimates are taken into consideration prospectively. 

11.9.4 Internally generated intangible assets 
In the case of internally generated intangible assets, IAS 38 makes a distinction between the research phase and 
the development phase. Costs incurred during the research phase may not be capitalized, but must be charged to 
expense. On the other hand, costs incurred during the development phase must be capitalized, provided that the 
reporting entity demonstrably fulfills all six objectification criteria set out in IAS 38.57 ff. (See also Note 11.6 of the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements.)

11.9.5 Impairments of intangible assets 
Intangible assets with determinable useful lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
lives. Amortization begins from the time when the intangible asset is ready for use. The useful lives are as follows:

■■ Customer base, customer relationships: 3 - 8 years,
■■ Brands, brand rights: 5 - 25 years,
■■ Technologies: 3 - 7 years,
■■ Order backlog: 1 - 6 years,
■■ Software and licenses: 1 - 10 years,
■■ Patents, utility designs, trademarks, publishing rights, copyrights and performance rights: 3 - 5 years,
■■ ERP software and Internet domain names: 5 - 15 years,
■■ Copyrighted software: 3 - 10 years.

 
Depending on the type of intangible asset, the expected useful lives of customer bases or customer relationships 
are determined on the basis of the extrapolated average cancellation rate and the average term of the individual 
user agreements.

The expected useful lives and the amortization method applied are reviewed at the end of every financial year 
and all changes in estimates are taken into consideration prospectively. If there are signs of impairment, depreci-
able intangible assets are subjected to an impairment test and, if appropriate, written down to the recoverable 
amount within the meaning of IAS 36.

For intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or those that are not yet available for use, an impairment test is 
carried out at least annually and always when there is an indication of an impairment.

132 I   AU RELI US A N N UA L  R E P O RT



N OT E S  TO  T H E  CO N S O L I DAT E D  F I N A N C I A L  STAT E M E N T S

11.9.6 Derecognition of intangible assets
Intangible assets must be derecognized upon disposal or when no further economic use is expected from their 
use or disposal. The profit or loss from the derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference bet-
ween the net realizable value and the carrying amount of the asset, is recognized in the statement of comprehen-
sive income at the time when the asset is derecognized. Derecognition results are presented in other income or 
other expenses.

11.10 Property, plant and equipment 
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at acquisition or production cost, minus accumulated 
 straight-line depreciation and accumulated impairments. Production cost comprises all costs that are directly 
 allocable to the production process. That also includes appropriate proportions of production-related overhead 
costs; on the other hand, borrowing costs are usually not capitalized. Borrowing costs are added to the acquisition 
cost only in the case of certain assets known as qualifying assets. According to IAS 23.8 ff., borrowing costs should 
be capitalized in full or proportionately when they can be attributed directly or indirectly to the funds borrowed 
for the purpose of financing the acquisition or production of the asset. Qualifying assets are those assets that 
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale. Such assets may include factory 
equipment and land or buildings held as investment property. If, however, the assets are manufactured on a 
 repetitive basis or over a short period of time, they may not be classified as qualifying assets.

Subsequent acquisition or production costs are added to the acquisition or production cost of a tangible asset 
only when it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Group as a result and when the costs can be mea-
sured reliably. Maintenance costs, i.e., expenses for repairs and maintenance that do not represent any material 
replacement investment (day-to-day servicing) are recognized as expenses in the reporting period, whereas the 
costs of measures that expand the capacity or improve the use of a tangible asset are capitalized, as a general 
rule.

Assets of property, plant and equipment under construction are assigned to an appropriate category within 
 property, plant and equipment upon completion and achieving operational status. Depreciation of these assets 
begins on an identical basis to other assets upon achieving operational status.

Assets that are held in connection with finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful life in the same 
manner as assets in the possession of AURELIUS. In contrast, if there is no sufficient security that ownership is 
transferred to the lessee at the end of the lease relationship, the assets are depreciated over the shorter of the 
length of the term of the lease relationship and the expected useful life.

11.10.1 Impairments of property, plant and equipment 
While land is not subjected to systematic depreciation, all other items of property, plant and equipment are 
 depreciated in a manner that reflects their loss of economic value. Buildings are deemed to have useful lives of 
between ten and 50 years. Under normal usage conditions, operational devices, operational equipment and office 
equipment are deemed to have useful lives of between three and ten years. Machinery and technical plant and 
equipment are depreciated over useful lives of two to 15 years.

Depreciation is charged in such a way that the acquisition and production costs less their residual values are 
 generally depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. The residual values and economic lives are 
reviewed every year on the reporting date and adjusted as necessary. All necessary changes in estimates are 
taken into consideration prospectively.

If the carrying amount of a tangible asset exceeds the recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognized, 
in addition to systematic depreciation, in order to lower the carrying amount to the recoverable amount. The 
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 recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value less costs to sell (net selling price) and the present value of the 
net cash flows expected to result from the continued use of the asset. Whenever possible, the net selling price is 
derived from the most recently observed market transactions. Profits and losses from disposals of property, plant 
and equipment are determined as the difference between the proceeds of sale and the carrying amounts of the 
property, plant and equipment and recognized in the item of Other income or Other expenses in the profit or loss 
for the period.

If it is not possible to estimate the expected future cash flows for an individual asset, the expected future cash 
flows for the next-higher group of assets is estimated and discounted to present value by application of a risk-ad-
justed discount factor, and then the recoverable amount is allocated proportionately to the carrying amounts of 
the individual assets.

11.10.2 Derecognition of property, plant and equipment
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic use is 
expected from the continued use of the asset. The profit or loss from the sale or decommissioning of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset. It is recognized in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income. 

11.11 Government grants 
Government grants are forms of assistance that can be granted to an enterprise in the form of financial resources 
and serve as compensation for the past or future fulfillment of certain conditions related to the operating activi-
ties of the enterprise. Other forms of government assistance that cannot be measured reliably or business deal-
ings with government entities that cannot be distinguished from the company’s normal activities are not covered 
by the definition of government grants. By contrast, other forms of government assistance are defined as meas-
ures that serve the purpose of granting an economic advantage to one or more companies, subject to the fulfill-
ment of certain criteria, as opposed to advantages created indirectly through measures that influence general 
economic conditions.

The recipient of government grants should recognize them as consideration for the past or future fulfillment of 
certain conditions attached to the grant only when the company in question fulfills those conditions and the 
grant is received. According to IAS 20, it must be reasonably assured that both conditions will be met.

According to IAS 20, any contingent liabilities or contingent assets arising in connection with government grants 
that have already been recognized must be accounted for in accordance with IAS 37. Applying the income 
 approach, government grants are properly recognized as income on a systematic basis over the periods in which 
the Group recognizes the corresponding expenses that the grants are intended to compensate. The AURELIUS 
Group does not exercise the option set forth in IAS 20 of recognition in equity (the capital approach) with no 
 effect on income. Government grants that are paid as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for 
immediate financial support without future related expenses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive 
income in the period in which the corresponding claim arises.

With regard to the presentation of an asset in the statement of financial position, the AURELIUS Group recognizes 
the grant as deferred income. The AURELIUS Group does not exercise the option of deducting the grant from the 
carrying amount of the asset; thus, any asset acquired with the aid of government grants is always measured at 
the full purchase price and the amount of the government grant is recognized as deferred income. In addition, 
government grants are presented as other income and not reduced by the amount of costs related to the grant.
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Any repayment of government grants, due to non-fulfillment of contractual conditions, for example, must be 
accounted for as a change in estimates according to IAS 8. Furthermore, any such repayment must be deducted 
from the deferred income that has not yet been reversed and recognized in profit or loss; if the repayment 
amount exceeds the amount of deferred income, the latter is charged to expense.

The benefit of a government loan at an interest rate below the market interest rate is treated as a government 
grant and measured as the difference between the payments received and the fair value of a loan at the market 
interest rate.

11.12 Financial assets 
Financial assets and liabilities are to be recognized initially on the transaction date when a Group company 
 becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Trade receivables and issued bonds are 
 recognized at the time when they are issued. With the exception of trade receivables without a significant finan-
cing component, a financial asset is measured at fair value upon initial recognition. Trade receivables without a 
significant financing component are measured at the transaction price upon initial recognition. Transactions 
costs that are directly allocable to the acquisition or issuance of a financial instrument are added to financial 
 instruments that are not measured at fair value. 

Transaction costs of financial assets measured at fair value are recognized in profit or loss. Financial instruments 
with embedded derivative financial instruments are accounted for in their entirety if it is determined that the 
cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. If the trade date is different from the settlement date, 
the settlement date is determining for initial recognition.

For subsequent measurement, financial assets are assigned to different categories. Depending on the classifica-
tion, they are measured either at amortized cost or at fair value. 

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or 
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

11.12.1 Classification
The Group assigns its financial assets to one of the following measurement categories:

■■ Financial instruments measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or 
at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), or

■■ Financial instruments measured at amortized cost (AC).

The classification depends on the business model by which the Group company manages the financial assets and 
on the contractual cash flows. Financial assets are not subsequently reclassified unless the Group company chan-
ges the business model by which it manages the financial assets. In this case, they are reclassified on the first day 
of the reporting period following the change of business model.

The assessments of the objectives of the business model under which the financial is held are made on the port-
folio level. This means that the intentions of the management are not based on a single financial instrument, but 
on a higher level of aggregation because this is the best reflection of how the business is managed and informa-
tion is provided to the management. Such information includes:
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■■ The guidelines and objectives of the portfolio and the implementation of these guidelines in practice. This 
includes the strategy of the management for collecting the contractual interest, maintaining a certain inte-
rest rate profile, matching the term of a financial asset with the term of a related liability or expected cash 
outflows, or generating cash flows from the sale of assets;

■■ Evaluation of portfolio results and the manner in which they are reported to the management;
■■ Risks that affect the results of the business model and the manner in which they are managed;
■■ The compensation of managers, and
■■ The frequency, scope and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods and the expectations for future 

selling activities.

Financial assets that are held or managed for trading purposes, the performance of which is determined with 
reference to fair value, are measured at FVTPL.

For the purpose of determining whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, 
the principal is defined as the fair value of the financial asset upon initial recognition. Interest is defined as the 
compensation for the time value of money and the default risk associated with an outstanding principal amount 
over a certain period of time, and for other fundamental credit risks, costs, and a profit margin.

In performing this analysis, AURELIUS considers the contractual provisions of the instrument. It also considers 
contractual provisions that could modify the timing or amounts of contractual cash flows in such a way that they 
would no longer meet the requirements. The following additional factors are considered in the analysis:

■■ Certain events that could modify the amount or timing of cash flows,
■■ Conditions that would adjust the fixed or variable interest rate,
■■ Early repayment and extension options, and 
■■ Conditions that could limit the right of AURELIUS to cash flows from a certain asset. 

In performing this analysis, contractually fixed early repayment options meet the criterion when the repayment 
amount mainly consists of payments of principal and interest on the outstanding principal.

11.12.2 Subsequent measurement of financial instruments
AURELIUS assigns its debt instruments to one of three measurement categories depending on the Group’s 
 business model for managing the assets and the corresponding cash flow characteristics:

■■ Amortized Cost – AC: Debt instruments that are held for the purpose of collecting the contractual cash 
flows and are solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. Interest income on 
these financial assets are presented in Net financial income/expenses by application of the effective inter-
est method. Gains or losses on derecognition are recognized directly in profit or loss and presented within 
Other income or Other expenses after consideration of currency translation gains or losses.

■■ Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income – FVOCI: Debt instruments that are held for the purpose 
of collecting contractual cash flows and for sale, and the cash flows which are solely payments of interest 
and principal are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Changes in the carrying 
amounts are presented in Other comprehensive income. Impairments of financial assets, interest income 
and currency translation gains or losses are recognized in profit or loss. When such assets are derecog-
nized the accumulated gain or loss recognized in Other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to 
 Other income or Other expenses. The interest income is presented within Other interest and similar income 
by application of the effective interest method. Currency translation gains and losses are presented within 
Other income or Other expenses. 
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■■ Fair Value Through Profit and Loss – FVTPL: Debt instruments that are measured neither at amortized cost 
nor at FVTOCI are assigned to the FVTPL category. Subsequent gains or losses are presented on a net basis 
within Other income or Other expenses in the period in which they occur.

Subsequent to initial recognition, AURELIUS measures all equity instruments at fair value. If the equity instru-
ments are classified as at FVTOCI, the accumulated gain or loss is not subsequently reclassified to Other income or 
Other expenses upon derecognition of the instrument. Dividends received are presented with Other income 
when the claim to payments is legally founded.

11.12.3   Impairment of financial assets 
AURELIUS assesses the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments measured at amortized cost 
or at fair value through other comprehensive income on a forward-looking basis. Impairments are measured at 
the amount of credit losses to be expected over the life of the financial instruments. Impairment of bonds ex-
hibiting a low level of risk and bank balances are measured at the amount of the 12-month expected credit 
losses.  

AURELIUS applies the simplified approach allowed by IFRS 9 to trade receivables and contract assets. Under this 
approach, the expected lifetime credit losses are recognized upon the initial recognition of the receivables.

In determining whether the default risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition 
and in estimating the expected credit losses, AURELIUS evaluates all appropriate and reliable information that 
is relevant and available at a reasonable cost of time and money. This includes both quantitative and qualita-
tive information and analyses that are based on past experience and reasoned judgments, including for-
ward-looking information. 

Expected lifetime credit losses are expected credit losses that will result from all default events over the 
 expected life of the financial instrument. Twelve-month expected credit losses are the credit losses that will 
result from default events in the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of 
the instrument is less than 12 months). The maximum period to be considered in estimating expected credit 
losses is the maximum contractual term during which AURELIUS is exposed to credit risk.

Loss allowances are measured on the basis of probability-weighted estimates of credit losses. This is done by 
each Group company itself on the basis of historical data or forward-looking data and coordinated with Group 
headquarters. The amount of the credit loss is determined as the difference between the payments owed to 
the given Group company under the corresponding contractual provisions and the payments that are actually 
collected. The resulting amount is discounted to present value by application of the effective interest rate for 
the financial asset in question. 

At every reporting date, AURELIUS determines whether financial assets measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI 
are credit-impaired. This is the case when one or more events occur that have detrimental effects on the future 
cash flows from the financial asset. The following indications may be considered in making this determination:

■■ Significant financial difficulties of the issuer or borrower,
■■ A breach of contract, such as a default or past-due event,
■■ Restructuring of a loan or credit facility,
■■ Probable assumption of imminent insolvency or other financial reorganization proceedings of the borrower, 

or
■■ The disappearance of an active market for the financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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A financial asset is classified as in default when it is improbable that the debtor can completely satisfy its credit 
obligation without AURELIUS having to resort to the execution of collateral.

Impairments of financial assets measured at amortized cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount. 
 Impairments of bonds measured at FVOCI are recognized in profit or loss.

Assumptions that the default risk of a financial asset has increased significantly or that defaults of financial assets 
will occur are made by reference to average, probability-oriented weighting factors and are based on estimates of 
the individual Group companies.

A financial asset is completely derecognized when AURELIUS cannot reasonably expect that the gross carrying 
amount of the asset is recoverable in full or in part.

11.12.4 Derecognition of financial assets 
The Group only derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the payment flows from the finan-
cial asset expire or when it transfers the financial asset, as well as substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership of the asset, to a third party.

Insofar as AURELIUS nether transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership, 
but continues to have the power to dispose of the transferred asset, the Group recognizes its remaining share of 
the assets and a corresponding liability in the amount that must possibly be paid. If all the risks and rewards inci-
dental to ownership of a financial asset are retained, the Group continues to recognize the financial asset, as well 
as a secured loan for the consideration received.

In case of full derecognition of a financial asset, the delta between the carrying amount and the sum of the remu-
neration received or to be received and all accumulated profits or losses that were recognized in other compre-
hensive income and collected in equity are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. In case of 
 incomplete derecognition, for instance when AURELIUS retains an option to repurchase a portion of the transfer-
red asset, the Group divides the former carrying amount of the financial asset between the portion that conti-
nues to be recognized by the Group according to the continuing involvement and the portion that the Group no 
longer recognizes based on the relative fair values of these portions on the transfer date. The difference between 
the carrying amount that was allocated to the portion no longer recognized and the sum of the remuneration 
received for the portion no longer recognized and all accumulated gains and losses allocated to it that were reco-
gnized in other comprehensive income is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. Any accumula-
ted gain or loss that was recognized in other comprehensive income is divided between the portion that conti-
nues to be recognized and the component that is no longer recognized based on the relative fair values of these 
portions.

11.13 Factoring
According to IFRS 9, a distinction must be made between non-recourse factoring and recourse factoring. If the 
default risk associated with the receivable is transferred to the buyer (non-recourse factoring), the receivable is to 
be derecognized. If, on the other hand, the non-payment risk associated with the receivable remains with the 
seller (recourse factoring), the receivable may not be derecognized. In this case, the del credere risk is the signifi-
cant risk – along with others – in factoring. Payments received under recourse factoring arrangements are 
deemed to be secured borrowings and are therefore recognized as liabilities.
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If the default risk is divided between the seller and buyer of a receivable, it must be recognized as an asset in the 
amount of the seller’s continuing involvement and concurrently as a liability. The amount of the liability is calcu-
lated such that the net balance of the asset and liability is equal to the actual amount of the claim or obligation, 
respectively.

Any interest income earned from the sale of receivables is recognized in net financial income or expenses, while 
any administrative fees incurred are recognized as other expenses.

11.14 Inventories
The line item of inventories comprises raw materials and supplies, down payments rendered, unfinished and 
 finished goods and services and purchased goods. All such items are measured at the lower of acquisition or 
 production cost and the net realizable value at the reporting date. Consumption of inventories is recognized 
within the items of purchased goods and services or change in inventories in the statement of comprehensive 
income.

Production costs comprise direct material costs and direct manufacturing costs, as well as an appropriate propor-
tion of manufacturing overhead costs. Borrowing costs are added to the acquisition cost only in the case of 
 certain assets known as qualifying assets. According to IAS 23.8 ff., borrowing costs should be capitalized in full or 
proportionately when they can be directly or indirectly attributed to the funds borrowed for the purpose of 
fi nancing the acquisition or production of the asset. Examples of qualifying assets are assets that take a 
 substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale. If, however, the assets are manufactured on 
a repetitive basis or over a short period of time, they may not be classified as qualifying assets. The same rule 
 applies to inventories that are ready to sell or use already when they are purchased.

Acquisition or production cost is calculated using the weighted average method. The net realizable value is the 
estimated selling price, less production costs still to be incurred and the estimated costs of making the sale. If the 
net realizable value so determined is less than the historical acquisition or production costs, the carrying amount 
is written down to the lower value. As a general rule, the net realizable value of the final product is applied. By 
reason of the orientation to the sales market, raw materials and supplies and unfinished goods are written down 
only when the net realizable value of the finished goods incorporating those items does not allow for a positive 
profit margin. If the reasons for such a write-down cease to apply, the write-down is reversed. In that case, the 
new carrying amount is equal to the acquisition or production costs or the corrected net realizable value, 
 whichever is lower.

Inventories resulting from intragroup deliveries are adjusted for intermediate profits and are measured at the 
Group’s production cost.

When necessary, write-downs are charged to account for long inventory turnover rates, obsolescence and 
 reduced salability, subject to the condition that lower selling prices will lead to negative profit margins.

11.15 Assets held for sale and discontinued operations 
Assets (and groups of assets) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or their 
fair value less costs to sell. Systematic depreciation must be discontinued from the time when they are classified 
as held for sale. Assets and groups of assets are classified as held for sale when their carrying amounts will likely 
be recovered through sale, rather than through continued use. This condition is deemed to be fulfilled when a 
sale is highly probable and when the asset (or group of assets held for sale) can be sold immediately in its current 
condition. It is necessary to assume that the selling transaction will be concluded within one year after such a 
classification. This applies regardless of whether the Group does or does not retain a non-controlling interest in 
the former portfolio company after the sale. 
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Components of the company that meet the requirements of IFRS 5 are classified as discontinued operations and 
presented separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of 
cash flows. All changes made in the current reporting period to amounts that are directly related to the sale of 
discontinued operations in one of the previous reporting periods are likewise presented within this separate cat-
egory. If a component of the company is no longer classified as held for sale, the profit or loss of this component, 
which had previously been presented within discontinued operations, is reclassified as continued operations in all 
presented reporting periods.

11.16 Derivative financial instruments
AURELIUS concludes derivative financial instruments in order to manage interest rate risks and currency risks. 
These include, for instance, forward exchange deals, interest rate swaps, and currency swaps. Under certain 
 conditions, embedded derivative financial instruments are separated from the host contract and accounted for 
separately.

The derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at the date of contract conclusion at their fair value 
and subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) on each reporting date. The profit or loss 
resulting from the measurement is recognized in profit or loss unless the derivative is designated as a hedging 
instrument within the scope of a hedging relationship (hedge accounting).

11.17 Hedge accounting  
When financial instruments are employed for the purpose of hedging the risks associated with future cash flows 
or for hedging fair values, IFRS 9 allows hedge accounting provided that certain conditions are met. The purpose 
is to reduce the volatility of AURELIUS’ profit or loss for the period. Hedges are classified as fair-value hedges, cash-
flow hedges or hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, depending on the type of hedged item.

At the inception of a designated hedging relationship, AURELIUS documents the entity’s risk management objec-
tives and strategies for undertaking the hedge. It also documents the economic relationship between the hedged 
item and the hedging instrument and indicates whether it expects that the changes in the cash flows from the 
hedged item will offset those from the hedging instrument.

11.17.1 Fair value hedges
Under a fair value hedge, the hedging instrument is measured at fair value and any changes in fair value are 
recognized as income or expenses. The purpose of such fair-value hedges is to hedge the assets and liabili-
ties presented in the statement of financial position, as well as any obligations that are not recognized in the 
statement of financial position at fair value. In the case of a perfect hedge, the effects emanating from the 
hedged item and the hedging instrument offset each other exactly.

Changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments that are suitable as fair value hedges and have been 
designated as such are recognized directly in the statement of comprehensive income, along with the 
changes in fair value of the underlying instrument that are attributable to the hedged risk. The changes in 
fair value of the hedging instrument and the underlying instrument that are attributed to the hedged risk 
are presented in the line item to which the underlying instrument belongs in the statement of comprehen-
sive income.

A hedging relationship is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedge designation, when the hedging 
instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or when it is no longer suitable for hedging purposes. 
At this time, the adjustments made to the carrying amount of the underlying instrument as a result of the 
hedged risk begin to be reversed and recognized in profit or loss.
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11.17.2 Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instru-
ments for cash flow hedges is recognized as a component of equity in the equity reserves. The gain or loss on the 
ineffective portion is recognized directly in profit or loss within the items of Other income or Other expenses.

AURELIUS only recognizes the change in the fair value of the cash component of forward exchange transactions 
used to hedge cash flows. The change in fair value of the forward points of forward exchange forwards is recog-
nized separately as a cost of the hedging relationship and presented as an equity reserve for the costs of hedging 
relationships. 

If a hedged forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial item, as in the case of 
inventories for example, the amount that has been accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve and the equity 
reserve for the costs of hedging relationships is removed and included directly in the initial cost of the non-finan-
cial item as soon as it is recognized.

For all other hedges, the accumulated amount is removed from the reserves and reclassified to profit or loss in the 
period in which the hedged forecast future cash flow influences profit or loss. 

A hedging relationship is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedge designation, when the hedging instru-
ment expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or when it is no longer suitable for hedging purposes. The profit 
or loss recognized completely in other comprehensive income and accumulated within equity at this time re-
mains within equity and is recognized in profit or loss only when the expected transaction is also recognized in 
the statement of comprehensive income. If the expected transaction is no longer expected to occur, the entire 
profit recognized in equity is reclassified immediately to the statement of comprehensive income.

11.17.3 Hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are recognized in the same manner as cash-flow hedges. All 
profits or losses from the hedging instrument that are attributable to the effective portion of the hedging relati-
onship are recognized in other comprehensive income. Profits or losses attributable to the ineffective portion of a 
hedging relationship are recognized directly in the statement of comprehensive income and presented within the 
item of other income or expenses. Profits and losses from the hedging instrument that are attributable to the 
effective portion of the hedging relationship and are accumulated in the currency translation reserve are recogni-
zed in the statement of comprehensive income at the time of disposal of the net investment.

11.18 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, demand deposits and other current, highly fungible financial assets 
with an original maturity of no more than three months. Such assets are measured at face value. Drawdowns 
under overdraft facilities are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within current finan-
cial liabilities as liabilities due to banks.

11.19 Equity
The shares of the company are classified as equity. An equity instrument is a contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of an enterprise after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are measured at the 
amount of issue proceeds collected, minus directly allocable issuance costs, i.e., those costs that are directly re-
lated to the issuance of new shares or share options are accounted for in equity on a net basis, and thus they are 
deducted from the issue proceeds after taxes. Issuance costs include all costs that would not have been incurred 
if the equity instrument had not been issued. For additional information on the equity of AURELIUS, please refer 
to Notes 37 ff. of the present notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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In addition to currency translation differences, unrealized gains or losses arising from the market valuation of 
 financial assets classified as at FVTPL and derivative financial instruments that serve to hedge future cash flows 
(cash flow hedges) or to hedge a net investment in a foreign operation are recognized not in profit or loss, but in 
other reserves, in accordance with IFRS 9. The same treatment is applied to amounts arising from the revaluation 
of the net defined benefit liability or post-employment benefits according to IAS 19.

Repurchases of the Company’s own equity instruments are deducted directly from equity. Neither the purchase 
and sale nor the issue or retirement of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognized in the Group’s other 
comprehensive income.

11.20 Employee benefits
The projected unit-credit method prescribed in IAS 19 Employee Benefits is applied for the purpose of measuring 
the actuarial value of employee pension obligations. An actuarial measurement is conducted at every reporting 
date by an independent, qualified actuarial expert.

There are various pension plans in effect in the AURELIUS Group, both at the Group’s subsidiaries and at AURELIUS 
SE. Under defined contribution plans, the company pays fixed amounts to an independent entity such as a 
 pension fund or insurance company, which will then pay post-termination benefits to employees; in such cases, 
the company does not have a legal or constructive obligation to pay any further amounts in the event that the 
entity in question would not have sufficient financial resources to satisfy all the pension claims of all employees 
for current and previous years. All pension plans that promise to pay post-termination benefits to employees, but 
do not fall under the definition of a defined contribution plan, are considered to be defined benefit plans.

Under defined contribution plans, the company is only obligated to pay the contribution for a given period. There-
fore, it is not necessary to make actuarial assumptions and no actuarial gains or losses can arise. Such obligations 
are not discounted to present value unless they will not be due and payable in the full amount within twelve 
months of the end of the period in which the corresponding work was performed. Payments to defined contribu-
tion plans are recognized as personnel expenses in the statement of comprehensive income.

Obligations under defined benefit plans are determined separately for each plan by estimating the amount of 
benefits to be paid to employees in respect of their work in the current and previous periods. Such defined bene-
fits are then discounted to present value, from which is deducted the fair value of plan assets. Net interest 
 expenses or net interest income is calculated by multiplying the net defined benefit liability (pension obligation 
less plan assets) or net asset at the start of the reporting period by the interest rate employed to discount the 
gross defined benefit obligation at the start of the reporting period. The factors taken into consideration as part 
of the projected unit-credit method include the pension benefits and vested benefits known at the reporting 
date, as well as expected future increases in salaries and pension benefits. The plan assets of AURELIUS are com-
posed of pension liability insurance claims that have been pledged to eligible beneficiaries and other assets that 
meet the definition of plan assets according to IAS 19.

Revaluation effects include both the actuarial gains and losses resulting from the measurement of the gross de-
fined benefit obligation and the difference between the actually realized return on plan assets and the assumed 
return on plan assets at the start of the reporting period. If a pension plan is overfunded, the revaluation compo-
nent will also include the change in the net asset value resulting from the application of the asset ceiling,  provided 
that it was not already included in the net interest component. The revaluation effects are recognized directly in 
other comprehensive income after taxes. The other components of net pension expenses (service period and net 
interest component) are recognized as period income or expenses. Past service cost in respect of as yet unvested 
pension claims, as well as gains and losses from plan settlements, are recognized directly as income or expense in 
the period when the pension plan was amended or curtailed. The defined benefit obligations recognized in the 
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consolidated statement of financial position represent the current insufficient or excess cover of the Group’s 
 defined benefit plans. Any excess cover arising due to this calculation is limited to the present value of future 
economic benefit, which is available in the form of refunds from the plans or reduced future contribution pay-
ments to the plans.

For employee benefits currently due, for instance wages, sick pay, or bonuses, the employee must recognize, in 
the period the payment is made, the undiscounted amount of the payment that can be expected to be paid in 
exchange for the service provided. The expected costs for employee benefits currently due in the form of com-
pensated absences must be recognized in the case of accruable claims when the work performance that increases 
the employee’s claims to paid future absences is provided. If the claims cannot be accrued, recognition occurs at 
the time when the absence occurs.

A liability for post-employment benefits is recognized for expected compensation after the departure of an Exec-
utive Board member if compensation has been committed to the departed Executive Board member for work 
performed during his time as an Executive Board member of AURELIUS Management SE. Such compensation may 
include the virtual co-investment sub-interests granted with respect to portfolio companies acquired during his 
time as an active Executive Board member. 

11.21 Other provisions
In accordance with IAS 37, provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation 
to a third party, arising from a past event, and when it is more likely than not that the settlement of the obligation 
will lead to an outflow of economic resources, and when the amount of the provision can be measured reliably. 
Other provisions are recognized accordingly in respect of all discernible risks and uncertain obligations. Uncertain 
obligations are measured at the best possible estimate. In this regard, consideration must be given to the risks 
and uncertainties inherent in the obligation. Recourse claims are not deducted from the carrying amount of such 
liabilities. Thus, if it can be assumed that the necessary economic benefits required to settle the liability will be 
reimbursed in full or in part by an outside third party, this claim is recognized as an asset if the reimbursement is 
more likely than not and the amount can be estimated reliably. In the case of a large population of similar obliga-
tions, the probability of a future outflow of economic resources is determined on the basis of the overall popula-
tion.

Warranty provisions are recognized as of the date of sale of the corresponding goods or services in accordance 
with national purchase agreement law. The amount of the expenditures necessary to satisfy the Group’s obliga-
tion is determined on the basis of past experience values and an estimate of future probabilities.

Restructuring provisions are recognized when there exists a detailed restructuring plan that meets the require-
ments of IAS 37, or in case of a new acquisition in conjunction with IFRS 3. However, this is only the case when the 
Group has adopted a detailed, formal restructuring plan, which has created a justified impression in the minds of 
the affected persons that the restructuring measures will be carried out, either because implementation of the 
plan has commenced or significant elements of the plan have been announced. Only the direct expenses for the 
restructuring are included in the measurement. These are only those amounts that were caused by the restructu-
ring and are not in connection with the continued business operations of the Group.

Particularly in connection with company acquisitions, provisions are recognized to account for any onerous cont-
racts identified as part of the purchase price allocation process. The existence of an onerous contract is assumed 
when the assumed contractual conditions are detrimental in comparison with current market conditions.  

Non-current provisions that have not resulted in an outflow of economic resources in the following year are 
 discounted to present value by application of the currently prevailing risk-free interest rate, provided that the 
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 effect is material. Any increases in provisions resulting from pure compounding are likewise recognized in profit 
or loss in the statement of comprehensive income. Both such effects are presented in net financial income or 
 expenses.

11.22 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognized when a Group company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a 
 fi nancial instrument. They are classified and measured either at amortized cost or at fair value through profit or 
loss (FVTPL). 

Financial liabilities must be measured at fair value upon initial recognition. Transaction costs that are directly 
 attributable to the issuance of financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss reduce 
the fair value of the financial liability upon initial recognition. If these directly attributable transaction costs are 
connected to the issuance of financial liabilities that are measured at fair value through profit or loss, they are 
recognized directly in the statement of comprehensive income.

11.22.1  Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities are classified as at fair value through profit or loss when the financial liability is defined as held 
for trading and when a derivative is or was designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial liabilities are 
classified as held for trading on the basis of the company’s business model, following the approach described in 
Note 11.12.1. A voluntary designation as at FVTPL (fair value option) may be elected upon initial recognition if doing 
so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency.

In subsequent periods, financial liabilities classified as at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains or losses, 
as well as interest expenses, are recognized in profit or loss. In the case of financial liabilities measured in accor-
dance with the fair value option, AURELIUS recognizes that part of the change in fair value that is attributable to 
changes in its own credit risk in other comprehensive income.

Upon initial recognition, financial liabilities in general, and particularly also financial liabilities arising from 
purchase price adjustment clauses or earn-out clauses, are measured at fair value, which is usually equal to cost. 
As preconditions for recognizing such liabilities in the statement of financial position, however, they must be 
probable at the acquisition date and their amount must be reliably measurable. Gains or losses resulting from the 
measurement are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. The net gain or loss recognized in the 
statement of comprehensive income includes the interest paid for the financial liability and is presented within 
Other income or Other expenses.

11.22.2 Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities, for instance loans accepted, trade payables, and other liabilities, are measured at amor-
tized costs. Trade payables are amounts owed as consideration for goods or services provided to the company in 
the normal course of business. In the normal business cycle, all liabilities are due in one year or less and are there-
fore classified as current; otherwise, they are presented as non-current liabilities. For current liabilities, that means 
they are measured at their repayment or settlement amount, while non-current liabilities and long-term debts 
are measured at amortized cost in accordance with the effective interest method. The effective interest method 
is used to calculate the amortized cost of a financial liability and to allocate interest expenses to the respective 
periods. The effective interest rate is the interest rate that is necessary to discount the estimated future cash 
outflows, including all fees and remuneration paid and received that are an integral component of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts, through the expected life of the financial instru-
ment, or a shorter period to equal the net carrying amount upon initial recognition.
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In subsequent periods, other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost by application of the effective 
interest method. Interest expenses and currency translation gains or losses are recognized in profit or loss.

11.22.3 Derecognition of financial liabilities  
The Group derecognizes a financial liability when the related obligation has been paid, cancelled, or has expired. 
The difference between the carrying amount of the derecognized financial liability and the consideration received 
or to be received is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.

11.23 Financial guarantees
A financial guarantee contract is a contract in which the guarantor is obligated to make specific payments that 
compensate the warrantee for a loss that arises because a specific debtor does not comply with its payment 
obligations in a timely manner and not in accordance with the terms of the debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts are recognized as financial liabilities at the date of issuance of the guarantee and 
measured at fair value. In subsequent periods, they are measured at the higher of 

■■ the amount determined in accordance with the expected credit losses model according to IFRS 9, or
■■ the amount of initial recognition, where applicable after deduction of the accumulated income recognized in 

accordance with the principles of IFRS 15.

The fair value of financial guarantees is the net present value of the difference in the cash flows between the 
contractually specified payments owed under the debt instrument and the payments that would be required in 
the absence of the guarantee, or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third party to assume the 
obligation. In the case of guarantees for loans or other liabilities of associates issued free of charge, the fair values 
are accounted for as deposits and included in the initial cost of the investment in the associate.

11.24 Compound financial instruments
The components of a compound financial instrument issued by the company are recognized separately in accor-
dance with the economic content of the agreement and the definitions as a financial liability and as an equity 
 instrument, for instance a convertible bond. A conversion option that is only satisfied by exchange of a fixed 
amount of liquid assets or other financial assets against a fixed number of company-owned equity instruments is 
an equity instrument.

At the issue date, the fair value of the debt component is measured using the market interest rate applicable to 
comparable non-convertible instruments. This amount is recognized as a financial liability based on amortized 
costs using the effective interest method until conversion or maturity of the instrument.

The conversion option recognized as equity is determined by subtracting the value of the debt component from 
the fair value of the entire instrument. The resulting value, less the income tax effects, is recognized as part of 
equity in additional paid-in capital and is subsequently not subject to measurement. Moreover, the conversion 
option classified as equity remains in equity until the conversion option is exercised. Upon exercise, the amount 
recognized in equity is reclassified to retained earnings. If a conversion option is not exercised when due, the 
amount recognized in equity is reclassified to retained earnings. No gains or losses arise upon exercise or expira-
tion of the conversion option.

Transaction costs in connection with the instrument are allocated to the debt and equity components in 
 proportion to the distribution of the net revenues. The transaction costs attributable to the equity component 
are recognized directly in equity. The transaction costs attributable to the debt component are included in the 
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carrying amount of the liability and are amortized over the term of the convertible bond by application of the 
effective interest method.

11.25 Contingent liabilities resulting from a business combination  
Contingent liabilities resulting from a business combination are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition 
upon initial recognition. Such contingent liabilities are recognized at subsequent reporting dates using the higher 
amount of initial recognition less any cumulative reversals to be recognized under IAS 18 or the value resulting 
from applying IAS 37. 

11.26 Estimation uncertainties and discretionary judgments  
For the consolidated accounting policies presented here, the management of AURELIUS must assess circum-
stances, make estimates and use assumptions with regard to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that 
cannot be determined easily from other sources. The estimates and the underlying assumptions result from past 
experience as well as other factors considered relevant. The actual values may differ from these estimated values.

The assumptions underlying the estimates are subjected to regular review. When changes in estimates only 
 affect a single period, they are only taken into account in this period. If the changes affect the current and the 
following reporting periods, they are taken into account accordingly in this and the following periods. The 
 estimates or discretionary judgments applied correspond to the carrying amounts disclosed in these consolidated 
financial statements for the assets and liabilities explained in the notes (see Notes 24 ff.).

11.27 Segment information
According to the requirements of IFRS 8, it must first be determined which companies have the status of an 
 operating segment in order to then assess whether the segments are reportable or whether they should be 
 aggregated for qualitative or quantitative reasons. Based on the composition of the Group, it has one reportable 
segment (Retail & Consumer Products) according to IFRS 8 at the reporting date of December 31, 2019, while the 
other portfolio companies are aggregated in Miscellaneous.

In addition, the portfolio companies subsumed in Miscellaneous according to IFRS 8 are further sub-divided into 
the known sectors of Services & Solutions (S&S), Industrial Production (IP) and Other, as in the previous years and 
to provide better information to all stakeholders.

As a general rule, the same accounting policies applied in preparing the consolidated financial statements were 
applied in preparing the segment report, which does not include any information on discontinued operations.

11.28 Prior-year information 
For the sake of improved comparability, certain prior-year information may have been adjusted slightly to reflect 
the current presentation structure. These adjustments may pertain to individual figures in the composition of 
some items of the statement of comprehensive income or the statement of financial position for the reporting 
period and prior year in order to ensure a consistent presentation in financial year 2019. In such cases, however, 
the adjustments only consist of reclassifications within individual items; they have no effects on the presentation 
of the Group’s financial position, liquidity, financial performance and cash flows. Please refer to Note 12 and Note 
20 of the notes to the financial statements for information on the prior-year adjustments according to IFRS 3.45 ff. 
and IFRS 5. 

146 I   AU RELI US A N N UA L  R E P O RT



N OT E S  TO  T H E  CO N S O L I DAT E D  F I N A N C I A L  STAT E M E N T S

11.29 Legal disputes, claims for damages and liability risks 
In connection with their normal business operations, companies of the AURELIUS Group are involved in various 
lawsuits and governmental proceedings or such lawsuits and governmental proceedings may be initiated or 
brought in the future. Although the outcome of individual proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, given 
the imponderabilities associated with legal disputes, the Group does not believe, based on the information 
 c urrently available to it, that such proceedings will have material, lasting adverse effects on the Group’s financial 
position, cash flows or financial performance, beyond the risks accounted for in the consolidated financial state-
ments in the form of liabilities and provisions. Contingent liabilities related to collateral furnished or liabilities 
 assumed are disclosed separately in Note 68 of the present notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
 Identified purchased contingent liabilities assumed by way of a business combination according to IFRS 3 are 
 measured at fair value at the acquisition date.
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PRIOR-YEAR INFORMATION

12. Prior-year information
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PRIOR-YEAR INFORMATION

12. Prior-year information

Significant adjustments made to the comparative information from the consolidated financial statements at 
December 31, 2018 are explained in the following. They include adjustments to the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of financial position, the consolidated statement of cash 
flows, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and earnings per share.

Items of the statement of financial position were adjusted in accordance with IFRS 3.45 ff. by date of November 22, 
2019 because the purchase price allocations for the portfolio company VAG acquired at the end of 2018 and the 
add-on acquisition of Foto-Video Sauter in financial year 2018 were conducted on the basis of provisional values 
according to IFRS 3.45 ff.

Purchase price allocations are based on time-intensive and complex requirements. Depending on the complexity 
of the acquisition, this process can take several months. However, the provisions of IFRS 3 state that the effects of 
the acquisition must be recognized not after the final completion of the purchase price allocation, but already as 
soon as valid provisional values are available. In accordance with the qualitative requirements imposed by the 
IFRS Conceptual Framework on the information to be presented in financial statements, the prompt provision of 
information to the users of financial statements takes precedence over exact, but delayed information.

The adjustments mainly relate to the measurement of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, invento-
ries, corresponding deferred tax assets and liabilities and purchase price adjustments. If the measurements had 
been performed already at December 31, 2018 on the basis of the currently better knowledge of the circumstances 
at the acquisition date, that would have increased the gain on acquisition at a price below market value by EUR 
2,697 thousand and decreased the recognized goodwill by EUR 382 thousand. According to the rules of IFRS 3.45 ff., 
such adjustments must be recognized retrospectively and therefore also in the prior year. 
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The adjustments made to the prior-year consolidated statement of comprehensive income are presented in 
the table below:

in kEUR 1/1/ - 12/31/2018 Adjustment
1/1/ - 12/31/2018 

adjusted

Continued operations
Changes in inventories of finished and unfinished goods -2,007 -119 -2,126
Other income 161,811 3,109 164,920
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
 amortization (EBITDA) 100,896 2,990 103,886
Amortization, depreciation and impairments of intangible 
assets and property, plant and equipment -75,462 -108 -75,570
Earnings before taxes and interest (EBIT) 25,434 2,882 28,316
Earnings before taxes (EBT) 8,722 2,882 11,604
Income taxes -20,621 -72 -20,693
Profit/loss after taxes from continued operations -11,899 2,810 -9,089

Consolidated profit/loss -42,331 2,810 -39,521

Comprehensive income/loss -34,659 2,810 -31,849
Share of consolidated profit/loss attributable to:

- Shareholders of the parent company -50,711 2,559 -48,152
- Non-controlling interests 8,380 251 8,631

Share of comprehensive income/loss attributable to:

- Shareholders of the parent company -43,039 2,559 -40,480

- Non-controlling interests 8,380 251 8,631

The following adjustments were made to the consolidated statement of financial position at December 31, 2018:

in kEUR 12/31/2018 Adjustment
12/31/2018 

adjusted

ASSETS
Non-current assets 
Intangible assets 224,281 2,756 227,037
Property, plant and equipment 356,228 12,126 368,354
Deferred tax assets 31,738 1,550 33,288
Total non-current assets 622,450 16,432 638,882

Current assets 
Inventories 462,392 1,306 463,698
Total current assets 1,526,091 1,306 1,527,397

Total assets 2,148,541 17,738 2,166,279
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in kEUR 12/31/2018 Adjustment
12/31/2018 

adjusted

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Retained earnings 485,007 2,558 487,565
Share of equity attributable to AURELIUS Equity  
Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA 

518,786 2,558 521,344

Share of equity attributable to non-controlling interests 17,384 251 17,635
Total equity 536,170 2,809 538,979

Non-current liabilities 
Other financial liabilities 25,994 3,836 29,830
Deferred tax liabilities 35,083 4,072 39,155
Total non-current liabilities 449,176 7,908 457,084

Current liabilities 
Provisions 41,770 2,430 44,200
Other financial liabilities 29,030 63 29,093
Trade payables 531,214 4,529 535,743
Total current liabilities 1,163,195 7,021 1,170,216

Total equity and liabilities 2,148,541 17,738 2,166,279

The adjustments made to the consolidated statement of cash flows on this basis relate to changes within gross 
cash flow and adjustments to the cash flow from operating activities. The free cash flow and the cash and cash 
equivalents from continued operations and the cash and cash equivalents presented in the statement of financial 
position at December 31, 2018 remain unchanged:

in kEUR 1/1/ - 12/31/2018 Adjustment
1/1/ - 12/31/2018 

adjusted

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 8,722 2,882 11,604

Gains on bargain purchases -84,389 -2,697 -87,086

Amortization, depreciation and impairments of intangible 
assets and property, plant and equipment 

75,462 108 75,570

Gross cash flow -41,670 293 -41,377

Changes in working capital

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in inventories 1,714 119 1,833

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in trade payables and  
other liabilities

-35,689 -412 -36,101

Cash flow from operating activities (net cash flow) -49,805 -293 -50,098

Free cash flow -198,186 - / - -198,186

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 284,209 - / - 284,209

Cash and cash equivalents presented in the  
statement of financial position 

290,756 - / - 290,756
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The necessary adjustments to the prior-year consolidated statement of changes in equity are presented in the 
table below:

in kEUR

Retained 
 earnings 

Share of  equity 
 attributable to 

 shareholders of 
 AURELIUS 

Share of equity 
attributable to 

non-controlling 
interests

Group equity 

January 1, 2018 591,375 621,993 6,564 628,557

Comprehensive income/loss 

Consolidated profit/loss for 
the period 

-50,711 -50,711 8,380 -42,331

Adjustment 2,559 2,559 251 2,810

Consolidated profit/loss for 
the period, adjusted 

-48,152 -48,152 8,631 -39,521

December 31, 2018 485,007 518,786 17,384 536,170

Adjustment 2,558 2,558 251 2,809

December 31, adjusted 487,565 521,344 17,635 538,979

The prior-year earnings per share must also be adjusted as a result of the adjustments made to the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. It now has the following structure:

in kEUR 1/1/- 12/31/2018 Adjustment
1/1/- 12/31/2018 

adjusted

Earnings after taxes -11,899 2,810 -9,089

Share of profit/loss attributable to the shareholders of  
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA 

-20,279 2,559 -17,720

Share of profit/loss attributable to non-controlling interests 8,380 251 8,631

Basic earnings per share in EUR

from continued operations -0.70 0.09 -0.61

from continued and discontinued operations -1.75 0.09 -1.66

Diluted earnings per share in EUR

from continued operations -0.55 0.08 -0.47

from continued and discontinued operations -1.51 0.08 -1.43
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FINANCIAL YEAR RESULTS 

13. Revenues

The Group’s consolidated revenues break down as follows, separated by continued and discontinued operations:

in kEUR 1/1/ - 12/31/2019 1/1/ - 12/31/2018

Revenues from sales of goods 3,004,204 2,770,887

Revenues from sales of services 187,979 132,050

Total continued operations 3,192,183 2,902,937

Discontinued operations 419,942 878,828

Total revenues 3,612,125 3,781,765

 
The increase in revenues from continued operations resulted particularly from the acquisition of new portfolio 
companies in the reporting period. Of the total revenues from continued operations, an amount of EUR 377 thou-
sand (PY: EUR 14,269 thousand) was recognized over a period of time in accordance with IFRS 15. This amount 
consisted entirely of revenues from the sale of services.

The Group does not incur significant costs for the initiation or performance of contracts with customers, for 
which reason the related information is not presented. Moreover, the contracts with customers do not include 
significant financing components, for which reason the related information is likewise not presented. The Group’s 
significant revenue recognition rules are described in Note 11.2 ff.

All revenues consist entirely of revenues from contracts with customers.

In accordance with the IFRS 5 rules for discontinued operations, both current-year revenues and those in the 
 previous year are included in discontinued operations.

The breakdown of revenues by geographic regions and operating segments is presented in the notes to the 
 Segment Report in Note 22 of the present notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

The current and non-current contract liabilities recognized at December 31, 2019 in the amount of EUR 38,970 
thousand (PY: EUR 30,183 thousand) were mainly composed of down payments received on account of customer 
contracts for the construction of yachts by HanseYachts and project down payments at VAG. 

The increase in contract liabilities from EUR 30,183 thousand by EUR 8,787 thousand is mainly attributable to the 
increase in down payments at HanseYachts.
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14. Other income

The breakdown of other income in the reporting period is presented in the table below:

in kEUR 1/1/ - 12/31/2019 1/1/ - 12/31/2018

Gains on bargain purchases 65,335 82,840

Income from the derecognition of liabilities 1,108 7,191

Income from the reversal of provisions 8,434 20,912

Internal production capitalized 5,300 4,494

Income from deconsolidations 16,246 309

Income from disposal of non-current assets 28,217 4,411

Income from the charging of costs to outside third parties 2,614 6,471

Income from exchange rate changes 8,928 5,439

Income from claims for damages 539 9,785

Miscellaneous income 57,027 16,256

Total continued operations 193,748 158,108

Discontinued operations 156,105 31,560

Total other income 349,853 189,668

Gains on bargain purchases in the amount of EUR 65,335 thousand (PY: EUR 82,840 thousand) are presented in 
accordance with IFRS 3.34 ff., provided that the fair values of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities  exceed the acquisition cost of the business combination. After repeated review, any remaining excess 
is recognized immediately in income, in accordance with IFRS 3.34 ff.

15. Purchased goods and services

The Group’s purchased goods and services in financial year 2019 break down as follows, separated by continued 
and discontinued operations:

in kEUR 1/1/ - 12/31/2019 1/1/ - 12/31/2018

Purchased merchandise 1,698,435 1,601,377

Raw materials and supplies 225,130 163,197

Purchased services 78,465 58,901

Other purchased goods and services 56,451 42,077

Total continued operations 2,058,481 1,865,552

Discontinued operations 213,595 323,518

Total purchased goods and services 2,272,076 2,189,070

The other purchased goods and services in the amount of EUR 56,451 thousand (PY: EUR 42,077 thousand)  consisted 
mostly of energy costs (EUR 24,523 thousand, PY: EUR 18,466 thousand), other consumable supplies (EUR 12,816 
thousand, PY: EUR 7,113 thousand), waste disposal costs (EUR 4,645 thousand, PY: EUR 4,196 thousand), and 
warehouse costs (EUR 3,540 thousand, PY: EUR 3,344 thousand). Purchased goods and services also included 
 research and development expenses of EUR 582 thousand (PY: EUR 544 thousand).
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16. Personnel expenses

The Group’s personnel expenses break down as follows in financial year 2019, separated by continued and discon-
tinued operations:

in kEUR 1/1/  - 12/31/2019 1/1/ - 12/31/2018

Wages and salaries 554,950 484,640

Social insurance contributions 71,852 62,027

Pension and other benefit expenses 12,004 11,028

Total continued operations 638,806 557,695

Discontinued operations 96,804 327,787

Total personnel expenses 735,610 885,482

17. Other expenses

The Group’s other expenses in financial year 2019 break down as follows:

in kEUR 1/1/ - 12/31/2019 1/1/ - 12/31/2018

Buildings and machinery 81,299 135,145

Freight and transport costs 130,597 119,030

Marketing and commissions 118,394 94,329

Administration 72,460 67,886

Advisory services 80,721 64,666

Office expenses 43,825 42,653

Personnel leasing 23,372 35,698

Expenses from exchange rate changes 1,268 6,128

Costs charged by third parties 2,967 2,180

Miscellaneous expenses 53,897 7,153

Total continued operations 608,800 574,868

Discontinued operations 91,112 187,400

Total other expenses 699,912 762,268

Building and machinery expenses consisted mainly of rental expenses (EUR 23,330 thousand, PY: EUR 65,493 
thousand), maintenance expenses (EUR 15,960 thousand, PY: EUR 16,112 thousand) and other building expenses 
(EUR 27,501 thousand, PY: EUR 30,536 thousand). The other building expenses consisted mainly of incidental 
rental expenses. 

Important elements of administrative expenses included travel and entertainment expenses (EUR 15,690 thou-
sand, PY: EUR 15,758 thousand) insurance and fees (EUR 7,444 thousand, PY: EUR 5,860 thousand) and motor 
 vehicle costs (EUR 11,126 thousand, PY: EUR 15,323 thousand).

Office expenses consisted mainly of IT expenses (EUR 20,547 thousand, PY: EUR 16,294 thousand) and other 
communication expenses (EUR 7,127 thousand, PY: EUR 7,680 thousand).

Miscellaneous expenses included expenses for other taxes (EUR 1,331 thousand, PY: EUR 1,497 thousand) and 
costs charged by third parties (EUR 2,970 thousand, PY: EUR 2,494 thousand).
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18. Net financial income/expenses

The other interest and similar income in the amount of EUR 2,299 thousand (PY: EUR 2,793 thousand) consisted 
of interest income on both current accounts and term deposits.

The interest and similar expenses in the amount of EUR 36,977 thousand (PY: EUR 13,487 thousand) resulted 
mainly from the interest effects of the first-time application of IFRS 16 (Leases) of EUR 17,373 thousand and from 
interest paid on liabilities due to banks and outside third parties.

19. Consolidated profit/loss and comprehensive income/loss 

The consolidated profit/loss of EUR 18,265 thousand (PY: EUR -39,522 thousand) included the share of non- 
controlling interests in the consolidated profit/loss in the amount of minus EUR 149 thousand (PY: EUR 8,631 
thousand).

The comprehensive income/loss of EUR minus 14,868 thousand (PY: EUR -31,850 thousand) included the share of 
non-controlling interests in the comprehensive income/loss in the amount of minus EUR 149 thousand (PY: EUR 
8,631 thousand).

20. Discontinued operations

The provisions of IFRS 5 prescribe special measurement and presentation requirements for discontinued operations 
and non-current assets held for sale.

The purpose of these provisions is to draw a distinction between business operations that are expected to continue 
in the future and discontinued business operations, so as to clarify the effects of discontinuation or disposal plans 
for the users of the financial statements. For that reason, the financial reporting of AURELIUS is primarily geared to 
continued operations, for the sake of improved transparency and comparability. Therefore, information on discon-
tinued operations is presented separately in the consolidated statement of financial position, the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of cash flows.

The prior-year consolidated statement of comprehensive income has been adjusted in accordance with the rules of 
IFRS 5 and the accepted definition of a “Cash Generating Unit” at AURELIUS. Accordingly, the equity investments in 
SOLIDUS, the GHOTEL Group and the Scandinavian Cosmetics Group now are presented separately as discontinued 
operations. 

The cash flows for discontinued operations according to IFRS 5 in financial year 2019 included EUR 3,571 thousand 
from operating activities and EUR 204,653 thousand from investing activities.

In early September 2019, AURELIUS sold its portfolio company SOLIDUS to private equity funds advised by Center-
bridge Partners L.P. SOLIDUS is a European producer of sustainable solid board packaging solutions made from 
recycled paper for food, beverages and gardening utensils, as well as consumer goods and industrial applications. 
AURELIUS had acquired SOLIDUS in 2015 from the exchange-listed Smurfit Kappa Group in a corporate spin-off. 
Smurfit Kappa had decided to divest its solid board and printed cardboard factories and plants, as well as its sales 
offices in the Netherlands, Belgium and the United Kingdom. Immediately after the acquisition, AURELIUS restruc-
tured the company for future growth. After a first restructuring phase, an extensive investment program was 
implemented to optimize the production and processing machinery and build up shared services. The organiza-
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tional structures and processes were restructured and the company was made more competitive by means of a 
cost optimization program. Moreover, the existing management team was supplemented with additional experi-
enced experts. The next phase of the restructuring of SOLIDUS involved a strong geographical expansion and the 
improvement of operational efficiency by means of three strategic acquisitions with high synergy potential. 

The following table shows a summarized income statement for the reporting period and previous year and the gain 
on the market valuation of the held-for-sale assets and liabilities of SOLIDUS. The profit/loss for the reporting  period 
also includes the gain on deconsolidation. 

in kEUR 1/1/ - 9/5/2019 1/1/ - 12/31/2018

Income 376,737 349,373

Current expenses -244,327 -338,193

Net financial income/expenses -2,168 -3,149

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 130,242 8,031

Taxes 1,345 -3,861

Profit/loss from discontinued operations before non-controlling interests 131,587 4,170

Gain/loss on revaluation of assets and liabilities held for sale - / - - / -

Taxes - / - - / -

Profit/loss from discontinued operations in the current financial year 131,587 4,170

–  thereof attributable to shareholders of  
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA 

131,587 3,597

– thereof attributable to non-controlling interests - / - 573

AURELIUS sold the Scandinavian Cosmetics Group to Accent Equity 2017, a Scandinavian investment fund, in 
November 2019. AURELIUS had acquired the Scandinavian Cosmetics Group as part of the distribution business 
of the Swiss Valora Group in January 2016. After the successful carve-out from the previous owner, AURELIUS 
set up the corporate group as a uniform company in northern Europe. This was achieved by means of a joint 
management structure and the establishment of new subsidiaries in Denmark and Finland. Efficiency enhance-
ment and business development projects led to profitable growth. Under the management of the new owner, 
the company continued its transformation process from a company focused purely on sales to a leading com-
pany for complete brand management covering all aspects of the value chain: brand development, digital and 
conventional marketing, category management (CM), and distribution. Add-on acquisitions in July 2018 
strengthened the group’s market position and made it the biggest manufacturer-independent luxury and 
 consumer brand management company in Scandinavia. 

The following table shows a summarized income statement for the Scandinavian Cosmetics Group for the 
 reporting period and previous year and the gain on the market valuation of the company’s held-for-sale assets 
and liabilities.
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in kEUR 1/1/ - 11/15/2019 1/1/ - 12/31/2018

Income 120,406 96,002

Current expenses -96,919 -94,418

Net financial income/expenses -976 -752

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 22,511 832

Taxes 209 235

Profit/loss from discontinued operations before non-controlling interests 22,720 1,067

Gain/loss on revaluation of assets and liabilities held for sale - / - - / -

Taxes - / - - / -

Profit/loss from discontinued operations in the current financial year 22,720 1,067

–  thereof attributable to shareholders of  
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA 

22,720 1,067

– thereof attributable to non-controlling interests - / - - / -

AURELIUS sold the GHOTEL Group to the Art-Invest Real Estate Group, which is based in Cologne, in January 
2020. The buyer Art-Invest Real Estate engages in real estate development and operates hotels through several 
investment vehicles. The GHOTEL Group had belonged to the Group’s portfolio since 2006. During this time, it 
developed into a fast-growing, dynamic operator of business hotels with currently 17 locations. The sale of the 
GHOTEL Group was completed on February 28, 2020. AURELIUS acquired the GHOTEL Group, still known at the 
time as “Deutsche Post Wohnen,” from Deutsche Post, which was looking to sell a peripheral operation, in 
2006. The company’s origins can be traced to residential facilities that Deutsche Post operated for its own 
 employees in the 1960s and 70s. Since belonging to AURELIUS, the GHOTEL Group experienced dynamic growth 
mainly on the strength of new hotel openings and successful add-on acquisitions. Since 2016, a total of seven 
hotels were acquired in the form of succession solutions and operated under the company’s own brands 
 GHOTEL hotel & living and nestor and under franchise brands such as Holiday Inn. 

The following table shows a summarized income statement for GHOTEL Group for the reporting period and 
previous year and the gain on the market valuation of the company’s held-for-sale assets and liabilities. 

in kEUR 1/1/- 12/31/2019 1/1/ - 12/31/2018

Income 60,831 42,586

Current expenses -56,430 -38,723

Net financial income/expenses -6,569 -2,116

Earnings before taxes (EBT) -2,168 1,747

Taxes -1,273 -1,424

Profit/loss from discontinued operations before non-controlling interests -3,441 323

Gain/loss on revaluation of assets and liabilities held for sale - / - - / -

Taxes  - / - - / -

Profit/loss from discontinued operations in the current financial year -3,441 323

–  thereof attributable to shareholders of  
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA 

-3,234 226

– thereof attributable to non-controlling interests -207 97
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22. Segment information

AURELIUS is a holding company with a long-term investment horizon, which specializes in acquiring companies 
with development potential. Thus, the portfolio comprises companies from a wide range of industries.

According to the requirements of IFRS 8, it must first be determined which companies have the status of an 
operating segment in order to then assess whether the segments are reportable or whether they should be 
aggregated for qualitative or quantitative reasons. Based on the composition of the Group, it has one reporta-
ble segment (Retail & Consumer Products) according to IFRS 8 at the reporting date of December 31, 2019, while 
the other portfolio companies are aggregated in Miscellaneous.

21. Earnings per share

In accordance with IAS 33 (Earnings per Share), the undiluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the 
consolidated profit/loss after non-controlling interests by the average weighted shares outstanding. For the 
purpose of calculating the diluted earnings per share, the average number of shares outstanding is corrected 
for the number of all potentially diluting shares, which consist exclusively of the potential conversion of out-
standing debt instruments into shares (convertible bonds). In addition, the consolidated profit/loss is adjusted 
for the interest expenses of the convertible bond.

in kEUR 1/1/ - 12/31/2019 1/1/ - 12/31/2018

Profit/loss after taxes -140,433 -14,650

Profit/loss attributable to non-controlling interests -149 8,631

Profit/loss attributable to shareholders of   
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA 

-140,284 -23,281

Profit/loss from discontinued operations 158,698 -24,872

Expenses for convertible bonds, after taxes 2,560 2,936

Average weighted number of shares outstanding 29,682,553 29,074,890

Effect of potentially diluting shares:  Weighted average of issued stock options 2,340,329 2,578,998

Average weighted number of shares outstanding for diluted earnings per share 32,022,882 31,653,888

Undiluted earnings per share in EUR

From continued operations -4.73 -0.80

From discontinued operations 5.35 -0.86

From continued and discontinued operations 0.62 -1.66

Diluted earnings per share in EUR

From continued operations -4.30 -0.64

From discontinued operations 4.96 -0.79

From continued and discontinued operations 0.66 -1.43
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The segment report for the years 2019 and 2018 is presented in the tables below: 

2019 in kEUR

Re
ta

il 
&

 C
on

su
m

er
 

Pr
od

uc
ts

M
is

ce
lla

ne
ou

s

Co
ns

ol
id

at
io

n

AU
RE

LI
U

S 
G

ro
up

Revenues with third parties 2,658,529 953,596 - / - 3,612,125

–  thereof from discontinued operations 98,914 321,028 - / - 419,942

–  thereof from continued operations 2,559,615 632,568 - / - 3,192,183

Revenues between Group segments 25 3,594 -3,619 - / -

Total revenues 2,658,554 957,190 -3,619 3,612,125

EBITDA from continued operations 59,418 14,328 - / - 73,746

EBIT from continued operations -78,745 -31,655 - / - -110,400

Net financial income/expenses -34,678

Earnings before taxes (EBT) -145,078

Income taxes 4,645

Profit/loss after taxes from continued operations -140,433

Profit/loss from discontinued operations 158,698

Share of non-controlling interests -149

Consolidated profit/loss attributable to shareholders  
of the parent company

18,414

Statement of financial position – Assets

Segment assets 1,392,333 924,206 2,316,539

Non-assigned assets 224,994

Group assets 2,541,533

Statement of financial position – Equity and liabilities

Segment liabilities 1,027,234 400,534 1,427,768

Non-assigned liabilities 685,613

Group liabilities 2,113,381

Other information 

Current investment expenditures -48,198 -33,148 -81,346

Investment expenditures for acquisitions -9,172 6,748 -2,424

Depreciation and amortization -99,087 -45,983 -145,070

Impairments (IAS 36) -39,076 - / - -39,076

Interest income 343 1,956 2,299

Interest expenses -25,280 -11,697 -36,977
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2018 in kEUR
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Revenues with third parties 2,553,125 1,228,640 - / - 3,781,765

–  thereof from discontinued operations 96,060 782,768 - / - 878,828

–  thereof from continued operations 2,457,065 445,872 - / - 2,902,937

Revenues between Group segments - / - 34,904 -34,904 - / -

Total revenues 2,553,125 1,263,544 -34,904 3,781,765

EBITDA from continued operations 8,487 57,231  - / - 65,718

EBIT from continued operations -25,036 36,723 - / - 11,687

Net financial income/expenses -10,694

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 993

Income taxes -15,643

Profit/loss after taxes from continued operations -14,650

Profit/loss from discontinued operations -24,872

Share of non-controlling interests 8,631

Consolidated profit/loss attributable to shareholders  
of the parent company 

-48,153

Statements of financial position – Assets

Segment assets 1,245,603 814,849 2,060,452

Non-assigned assets 105,827

Group assets 2,166,279

Statement of financial position – Equity and liabilities

Segment liabilities 704,611 338,889 1,043,500

Non-assigned liabilities 583,800

Group liabilities 1,627,300

Other information 

Current investment expenditures -24,088 -44,521 -68,609

Investment expenditures for acquisitions -35,639 -89,998 -125,637

Depreciation and amortization -33,524 -20,507 -54,031

Impairments (IAS 36) - / - - / - - / -

Interest income 1,499 1,294 2,793

Interest expenses -8,352 -5,135 -13,487
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Of the non-current assets according to IFRS 8.33 (b), EUR 168,435 thousand (PY: EUR 123,262 thousand) are held in 
Germany and EUR 647,821 thousand (PY: EUR 457,257 thousand) are held in third countries. Significant other coun-
tries with non-current assets in the past financial year were Denmark with EUR 133,942 thousand and the United 
Kingdom with EUR 283,905 thousand. 

In financial year 2019, AURELIUS had significant revenues with portfolio companies in France in the amount of EUR 
344,277 thousand, Denmark in the amount of EUR 304,897 thousand, and the United Kingdom in the amount of 
EUR 875,775 thousand.

For the purpose of monitoring profitability and the distribution of resources among the sectors, all assets except 
for investments in associated companies and joint ventures, current and deferred taxes and assets held for sale 
are assigned to the sectors. All liabilities except for loans and other financial liabilities as well as the actual and 
deferred taxes are assigned to the sectors. The liabilities related to assets held for sale are also not assigned to the 
sectors.

A breakdown of revenues by geographical markets is presented in the table below:

in kEUR 1/1/ - 12/31/2019 1/1/ - 12/31/2018

Germany 485,352 432,315

Europe – European Union 2,358,887 2,239,694

Europe – Other 163,020 95,778

Third countries 184,924 135,150

Total continued operations 3,192,183 2,902,937

Discontinued operations 419,942 878,828

Total revenues 3,612,125 3,781,765

 
In the following, the portfolio companies subsumed in Miscellaneous according to IFRS 8 are also divided into the 
known sectors of Services & Solutions (S&S), Industrial Production (IP) and Other, as in the previous years and to 
provide better information to all stakeholders. 

Primary emphasis is placed on the indicator EBIT (Earnings Before Interest and Taxes). The recognition and meas-
urement methods of the reportable segments correspond to the consolidated recognition and measurement 
methods described in Note 11. 

The management of AURELIUS has decided to organize its external reporting separately for companies in the 
 production sector, the retail sector and the services sector. This approach has been unchanged since 2008. These 
companies are aggregated in accordance with the criteria of similar economic characteristics according to IFRS 8. 
Due to the fact that the product portfolio of AURELIUS is very extensive, other indicators related to the business 
object are applied, primarily including the target margin of individual Group companies that have a similar target 
corridor for restructuring and optimization measures. In addition, the measures and expertise of the AURELIUS 
functional specialists may be apportioned among these three segments. Optimization measures depend on the 
depth of value-added and exhibit similar characteristics in each segment. 
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The Retail & Consumer Products segment (RCP) described above and the Services & Solutions (S&S), Industrial 
Production (IP) and Other sectors described below are sub-divided as follows:

1)  The Services and Solutions (S&S) sector comprises companies that operate specifically in the services sector, 
including AKAD University, LD Didactic, the BPG Building Partners Group (previously: B+P Gerüstbau), Trans-
form/The Hospital Group and Rivus Fleet Solutions.  

2)  The RCP segment comprises companies that sell their products directly to end customers, including Scholl 
Footwear, MEZ, the Conaxess Trade Group, Calumet Wex, Office Depot Europe, Silvan, Bertram Books, Ideal 
Shopping Direct, the NDS Group and the BMC Benelux.

3)  The Industrial Production (IP) sector comprises companies that operate primarily in the area of industrial pro-
duction, including CalaChem, Briar Chemicals, HanseYachts, Hammerl and VAG.

4)  The Other sector is mainly composed of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA and other intermediate 
holding companies; thus, it comprises all activities related to corporate management and administration.

All transfer prices applied in dealings between the aforementioned sectors are the same as the prices charged to 
outside third parties. In addition, administrative services are charged in the form of cost allocations.  
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Revenues with third parties 226,239 700,579 2,658,529 26,778 - / - 3,612,125

–  thereof from discontinued operations 65,038 255,990 98,914 - / - - / - 419,942

– thereof from continued operations 161,201 444,589 2,559,615 26,778 - / - 3,192,183

Revenues between Group sectors - / - 21 25 3,573 -3,619 - / -

Total revenues 226,239 700,600 2,658,554 30,351 -3,619 3,612,125

EBITDA from continued operations 37,316 16,985 59,418 -39,973 - / - 73,746

EBIT from continued operations 23,420 -7,110 -78,745 -47,965 - / - -110,400

Net financial income/expenses -34,678

Earnings before taxes (EBT) -145,078

Income taxes 4,645

Profit/loss after taxes from continued 
operations 

-140,433

Profit/loss from discontinued operations 158,698

Non-controlling interests -149

Consolidated profit/loss attributable to 
shareholders of the parent company 

18,414

Statement of financial position – Assets

Sector assets 243,204 345,891 1,392,333 335,111 2,316,539

Non-assigned assets 224,994

Group assets 2,541,533

Statement of financial position – Equity and liabilities

Sector liabilities 150,901 148,561 1,027,234 101,072 1,427,768

Non-assigned liabilities 685,613

Group liabilities 2,113,381

Other disclosures 

Current investment expenditures -11,781 -17,864 -48,198 -3,503 -81,346

Investment expenditures for acquisitions -599 - / - -9,172 7,347 -2,424

Depreciation and amortization -13,895 -24,096 -99,087 -7,992 -145,070

Impairments (IAS 36) - / - - / - -39,076 - / - -39,076

Interest income 42 566 343 1,348 2,299

Interest expenses -765 -3,959 -25,280 -6,973 -36,977
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2018 in kEUR
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Revenues with third parties 446,946 775,873 2,553,125 5,821 - / - 3,781,765

–  thereof from discontinued operations 320,717 462,051 96,060 - / - - / - 878,828

– thereof from continued  operations 126,229 313,822 2,457,065 5,821 - / - 2,902,937

Revenues between Group sectors 1 56 - / - 34,847 -34,904 - / -

Total revenues 446,946 775,930 2,553,125 40,668 -34,904 3,781,765

EBITDA from continued operations 6,315 93,987 8,487 -43,071  - / - 65,718

EBIT from continued operations -26 80,292 -25,036 -43,543 - / - 11,687

Net financial income/expenses -10,694

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 993

Income taxes -15,643

Profit/loss after taxes from continued 
operations 

-14,650

Profit/loss from discontinued operations -24,872

Non-controlling interests 8,631

Consolidated profit/loss attributable to 
shareholders parent company

-48,153

Statement of financial position – Assets

Sector assets 120,138 595,169 1,245,603 99,542 2,060,452

Non-assigned assets 105,827

Group assets 2,166,279

Statement of financial position – Equity and liabilities 

Sector liabilities 42,719 258,472 704,611 37,698 1,043,500

Non-assigned liabilities 583,800

Group liabilities 1,627,300

Other disclosures 

Current investment expenditures -8,762 -35,507 -24,088 -252 -68,609

Investment expenditures for acquisitions -28,923 -61,075 -35,639 - / - -125,637

Depreciation and amortization -6,341 -13,695 -33,524 -471 -54,031

Impairments (IAS 36) - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -

Reversals of impairments (IAS 36) - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -

Interest income 5 56 1,499 1,233 2,793

Interest expenses -103 -991 -8,352 -4,041 -13,487
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TAXES

23. Income taxes

AU RELI US AN N UAL REPORT  I  17 1



N OT E S  TO  T H E  CO N S O L I DAT E D  F I N A N C I A L  STAT E M E N T S

 Home

TAXES 

23. Income taxes

The taxes recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income have the following structure:

in kEUR 2019 2018

Current taxes for the current period -7,687 -18,014

Adjustments for current taxes in previous years recognized in the current period 4,001 1,869

Deferred taxes for the current period 20,507 12,783

Impairments and reversals of impairments of deferred taxes -12,176 -12,281

Total income tax income (PY: income tax expenses) 4,645 -15,643

The tax income for the profit/loss from discontinued operations amounted to EUR 239 thousand (PY: EUR 1,165 
thousand).

Deferred taxes result from differences in the values presented in the consolidated financial statements 
 prepared in accordance with IFRS and the corresponding tax bases, and from consolidation measures. The 
Group assumes that the tax provisions are adequate for all outstanding tax years, taking into account numer-
ous factors including the interpretations of tax law and past experience.

The respective country-specific income tax rates applied for foreign companies range from five percent to 
35 percent, unchanged from the previous year.

The breakdown of income taxes recognized directly in other comprehensive income in the consolidated state-
ment of comprehensive income for the reporting period and previous year, including the reclassification 
amounts, is presented in the table below:

1/1/ - 12/31/2019 (in kEUR)
Amount 

 before 
 income taxes

Income taxes
Amount after 
income taxes 

Foreign currency differences -1,476 - / - -1,476

– Reclassification in profit or loss - / - - / - - / -

– Unrealized change -1,476 - / - -1,476

Revaluations IAS 19 -32,084 427 -31,657

 
The deferred taxes on pension assets attributable to other comprehensive income according to IAS 19 amounted 
to EUR 1,330 thousand in financial year 2019 (PY: EUR 903 thousand).  
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1/1/ - 12/31/2018 (in kEUR)
Amount 

 before 
 income taxes

Income taxes
Amount after 
income taxes 

Foreign currency differences 6,146 - / - 6,146

– Reclassification recognized in profit or loss - / - - / - - / -

– Unrealized change 6,146 - / - 6,146

Revaluations IAS 19 1,771 -245 1,526

 
The differences between the actual income tax expenses/income recognized in the statement of comprehen-
sive income and the expected income tax expenses/income are presented in the following reconciliation state-
ment. The expected income tax expenses/income were calculated by multiplying the profit/loss before  i ncome 
taxes by the expected tax rate. The total expected income tax rate, which is composed of the statutory  German 
corporate income tax, the solidarity surtax and the German trade tax, was about 24 percent.

The expected income tax result can be reconciled to the recognized income taxes as follows:

in kEUR 1/1/ - 12/31/2019 1/1/ - 12/31/2018

Earnings before taxes from continued operations -145,078 993

Expected income tax rate 24% 24%

Expected income tax expenses (-) or income (+) 34,819 -238

Different tax burden 1,980 1,483

Tax-exempt income from bargain purchases 15,680 20,535

Trade tax additions and reductions -402 85

Non-deductible operating expenses 494 -2,914

Tax-exempt gain/loss on sales of equity investments - / - -2,743

Tax-exempt income 9,791 4,603

Permanent differences from balance sheet items -13,563 1,016

Tax effects of unused tax losses not recognized as deferred tax assets -34,737 -28,441

Changes in impairments in the current year -12,176 -12,281

Non-period income taxes 4,001 2,459

Effects caused by dividends - / - -714

Other effects -1,242 1,507

Stated income tax expenses (-) or income (+) 4,645 -15,643

Deferred tax assets for temporary differences in the amount of EUR 40,188 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand) were 
not recognized. Deferred tax assets are recognized for existing corporate income tax and trade tax loss carry-for-
wards. The total underlying loss carry-forwards amounted to EUR 76,679 thousand in financial year 2019 (PY: EUR 
62,788 thousand) for the corporate income tax and EUR 7,093 thousand (PY: EUR 12,854 thousand) for the trade 
tax. No deferred tax assets were recognized for other existing corporate income tax (EUR 505,001 thousand; PY: 
EUR 411,660 thousand) and trade tax loss carry-forwards (EUR 280,304 thousand; PY: EUR 225,071 thousand) and 
interest carry-forwards (EUR 16,798 thousand; PY: EUR 25,125 thousand) because the use of these carry-forwards is 
subject to legal or  economic restrictions. Existing tax loss carry-forwards can be applied in full against positive 
taxable income in Germany in any tax assessment period up to an amount of EUR 1,000 thousand; above that 
amount, however, corporate income tax and trade tax loss carry-forwards can only be applied at the rate of 60 
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percent (minimum taxation). These tax loss carry-forwards are generally not subject to time limits, but can no 
longer be transferred to other companies by way of mergers or similar transactions after the introduction of the 
SEStEG of December 13, 2006. In Germany, due consideration must be given to Section 8c KStG, which was intro-
duced with the 2008 corporate tax reform. Deferred tax assets are not recognized for existing tax loss carry-for-
wards obtained from company acquisitions at the acquisition date. A separate review is conducted at the report-
ing date to determine whether the tax loss carry-forwards can be used in the future. Due to the special 
characteristics of the AURELIUS business model, an individual planning period of one to three years is considered 
for the capitalization of tax loss carry-forwards.

The amounts and dates of expiration of not yet used tax losses are presented in the table below:

12/31/2019 in kEUR

Corporate income tax

Carry-forwardable for No time limit 503,490

Carry-forwardable for 1 year - / -

Carry-forwardable for 2 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for 3 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for 4 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for 5 years 797

Carry-forwardable for 6 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for 7 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for More than 7 years 714

Trade tax

Carry-forwardable for No time limit 280,302

Carry-forwardable for 1 year - / -

Carry-forwardable for 2 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for 3 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for 4 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for 5 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for 6 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for 7 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for More than 7 years 2

Interest carry-forward from upper-bound interest deduction 

Carry-forwardable for No time limit 16,798
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12/31/2018 in kEUR

Corporate income tax

Carry-forwardable for No time limit 410,419

Carry-forwardable for 1 year - / -

Carry-forwardable for 2 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for 3 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for 4 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for 5 years 821

Carry-forwardable for 6 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for 7 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for More than 7 years 420

Trade tax

Carry-forwardable for No time limit 225,071

Carry-forwardable for 1 year - / -

Carry-forwardable for 2 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for 3 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for 4 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for 5 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for 6 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for 7 years - / -

Carry-forwardable for More than 7 years - / -

Interest carry-forward from upper-bound interest deduction

Carry-forwardable for No time limit 25,125

No deferred taxes were recognized for outside basis differences according to IAS 12.39 in the amount of EUR 4,604 
thousand (PY: EUR 2,112 thousand) in the consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & 
Co. KGaA. Deferred tax liabilities of EUR zero thousand (PY: EUR 115 thousand) were recognized for companies be-
ing considered for a near-term investment or from which it is planned to receive a dividend. Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are presented in the table below:

in kEUR 12/31/2019 12/31/2018

Deferred tax assets 

Intangible assets 2,213 1,991

Property, plant and equipment 2,952 4,745

Non-current financial assets 695 550

Inventories 1,788 3,015

Current assets 1,515 2,188

Deferred expenses 61 110

Pension provisions 4,947 2,809

Other provisions 1,426 5,526

Liabilities 4,689 5,725

Tax loss carry-forwards 17,431 16,695

Netting -8,668 -10,066

Total deferred tax assets 29,049 33,288
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in kEUR 12/31/2019 12/31/2018

Deferred tax liabilities 

Intangible assets 16,823 19,420

Property, plant and equipment 13,988 16,027

Non-current financial assets 120 540

Receivables and other current assets 5,135 5,142

Liabilities 3,828 8,092

Netting -8,668 -10,066

Total deferred tax liabilities 31,226 39,155

The changes in deferred taxes are presented in the table below:

in kEUR 2019 2018

Balance at January 1 -5,867 9,102

Acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries -4,322 -6,978

Profit/loss in the income statement 8,331 -6,782

Deferred taxes recognized in other comprehensive income 427 -245

Foreign currency effects -746 -964

Balance at December 31 -2,177 -5,867
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ASSETS

24. Goodwill

25. Other intangible assets 

26. Property, plant and equipment

27. Right-of-use assets

28. Financial assets

 28.1 Other equity investments 

 28.2 Other long-term loans 

29. Inventories

30. Trade receivables

31. Income tax assets 

32. Other financial assets 

33. Other assets 

34. Deferred expenses 

35. Cash and cash equivalents 

36.  Assets and liabilities held for sale 
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ASSETS

24. Goodwill

For the purpose of conducting impairment tests, goodwill is assigned to cash-generating units. The recoverable 
amount of a cash-generating unit is determined as the fair value less the costs to sell (2 percent of fair value), 
applying the third valuation level. Because directly observable market prices generally do not exist for the 
 intangible assets in question, the fair value is determined by discounting future cash flows to present value. An 
exception to this rule is represented by the exchange-listed Group company HanseYachts, which is measured at 
the proportional market capitalization at the reporting date. 

In financial year 2019, an impairment of EUR 3,372 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand) was found in the goodwill of 
CGU Bertram Books at AURELIUS. The discount rate (WACC) was set at 7.21 percent and the revenue and EBIT 
expectations for the three-year detailed planning period were planned on the basis of ambitious growth. For the 
period after that, a growth rate of 0.5 percent p.a. was assumed. The fair value less costs to sell was established as 
the recoverable amount. The impairment is presented under Depreciation, amortization and impairments in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

At December 31, 2019, the total amount of goodwill was EUR 20,183 thousand (PY: EUR 46,030 thousand). 

The acquisition costs of goodwill can be reconciled as follows:

Acquisition costs  in kEUR 2019 2018

Balance at 1/1 46,090 20,642

Adjustment of prior-year figure according to IFRS 3.45 - / - -382

Additionally recognized amounts from business combinations according to IFRS 3  
in the reporting period 

- / - 25,830

Disposal due to sale of subsidiaries -7,620 - / -

Reclassification to “Assets held for sale” -14,905 - / -

Balance at 12/31 23,565 46,090

The recognized and cumulative impairments have the following structure:

Impairments  in kEUR 2019 2018

Balance at 1/1 -60 -60

Impairment losses in the current year -3,372 - / -

Disposal due to sale of subsidiaries 50 - / -

Balance at 12/31 -3,382 -60

 
Goodwill items are subject to an annual impairment test in accordance with IAS 36. With respect to goodwill, the 
cash-generating unit is the portfolio company in its entirety. There are no exceptions to this rule. Material por-
tions of goodwill existed on the reporting date at Calumet Wex in the amount of EUR 10,568 thousand (PY: EUR 
10,568 thousand) and at HanseYachts (HanseYachts AG acquired Privilége Marine from AURELIUS in financial year 
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2019) in the amount of EUR 5,467 thousand (PY: EUR 5,467 thousand). The goodwill declined considerably from the 
prior year due to sales of individual portfolio companies (minus EUR 7,620 thousand) and reclassifications to “As-
sets held for sale” (minus EUR 14,905 thousand) in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 5. 

The basis for the impairment tests conducted for the material CGUs has the following structure:

CGU

Carrying 
amounts 

of goodwill 
12/31/2019 

(in kEUR)

Carrying 
amounts of 

intangible assets 
with indefinite 

useful lives 
12/31/2019 

(in kEUR)
Growth rate 

perpetuity

Discount rate 
(WACC) after 

taxes Revenues EBIT 

HanseYachts / 
Privilége Marine

5,467 9,966 0.5% 6.41%
Moderate 

growth
Solid 

Growth

Calumet Wex 10,568 - / - 0.5% 7.37%
Moderate 

growth
Moderate 

growth

CGU

Carrying 
amounts 

of goodwill 
12/31/2018 

(in kEUR)

Carrying 
amounts of 

intangible assets 
with indefinite 

useful lives 
12/31/2018 

(in kEUR)
Growth rate 

perpetuity

Discount rate 
(WACC) after 

taxes Revenues EBIT 

HanseYachts - / - 9,966 0.5% 6.80%
Moderate 

growth
Solid  

growth

GHOTEL Group 14,904 - / - 0.5% 6.77%
Solid 

growth
Solid 

growth

Calumet Wex 10,568 - / - 0.5% 6.67%
Solid 

growth
Solid 

Growth

Privilége Marine 5,467 - / - 0.5% 7.77%
Solid 

growth
Solid 

growth

The scale comprises three levels, from “modest growth” to “moderate growth” to “solid growth.” The average 
annual growth rate is 7.4 percent (PY: 4.6 % - 19.8 %) for revenues and > 100.0 percent (PY: 16.2 % -> 100.0 %) for 
EBIT. The above-average growth rates in some cases resulted naturally from ongoing restructuring processes in 
the indicated planning period.

For conducting the impairment test, the total carrying amounts of the group of cash-generating units are  checked 
against the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is calculated as the fair value less costs to sell, based on 
discounted future cash flows. Expected cash flows are based on a qualified planning process, with due considera-
tion given to internal experience values and external macroeconomic data. The detailed planning period covers 
three years, as a general rule. In most cases, a growth rate of 0.5 percent is applied for the time after the three-
year period. As a general rule, the discount factor is calculated as the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) by 
application of the capital asset pricing model. For this purpose, an individual group of comparison companies 
(“peer group”) is applied for all groups of cash-generating units operating in the same business segment.
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25. Other intangible assets 

The other intangible assets in the amount of EUR 150,859 thousand (PY: EUR 181,007 thousand) are mainly com-
posed of software, industrial property rights, brands, orders on hand, and customer relationships. Along with 
the franchises and intellectual property rights, the significant amounts result from brands with definite or 
 indefinite useful lives in the amount of EUR 27,934 thousand (PY: EUR 56,848 thousand), customer relationships 
in the amount of EUR 16,603 thousand (PY: EUR 17,224 thousand), and capitalized development costs in the 
amount of EUR 3,539 thousand (PY: EUR 6,714 thousand). 

Furthermore, the discount factors are determined on the basis of the following exemplary assumptions: a 
base interest rate of 0.32 percent (PY: 0.88 %) and a market risk premium of 7.0 percent (PY: 6.25 %) at Decem-
ber 31, 2019 for a term of 30 years in Germany. Country-typical risk premiums are applied to both the equity 
capital cost rate and the debt capital cost rate, based on the credit rating of the respective country.

For purposes of estimating the development of revenues, EBIT and the EBIT margin, specific growth rates were 
assumed in conducting the impairment test of the respective CGUs. The calculation of sustainably  attainable 
earnings is based on assumptions regarding various cost reduction measures. Furthermore, customary market 
EBIT margins were assumed for calculating the sustainably attainable earnings. The medium-term increase in EBIT 
results from the current transformation process. In addition to the impairment test, three sensitivity analyses 
were conducted. Zero growth in the perpetual annuity was assumed for the first sensitivity analysis. For the 
 second sensitivity analysis, the discount factor was increased by 10 percentage points for each group of cash- 
generating units. For the third sensitivity analysis, a flat-rate deduction of 10 percent was applied to the assumed 
EBIT in perpetuity. These changes in the underlying assumptions would also not result in a need to recognize 
 i mpairments.
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The development of the carrying amounts of the other intangible assets is presented in the following table:

in kEUR

Franchises, 
industrial  

Property rights 
and similar rights 

and licenses
Other  

intangible assets 
Down 

 payments Total

Acquisition or production costs

Balance at January 1, 2018 91,446 143,929 10,318 245,693

Discontinued operations -722 -9,164 -10,118 -20,004

Continued operations 90,724 134,765 200 225,689

Changes in the basis of consolidation 1,128 35,607 - / - 36,735

Acquisitions 13,630 5,828 187 19,645

Disposals -3,527 -277 -125 -3,929

Reclassifications 49 638 -113 574

Currency effects -543 -680 - / - -1,223

Balance at December 31, 2018 101,461 175,882 149 277,492

Discontinued operations -4,720 -29,216 -34 -33,970

Continued operations 96,740 146,666 115 243,522

Changes in the basis of consolidation 2,971 24,007 -3 26,975

Acquisitions 23,321 8,799 980 33,100

Disposals -4,382 -1,587 -266 -6,235

Reclassifications -727 699 27 - / -

Currency effects 3,791 2,973 21 6,785

Balance at December 31, 2019 121,715 181,557 875 304,147

Depreciation, amortization and impairments

Balance at January 1, 2018 -21,500 -51,449 -2,255 -75,204

Discontinued operations 22 2,507 2,253 4,782

Continued operations -21,478 -48,942 -2 -70,422

Acquisitions -10,769 -17,853 - / - -28,622

Impairments (IAS 36) - / - - / - - / - - / -

Disposals 1,935 23 - / - 1,958

Reclassifications 309 -378 - / - -69

Currency effects 217 454 - / - 670

Balance at December 31, 2018 -29,787 -66,696 -2 -96,485

Discontinued operations 157 9,006 - / - 9,163

Continued operations -29,630 -57,690 -2 -87,322

Acquisitions -14,851 -19,951 - / - -34,802

Impairments (IAS 36) - / - -30,479 - / - -30,479

Disposals 315 260 - / - 575

Currency effects -716 -544 - / - -1,260

Balance at December 31, 2019 -44,882 -108,404 -2 -153,288

Carrying amount at December 31, 2018 71,674 109,186 147 181,007

Carrying amount at December 31, 2019 76,833 73,153 873 150,859
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For the purpose of conducting impairment tests, brands with indefinite useful lives are assigned to cash-genera-
ting units. The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is determined as the fair value less the costs to sell 
(two percent of fair value), applying the third valuation level. Because directly observable market prices generally 
do not exist for the intangible assets in question, the fair value is determined by discounting future cash flows to 
present value. In financial year 2019, no impairments were recognized in any intangible assets with indefinite 
useful lives, as in the previous year. Impairment losses are presented within Depreciation, amortization and 
 impairments in the statement of comprehensive income. Also in financial year 2019, it was not necessary to 
 reverse impairments recognized in previous years. Impairments are presented under Depreciation, amortization 
and impairments in the statement of comprehensive income. Reversals of impairments in earlier years were also 
not required in the reporting period (PY: EUR 0 thousand). 

Brands with indefinite useful lives are subjected to an annual impairment test in accordance with IAS 36 (see also 
Note 24). They are not subject to straight-line amortization because they are so-called umbrella brands. The 
cash-generating unit is the portfolio company in its entirety, as a general rule. There are no exceptions to this rule. 

An impairment test according to IAS 36 was performed at Office Depot Europe, which belongs to the Retail & 
Consumer Products segment, in financial year 2019. The discount rate (WACC) was set at 10.79 percent and the 
revenue and EBIT expectations for the three-year detailed planning period were planned on the basis of ambiti-
ous growth. For the period after that, a growth rate of 0.5 percent p.a. was assumed. The fair value less costs of 
disposal was determined as the recoverable amount. This led to an impairment of EUR 25,139 thousand (PY: EUR 0 
thousand) in Other intangible assets at Group level.

An impairment test according to IAS 36 was performed at the CGU Bertram Books, which belongs to the Retail & 
Consumer Products segment, in financial year 2019. The discount rate (WACC) was set at 7.21 percent and the re-
venue and EBIT expectations for the three-year detailed planning period were planned on the basis of ambitious 
growth. For the period after that, a growth rate of 0.5 percent p.a. was assumed. The fair value less costs of dispo-
sal was established as the recoverable amount. This led to an impairment of EUR 5,340 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thous-
and) in Other intangible assets at Group level.

The capitalized development costs recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position within other 
intangible assets amounted to EUR 3,539 thousand at December 31, 2019 (PY: EUR 6,714 thousand). Research and 
development expenses of the Group amounted to EUR 3,978 thousand in the reporting period (PY: EUR 4,069 
thousand).

Intangible assets in the amount of EUR 4,043 thousand (PY: EUR 5,432 thousand) have been pledged as security for 
the Group’s financial liabilities, in the amount of EUR 542 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand) as security for liabilities 
under leases, and in the amount of EUR zero thousand (PY: EUR 526 thousand) as security for trade payables. 

26. Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment in the amount of EUR 14,860 thousand (PY: EUR 19,374 thousand) have been 
 pledged as security for financial liabilities and in the amount of EUR 976 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand) as security 
for liabilities under leases. Contractual commitments for purchases of property, plant and equipment (purchase 
commitments) totaled EUR 1,297 thousand at the reporting date of December 31, 2019 (PY: EUR 5,640 thousand).
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The development of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at December 31, 2019 is  presented in 
the table below:
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Acquisition or production costs 
Balance at January 1, 2018 34,824 118,255 132,249 63,811 17,874 367,013
Discontinued operations -2,882 -5,246 -15,673 -2,988 -523 -27,312
Continued operations 31,942 113,009 116,576 60,823 17,351 339,701
Changes in the basis of consolidation 14,994 33,175 36,821 7,289 2,925 95,204
Acquisitions 50 13,858 8,073 19,036 27,562 68,579
Disposals -5,109 -12,543 -20,087 -3,451 -1,616 -42,806
Reclassifications 1,730 116 7,984 2,384 -11,792 422
Currency effects -51 -437 -672 -285 -215 -1,660
Balance at December 31, 2018 43,556 147,178 148,685 85,796 34,216 459,440
Discontinued operations -17,270 -40,173 -60,505 -11,036 -6,936 -135,920
Continued operations 26,286 107,005 88,190 74,760 27,280 323,520
Changes in the basis of consolidation 146 -6,609 -2,798 10,241 13 993
Acquisitions 370 3,676 6,669 16,888 20,644 48,247
Disposals -194 -17,013 -4,253 -8,899 -136 -30,495
Reclassifications -3,211 6,844 20,249 3,948 -28,371 -541
Currency effects 280 1,401 3,835 543 569 6,628
Balance at December 31, 2019 23,677 95,304 111,892 97,481 19,999 348,352

Depreciation, amortization and impairments

Balance at January 1, 2018 -1,019 -20,174 -32,503 -18,476 -291 -72,463
Discontinued operations 11 60 362 39 - / - 472
Continued operations -1,008 -20,114 -32,141 -18,437 -291 -71,991
Acquisitions -45 -8,026 -24,004 -14,875 - / - -46,950
Impairments (IAS 36) - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -
Disposals - / - 8,636 19,655 1,674 - / - 29,965
Reversals of impairments - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -
Reclassifications -886 -1,323 395 -446 - / - -2,260
Currency effects - / - 28 25 96 1 150
Balance at December 31, 2018 -1,939 -20,799 -36,070 -31,988 -290 -91,086
Discontinued operations - / - - / - 8,565 4,610 - / - 13,175
Continued operations -1,939 -20,797 -27,505 -27,378 -290 -77,910
Acquisitions -139 -6,606 -15,354 -14,614 -592 -37,305
Impairments (IAS 36) - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -
Disposals - / - 8,966 1,694 6,136 - / - 16,796
Reversals of impairments - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / -
Reclassifications -3 -1,307 1,756 -1,480 49 -985
Currency effects -1 -201 -1,733 -291 5 -2,221
Balance at December 31, 2019 -2,082 -19,945 -41,142 -37,627 -828 -101,623

Carrying amount at December 31, 2018 41,617 126,379 112,625 53,808 33,926 368,354
Carrying amount at December 31, 2019 21,595 75,359 70,750 59,854 19,171 246,729
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27. Right-of-use assets  

As a lessee, AURELIUS leases many assets, including real estate, production facilities and IT equipment. Previously, 
leases were classified as operating leases or finance leases depending on an assessment of whether the lease 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards incident to ownership of the underlying asset to AURELIUS. 
 Under IFRS 16, right-of-use assets and depreciation of these assets are recognized, so that these leases are presen-
ted in the statement of financial position. The Group allocates the contractually agreed consideration on the basis 
of relative stand-alone prices at the date of availability or when a lease is modified.

Right-of-use assets are measured as follows:

■■ At the carrying amount as though IFRS 16 had been applied since the date of availability, discounted to 
present value by application of the Group’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of first-time application.

■■ At an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted for any lease payments made in advance or accrued lease 
payments.

 
The Group tested its right-of-use assets for impairment at the transition date and concluded that there were no 
indications for an impairment of right-of-use rights with the exception of Bertram Books. An impairment test 
according to IAS 36 was performed at CGU Bertram Books, which belongs to the Retail & Consumer Products 
segment, in financial year 2019. The discount rate (WACC) was set at 7.21 percent and the revenue and EBIT expec-
tations for the three-year detailed planning period were planned on the basis of ambitious growth. For the period 
after that, a growth rate of 0.5 percent p.a. was assumed. The fair value less costs to sell was established as the 
recoverable amount. This led to an impairment of EUR 5,224 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand) in the right-of-use 
assets at the Group level. 

The Group exercised a number of simplification options in its application of IFRS 16 to leases that were classified 
as operating leases according to IAS 17. Specifically, the Group:

■■ recognized neither right-of-use assets nor lease liabilities for leases with a term that ends within twelve 
months of the date of first-time application,

■■ recognized neither right-of-use assets nor lease liabilities for leases for which the underlying asset has a 
low value (e.g. IT equipment),

■■ disregarded initial direct costs in measuring the right-of-use assets at the date of first-time application, and
■■ determined the terms of leases retroactively.
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The development of the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets in financial year 2019 is presented in the table 
below:

in kEUR Right-of-use assets  

Acquisition or production costs 
Balance at December 31, 2018 - / -
First-time application of IFRS 16 688,939
Balance at January 1, 2019 688,939
Discontinued operations -166,615
Continued operations 522,324
Changes in the basis of consolidation -10,053
Acquisitions - / -
Disposals -40,082
Reclassifications - / -
Currency effects 4,039
Balance at December 31, 2019 476,228

Depreciation and impairments

Balance at January 1, 2019 - / -
Discontinued operations - / -
Continued operations - / -
Acquisitions -72,964

Impairments (IAS 36) -5,224

Disposals 1,824
Reclassifications - / -
Currency effects -1,378
Balance at December 31, 2019 -77,742

Carrying amount at December 31, 2018 - / -
Carrying amount at December 31, 2019 398,486

The right-of-use assets in the total amount of EUR 398,486 thousand can be assigned to the following classes of 
assets at December 31, 2019:

■■ Land and leasehold rights in the amount of EUR 4,621 thousand, 
■■ Buildings, including buildings on non-owned land in the amount of EUR 371,712 thousand, 
■■ Technical equipment, plant and machinery in the amount of EUR 4,611 thousand sowie
■■ Other equipment, operational and office equipment in the amount of EUR 17,542 thousand.

The depreciation of right-of-use assets in the amount of EUR 72,964 thousand can be assigned to the classes of 
assets as follows:  

■■ land and leasehold rights in the amount of EUR 221 thousand, 
■■ buildings including buildings on non-owned land in the amount of EUR 62,276 thousand,  
■■ technical equipment, plant and machinery in the amount of 3.190 thousand, and 
■■ other equipment, operational and office equipment in the amount of EUR 7,277 thousand.

The interest expenses for liabilities under leases amounted to EUR 17,373 thousand in financial year 2019, so that 
the cash outflows for the Group’s existing leases totaled EUR 88,079 thousand in financial year 2019. There were 
no gains or losses from sale-and-lease-back transactions in financial year 2019. 
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29. Inventories

Inventories break down as follows:

in kEUR 12/31/2019 12/31/2018

Finished goods and merchandise 300,802 367,632

Raw materials and supplies 39,515 60,323

Unfinished goods, unfinished services 30,171 35,660

Down payments 438 83

Total continued operations 370,926 463,698

Discontinued operations 60 10,613

Total inventories 370,986 474,311

 
Inventories of finished goods and merchandise were held primarily by Office Depot Europe in the amount of EUR 
94,832 thousand (PY: EUR 111,883 thousand), Silvan in the amount of EUR 46,862 thousand (PY: EUR 66,061 thous-
and), the Conaxess Trade Group in the amount of EUR 26,397 thousand (PY: EUR 43,912 thousand), and Calumet 
Wex in the amount of EUR 23,707 thousand (PY: EUR 21,976 thousand).

Inventories of raw materials and supplies were held mainly by VAG in the amount of EUR 12,948 thousand (PY: 
EUR 16,233 thousand) and HanseYachts in the amount of EUR 11,674 thousand (PY: EUR 11,553 thousand).

Inventories of unfinished goods and services were held primarily by HanseYachts in the amount of EUR 15,834 
thousand (PY: EUR 17,621 thousand) and VAG in the amount of EUR 9,489 thousand (PY: EUR 12,640 thousand).

Inventories in the amount of EUR 46,469 thousand (PY: EUR 61,212 thousand) have been pledged as security for 
 financial liabilities, and inventories in the amount of EUR 23,086 thousand (PY: EUR 35,400 thousand) have been 
pledged as security for trade payables.

28. Financial assets

28.1 Other equity investments 
The total amount of EUR 5,553 thousand (PY: EUR 6,360 thousand) mainly included one equity investment of the 
Conaxess Trade Group in the amount of EUR 5,548 thousand (PY: EUR 5,015 thousand). This item also included an 
equity investment of BPG Building Partners Group (formerly: B+P Gerüstbau) in the amount of EUR five thousand 
(PY: EUR 5 thousand).  

28.2 Other long-term loans
The total amount of EUR 8,981 thousand (PY: EUR 3,843 thousand) consisted mainly of long-term loans at 
 Office Depot Europe in the amount of EUR 4,545 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand) and at Silvan in the amount 
of EUR 2,519 thousand (PY: EUR 2,494 thousand).  
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30. Trade receivables

The total trade receivables of EUR 406,202 thousand (PY: EUR 468,344 thousand) were mainly held by Office Depot 
Europe in the amount of EUR 150,266 thousand (PY: EUR 189,304 thousand), Rivus Fleet Solutions in the amount of 
EUR 50,243 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), VAG in the amount of EUR 31,085 thousand (PY: EUR 40,783 thousand), 
and the Conaxess Trade Group in the amount of EUR 26,485 thousand (PY: EUR 59,495 thousand). 

All receivables are due in one year or less.

Receivables totaling EUR 7,083 thousand (PY: EUR 10,614 thousand) have been pledged as security for financial 
 liabilities.

The accumulated impairments of trade receivables exhibited the following changes:

Impairments in kEUR 2019 2018

Balance at 1/1 9,635 8,245

Discontinued operations -3,251 -1,794

Impairments of receivables 5,224 4,409

Amounts charged off during the financial year for being uncollectible -1,370 -806

Amounts recovered on charged-off receivables during the financial year -215 - / -

Reversals of impairments -78 -439

Foreign currency translation - / - 20

Balance at 12/31 9,945 9,635

 
For information on default risk, maturity analysis and risk concentration of receivables, please refer to Note 57 ff. 
of the present notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Accumulated impairments of inventories exhibited the following changes:

Impairments of inventories  in kEUR 2019 2018

Balance at 1/1 17,976 10,031

Discontinued operations -2,315 -1,157

Impairments 6,888 10,842

Reversal of impairments -4,621 -1,675

Foreign currency effects - / - -65

Balance at 12/31 17,928 17,976

 
Reversals of impairments were carried out in the reporting year based on the observed development of the 
 markets. The reversals of impairments relate to previously recognized impairments for which the current circum-
stances make it necessary to increase the carrying amounts to the lower of acquisition or production costs or net 
realizable value.  
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35. Cash and cash equivalents 

The stated amount of EUR 435,743 thousand (PY: EUR 290,756 thousand) related mainly to AURELIUS Equity Oppor-
tunities SE & Co. KGaA in the amount of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA in the amount of EUR 
176,558 thousand (PY: EUR 43,637 thousand), Office Depot Europe in the amount of EUR 69,966 thousand (PY: EUR 
80,215 thousand), and the Conaxess Trade Group in the amount of EUR 39,980 thousand (PY: EUR 38,596 thou-
sand).

Of the total cash and cash equivalents, an amount of EUR 22,131 thousand (PY: EUR 18,722 thousand) has been 
pledged as security (“restricted cash”). In addition, cash totaling EUR 8,361 thousand (PY: EUR 12,175 thousand) is 
presented as held-for-sale assets in accordance with IFRS 5. In this way, the cash and cash equivalents at the end 
of the financial year as presented in the consolidated cash flow statement can be reconciled to the related items 
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

34. Deferred expenses 

The item of deferred expenses in the total amount of EUR 64,074 thousand (PY: EUR 35,742 thousand) related 
mainly to Office Depot Europe in the amount of EUR 21,991 thousand (PY: EUR 16,065 thousand), Rivus Fleet 
 Solutions in the amount of EUR 16,474 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), and Ideal Shopping Direct in the amount of 
EUR 4,347 thousand (PY: EUR 4,220 thousand). The stated amounts are essentially prepayments of rents, purchase 
orders, maintenance work, insurance and customer discounts.

33. Other assets 

The stated other assets in the amount of EUR 59,212 thousand (PY: EUR 68,660 thousand) consisted mainly of 
VAT receivables in the amount of EUR 22,955 thousand (PY: EUR 36,160 thousand) and receivables from down 
payments in the amount of EUR 3,856 thousand (PY: EUR 3,415 thousand).

32. Other financial assets 

Other financial assets in the amount of EUR 149,590 thousand (PY: EUR 126,109 thousand) consisted mainly of cred-
itors with debit balances in the amount of EUR 37,635 thousand (PY: EUR 33,267 thousand), financial receivables 
from third parties in the amount of EUR 55,801 thousand (PY: EUR 61,934 thousand) and security deposits in the 
amount of EUR 7,134 thousand (PY: EUR 9,868 thousand).  

31. Income tax assets 

Income tax assets in the amount of EUR 7,169 thousand (PY: EUR 7,034 thousand) were mainly held by Ideal 
Shopping Direct in the amount of EUR 2,426 thousand (PY: EUR 2,279 thousand) and Briar Chemicals in the 
amount of EUR 1,914 thousand (PY: EUR 6 thousand).
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36.  Assets and liabilities held for sale 

The items presented as assets held for sale and liabilities held for sale in the consolidated statement of finan-
cial position at December 31, 2019 mainly consisted of assets and liabilities of the GHOTEL Group. 

In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 5, an impairment test was conducted before reclassifying this amount 
from the item of property, plant and equipment to the item of assets held for sale, in order to determine if the 
fair value less costs to sell may possibly be less than the carrying amount. Recognition occurs at the lower of 
their fair value less foreseeable costs to sell or their carrying amount to date. The fair value less costs to sell is 
determined on an aggregated level and compared with the sum of the corresponding carrying amounts. The 
following table clarifies the assets and liabilities of the GHOTEL Group as presented at the reporting date of 
December 31, 2019:

in kEUR 12/31/2019

Item of the statement of financial position

ASSETS    

Intangible assets 17,165

Property, plant and equipment 18,679

Right-of-use assets 138,128

Inventories 59

Trade receivables and other assets 5,679

Cash and cash equivalents 7,507

Assets from discontinued operations 187,217

LIABILITIES    

Provisions 1,053

Lease liabilities 136,602

Trade payables 1,167

Other liabilities 38,979

Liabilities from discontinued operations 177,801

Net assets from discontinued operations 9,416

The reconciliation is presented in the table below:

in kEUR 12/31/2019 12/31/2018

Cash and cash equivalents 435,743 290,756

Restricted cash -22,131 -18,722

Cash to be presented as assets held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 8,361 12,175

Cash and cash equivalents from continued and discontinued operations 
 presented in the statement of cash flows 

421,973 284,209
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39. Retained earnings

In the past financial year, a dividend of EUR 89,048 thousand was paid to shareholders from the distributable 
profit of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA for financial year 2018, which amounted to EUR 146,120 
thousand, by virtue of the corresponding resolution of the annual general meeting of July 19, 2019. That corre-
sponds to a dividend of EUR 3.00 Euro per common share. An amount of EUR 57,072 thousand was carried forward 
to new account. On the day of the annual general meeting, the Company held 1,087,391 treasury shares, which do 
not qualify for dividends pursuant to Section 71b AktG. The amount attributable to these shares is already 
 included in the retained amount of EUR 57,072 thousand.

Under the German Stock Corporations Act, the amount of dividends that can be paid to shareholders is deter-
mined on the basis of the distributable profit presented in the separate financial statements of AURELIUS Equity 
Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA, which are drawn up in accordance with the accounting regulations of the German 
Commercial Code. The profit utilization proposal of the personally liable shareholder states that the full distribut-
able profit presented in the separate, German commercial-law financial statements for 2019 in the amount of EUR 
161,121 thousand should be carried forward to new account, initially. 

The personally liable shareholder will observe and assess the current development of the coronavirus COVID-19 
crisis and its effects on the AURELIUS Group. After the financial statements are adopted, the personally liable 
shareholder will decide on whether to place a different profit utilization proposal from the proposal stated above 
on the agenda of the annual general meeting. The annual general meeting can then decide on this modified profit 
utilization proposal (as in the previous year).  

If the company holds treasury shares, which do not qualify for dividends pursuant to Section 71b AktG, on the day 
of the annual general meeting, the dividend attributable to such treasury shares will be carried forward to new 
account.

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

37. Subscribed capital 

The share capital of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA in the amount of EUR 31,680 thousand (PY: 
EUR 31,680 thousand) is fully paid in. It is divided into 30,769,944 no-par shares, each representing a propor-
tional share of capital equal to EUR 1.03 (PY: EUR 1.03). There were 29,682,553 shares outstanding at December 31, 
2019 (PY: 29,682,553 shares). AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA neither purchased treasury shares 
(PY: 105,000 shares) nor sold treasury shares (PY: 264,500 shares) in financial year 2019. In the previous year, 
1,401,995 treasury shares were used to service the bonds converted under the convertible bonds issued. There 
were no conversions in financial year 2019. The number of treasury shares was therefore unchanged at 1,087,391 
shares (PY: 1,087,391 shares) at December 31, 2019.

38. Additional paid-in capital

The additional paid-in capital of AURELIUS amounted to EUR 9,982 thousand, unchanged from the prior year (PY: 
EUR 9,982 thousand).  
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40. Other reserves 

The other reserves include the foreign currency translation of foreign business operations, the revaluation 
reserve for defined benefit pension obligations and the recognized liabilities for post-employment benefits 
for former members of the Executive Board of AURELIUS SE. The changes in the reporting period are  presented 
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

41. Non-controlling interests 

The adjustment item for non-controlling interests in the amount of EUR 10,042 thousand (PY: EUR 17,635 thou-
sand) related particularly to VAG and the BPG Building Partners Group (previously: B+P Gerüstbau). The total 
 proportion held by non-controlling interests in the activity and cash flows of the Group is of subordinate impor-
tance (see also Note 8).

42. Authorized capital

The Authorized Capital of July 6, 2009 (Authorized Capital 2009/I) was not utilized. At the reporting date of 
 December 31, 2009, therefore, the amount was unchanged at EUR 4,661 thousand. By resolution of the annual 
general meeting of July 27, 2010, the existing Authorized Capital (Authorized Capital 2009/I) was annulled. By 
 virtue of the same resolution, a new Authorized Capital (Authorized Capital 2010/I) was created. This resolution 
was annulled by resolution of the annual general meeting of May 16, 2013 and a new Authorized Capital 2013/I, 
which was adjusted to reflect the new increased capital, was created. This Authorized Capital was partially used 
in the context of the capital increase of July 22, 2013, and amounted to EUR 11,520 thousand at December 31, 2014. 
The Authorized Capital 2013/I was annulled by resolution of the annual general meeting of June 15, 2015. In the 
same resolution, a new Authorized Capital (Authorized Capital 2015/I) was created that was again adjusted to the 
current capital. This resolution was annulled by resolution of the annual general meeting of July 19, 2019 and a 
new Authorized Capital 2019/I was established. Accordingly, the Executive Board is authorized, with the consent 
of the Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital by a total of up to EUR 15,840 thousand on one or more 
 occasions in the time until July 18, 2024, by issuing up to 15,840,000 new bearer shares, each representing a 
 proportional share of capital equal to EUR 1.00, in exchange for cash or in-kind capital contributions (Authorized 
Capital 2019/I). In certain cases, the Executive Board is authorized, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, to 
exclude the subscription right of shareholders. The Executive Board is authorized, with the consent of the Super-
visory Board, to define the share rights and the terms and conditions of issue and to establish further particulars 
related to the conduct of the capital increase. Thus, the Authorized Capital at the reporting date of December 31, 
2019 is unchanged at EUR 15,840 thousand (PY: EUR 15,840 thousand).

43. Conditional Capital

The Conditional Capital 2013/I was annulled by resolution of the annual general meeting of June 15, 2015. By virtue 
of the same resolution, the share capital was raised conditionally by up to EUR 4,700 thousand through the issuance 
of up to 4,700,000 new no-par bearer shares (Conditional Capital 2015/I). The conditional capital increase serves the 
purpose of granting shares to the holders of convertible or warrant bonds, which may be issued by virtue of the 
authorization granted by the annual general meeting in 2015. The conditional capital increase will be conducted 
only to the extent that the holders of convertible and/or warrant bonds issued by the Company in the time until 
June 14, 2020 on the basis of the authorization granted by the annual general meeting of June 15, 2015 to exercise 
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44. Purchases of treasury shares 

By resolution of the annual general meeting of July 27, 2010, the Executive Board is authorized, in accordance with 
Section 71 (1) (8) AktG, to purchase treasury shares of an amount equal to up to ten percent of the share capital in 
effect at the time of the resolution, that being EUR 31,680 thousand. This resolution was annulled by the annual 
general meeting of May 21, 2014. By the same resolution, the Executive Board was authorized, with the consent of 
the Supervisory Board in accordance with Section 71 (1) (8) AktG, to purchase treasury shares of an amount equal 
to up to 10 percent of the share capital in effect at the time of the resolution, that being EUR 31,680 thousand, or 
up to 10 percent of the share capital at the time of exercising this resolution, if the latter amount is smaller, in the 
time until May 20, 2019. This resolution was annulled by the annual general meeting of June 9, 2016. By the same 
resolution, the Executive Board was authorized, in accordance with Section 71 (1) (8) AktG, to purchase treasury 
shares of an amount equal to up to ten percent of the share capital in effect at the time of the resolution, that 
being EUR 31,680 thousand, or up to ten percent of the share capital at the time of exercising this resolution, if the 
latter amount is smaller, in the time until June 8, 2021. The Executive Board partially exercised this authorization 
in financial year 2017 until it was rescinded by the annual general meeting of June 21, 2017. In the same resolution, 
the personally liable shareholder was authorized to purchase treasury shares of the Company up to a total of ten 
 percent of the share capital existing at the time when the resolution is adopted or at the time when the authority 
is exercised, if this value is lower, in the time until June 20, 2022. The shares purchased on the basis of this author-
ity are not permitted to exceed ten percent of the respective share capital at any time, together with other shares 
in the Company that the Company has acquired and still holds, or are attributable to it pursuant to Sections 278 
(3) and 71a AktG. This authorization was partially exercised in financial years 2017 and 2018, until it was rescinded 
by the annual general meeting of May 18, 2018. In the same resolution, the personally liable shareholder was au-
thorized to purchase treasury shares of the Company up to a total of ten percent of the share capital existing at 
the time when the resolution is adopted or at the time when the authority is exercised, if this value is lower, in the 
time until May 17, 2023. The shares purchased on the basis of this authority are not permitted to exceed ten 
 percent of the respective share capital at any time, together with other shares in the Company that the Company 
has acquired and still holds, or are attributable to it pursuant to Sections 278 (3) and 71a AktG. This authorization 
was partially exercised in financial year 2018 and not exercised in financial year 2019. 

their conversion or warrant right, or when conversion obligations under such debentures are fulfilled, and to the 
extent that other forms of servicing these obligations are not employed.

By resolution of the annual general meeting of May 18, 2018, the share capital was raised conditionally by up to EUR 
5,000 thousand through the issuance of up to 5,000,000 new no-par bearer shares qualifying for dividends (Condi-
tional Capital 2018/I). The conditional capital increase serves the purpose of granting shares, upon execution of 
conversion and option rights or upon fulfillment of conversion or option obligations, to the holders of convertible 
bonds, warrant bonds, participation rights and/or participating bonds (or combinations of these instruments), 
which may be issued by virtue of the authorization granted by the annual general meeting of May 18, 2018. The 
conditional capital increase will only be carried out to the extent that the holders of convertible bonds, warrant 
bonds, participation rights and/or participating bonds issued by the Company in the time until May 17, 2023 on the 
basis of the authorization granted by the annual general meeting of May 18, 2018 exercise their conversion or 
 warrant rights or for the Company to fulfill its conversion obligations under such bonds, and to the extent that 
other forms of settlement are not employed to service such rights.
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At December 31, 2019, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA held 1,087,391 treasury shares, each represent-
ing a proportional share of capital equal to EUR 1.03, unchanged from the previous year. In total, this represents 
3.53 percent of the original share capital of EUR 31,680,000.00, unchanged from the previous year. No treasury 
shares (PY: 105,000) were purchased in financial year 2019 (PY: average price EUR 42.19). The purchase price of the 
treasury shares was therefore EUR zero thousand (PY: EUR 4,430 thousand). 

The Company sold no treasury shares in financial year 2019 (PY: 264,500 treasury shares), corresponding to zero 
percent (PY: 0.86%) of the share capital of EUR 31,680,000.00. The total sale price of the treasury shares was EUR 
zero thousand (PY: EUR 15,604 thousand). 

The annual general meeting of June 9, 2016, resolved that the fully paid-up bearer no par value shares of the Com-
pany that were treasury shares up to this date (ISIN DE000A0JK2A8) that the Company had purchased based on 
the authorization granted by the annual general meeting of May 21, 2014, to purchase treasury shares pursuant to 
Section 71 (1) No. 8 AktG should be retired using the simplified retirement method according to Sections 278 (3) 
and 237 (3) No. 3 AktG. With regard to the purchase restriction of Section 71 (2) Sentence 1 AktG, the retirement of 
a total of 490,721 treasury shares served the purpose of providing the personally liable shareholder with maxi-
mum flexibility for exercising the new authority to purchase treasury shares granted by the annual general meet-
ing of June 9, 2016. The retirement was carried out without reducing the share capital of the Company. Therefore, 
the notional share in the share capital allocated to the other individual shares increased accordingly pursuant to 
 Sections 278 (3) and 8 (3) AktG. 

On May 15, 2017, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA resolved to retire 419,335 treasury shares that were 
purchased within the framework of Share Buyback Program 2017 I. This was done without reducing the share 
capital of the Company. Therefore, the notional share of the share capital allocated to the other individual shares 
 increased by the same amount in accordance with Sections 278 (3) and 8 (3) AktG.

According to IAS 32.33, treasury shares are not to be capitalized, but rather recognized as a deduction from equity. 
According to the par value method, the nominal amount of purchased treasury shares is deducted from  subscribed 
capital, and any acquisition costs in excess of that amount is deducted from additional paid-in capital. 

The purpose of the authorization and purchases is to enable the Executive Board to offer shares of the Company 
for sale to institutional investors in Germany and abroad, and to adjust the Company’s equity in a flexible manner 
to reflect the business needs of the Company, and to respond quickly to stock market situations, while upholding 
the interests of shareholders. Furthermore, the authorization enables the Company to offer treasury shares as 
consideration for the acquisition of companies or investments in companies.
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45. Provisions

The structure of provisions at the reporting date of December 31, 2019 is presented in the table below:

in kEUR
1/1/2019

Change in 
basis of 

consolidation Utilization Addition Reversal
Currency 

translation 12/31/2019

Onerous contracts 92 - / - -90 656 - / - - / - 658

Warranty 3,086 -345 -1,056 3,172 -282 12 4,588

Restructuring 41,406 -1,149 -35,023 8,717 -2,692 354 11,613

Commissions 3,774 - / - -3,539 2,773 -10 37 3,036

Personnel 6,290 -3,522 -2,186 1,198 -757 3 1,026

Other 40,180 2,844 -15,784 23,742 -4,693 842 47,131

Provisions 94,828 -2,172 -57,678 40,258 -8,434 1,248 68,052

 
The restructuring provisions in the amount of EUR 11,613 thousand (PY: EUR 41,406 thousand) consisted mainly 
of provisions for personnel measures and risk provisions. The decrease resulted mainly from the utilization of 
provisions at Office Depot Europe.

The personnel provisions in the amount of EUR 1,026 thousand (PY: EUR 6,290 thousand) consisted entirely of 
provisions for employee anniversary bonuses in the amount of EUR 400 thousand (PY: EUR 3,579 thousand) and 
provisions for partial early retirement arrangements (known in Germany as Altersteilzeit) in the amount of EUR 
626 thousand (PY: EUR 2,711 thousand) in the reporting period. 

The other provisions in the amount of EUR 47,131 thousand (PY: EUR 40,180 thousand) consisted mainly of envi-
ronmental provisions as well as provisions for site restoration obligations and various individual obligations to 
third parties.

The maturity structure of provisions is presented in the table below:

in kEUR 2019 Onerous 
contracts Warranty Restruc-

turing
Commis-

sions Personnel Other Total

Non-current provisions 74 - / - 7,029 - / - 250 13,205 20,558

Current provisions 584 4,588 4,584 3,036 776 33,926 47,494

Total provisions 658 4,588 11,613 3,036 1,026 47,131 68,052

in kEUR 2018 Onerous 
contracts Warranty Restruc-

turing
Commis-

sions Personnel Other Total

Non-current provisions - / - 58 27,658 - / - 4,099 18,813 50,628

Current provisions 92 3,028 13,748 3,774 2,191 21,367 44,200

Total provisions 92 3,086 41,406 3,774 6,290 40,180 94,828

The cash outflow for current provisions is expected within financial year 2020. 
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46. Financial liabilities

Non-current financial liabilities break down as follows:

in kEUR 12/31/2019 12/31/2018

Liabilities to banks 37,388 59,095

Other financial liabilities 95,603 212,357

Total continued operations 132,991 271,452

Discontinued operations 20,888 - / -

Total non-current financial liabilities 153,879 271,452

Liabilities to banks existed mainly at Calumet Wex in the amount of EUR 12,633 thousand (PY: EUR 10,734 
thousand) and at HanseYachts in the amount of EUR 8,276 thousand (PY: EUR 10,576 thousand). The average 
effective interest rate of non-current liabilities to banks in the reporting period was 3.91 percent p. a. (PY: 
2.70 %). The terms are no longer than six years (PY: 9 years). 

Other financial liabilities mainly consisted of liabilities from loans to third parties at AURELIUS Equity Oppor-
tunities AB in the amount of EUR 70,666 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand). The decrease in this item resulted 
mainly from the reclassification of the convertible bonds of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA 
from non-current to current financial liabilities. 

At the reporting date of December 31, 2019, current financial liabilities break down as follows:

in kEUR 12/31/2019 12/31/2018

Liabilities to banks 96,115 54,619

Liabilities from factoring 122,406 144,604

Other financial liabilities 117,358 9,912

Total continued operations 335,879 209,135

Discontinued operations - / - 8,089

Total current financial liabilities 335,879 217,224

Financial liabilities to banks existed mainly at Silvan in the amount of EUR 24,292 thousand (PY: EUR 22,230 
thousand), Office Depot Europe in the amount of EUR 19,753 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), Bertram Books in 
the amount of EUR 16,199 thousand (PY: EUR 17,431 thousand) and HanseYachts in the amount of EUR 11,692 
thousand (PY: EUR 7,771 thousand). The current average interest rate on current financial liabilities to banks is 
3.50 percent (PY: 2.02%). The terms are no longer than twelve months. Fixed-interest loans accounted for 54.6 
percent (PY: 24.8%) of current financial liabilities to banks. 

Liabilities from factoring existed mainly at Office Depot Europe in the amount of EUR 70,855 thousand (PY: EUR 
84,244 thousand) and Rivus Fleet Solutions in the amount of EUR 19,596 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand). 

Other financial liabilities consisted mainly of liabilities from the convertible bonds of AURELIUS Equity Opportu-
nities SE & Co. KGaA in the amount of EUR 100,894 thousand. The non-subordinated and unsecured convertible 
bond issued by AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA with a total nominal amount of EUR 166,300 
thousand matures at the end of 2020 and is convertible into new and/or existing no par value bearer shares of 
the Company. The bonds were exclusively offered for sale to and placed with institutional investors outside of 
the USA, Canada, Australia, South Africa, New Zealand, and Japan, or any other jurisdiction in which sales are 
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47. Trade payables

Trade payables in the amount of EUR 470,249 thousand (PY: EUR 535,743 thousand) are owed to third parties. They 
are measured at the settlement or repayment amount. They are due in full within one year or less. Of the total 
amount, Office Depot Europe accounted for EUR 154,269 thousand (PY: EUR 178,806 thousand), Bertram Books for 
EUR 43,939 thousand (PY: EUR 63,496 thousand), the Conaxess Trade Group for EUR 43,452 thousand (PY: EUR 
52,336 thousand) and Silvan for EUR 34,745 thousand (PY: EUR 50,395 thousand).

prohibited under applicable law, in the course of an accelerated book-building procedure. The bond’s term ends 
at December 1, 2020. The convertible bonds were placed at 100 percent of the nominal value, with a denomina-
tion of EUR 100 thousand per bond. The coupon payable annually is equal to 1.0 percent. After the partial con-
version of bonds in the past financial year, the bonds are convertible into 2,406,662 shares (PY: 2,287,131 shares), 
which corresponds to 7.821 percent (PY: 7.433 %) of the current share capital of the Company, by exercising the 
right to issue convertible bonds excluding the subscription rights of the shareholders. The initial conversion 
price of EUR 52.5229 was set with a conversion premium of 30.0 percent above the reference share price, which 
is defined as the volume-weighted average price of the AURELIUS share in XETRA trading at December 29, 2015. 
The conversion price was adjusted to EUR 42.8394 by notice dated July 22, 2019. According to the terms, the 
bonds can be terminated by the company at any time (1) on or after December 22, 2018 (including accrued inter-
est not paid up to that time), if the share price (over a specified period) exceeds 130 percent of the then-applica-
ble conversion price or (2) if 20 percent or fewer of the total nominal value of the bonds are still outstanding.

The reconciliation of financial liabilities for the two years 2018 and 2019 is presented in the table below:

in kEUR Non-current financial liabilities Current financial liabilities 

January 1, 2019 271,452 209,135

Cash flows

Cash inflows 125,784 73,095

Cash outflows -38,190 -44,720

Non-cash items 

Initial consolidations - / - 15,411

Deconsolidations -55,908 -66,301

Other -170,147 149,259

December 31, 2019 132,991 335,879

in kEUR Non-current financial liabilities Current financial liabilities 

January 1, 2018 270,928 249,579

Cash flows

Cash inflows 73,406 30,086

Cash outflows -47,953 -51,619

Non-cash items 

Initial consolidations 16,351 22,444

Deconsolidations -1,408 -26,961

Other -39,872 -14,394

December 31, 2018 271,452 209,135

200 I   AU RELI US A N N UA L  R E P O RT



N OT E S  TO  T H E  CO N S O L I DAT E D  F I N A N C I A L  STAT E M E N T S

50. Lease liabilities 

AURELIUS leases many assets as a lessee. Until 2018, these leases were classified as operating leases or finance 
leases on the basis of an assessment of whether the lease transferred substantially all the risks and rewards inci-
dent to ownership of the underlying asset to AURELIUS. Under the new IFRS 16 rules, right-of-use assets (see also 
Note 27 of these notes to the consolidated financial statements) and lease liabilities are now recognized for most 
of these leases, so that these leases are to be presented in the statement of financial position. 

The Group’s non-current lease liabilities in the amount of EUR 384,962 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand) existed 
mainly at Office Depot Europe in the amount of EUR 157,859 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), Silvan in the amount 
of EUR 106,575 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand) and Rivus Fleet Solutions in the amount of EUR 41,234 thousand (PY: 
EUR 0 thousand). 

The Group’s current lease liabilities in the amount of EUR 77,922 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand) existed mainly at 
Office Depot Europe in the amount of EUR 38,183 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), Silvan in the amount of EUR 
14,237 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand) and Rivus Fleet Solutions in the amount of EUR 6,836 thousand (PY: EUR 0 
thousand). 

In the previous year, non-current liabilities under finance lease amounted to EUR 26,973 thousand and current lia-
bilities under finance lease amounted to EUR 3,712 thousand.

48. Income tax liabilities

Income tax liabilities in the amount of EUR 7,397 thousand (PY: EUR 11,695 thousand) existed mainly at Ideal 
Shopping Direct in the amount of EUR 2,005 thousand (PY: EUR 2,180 thousand), and Office Depot Europe in the 
amount of EUR 1,054 thousand (PY: EUR 3,315 thousand).

49. Derivative financial instruments

In the reporting year, derivative financial instruments recognized as liabilities in the amount of EUR 69 thousand 
(PY: EUR 1 thousand) related to hedged risks at Office Depot Europe.

51. Contract liabilities 

The contract liabilities to be recognized in accordance with IFRS 15 in the total amount of EUR 38,970 thousand 
(PY: EUR 30,183 thousand) resulted mainly from HanseYachts in the amount of EUR 32,336 thousand (PY: EUR 
21,300 thousand) and VAG in the amount of EUR 5,464 thousand (PY: EUR 5,902 thousand). 

Of the total amount, EUR 37,417 thousand (PY: EUR 29,093 thousand) consisted of current contract liabilities due 
within one year. These are mainly down payments received on account of customer contracts at the two port-
folio companies VAG and HanseYachts, which were booked as consideration received before the performance 
obligation under the customer contract was satisfied. The liability is derecognized and concurrently recognized 
as revenue as soon as the customer gains control of the goods or services. In the prior year, contract liabilities 
were presented with Other financial liabilities.
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54. Deferred income

At the reporting date of December 31, 2019, the item of deferred income amounting to EUR 11,398 thousand (PY: 
EUR 17,943 thousand) mainly related to Ideal Shopping Direct in the amount of EUR 2,221 thousand (PY: EUR 
2,262 thousand), Silvan in the amount of EUR 1,604 thousand (PY: EUR 2,262 thousand), and AKAD University in 
the amount of EUR 1,430 thousand (PY: EUR 1,320 thousand). This item mainly consisted of customer prepay-
ments and customer discounts.

53. Other liabilities 

The other current liabilities of EUR 262,255 thousand (PY: EUR 262,235 thousand) included liabilities to employees 
in the amount of EUR 52,321 thousand (PY: EUR 70,514 thousand), as well as debtors with credit balances in the 
amount of EUR 23,587 thousand (PY: EUR 24,348 thousand), other taxes in the amount of EUR 38,791 thousand (PY: 
EUR 48,079 thousand), and liabilities to social insurance carriers in the amount of EUR 16,959 thousand (PY: EUR 
24,328 thousand). 

The other non-current liabilities of EUR 20,945 thousand (PY: EUR 13,120 thousand) mainly consisted of liabilities to 
employees in the amount of EUR 13,659 thousand (PY: EUR 1,110 thousand) and government grants in the amount 
of EUR 1,793 thousand (PY: EUR 2,350 thousand). 

52. Other financial liabilities  

The other non-current financial liabilities in the amount of EUR 51,362 thousand (PY: EUR 29,830 thousand) consis-
ted mainly of commitments under purchase price adjustment clauses (earn-outs), the occurrence of which is 
deemed to be probable, which resulted from the acquisition of shares in companies.

At the reporting date of December 31, 2019, the fair value of earn-out liabilities amounted to EUR 21,107 thousand 
(PY: EUR 18,448 thousand). The fair values were calculated using the acquisition method in connection with the 
purchase price allocation process conducted in respect of acquired companies. When such fair  values are deter-
mined with reference to expected profits and losses, they are updated on the basis of the budgets of the affected 
companies.

The other component of this item is other interest-bearing liabilities in the amount of EUR 30,255 thousand (PY: 
EUR 5,661 thousand).
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55. Share-based payment agreements

56. Employee benefits
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56. Employee benefits 

Pension provisions and liabilities for post-employment benefits are recognized in accordance with IAS  19 
 (Employee Benefits). The pension provisions mainly consist of benefits payable under company pension plans. 
The liabilities for post-employment benefits in the amount of EUR 13,310 thousand represent the future 
 commitments under the virtual co-investment sub-interests granted to former members of the Executive 
Board of AURELIUS SE for portfolio companies of the AURELIUS Group. 

Due to these plans, the Group is normally subjected to various actuarial risks:

■■ Investment risk
The present value of defined benefit obligations arising from the plans is calculated using a discount rate that is 
determined based on the returns of first-seniority fixed-interest corporate bonds. If the income from the plan 
assets falls below this interest rate, this leads to underfunding of the plan. 

■■ Interest rate risk
A decline in the bond interest rate leads to an increase in the plan obligation, but this is partially offset by  increased 
income from investment of the plan assets in fixed-interest debt instruments.  

■■ Longevity risk
The present value of the defined benefit obligation arising from the plans is calculated based on the best possible 
estimate of the expected mortalities of the entitled employees both during the employment relationship as well 
as after its termination. An increase in the life expectancy of the entitled employees leads to an increase in the 
plan obligation.  

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

55. Share-based payment agreements

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others who render comparable services are measured at 
the fair value of the equity instrument on the grant date. The value of the stock option plan is measured by way 
of financial mathematical methods based on the Monte Carlo option price model.

The fair value of equity-settled share-based payments at the grant date is charged as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the period until the vesting date with a corresponding increase in equity, based on the Group’s 
 expectations regarding the equity instruments that will probably become vested. At every reporting date, the 
Group reviews its estimates of the number of equity instruments that are expected to become vested. The  effects 
of any changes in the original estimates are recognized in profit or loss over the period remaining until the vesting 
date by means of making the appropriate adjustments to reserves.

In respect of cash-settled share-based payments, the Group recognizes a liability in the amount of the proportion 
of goods or services received, measured at fair value, at every reporting date. Share-based payment plans defined 
as cash-settled plans are remeasured at every reporting date. Changes in the fair value are to be recognized in 
profit or loss. 

No stock option plans exist with employees of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA and its subsidiaries.
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■■ Salary risk
The present value of the defined benefit obligation arising from the plans is calculated based on the future 
 salaries of the entitled employees. Salary increases for the entitled employees thus lead to an increase in the plan 
obligation. Defined benefit obligations are owed by virtue of direct commitments and vis-à-vis external pension 
entities (pension funds or insurance companies in foreign countries).

The characteristics of the defined benefit plans vary, depending on the legal, tax-related and economic conditions 
in each country. Material features of the defined benefit plans are discussed in the following:

Germany
The pension commitments in Germany are governed by different pension plans. They mainly include old-age, 
 disability, and widow’s pensions. In most cases, the amount of pension benefits is determined on the basis of the 
pension-eligible compensation, years of service with the company, and the employee’s age. The regular retire-
ment age is normally 60 to 67. The pension obligations are funded mainly by means of employer’s pension liability 
insurance, investment funds, and from the operating cash flow of the companies. Securities-oriented pension 
benefits have been granted in the form of deferred compensation to two active Executive Board members at 
AURELIUS SE. These pension commitments specify a retirement fund at retirement age and a survivor’s fund in 
the event of early death. The retirement fund is due at the end of the 67th year of life and departure from the 
company.  

United Kingdom
Defined benefit pension plans are in effect in the United Kingdom. The amount of pension benefits is determined 
on the basis of the pension-eligible compensation. This amount depends on the vested pension claims at the 
 reporting date (retirement account). To some extent, these plans are closed to new hires and no further claims 
can be earned. By virtue of the applicable laws and regulations, the vested benefits must be adjusted to account 
for inflation effects, which are capped at a maximum limit. The obligations are funded by assets administered by 
a trustee. The funding terms are determined in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations. The necessary 
funding amounts are resolved jointly by the employer and the trustee. The investment strategy is defined by the 
trustee, together with the employer. The Board of Trustees is composed of both employer and employee repre-
sentatives. In financial year 2018, a Group company in the United Kingdom signed an agreement with a leading 
insurance company that will cover all future obligations under pension agreements and will therefore replace the 
old principle of one pension fund.

Sweden
In Sweden, a general agreement is in force for salaried employees in the private sector. The ITP pension plan 
(Industrins och handelns tilläggspension) is gradually developing away from defined benefit plans towards 
 defined contribution plans and consists of two parts: ITP-1 (for insured persons born 1979 or later) and ITP-2 (for 
all other insured persons). Employers pay 4.5 percent of the income below the statutory income threshold and 
30 percent on income above the threshold. The ITP-2 used in the Swedish company applies to persons born in 
1978 or earlier and pays a fixed proportion of the final salary after 30 working years: ten percent of the final 
salary below the statutory income threshold, 65 percent for income between 46,215 and 123,241 euros, and 32.5 
percent for income between 123,242 and 184,862 euros. The defined benefit pension payments from the ITP-2 
are supplemented by the ITPK defined contribution plan. An amount of two percent of the assessment basis is 
paid into individual accounts.
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Switzerland
There is one pension plan with a pension fund for one company in Switzerland. The amount of the pension pay-
ments is based on the length of service for the company, age at departure, and the sum of individual payments 
made. The contributions are paid at a particular percentage by the employer and the employee. The amount of 
the payments depends on the individual contractual provisions. When starting to receive a pension, it is possible 
to choose between monthly payments or a single lump sum disbursement of the amount accumulated up to that 
time.

Other pension obligations are immaterial when considered separately and are recognized as a total under Other.

Important actuarial assumptions applied at the reporting date in the Group’s different geographical locations are 
described in the following:

Germany United Kingdom

12/31/2019 12/31/2018 12/31/2019 12/31/2018

Discount factor 1.08% 2.08% Discount factor 2.05% 2.80%

Pension trend 1.83% 1.83% Inflation 3.00% 3.20%

Sweden Switzerland

12/31/2019 12/31/2018 12/31/2019 12/31/2018

Discount factor 1.50% 2.50% Discount factor 0.30% 0.85%

Salary trend 2.30% 2.50% Salary trend 0.50% 0.50%

Other

12/31/2019 12/31/2018

Discount factor 0.88% 1.80%

Salary trend 2.84% 3.08%

 
In the case of the German Group companies, the assumptions concerning future mortality rates are based on the 
Mortality Tables 2018 G of Prof. Dr. Klaus Heubeck (PY: Mortality Tables 2005 G of Prof. Dr. Klaus Heubeck). In the 
other countries, actuarial computations are conducted on the basis of country-specific mortality tables.
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Assuming other assumptions remain constant, this would have produced the following effects on the pro-
jected unit credit value, in the event of possible changes in material valuation parameters:

Germany United Kingdom

in kEUR 12/31/2019 12/31/2018 in kEUR 12/31/2019 12/31/2018

Discount factor + 1% -1,438 -798 Discount factor + 1% -25,438 -21,336

Discount factor   1% 1,839 1,051 Discount factor   1% 32,893 27,394

Pension trend + 0.5% 555 326 Pension trend + 0.5% 11,723 9,617

Pension trend   0.5% -587 -293 Pension trend   0.5% -10,581 -8,701

Life expectancy + 1 year 502 160 Life expectancy + 1 year 6,188 4,893

Life expectancy   1 year -656 -158 Life expectancy   1 year -6,234 -4,928

Sweden Switzerland

in kEUR 12/31/2019 12/31/2018 in kEUR 12/31/2019 12/31/2018

Discount factor + 1% -2,422 -1,937 Discount factor + 1% -2,267 -1,983

Discount factor   1% 3,240 2,575 Discount factor   1% 2,474 2,148

Salary trend + 0.5% 143 108 Salary trend + 0.5% 190 151

Salary trend   0.5% -118 -93 Salary trend   0.5% -178 -152

Life expectancy + 1 year 552 424 Life expectancy + 1 year 240 206

Life expectancy   1 year -547 -422 Life expectancy   1 year -242 -208

Other

in kEUR 12/31/2019 12/31/2018

Discount factor + 1% -643 -446

Discount factor   1% 708 511

Salary trend + 0.5% 271 49

Salary trend   0.5% -261 -42

Life expectancy + 1 year 639 343

Life expectancy   1 year -525 -340

 
The foregoing sensitivity analysis is unlikely to be representative for the actual change in the defined benefit 
 obligation because it can be considered improbable that deviations from the assumptions made will occur in 
isolation from each other, since the assumptions are partially related to each other.

Within the framework of defined benefit obligations, expenses of approximately EUR 1,635 thousand (PY: EUR 
3,125 thousand) are expected for financial year 2020, as well as an amount contributed to plan assets of approxi-
mately EUR eleven thousand (PY: EUR 8 thousand).

AURELIUS does not employ a uniform asset-liability matching strategy on the Group level. Such strategies are 
 implemented individually on the level of the operating segments and are covered by plan assets as well as inter-
nal financing, among other things.
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The development of the DBO is presented in detail in the table below:

in kEUR 2019 2018

Projected unit credit value of pension commitments at 1/1 185,798 355,587

Reclassification to “Assets held for sale” -44 -91,764

Changes in the basis of consolidation 2,364 -72,700

Additions/disposals 14,374 22

Interest expenses 4,761 4,140

Service cost (including employee contributions) 876 837

Actuarial gain (-) or loss (+) from demographic assumptions -13 -979

Actuarial gain (-) or loss (+) from financial assumptions 19,113 -5,975

Actuarial gain (-) or loss (+) from experience-based adjustments 2,004 4,679

Employer payments on account of pension obligations -681 -265

Employee contributions 292 254

Benefit payments (incl. tax payments) -12,666 -15,534

Plan changes/transfers 4,246 8,684

Exchange rate changes 8,376 -1,188

Projected unit credit value of pension commitments at 12/31 228,800 185,798

thereof:

Not funded 41,654 24,962

Fully or partially funded 187,146 160,836

 
At the reporting date, the weighted average duration of defined benefit obligations is eleven years (PY: 17 
years), in Germany, 18 years (PY: 17 years) in the United Kingdom, 22 years (PY: 21 years) in Sweden, 20 years 
(PY: 19 years) in Switzerland and ten years (PY: 8 years) in other countries.

The breakdown of the total projected unit credit obligation by corporate groups is presented in the table 
below:

12/31/2019 Germany
United 

Kingdom Sweden Switzerland Other

Active employees 15% - / - 8% 95% 37%

Departed employees with vested benefits 75% 41% 65% - / - - / -

Pension recipients 10% 59% 27% 5% 63%

12/31/2018 Germany
United 

Kingdom Sweden Switzerland Other

Active employees 19% - / - 8% 95% 42%

Departed employees with vested benefits 74% 44% 66% - / - - / -

Pension recipients 7% 56% 26% 5% 58%

 Home
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The reconciliation of the change in the fair value of plan assets is presented in the table below:

in kEUR 2019 2018

Fair value of plan assets at 1/1 165,176 391,826

Reclassification to “Liabilities held for sale” - / - -83,314

Changes in the basis of consolidation 1,897 -72,070

Additions 6 - / -

Interest income 4,382 5,510

Gains (+) or losses (-) on plan assets, excluding the amount presented  
in interest income 

19,031 -695

Benefit payments -11,612 -15,004

Employer contributions 473 382

Contributions of plan participants 300 260

Plan changes/transfers - / - -61,130

Cost reimbursements 2,937 - / -

Exchange rate changes 8,700 -589

Fair value of plan assets at 12/31 191,290 165,176

The plan changes presented in the table above in the prior year in the amount of minus EUR 61,130 thousand was 
recognized in equity, with no effect on profit or loss. This is consistent with the accounting methodology applied 
in the past.

The reconciliation of the funding status with the amounts presented in the consolidated statement of financial 
position is presented in the table below:

in kEUR 2019 2018

Projected unit credit value of pension commitments at 12/31 228,800 185,798

Less fair value of plan assets at 12/31 191,290 165,176

Non-capitalized assets from plan assets (asset ceiling) 4,144 4,340

Plan assets recognized as net assets - / - - / -

Net obligation per the statement of financial position at 12/31 41,654 24,962

The breakdown of defined benefit obligations and plan assets by geographical location is presented in the table 
below:

in kEUR 12/31/2019

Germany
United 

Kingdom Sweden Switzerland Other

Defined benefit obligation 24,913 170,880 12,970 11,920 8,117

Fair value of plan assets -598 -175,024 - / - -11,851 -3,817

Total 24,315 -4,144 12,970 69 4,300
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in kEUR 12/31/2018

Germany
United 

Kingdom Sweden Switzerland Other

Defined benefit obligation 10,244 147,831 10,824 11,211 5,688

Fair value of plan assets -346 -151,810 - / - -11,248 -1,771

Total 9,897 -3,979 10,824 -37 3,917

The plan assets of AURELIUS break down as follows:

in kEUR 12/31/2019

Germany United Kingdom Switzerland Other

Cash and cash equivalents - / - 7,377 970 - / -

Investment funds, equity shares - / - - / - 3,418 - / -

Derivatives - / - - / - - / - - / -

Bonds - / - - / - 3,872 - / -

Real estate - / - - / - 3,591 - / -

Other 598 167,647 - / - 3,817

Total plan assets 598 175,024 11,851 3,817

in kEUR 12/31/2018

Germany United Kingdom Switzerland Other

Cash and cash equivalents - / - 814 979 171

Investment funds, equity shares - / - 4 3,056 429

Derivatives - / - 1,032 - / - - / -

Bonds - / - 1,750 3,692 1,029

Real estate - / - - / - 3,521 50

Other 346 148,210 - / - 92

Total plan assets 346 151,810 11,248 1,771

The investment funds are traded in active markets. Therefore, market prices are available. Risks are minimized 
by means of geographical and strategic diversification. The bonds consist mainly of corporate bonds and 
 government bonds, which are likewise traded in active markets. These bonds have high credit ratings.

By contrast, the derivative financial instruments are not traded in an active market.

The other plan assets consist primarily of claims due from insurance companies in the United Kingdom. These 
are leading global insurance companies.

No significant payments were made in connection with defined contribution pension plans in financial year 
2019.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

57. Capital risk management

The overriding objective of AURELIUS’ capital management program is to ensure that the Group can effectively 
achieve its goals and strategies, in the interest of its shareholders, employees and other stakeholders. AURELIUS 
focuses on the acquisition of companies in transitional or exceptional situations. Consequently, the primary 
 objective is to ensure the continued operation of all Group companies as going concerns and to ensure an optimal 
balance between equity and debt, for the benefit of all stakeholders. The greater share of the Group’s capitaliza-
tion needs is handled by its operating entities. Capital is monitored on the Group level by means of a regular 
 reporting system, so that the Group can intervene with support and optimization measures when necessary. 
Furthermore, decisions concerning dividend payments and capital measures are made on a case-by-case basis, 
with reference to the internal reporting system and in consultation with the subsidiaries.

The capital managed by way of the Group’s capital management program encompasses current and non-current 
liability items, as well as equity components. The development of the Group’s capital structure over time, as well 
as the associated change in dependency on external lenders, are measured by means of the so-called “gearing 
ratio.” The gearing ratio is calculated with reference to the reporting date. By reason of the particular market en-
vironment in which AURELIUS operates, which entails unusual capital requirements, as well as the changes that 
typically occur in the Group’s consolidation group, its gearing ratio is not as informative as it is for companies 
 operating in other sectors.

The gearing ratio in financial year 2019 was higher than in 2018:

in kEUR 12/31/2019 12/31/2018

Non-current liabilities 685,225 457,084

Current liabilities 1,428,156 1,170,216

Total liabilities 2,113,381 1,627,300

Equity 428,152 538,979

Gearing ratio 4.94 3.02

 
The net debt-to-equity ratio of the AURELIUS Group increased in the financial year, with the result that the Group’s 
net debt was backed by equity at the rate of 26 percent (PY: 40%) at the reporting date of December 31, 2019. The 
increase over the previous year is mainly attributable to the first-time application of IFRS 16 (Leases) and the 
 increase in non-current financial liabilities resulting from the placement of bonds in financial year 2019:

in kEUR 12/31/2019 12/31/2018

Non-current liabilities 685,225 457,084

Current liabilities 1,428,156 1,170,216

Total liabilities 2,113,381 1,627,300

Cash and cash equivalents 435,743 290,756

Net liabilities 1,677,638 1,336,544

Equity 428,152 538,979

Net liabilities 3.92 2.48
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58. Categories of financial instruments

The classification of financial instruments to the various categories at December 31, 2019 is presented in the table 
below:

in kEUR Note

Measurement 
category 

according to IFRS 9

Carrying 
amount 

12/31/2019
Fair value 

12/31/2019

ASSETS

Non-current assets 

Financial assets 28 FA-AC 8,981 8,981

28 FA-FVTPL 5,553 5,553

Current assets 

Trade receivables 30 FA-AC 406,202 406,202

Other financial assets 32 FA-AC 149,590 149,590

Cash and cash equivalents 35 FA-AC 435,743 435,743

Derivative financial instruments FA-FVTPL 215 215

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities 

Financial liabilities 46 FL-AC 132,991 132,991

Lease liabilities 50 384,962 384,962

Contract liabilities 51 FL-AC 1,553 1,553

Other financial liabilities 52 FL-AC 30,255 30,255

Other financial liabilities 52 FL-FVTPL 21,107 21,107

Current liabilities 

Financial liabilities 46 FL-AC 335,879 335,879

Trade payables 47 FL-AC 470,249 470,249

Lease liabilities 50 77,922 77,922

Contract liabilities 51 FL-AC 37,417 37,417

Derivative financial instruments 49 FL-FVTPL 69 69

Thereof aggregated by measurement categories  
according to IFRS 9

Financial assets:  
Amortized cost (FA-AC)

1,000,516 1,000,516

Financial assets:  
Fair value through profit or loss (FA-FVTPL)

5,768 5,768

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities:  
Amortized cost (FL-AC)

1,008,344 1,008,344

Financial liabilities:  
Fair value through profit or loss (FL-FVTPL)

21,176 21,176
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The breakdown according to IFRS 9 at the prior-year reporting date of December 31, 2018 is presented in the table 
below:

in kEUR Note

Measurement 
category 

according to IFRS 9

Carrying 
amount 

12/31/2018
Fair value 

12/31/2018

ASSETS

Non-current assets 

Financial assets 28 FA-AC 3,843 3,843

28 FA-FVTPL 6,360 6,360

Current assets 

Trade receivables 30 FA-AC 468,344 468,344

Other financial assets 32 FA-AC 126,109 126,109

Cash and cash equivalents 35 FA-AC 290,756 290,756

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities 

Financial liabilities 46 FL-AC 271,452 271,452

Liabilities under finance lease 50 26,873 26,873

Contract liabilities 51 FL-AC 1,090 1,090

Other financial liabilities 52 FL-AC 7,546 7,546

Other financial liabilities 52 FL-FVTPL 22,284 22,284

Current liabilities 

Financial liabilities 46 FL-AC 209,135 209,135

Trade payables 47 FL-AC 535,743 535,743

Liabilities under finance lease 50 3,712 3,712

Contract liabilities 51 FL-AC 29,093 29,093

Derivative financial instruments 49 FL-FVTPL 1 1

Thereof aggregated by measurement categories  
according to IFRS 9

Financial assets:  
Amortized cost (FA-AC)

889,052 889,052

Financial assets:
Fair value through profit or loss (FA-FVTPL)

6,360 6,360

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities:  
Amortized cost (FL-AC)

1,054,059 1,054,059

Financial liabilities:  
Fair value through profit or loss (FL-FVTPL)

22,285 22,285
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59. Goals of financial risk management

A financial instrument is defined as a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one party to the contract and 
a financial liability of the other party. Financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and 
loan receivables, as well as so-called certificated receivables such as checks and debentures, for example. Finan-
cial liabilities include trade payables and liabilities due to banks and/or third parties. As an internationally active 
group, AURELIUS is exposed to various financial risks related to the use of such financial instruments.

The purpose of the following comments is to provide information concerning the amount, timing and probability 
of cash flows that are expected to result from financial instruments. The risks associated with financial instru-
ments and the use of financial instruments include

■■ Credit risk and default risk,
■■ Liquidity risk, and
■■ Market risk (comprising currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risks).

The Group’s overarching capital management program is focused on the unpredictability of developments in the 
financial markets and is designed to minimize any potential adverse effects on the Group’s cash flows. Thus, 
AURELIUS manages its capital with the goal of ensuring that all Group companies can operate under the premise 
of a going concern, while also maximizing the income of the Group’s subsidiaries by means of an optimal ratio 
of equity to debt capital. The Group’s overall strategy is unchanged from the previous year. The Group’s capital 
structure consists of the Group’s net liabilities and equity. The equity, in turn, is composed of shares outstanding, 
additional paid-in capital and other reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interests.

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Risk management is conducted on the level of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA and the Group’s 
individual operating entities, which apply the guidelines and principles adopted by the management. The Cor-
porate Finance Department provides services to the portfolio companies and coordinates access to national 
and international financial markets. Corporate Finance also monitors and controls the financial risks associated 
with the portfolio companies by means of the internal reporting system, by which risks are analyzed with 
 regard to their degree and extent. Financial risks are identified, assessed and hedged. For this purpose, appro-
priate guidelines based on the applicable legal requirements and the Minimum Requirements for the Risk 
 Management of Banks are applied as part of the Groupwide risk strategy.

60. Market risk

Market risk is understood to mean the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument may 
fluctuate due to changes in market prices. Therefore, market risk is subsumed under currency risk, interest rate 
risk, and other price risks.

Market risk positions can be measured by means of a value-at-risk analysis (VaR analysis) and/or sensitivity analy-
sis.
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61. Value-at-risk analysis 

As a measure of risk, value-at-risk estimates the potential losses in pre-tax profits over a specific holding period 
for a confidence interval set in advance. The VaR method is a statistically defined probability-based approach that 
takes market volatility and risk diversification into account by incorporating offsetting items and correlations 
between products and markets. Risks can be measured constantly over all markets and products. These risk mea-
sures can be aggregated in order to achieve a single measure of risk. Due to the low level of risk, a VaR analysis 
according to IFRS 7.41, which reflects the reciprocal dependencies between the risk parameters, such as interest 
rate and currency risks, for example, is not employed for purposes of managing financial risks at AURELIUS.

62. Currency risk management

Currency risks can arise in connection with investing activities, financing activities and operating activities as a 
result of changes in the exchange rates of various foreign currencies. When necessary, an enterprise can employ 
financial instruments such as forward exchange deals, currency options or currency swaps to limit such risks. 

Of the financial instruments presented in the consolidated financial statements, an amount of EUR 350,507 thous-
and (PY: EUR 330,001 thousand) consisted of financial assets denominated in major foreign currencies and an 
amount of EUR 842,179 thousand (PY: EUR 478,803 thousand) consisted of financial liabilities denominated in 
 major foreign currencies. The risk concentrations of major foreign currencies are presented in the table below:

in kEUR
Carrying 
amount

12/31/2019 in  %

Carrying 
amount

12/31/2018 in  %

Financial assets 

Trade receivables 406,202 73.09% 468,344 78.79%

Other financial assets 149,590 26.91% 126,109 21.21%

555,792 100.00% 594,453 100.00%

– Thereof in foreign currency 

GBP (British pound) 241,778 68.98% 188,989 57.27%

RMB (Chinese renminbi) 12,742 3.64% 12,949 3.92%

DKK (Danish krone) 13,556 3.87% 26,345 7.98%

NOK (Norwegian krone) 10,918 3.12% 25,870 7.84%

AUD (Australian dollar) - / - - / - 1,354 0.41%

CHF (Swiss franc) 11,339 3.24% 14,338 4.34%

HUF (Hungarian forint) 1,057 0.30% 538 0.16%

MYR (Malaysian ringgit) 3,065 0.87% 3,260 0.99%

CZK (Czech koruna) 2,448 0.70% 12,394 3.76%

PLN (Polish zloty) 55 0.02% 493 0.15%

CLP (Chilean peso) 433 0.12% 1,666 0.50%

TRL (Turkish lira) 1,140 0.33% 1,137 0.34%

SEK (Swedish krona) 11,450 3.27% 26,387 8.00%

SGD (Singapore dollar) 279 0.08% 154 0.05%

THB (Thai baht) 3,417 0.97% 2,856 0.87%

USD (US dollar) 32,204 9.19% 4,825 1.46%
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in kEUR
Carrying 
amount

12/31/2019 in  %

Carrying 
amount

12/31/2018 in  %

INR (Indian rupee) 1,125 0.32% 1,394 0.42%

ZAR (South African rand) 976 0.28% 2,171 0.66% 

RON (Romanian leu) - / - - / - 592 0.18%

RUB (Russian ruble) 1,128 0.30% 2,238 0.68% 

HKD (Hong Kong dollar) 1,397 0.40% - / - - / -

MXN (Mexican peso) - / - - / - 51 0.02%

350,507 100.00% 330,001 100.00%

Financial liabilities 

Trade payables 470,249 31.61% 535,743 49.78%

Financial liabilities 468,870 31.39% 480,587 44.65%

Other financial liabilities 51,362 3.42% 29,830 2.77%

Lease liabilities 462,884 30.98% - / - - / -

Contract liabilities 38,970 2.60% 30,183 2.80%

1,492,335 100.00% 1,076,343 100.00%

– thereof in foreign currency 

GBP (British pound) 382,729 45.46% 223,159 46.61%

RMB (Chinese renminbi) 11,068 1.31% 9,836 2.05%

DKK (Danish krone) 216,062 25.65% 118,221 24.69%

NOK (Norwegian krone) 36,540 4.34% 37,459 7.82%

AUD (Australian dollar) 1,624 0.19% 1,707 0.36%

HKD (Hong Kong dollar) 639 0.08% 624 0.13%

CZK (Czech koruna) 13,765 1.63% 17,676 3.69%

CHF (Swiss franc) 21,729 2.58% 17,872 3.73%

HUF (Hungarian forint) 1,460 0.17% 1,840 0.38%

MYR (Malaysian ringgit) 1,257 0.15% 2,551 0.53%

TRL (Turkish lira) 187 0.02% 88 0.02%

SEK (Swedish krona) 115,792 13.75% 39,398 8.23%

SGD (Singapore dollar) 671 0.08% 587 0.12%

THB (Thai baht) 5,060 0.60% 3,660 0.76%

USD (US dollar) 29,469 3.50% 905 0.19%

INR (Indian rupee) 471 0.06% 651 0.14%

ZAR (South African rand) 784 0.09% 1,087 0.23%

PLN (Polish zloty) - / - - / - 1,291 0.27%

RUB (Russian ruble) 455 0.05% 191 0.05%

RON (Romanian leu) 2,417 0.29% - / - - / -

842,179 100.00% 478,803 100.00%

 
For the purpose of presenting market risks, AURELIUS conducts a sensitivity analysis in accordance with IFRS 7.40, 
in order to identify the effects on the Group’s equity and financial performance that would result from assumed, 
hypothetical changes in relevant risk variables. The hypothetical changes in risk variables are  applied to the hol-
dings of financial instruments at the reporting date, so as to identify the effects relative to the reporting period. 
This analysis is conducted under the assumption that the portfolio of financial instruments at December 31, 2019 
is representative of the entire year.
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63. Interest rate management

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk, because the Group entities raise financial funds at fixed and variable 
interest rates. Risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate relationship between funds raised at 
fixed and variable interest rates. Interest rate risk arises from changes in market interest rates, particularly with 
respect to variable-interest, medium-term, and long-term assets and liabilities. Accordingly, all fixed-interest 
 financial instruments measured at amortized cost are not subject to interest rate risk according to the definition 
of IFRS 7. 

The sensitivity analysis conducted for interest rate risks identifies the effects on the Group’s equity and financial 
performance that would result from a change in the risk-free market interest rate. If the level of market interest 
rates had been higher (lower) by 100 basis points than the corresponding level at December 31, 2019, and all other 
variables were held constant, the Group’s profit would have been lower by EUR 2,855 thousand (PY: EUR 2,711 
thousand).

Hedges such as interest rate swaps and futures are regularly assessed in order to coordinate them with expected 
interest and the defined willingness to take on risk. This ensures that the hedging strategies that are most effec-
tive from a cost perspective are always applied.

Under an interest rate swap, the Group exchanges fixed and variable interest payments that were calculated on 
the basis of agreed notional amounts. Such agreements enable AURELIUS to reduce the risk of changing interest 
rates to the fair value of issued fixed-interest debt instruments and cash flow risks of issued variable-interest debt 
instruments. The fair value of interest rate swaps on the reporting date is determined by discounting future cash 
flows based on the yield curves as of the reporting date and the credit risk associated with the contracts. The 
average interest rate is based on the open positions at the end of the reporting year.

If the value of the functional currency had been assessed at ten percent higher (lower) at the reporting date than 
the other above-mentioned currencies used in the Group, the presented equity or comprehensive income would 
have been higher (lower) by EUR 49,167 thousand (PY: EUR 14,880 thousand). The British pound, the Danish krone 
and the Swedish krona would have had a significant influence on this change.

In general, the sensitivity analysis does not represent the actual currency risk, since the risk at the end of the 
 reporting period does not reflect the risk during the financial year just ended. In addition, possible new hedging 
transactions would be entered into in the case of a ten percent change in the euro against all other currencies. 
Although AURELIUS expanded its international activities again in financial year 2019, the Group was exposed to 
only a minor degree of currency risk in the financial year just ended, however, as in previous years, due to the fact 
that most transactions are effected in the euro zone (functional currency).

At December 31, 2019, AURELIUS had the following outstanding forward exchange deals (PY: no outstanding 
 forward exchange deals):

Outstanding forward exchange deals

Explanation
Foreign 

currency 

Foreign 
currency 
amount

Term up to 
3 months

Term 
3 -6 months

Term  
> 6 months

Average 
rate

Forward 
rate

Fair value  
in EUR 

12/31/2019

Purchase USD 547,841 547,841 - / - - / - 0.78 0.78 - / -

Purchase CZK 8,000,000 3,000,000 2,000,000 3,000,000 25.71 25.92 67,125
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Interest rate futures are understood to be agreements between two parties with different interest rate interests 
and/or interest rate expectations that wish to secure themselves against future interest rate fluctuations. They 
specify an interest rate at a fixed point in time for a certain period and calculate the difference between the fixed 
and current interest rates at a later date. The calculated difference triggers a compensation payment. 

As in the prior year, AURELIUS had no outstanding interest rate swaps or futures at December 31, 2019. 

64. Other price risks 

With regard to other price risks, IFRS 7 requires in particular that the reporting entity present the effects on the 
price of financial instruments that would result from hypothetical changes in risk variables. As the risk variables 
analyzed for that purpose, AURELIUS examines the risks related to the procurement of commodities, as well as 
stock exchange prices and indexes.

In order to rule out significant risks related to the procurement of commodities, the affected operating portfolio 
companies can enter into master agreements with suppliers, most of which with terms of one year, so as to 
exclude greater risks. There were no material agreements of this type in the previous financial year, nor any long-
term supply contracts with suppliers.

In addition, there was no hedging of commodity risks in the AURELIUS Group at the reporting date of December 
31, 2019.

At December 31, 2019, the AURELIUS Group did not hold shares in other listed companies that were not consolida-
ted. Consequently, AURELIUS is also not exposed to any share price risk resulting from equity instruments. There-
fore, a share price risk sensitivity analysis is not conducted.

65. Default risk management

The AURELIUS companies operate in different industries and sell a wide variety of products to customers throug-
hout the world. Accordingly, the credit risk and default risk associated with financial assets consist in the risk of 
default on the part of a contractual partner; therefore, the maximum loss under such risks is the fair value of the 
amounts owed by the respective contractual partner.

Impairments of receivables account for the risks associated with primary financial instruments. Trade receivables 
are due from a large number of customers in different industries and geographical regions. Credit assessments 
are conducted continuously to ascertain the financial status of the receivables. Furthermore, the Group only 
 conducts business with creditworthy partners. Creditworthiness is evaluated by means of credit references and/
or historical data derived from previous business dealings. Some of the Group’s operating entities conduct 
 detailed, ongoing credit checks based on an internal rating system (credit scoring method) and set credit limits for 
each one of their customers. In addition, the Group’s subsidiaries work with trade credit insurers, which insure a 
portion of the possible loss of receivables. If it is not possible to insure a given contractual partner, the Group’s 
subsidiaries can exercise the option of demanding cash in advance for any deliveries.

By reason of the business activities and the corresponding diversification of AURELIUS, the Group was not expo-
sed to any significant risk concentrations in financial year 2019. The default risk (expected credit losses) inherent 
in cash and cash equivalents and derivative financial instruments is insignificant, because the counterparties are 
banks with outstanding credit ratings issued by international credit rating agencies.
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The impairments of trade receivables and the defaults on other financial assets in the AURELIUS Group are 
 presented in the table below:

in kEUR

Neither 
past-due nor 

impaired
Past-due, but 
not impaired Impaired

Carrying 
amount at 
12/31/2019

Measured at amortized cost 

– Non-current financial assets 14,534 - / - - / - 14,534

– Trade receivables 298,731 107,471 9,945 406,202

– Other financial assets 149,356 234 361 149,590

in kEUR

Neither 
past-due nor 

impaired
Past-due, but 
not impaired Impaired

Carrying 
amount at 
12/31/2018

Measured at amortized cost 

– Non-current financial assets 10,203 - / - 1,823 10,203

– Trade receivables 338,647 129,687 9,635 468,344

– Other financial assets 125,663 446 - / - 126,109

With respect to receivables and other financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired, the Group bases its 
planning on the assumption of a very high rate of value retention.

In the following, the risks associated with non-current financial assets are not addressed because such risks are 
considered immaterial for AURELIUS.

Thus, the associated maturity analysis of trade receivables and other financial assets that are past-due but not 
impaired has the following structure:
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– Trade receivables 72,048 14,945 7,101 1,743 11,634 107,471

– Other financial assets 140 - / - - / - 94 - / - 234

2018 

in kEUR Pa
st

 d
ue

 u
p 

to
 

30
 d

ay
s

Pa
st

 d
ue

 
be

tw
ee

n 
 

31
 a

nd
 6

0 
da

ys

Pa
st

 d
ue

 
be

tw
ee

n 
 

61
 a

nd
 9

0 
da

ys

Pa
st

 d
ue

 
be

tw
ee

n 
 

91
 a

nd
 12

0 
da

ys

Pa
st

 d
ue

 fo
r 

m
or

e 
th

an
 12

0 
da

ys

To
ta

l a
m

ou
nt

– Trade receivables 94,775 13,031 3,581 3,013 15,287 129,687

– Other financial assets 441 - / - - / - - / - 5 446
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The regional breakdown of trade receivables and other financial assets yields the following risk structure for the 
AURELIUS Group:

in kEUR
Carrying amount 

at  12/31/2019
Carrying amount 

at  12/31/2018

Trade receivables 406,202 468,344

– thereof: Germany 31,522 46,540

– thereof: Europe – EU 300,483 354,805

– thereof: Europe – Other 17,847 37,002

– thereof: Rest of world 56,350 29,997

Other financial assets 149,590 126,109

– thereof: Germany 9,762 7,074

– thereof: Europe – EU 133,854 111,772

– thereof: Europe – Other 5,539 6,580

– thereof: Rest of world 435 683

AURELIUS applies the simplified approach according to IFRS 9 to measure the expected credit losses from trade 
receivables. Under this approach, the expected lifetime credit losses are applied for all trade receivables. Trade 
receivables were aggregated on the basis of past-due days for the purpose of measuring expected credit losses.

Information about the estimated default risk and expected credit losses for trade receivables at December 31, 
2019 is presented in the table below:

2019 
in kEUR Loss rate

Carrying 
amount Impairment

Downgraded 
credit rating 

Measured at amortized cost 

Not past due 0 - 1 % 298,731 1,276 Nein

Past due up to 30 days 0 - 10% 72,048 207 Nein

Past due between 31-60 days 0 - 20 % 14,945 102 Nein

Past due between 61-90 days 0 - 30 % 7,101 95 Nein

Past due between 91-120 days 6 - 50 % 1,743 59 Ja

Past due for more than 120 days 8 - 100% 11,634 8,206 Ja

Total amount 406,202 9,945

The loss rates differ from one Group company to another because trade receivables are owed by a large number 
of customers from different sectors and geographical regions. Loss rates are calculated on the basis of the 
weighted average of actual credit losses over the last seven years. In some cases, the Group companies multiply 
the loss rates by scaling factors to account for the differences between the economic conditions at the time of 
collection of historical data, current conditions, and the economic conditions to be in effect over the expected 
term of the receivables from the Group’s standpoint.

The scaling factors are essentially based on current and forward-looking information about macroeconomic fac-
tors that affect the customer’s ability to pay the receivables, such as the gross domestic product of each country, 
the outlook for the Group company’s industry, and the unemployment rates of the countries in question.
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The Group has cash and cash equivalents in the amount of EUR 435,743 thousand at December 31, 2019 (PY: EUR 
290,756 thousand). The cash and cash equivalents are on deposit with banks that have ratings of BB- to AA+ based 
on the rating agency Standard & Poor’s.

The default risk of the trade receivables and other financial assets presented in the statement of financial posi-
tion, which amounted to EUR 555,792 thousand (PY: EUR 594,453 thousand), is limited by trade credit insurance, 
letters of credit, and other credit protections to a maximum default risk of EUR 526,686 thousand (PY: EUR 552,294 
thousand). Thus, the default risk in the Group increased on a percentage basis over the previous year. The various 
forms of security backing trade receivables and other financial assets are presented in the table below: 

in kEUR Tr
ad

e 
cr

ed
it 

in
su

ra
nc

e

Le
tt

er
s o

f c
re

di
t

O
th

er
  

cr
ed

it 
in

su
ra

nc
e

Se
cu

re
d 

po
rt

io
n

Ca
rr

yi
ng

 a
m

ou
nt

  
at

 12
/3

1/
20

19

Se
cu

re
d 

po
rt

io
n 

in
 %

– Trade receivables 19,020 2,383 7,017 28,420 406,202 7.00%

– Other financial assets 112 398 176 686 149,590 0.46%
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– Trade receivables 23,421 3,023 11,441 37,885 468,344 8.09%

– Other financial assets 17 - / - 4,257 4,274 126,109 3.39%
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66. Liquidity risk management

Liquidity risk is defined as the possibility that a company would encounter difficulties in fulfilling the obligations 
arising from its financial liabilities. By reason of the dynamic nature of the business environment in which 
AURELIUS operates, the goal of Corporate Finance is to preserve the necessary financing flexibility. The Group’s 
solvency and liquidity supply is constantly monitored by means of a rolling liquidity plan and the Group maintains 
a liquidity reserve in the form of cash, available credit lines with banks and other facilities, and by means of cons-
tant monitoring of projected and actual cash flows and reconciliation of the maturity profiles of financial assets 
and liabilities. Thus, the liquidity risk management concept is implemented by means of optimized management 
of short-term, medium-term and long-term financing and liquidity requirements.

The contractually agreed cash outflows that are expected to result from financial instruments and are based on 
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to make payment are presented in the table below:

in kEUR
Due in one 
year or less

Due in 1 - 5 
years

Due in more 
than 5 years

Carrying 
amount at  
12/31/2019

Trade payables 470,249 - / - - / - 470,249

Financial liabilities 335,879 113,994 18,997 468,870

Other financial liabilities - / - 25,599 25,763 51,362

Lease liabilities 77,922 187,286 197,676 462,884

Contract liabilities 37,417 1,553 - / - 38,970

Total 921,467 328,432 242,436 1,492,335

in kEUR
Due in one 
year or less

Due in 1 - 5 
years

Due in more 
than 5 years

Carrying 
amount at  
12/31/2018

Trade payables 535,743 - / - - / - 535,743

Financial liabilities 209,135 257,222 14,230 480,587

Other financial liabilities - / - 15,302 14,528 29,830

Contract liabilities 29,093 1,090 - / - 30,183

Total 773,971 272,524 28,758 1,076,343

Interest payments in the amount of EUR 22,274 thousand (PY: EUR 27,608 thousand) will be incurred on non-cur-
rent financial liabilities in the subsequent years.

EUR 107,668 thousand (PY: EUR 132,558 thousand) or 7.2 percent (PY: 12.3%) of the financial liabilities presented on 
the reporting date of December 31, 2019 in the amount of EUR 1,492,335 thousand (PY: EUR 1,076,343 thousand) are 
secured by collateral.
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The structure of collateral is presented in the table below:
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Trade payables - / - - / - 23,086 - / - - / - 23,086 470,249 4.89%

Financial liabilities 4,043 14,860 46,469 7,083 7,953 80,408 468,870 17.15%

Other financial liabilities - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - 51,362 - / -

Lease liabilities 542 976 - / - - / - 2,656 4,174 462,884 0.90%

Contract liabilities - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - 38,970 - / -
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 %

Trade payables 526 - / - 35,400 - / - - / - 35,926 535,743 6.76%

Financial liabilities 5,432 19,374 61,212 10,614 - / - 96,632 480,587 20.11%

Other financial liabilities - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - 29,830 - / -

Contract liabilities - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - - / - 30,183 - / -

The breakdown of financial liabilities by regions yields the following risk structure:

in kEUR
Carrying amount 

at 12/31/2019
Carrying amount 

at 12/31/2018

Trade payables 470,249 535,743

– thereof: Germany 61,131 56,585

– thereof: Europe – EU 360,470 440,869

– thereof: Europe – Other 25,404 23,504

– thereof: Rest of world 23,244 14,785

Financial liabilities 468,870 480,587

– thereof: Germany 152,123 178,646

– thereof: Europe – EU 282,989 274,072

– thereof: Europe – Other 16,396 27,869

– thereof: Rest of world 17,362 - / -
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67. Measurement at fair value

The fair values of derivative financial instruments are calculated by using discounted present value and option 
price models. Whenever possible, the relevant market prices and interest rates at the reporting date taken from 
recognized external sources are applied as the inputs for such valuation models. 

The fair value of other investments (equity investments) is calculated by application of a DCF model. 

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities with terms to maturity of more than one year are equal to the 
discounted present values of the cash flows expected to result from the corresponding assets and liabilities, 
 based on currently valid interest rate parameters. Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and trade pay-
ables, current  financial assets and liabilities have short terms to maturity, so that their carrying amounts are 
usually equal to their fair values.

in kEUR
Carrying amount 

at 12/31/2019
Carrying amount 

at 12/31/2018

Other financial liabilities 51,362 29,830

– thereof: Germany 31,546 24,459

– thereof: Europe – EU 15,106 1,068

– thereof: Europe – Other 242 - / -

– thereof: Rest of world 4,468 4,303

Lease liabilities 462,884 - / -

– thereof: Germany 39,240 - / -

– thereof: Europe – EU 404,554 - / -

– thereof: Europe – Other 16,278 - / -

– thereof: Rest of world 2,812 - / -

Contract liabilities 38,970 30,183

– thereof: Germany 34,045 26,210

– thereof: Europe – EU 1,170 1,248

– thereof: Europe – Other 404 187

– thereof: Rest of world 3,351 2,538
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The financial instruments analyzed in accordance with the measurement hierarchy of IFRS 13 and measured at fair 
value are presented in the table below:

Assets 
in kEUR Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Total 
12/31/2019

Non-current assets 

Other equity investments - / - - / - 5,553 5,553

Assets 
in kEUR Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Total 
12/31/2018

Non-current assets

Other equity investments - / - - / - 6,360 6,360

Equity and liabilities

Derivative financial instruments  
(not for hedging purposes)

- / - 1 - / - 1

 
There were no transfers between the levels of the measurement hierarchy in the reporting period. 

The different levels are described below:

■■ Level 1:
The (unadjusted) prices quoted in active markets for identical assets and liabilities at the reporting date are  assigned 
to this level. The market is deemed to be active, for example, when prices are quoted on a stock exchange or when 
prices can be easily and regularly obtained from a trade association or regulatory authority, and when the prices in 
question are applied in regularly occurring market transactions conducted on an arm’s length basis.

■■ Level 2:
Inputs other than the market prices indicated in Level 1 that are observable for an asset or liability, either directly, 
for example as prices, or indirectly and therefore derived from prices are assigned to this level. The fair value of 
financial instruments assigned to this level is determined on the basis of appraisal processes. The estimate 
 conducted on the basis of an appraisal process should be grounded in market data to the greatest possible  extent, 
and should rely as little as possible on company-specific data. When all the inputs required to determine the fair 
value are observable, the financial instrument is assigned to Level 2.

■■ Level 3:
If one or more inputs for the given asset or liability are not based on observable market data, the financial instru-
ment is assigned to Level 3.
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The net gains or losses on financial instruments for financial years 2019 and 2018 are presented in the table 
below:

IFRS 9 category
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FA-AC 103 - / - -117 91 - / - 77

FA-FVTPL - / - 68 - / - - / - - / - 68

FL-AC 19 - / - - / - -2,147 630 -1,498

FL-FVTPL - / - 1 -69 - / - - / - -68
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FA-AC 56 - / - -159 -26 - / - -129

FA-FVTPL - / - 339 42 - / - -300 81

FL-AC 47 - / - - / - -592 446 -99

FL-FVTPL - / - 7 -28 - / - -8 -29

Upon initial recognition, derivative financial instruments are measured at the fair value attributable to them on 
the transaction date. In subsequent periods, they are likewise measured at the fair value attributable to them on 
the respective reporting date. The method to be applied for recognizing gains and losses depends on whether the 
derivative financial instrument has been designated as a hedging instrument; if so, the method to be applied 
 depends further on the nature of the hedged item. 

There were no cash flow hedges and no losses or gains arising from fair value hedges within the item of other 
 reserves in equity at AURELIUS in the reporting period.
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68. Contingent liabilities, guarantees and legal disputes 

Contingent liabilities and guarantees
At the reporting date of December 31, 2019, there were contingent liabilities totaling EUR 70,520 thousand (PY: 
EUR 108,797 thousand). Contingent liabilities or guarantees that expired in financial year 2019 are not explained 
further in the following. 

In connection with the sale of the SECOP Group that was completed in late July 2017, AURELIUS Equity Opportuni-
ties SE & Co. KGaA assumed joint and several liability for certain obligations of the seller related to possible 
 warranty claims of the buyer, possible claims of the buyer under the tax indemnification, possible claims of the 
buyer related to any refund claims under the financial purchase price determination mechanism, and possible 
claims related to indemnification of certain matters. In the meantime, the obligations related to possible claims 
of the buyer based on the breach of regular warranties and possible claims of the buyer with respect to any 
 refund claims under the financial purchase price determination mechanism have expired due to the passage of 
time. Any claims with respect to indemnification for certain matters that are limited to an amount of approxi-
mately EUR 11.7 million may only be asserted for five years after the transaction closing date. The joint liability for 
claims for tax indemnification is subject to a limitation period of either six months after the legally binding 
 assessment or after expiration of the assessment period. 

In connection with the sale of Getronics that was completed in early July 2017 AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE 
& Co. KGaA was required to assume guarantee obligations for certain obligations of the seller related to possible 
warranty claims of the buyer, possible claims of the buyer under the tax indemnification, possible claims of the 
buyer with respect to any refund claims due to impermissible transfers, possible claims under the indemnification 
for certain matters, and possible claims due to the breach of post-contractual obligations. In the meantime, the 
guarantee obligation for any claims related to impermissible transfers and for possible warranty claims of the 
buyer that do not relate to fundamental warranties have expired due to the passage of time. All other claims to 
which the guarantee obligation pertains are subject to a limitation period of five years after the transaction 
 closing date.

Through Studienkreis Holding GmbH, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA sold the Studienkreis Group 
effective December 20, 2017. In this connection, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA made an inde-
pendent guarantee undertaking in the purchase agreement to indemnify any payment obligations of the seller 
 arising from or in relation to the purchase agreement. The guarantee undertaking is limited to a maximum 
amount of EUR 5,386 thousand. Payment obligations of the seller could arise particularly from claims of the buyer 
for breaches of warranty or from the tax indemnification. Guarantee claims of the buyer are time-barred after 
36 months (guarantee pertaining to the existence of target companies, ownership of shares, absence of company 
agreements) or 18 months (other guarantees) after the closing date. Claims of the buyer under the tax indemnifi-
cation are time-barred after six months after the assessment or after expiration of the tax assessment periods.

Effective November 26, 2018, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA acquired the Mannheim-based VAG 
Group from the U.S. Rexnord Group through its indirect subsidiary AURELIUS Alpha Invest DS GmbH. AURELIUS 
Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA assumed a financing obligation vis-à-vis the Rexnord Group, under which it 
undertook to endow AURELIUS Alpha Invest DS GmbH with sufficient capital to pay the purchase price and satisfy 
other precisely defined obligations. 

OTHER DISCLOSURES 
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Effective September 5, 2019, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA sold SOLIDUS. In this connection, 
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA made an independent guarantee undertaking in the purchase 
agreement to guarantee any payment obligations of the seller related to possible impermissible transfers, the 
existence of payment claims of the AURELIUS Group against SOLIDUS after the closing date, or the breach of 
 fundamental warranties under the purchase agreement. Guarantee claims of the buyer become time-barred at 
the latest 84 months after the closing date of the purchase agreement.

In December 2019, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA acquired ZIM Flugsitze GmbH and the Distrelec/
Nedis Group through indirectly affiliated companies. AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA assumed a 
 financing obligation vis-à-vis the seller under which it undertook to provide the buyers with sufficient capital to 
pay the purchase prices and satisfy other, specifically defined claims.

In addition, there are contingent liabilities in connection with sureties and/or collateral deposited at BPG  Buildings 
Partners Group (previously: B+P Gerüstbau) in the amount of EUR 13,489 thousand (PY: EUR 11,552 thousand), 
 Wychem Ltd. in the amount of EUR 56 thousand (PY: EUR 837 thousand), VAG in the amount of EUR 797 thousand (PY: 
EUR 104 thousand) and Conaxess Trade Group in the amount of EUR 21,897 thousand (PY: EUR 20,345 thousand).

Contingent liabilities under guarantees exist at HanseYachts in the amount of EUR 4,921 thousand (PY: EUR 4,676 
thousand). There are also contingent liabilities based on potential repurchase and/or purchase or contractual 
commitments at HanseYachts in the amount of EUR 221 thousand (PY: EUR 523 thousand), the Conaxess Trade 
Group in the amount of EUR 858 thousand (PY: EUR 4,741 thousand), the NDS Group (previously: Hellanor) in the 
amount of EUR 1,324 thousand (PY: EUR 1,313 thousand), Silvan in the amount of EUR 2,462 thousand (PY: EUR 0 
thousand) and VAG in the amount of EUR 7,409 thousand (PY: EUR 9,243 thousand).

Legal disputes
With respect to the two companies Old BCA Ltd. and Book Club Trading Ltd., AURELIUS is exposed to the risk of 
continuing liability for pension obligations based on mistakes made during the implementation of the pension 
fund in the 1990s. The amount varies and could possibly reach an amount in the middle single-digit millions. 
 Rectification proceedings are currently being carried out by the companies before a British court through which 
the past mistakes should be rectified. AURELIUS considers the prospects for success to be good overall.

A claim for payment of an amount in the middle single-digit millions is being asserted against a former holding 
company that is currently in liquidation and a direct subsidiary of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA by 
the insolvency administrator of the former investment that was sold more than five years ago and has meanwhile 
become insolvent, by way of a partial claim. The maximum risk is in the mid-single-digit millions. The allegation 
stated in the claim reads that the distribution of a dividend in 2010 was an inadmissible, prohibited repayment of 
share capital. The liquidator of the former holding company assumes that it will be possible to successfully defend 
against the suit based on factual and legal grounds. 

A claim for payment of an amount in the lowest-double digit millions is being asserted against AURELIUS Equity 
 Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA and three additional defendants by the insolvency administrator of a former 
 company of the Getronics Group as joint and several debtors. The defendants unanimously assume that it will be 
possible to successfully defend against the suit based on numerous factual and legal grounds.

The insolvency administrator of ACC Compressors S.p.A. is demanding payment of damages from two former 
Group companies for allegedly anti-competitive behavior. The claim is for an amount in the low double-digit 
 millions. The claim was broadened to include AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co KGaA in early 2018. In 
 addition, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co KGaA, among others, may have an indemnification obligation 
under the company purchase agreement by which the two aforementioned companies were sold in 2017. 
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69. Related persons and entities 

In accordance with IAS 24, persons or entities that can be influenced by the reporting Company or which have an 
influence over the Company are defined as related parties. This includes on the one hand controlled or controlling 
entities as well as associates and fellow subsidiaries that are not consolidated. On the other hand, this also in-
cludes natural persons with significant influence in the form of voting rights and members of management in key 
positions (Executive Board and Supervisory Board members), as well as their close family members. IAS 24.10 
 requires an overall appraisal of the economic substance of a relationship. Related persons and entities from the 
perspective of AURELIUS include the members of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board of AURELIUS Equity 
Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA, as well as their close family members and those non-consolidated entities over 
which these persons have a significant influence. Balances and transactions between the Company and its sub-
sidiaries that are related entities and persons were eliminated during consolidation and are not explained in this 
note disclosure. Details regarding transactions between the Group and other related entities and persons are 
provided below. 

Dr. Dirk Markus is the Chairman of the Executive Board of AURELIUS Management SE, which is the personally liable 
shareholder of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA. AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA en-
tered into an agency contract effective August 1, 2013, with Lotus AG, which is directly and indirectly controlled by 
Dr.   Dirk Markus. The agreement governs all types of management services. The fee from the management 
 services agreement for financial year 2019 amounts to a total of EUR 18,911 thousand (PY: EUR 802 thousand). The 
balance is zero at December 31, 2019 (PY: EUR 0 thousand). 

Until July 31, 2018, Donatus Albrecht was an Executive Board member of AURELIUS Management SE, which is 
the personally liable shareholder of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA, and is the Managing Director 
of Paganini Invest GmbH. Directly and indirectly as a co-investor through Paganini Invest GmbH, Donatus Albre-
cht holds purchased shares in various subsidiaries of AURELIUS amounting to lower single digit percentages. The 
 shares were issued in exchange for payment of the purchase price equal in all respects to the principal share-
holder. 

Dr. Dirk Markus and Gert Purkert are members of the Executive Board of AURELIUS Management SE, which is the 
personally liable shareholder of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA. The two aforementioned Board 
members are shareholders of AURELIUS Wachstumskapital SE & Co. KG. AURELIUS Beteiligungsberatungs AG, 
AURELIUS Transaktionsberatungs AG, and AURELIUS Portfolio Management AG provided various advisory services 
to AURELIUS Wachstumskapital SE & Co. KG in financial year 2019. The fee for the advisory services amounts to a 
 total of EUR 361 thousand (PY: EUR 38 thousand). AURELIUS Wachstumskapital SE & Co. KG in turn provided 
 advisory services to AURELIUS Portfolio Management AG for a total fee of EUR 585 thousand (PY: EUR 368 thou-
sand). At the reporting date, the stated balances were partially outstanding; at the time this report was prepared, 
all outstanding balances had been settled. All service agreements were concluded at fair market terms and 
 conditions.

 Nonetheless, AURELIUS expects that the defendants will be able to successfully defend themselves against the 
claim.

In connection with its general business activities, AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA was otherwise a 
party to various legal disputes as of the reporting date, but none of them is to be considered material in terms of 
the risks or amounts involved. As in the previous year, therefore, no provisions for other legal disputes were recog-
nized in 2019.
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Dr. Dirk Markus is the Chairman of the Executive Board of AURELIUS Management SE, which is the personally liable 
shareholder of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA. Lotus AG, which is directly and indirectly controlled 
by Dr. Dirk Markus, provided AURELIUS Beteiligungsberatungs AG with personnel in financial year 2019 for a total 
fee of EUR 158 thousand (PY: EUR 144 thousand). The outstanding balance at December 31, 2019 amounted to EUR 
75 thousand (PY: 0 EUR). The service agreement was concluded at fair market terms and conditions.

Securities-linked pension benefits were granted in the form of deferred compensation to two members of the  
Executive Board of AURELIUS Management SE in financial year 2019. These pension commitments specify a retire-
ment fund at retirement age and a survivor’s fund in the event of early death. The retirement fund is due at the 
end of the 67th year of life and departure from the company. 

There were no other transactions between the Group and related persons in the past financial year. 

69.1 Governing bodies of the company
The Executive Board of AURELIUS Management SE, which is the personally liable shareholder of AURELIUS Equity 
 Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA, is composed of the following persons:

■■ Dr. Dirk Markus (Chairman), London,
■■ Gert Purkert, Munich,
■■ Steffen Schiefer, Munich,
■■ Fritz Seemann, Düsseldorf,
■■ Matthias Täubl, London.

The Executive Board members’ other activities on governing bodies mainly include functions as members of 
 supervisory boards and executive boards or as managing directors at associates and/or subsidiaries of AURELIUS 
Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA. The members of the Executive Board separately carry out the following 
other functions in supervisory bodies as defined under Section 125 (1) sentence 5 AktG:

Dr. Dirk Markus, Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

Supervisory Board mandates and mandates on supervisory bodies as defined under Section 125 (1) sentence 
5 AktG:

■■ Deutsche Industrie Grundbesitz AG, Rostock (Vice Chairman),
■■ Obotritia Capital KGaA, Potsdam.

Gert Purkert, Chief Operating Officer (COO)

Supervisory Board mandates and mandates on supervisory bodies as defined under Section 125 (1) sentence 
5 AktG:

■■ AURELIUS Beteiligungsberatungs AG, Munich (Chairman),
■■ AURELIUS Portfolio Management AG, Munich (Chairman),
■■ AURELIUS Transaktionsberatungs AG, Munich (Chairman),
■■ HanseYachts AG, Greifswald (Chairman),
■■ AUREPA Management AG, Munich (Chairman).
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Steffen Schiefer, Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

Supervisory Board mandates and mandates on supervisory bodies as defined under Section 125 (1) sentence 
5 AktG:

■■ AURELIUS Transaktionsberatungs AG, Munich.

Fritz Seemann, Chief Development Officer (CDO)

Supervisory Board mandates and mandates on supervisory bodies as defined under Section 125 (1) sentence 
5 AktG:

■■ HanseYachts AG, Greifswald,
■■ Ebert HERA Esser Holding GmbH, Baden-Baden (until May 31, 2019),
■■ AURELIUS Beteiligungsberatungs AG, Munich,
■■ AURELIUS Portfolio Management AG, Munich (Vice Chairman).

Matthias Täubl, Chief Restructuring Officer (CRO)

Supervisory Board mandates and mandates on supervisory bodies as defined under Section 125 (1) sentence 
5 AktG:

■■ Granovit SA, Lucens/Switzerland (Chairman of the Board of Directors, until May 1, 2019), 
■■ AURELIUS Beteiligungsberatungs AG, Munich (Vice Chairman),
■■ AURELIUS Transaktionsberatungs AG, Munich (Vice Chairman).

The Supervisory Board was composed of the following persons in financial year 2019: 

Christian Dreyer (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
Managing Director of Dreyer Ventures & Management GmbH, Salzburg.

Supervisory Board mandates and mandates on supervisory bodies as defined under Section 125 (1) sentence 
5 AktG:

■■ Beno Holding AG, Starnberg,
■■ Gemeinnützige Salzburger Landeskliniken Betriebsgesellschaft mbH, Salzburg/Austria.

Prof. Dr. Bernd Mühlfriedel (Vice Chairman)
Professor of Business Administration at Landshut University of Applied Sciences. 
  
Supervisory Board mandates and mandates on supervisory bodies as defined under Section 125 (1) sentence 
5 AktG:

■■ Deutsche Kautionskasse AG, Starnberg (Vice Chairman).

Dr. Frank Hübner-von Wittich
Lawyer and tax advisor, Lotus AG.  

Supervisory Board mandates and mandates on supervisory bodies as defined under Section 125 (1) sentence 
5 AktG:

■■ AURELIUS WK Management SE, Grünwald,
■■ Tiven AG, Grünwald,
■■ AUREPA Management AG, Munich (Vice Chairman).
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Holger Schulze
Executive Board of Vital AG, Mainaschaff. 

Maren Schulze
Managing Director of objective consumer research & consulting GmbH, Frankfurt am Main.

Dr. Ulrich Wolters
Business consultant.  
Supervisory Board mandates and mandates on supervisory bodies as defined under Section 125 (1) sentence 
5 AktG:

■■ Deutsche Arzt AG, Essen (Vice Chairman), 
■■ Novotergum AG, Essen (Chairman).

The Shareholders Committee was composed of the following persons in financial year 2019: 

Dirk Roesing (Chairman of the Shareholders Committee)
Managing Partner of Scopus Capital GmbH, Munich.

Holger Schulze (Vice Chairman)
Executive Board of Vital AG, Mainaschaff.

Dr. Thomas Hoch 
Managing Partner of W&B Projektentwicklungs GmbH, Darmstadt. 

Supervisory Board mandates and mandates on supervisory bodies as defined under Section 125 (1) sentence 
5 AktG:

■■ EVP Capital Management AG, Frankfurt (until December 16, 2019).

69.2 Compensation report
The fixed non-performance-based compensation of the Executive Board and active members of the Executive 
Board of AURELIUS Management SE totaled EUR 1,926 thousand in financial year 2019 (PY: EUR 1,924 thousand). In 
addition to the fixed compensation, performance-based variable compensation in the amount of EUR 24,985 
thousand (PY: EUR 9,377 thousand) in financial year 2019. The entire variable compensation component represents 
short-term employee benefits as defined under IAS 24.17(a). The variable compensation results mainly from the 
virtual co-investment sub-interests granted to the members of the Executive Board in connection with corporate 
transactions. Thus, the total amount expended for Executive Board compensation in financial year 2019 was 
EUR 26,911 thousand (PY: EUR 11,301 thousand). 

A total amount of EUR 29,623 thousand (PY: EUR 2,798 thousand) was expended for former members of the 
 Executive Board of AURELIUS Management SE in financial year 2019. Of this total, EUR 13,310 thousand (PY: EUR 0 
thousand) consisted of non-current liabilities for post-employment benefits, which were recognized in other 
comprehensive income. This compensation results entirely from the virtual co-investment sub-interests granted 
to former Executive Board members during their service on the Executive Board of AURELIUS Management SE 
in connection with corporate transactions.

AURELIUS AG entered into a management services agreement at the end of July 2013 with Lotus AG, which is 
 directly and indirectly controlled by Dr. Dirk Markus. This contract was transferred to AURELIUS Management SE 
on October 1, 2015, in connection with the transformation of AURELIUS AG. The agreement governs all types of 
management services. The total fee paid under the management services agreement amounted to EUR 18,911 
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72. Fee of the independent auditor

The total fee charged by KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft for auditing services in financial year 
2019 amounted to EUR 916 thousand (PY: EUR 813 thousand). Besides auditing services, other adivisory ser-
vices of EUR 37 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand) were provided in financial year 2019.

71. Employees

AURELIUS had an average of 12,712 employees in financial year 2019 (PY: 13,895 employees), including 5,912 wage 
earners (PY: 5,995 wage earners) and 6,801 salaried employees (PY: 7,900 salaried employees). At the reporting 
date of December 31, 2019, AURELIUS had 13,486 employees (PY: 15,131 employees).

70. Disclosures required by IFRS 3.59 ff. and IFRS 8.23, but not provided

The disclosures required by IFRS 3.59 ff. with respect to the nature and financial effects of business combinations 
are not presented in these notes to the consolidated financial statements or not itemized. The same applies for 
the material non-cash items of income to be disclosed for each reportable segment under IFRS 8.23. This applies 
in particular to the gains on bargain purchases. AURELIUS abstains from these disclosures because it believes that 
they can lead to economic disadvantages for future company acquisitions or company sales.

thousand in financial year 2019 (PY: EUR 802 thousand). The fixed portion of the fee amounted to EUR 480 thou-
sand (PY: EUR 480 thousand) and the expended variable portion of the fee amounted to EUR 18,431 thousand (PY: 
EUR 322 thousand). The variable portion results from virtual co-investment sub-interests that were granted to 
Lotus AG with Dr. Dirk Markus as controlling shareholder in connection with corporate transactions.

The members of the Supervisory Board received fixed compensation in the total amount of EUR 180 thousand in 
financial year 2019 (PY: EUR 180 thousand), which was divided among the Supervisory Board members in equal 
parts. No loans or advances were granted to and no sureties or guarantees were issued in favor of members of the 
Executive Board and Supervisory Board of the parent company or subsidiaries of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities 
SE & Co. KGaA.
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73. List of Shareholdings pursuant to Section 313 (2) HGB

The following subsidiaries and associated companies are included in the present consolidated financial statements at  
December 31, 2019 of AURELIUS:

Company Head Office Cur-
rency Share in % Equity¹ Profit/loss¹

incl. co- 
in vestors

excl. co- 
in vestors

AHI Holding GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 122,639 78,319
Akad Bildungsgesellschaft mbH Stuttgart EUR 100.00% 100.00% 3,087,680 459,798
Akad Holding GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 3,990,147 2,283,236
AURELIUS Alpha B.V.  
(previously: SOLIDUS SOLUTIONS Holding BV)

Amsterdam/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% 24,623,113 466,143

Arcadia Hotelbetriebs GesmbH Salzburg/Austria EUR 100.00% 100.00% 250,132 -141,719
Arcadia Hotelbetriebsgesellschaft mbH Waiblingen EUR 100.00% 100.00% 1,142,188 437,746
Ardent Americas LLC Wilmington/ 

United States of America
USD 100.00% 100.00% 1,609,000 1,870,000

Ardent Global LLC Wilmington/ 
United States of America

USD 100.00% 100.00% 4,472,000 -481,000

Ardent Holdings Ltd. London/United Kingdom GBP 97.50% 97.50% 6,460,000 -14,474,000
Ardent Korea CH Seoul/ South Korea USD 85.00% 85.00% 201,000 -55,000
Ardent Maritime Africa Pty Ltd. Kapstadt/South Africa ZAR 100.00% 100.00% -21,130,000 -7,823,000
Ardent Maritime Netherlands BV IJmuiden/ Netherlands USD 100.00% 100.00% -721,000 763,000
Ardent Maritime Singapore Pte Ltd. Singapore/Singapore USD 100.00% 100.00% 5,090,000 -154,000
Ardent Maritime UK Ltd. London/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% -43,647,000 -11,251,000
Ardent Oceania Pty Ltd. Ingleburn/Australia USD 100.00% 100.00% 967,000 555,000
Ardent Servicos Maritimos Ltda Rio de Janeiro/Brazil USD 100.00% 100.00% 7,312,000 2,857,000
Ardent Worldwide Ltd. London/United Kingdom USD 100.00% 100.00% -36,654,000 -11,291,000
Athena Holdings B.V.2 Venlo/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
AURELIUS Active Management GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 308,577 214,597
AURELIUS Active Management Holding GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 3,160,745 -6,996
AURELIUS Alpha International GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% -57,237 -65,276
AURELIUS Alpha Invest DS GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 1,655,931 -583,890
AURELIUS Alpha Invest GmbH Grünwald EUR 91.07% 91.07% 2,275,327 -450
AURELIUS Alpha Ltd. London/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 4,240,764 28,455
AURELIUS Amethyst Ltd.2 London/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
AURELIUS Beta International GmbH  
(in Liquidation)

Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 264,928 -6,022

AURELIUS Beta Ltd. London/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% -11,279 -23,738
AURELIUS Beteiligungsberatungs AG Munich EUR 100.00% 100.00% 232,313 -89,756
AURELIUS Bornite Ltd.2 London/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
AURELIUS Chromite Ltd.2 London/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
AURELIUS Delta Ltd. London/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% -5,047 -5,048
AURELIUS Development Eight GmbH5 Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 17,031 -7,969
AURELIUS Development Eighteen GmbH2 Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
AURELIUS Development Eleven GmbH Grünwald EUR 93.70% 93.70% 22,894 -2,106
AURELIUS Development Fifteen GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 22,844 -2,156
AURELIUS Development Five GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 11,382 -13,618
AURELIUS Development Four GmbH Grünwald EUR 92.82% 92.82% 18,661 -13,766
AURELIUS Development Fourteen GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 22,844 -2,156
AURELIUS Development Nine DS GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 21,920 -3,080
AURELIUS Development Nine GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 48,551 -1,449
AURELIUS Development Nineteen GmbH2 Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
AURELIUS Development Seven GmbH Grünwald EUR 93.70% 93.70% -81,712 -106,712
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Company Head Office Cur-
rency Share in % Equity¹ Profit/loss¹

incl. co- 
in vestors

excl. co- 
in vestors

AURELIUS Development Seventeen GmbH2 Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
AURELIUS Development Six GmbH Grünwald EUR 93.70% 93.70% 17,039 -7,961
AURELIUS Development Sixteen DS GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 22,844 -2,156
AURELIUS Development Sixteen GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 49,156 -844
AURELIUS Development Ten GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 22,838 -2,162
AURELIUS Development Three GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 11,381 -13,619
AURELIUS Development Twelve GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 22,839 -2,161
AURELIUS Development Twenty  GmbH2 Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
AURELIUS Development Twenty-One GmbH2 Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
AURELIUS Development Twenty-Two  GmbH2 Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
AURELIUS Diamond Ltd.2 London/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
AURELIUS Emerald Ltd.2 London/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
AURELIUS Epsilon International GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% -10,027,582 -289,507
AURELIUS Epsilon Invest GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% -5,396,220 -154,496
AURELIUS Equity Opportunities AB2 Stockholm/Sweden SEK 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
AURELIUS Eta UK Investments Ltd. London/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 928,330 21,597
AURELIUS Finance Company Ltd. London/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 10,645,974 29,079
AURELIUS Gamma International GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% -307,910 -91,792
AURELIUS Gamma Invest GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 690,081 373,667
AURELIUS Finance Property One Ltd.  
(previously: AURELIUS Zeta Ltd.)

London/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% -5,047 -5,048

AURELIUS Gamma Ltd. London/United Kingdom GBP 93.60% 93.60% -5,047 -5,048
AURELIUS Initiative Development GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 194,573 -52,821
AURELIUS Investments Ltd. London/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% -105,245 -317,490
AURELIUS Investment NL 1 B.V.2 Amsterdam/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
AURELIUS Investment NL 2 B.V.2 Amsterdam/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
AURELIUS Iota Invest GmbH (in Liquidation) Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 12,027 -4,395
AURELIUS Management SE3 Grünwald EUR 70.00% 70.00% 104,544 - / -
AURELIUS Mittelstandskapital GmbH Grünwald EUR 51.00% 51.00% -1,682,542 -305,634
AURELIUS MK Two GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% -606,604 -34,054
AURELIUS Nederland B.V.2 Amsterdam/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / - 
AURELIUS Nordics AB Stockholm/Sweden SEK 100.00% 100.00% 35,875 - / -
AURELIUS Portfolio Management AG Munich EUR 100.00% 100.00% 161,425 -67,640
AURELIUS Psi Ltd. London/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% -4,795 -23,108
AURELIUS Services Holding GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 444,402 28,848
AURELIUS Sigma Invest GmbH (in Liquidation) Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 8,741 -5,178
AURELIUS Sigma Ltd. London/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% -6,675,696 -6,886,684
AURELIUS Tau UK Investments Ltd.  
(in Liquidation)2

London/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -

AURELIUS Theta Invest DS One GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 1,329,024 1,133,482
AURELIUS Theta Invest Holding GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 6,063,872 909,000
AURELIUS Transaktionsberatungs AG Munich EUR 100.00% 100.00% 173,885 -136,000
AURELIUS Upsilon UK Investments Ltd. London/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 10,659,759 640,913
AURELIUS Zeta Invest Holding GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 1,371,878 -309,000
AURELIUS Zeta Invest Two GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 4,165,200 1,402,239
Auto Mester AS Hagan/Norway NOK 100.00% 100.00% 550,926 348,493
Avelgemse Transportmaatschappij NV Brussels/Belgium EUR 100.00% 100.00% 1,029,645 12,606
B+P Baulogistik GmbH3 Wandlitz EUR 100.00% 100.00% 204,720 - / - 
B+P Gerüstbau GmbH3 Wandlitz EUR 100.00% 100.00% 1,537,218 - / -
B+P Gerüstbau Hamburg GmbH3 Hamburg EUR 100.00% 100.00% 3,834 - / - 
BCA Beteiligungs GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 97.00% 116,561 -3,000

242 I   AU RELI US A N N UA L  R E P O RT



N OT E S  TO  T H E  CO N S O L I DAT E D  F I N A N C I A L  STAT E M E N T S

Company Head Office Cur-
rency Share in % Equity¹ Profit/loss¹

incl. co- 
in vestors

excl. co- 
in vestors

BCA Pension Trustees Ltd. Swindon/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 1 - / -
Bertram Group Ltd. London/United Kingdom GBP 98.30% 98.30% 1,946,000 -152,000
Bertram Trading Ltd. Norwich/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 555,000 8,463,000
Binje Ackermans SA Brussels/Belgium EUR 100.00% 100.00% 4,495,052 2,261,620
BMC Benelux BV Brussels/Belgium EUR 100.00% 100.00% 4,086,168 -451,766
BMC Brand Management Consulting GmbH  
(in Liquidation)

Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 309,520 -647,000

Book Club Trading Ltd. Swindon/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 189,039 -170,339
BPG Building Partners Group GmbH  
(previously: AURELIUS MK One GmbH)

Wandlitz EUR 75.00% 75.00% 8,431,684 -966,647

Briar Chemicals Ltd. Norwich/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 10,626,095 8,900,076
Briar Holding GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 299,616 10,665,006
brightONE Holding GmbH (in Liquidation) Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 198,013 -276,840
BSB Bau- und Spezialgerüstbau GmbH3 Schmölln EUR 100.00% 100.00% 2,920,679 - / - 
CalaChem Holding Ltd. Manchester/ 

United Kingdom
GBP 100.00% 100.00% 20,013 1,759

CalaChem Ltd. Grangemouth/ 
United Kingdom

GBP 100.00% 100.00% 21,427,000 1,429,000

CalaChem Pension Trustees Ltd. Manchester/ 
United Kingdom

GBP 100.00% 100.00% 1 - / -

Calumet Photograhic Sarl Paris/France EUR 100.00% 100.00% 25,000 - / -
Calumet Photographic BV Amsterdam/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% 51,956 -629
Calumet Photographic GmbH Hamburg EUR 100.00% 100.00% 8,862,820
Calumet Photographic Ltd. Milton Keynes/ 

United Kingdom
GBP 100.00% 100.00% 1,518,000 342,000

Calumet Trading Ltd. Milton Keynes/ 
United Kingdom

GBP 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -

Calumet Wex Holding GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 898,422 -168,000
Calumet Wex International Ltd. Milton Keynes/ 

United Kingdom
GBP 94.10% 94.10% -724,000 -65,000

Combine Asset Ltd. Manchester/ 
United Kingdom

GBP 100.00% 100.00% -1,630,504 -758,619

Combine Holding Ltd. Manchester/ 
United Kingdom

GBP 100.00% 100.00% 2 - / -

Conaxess Holding Sweden AB Stockholm/Sweden SEK 100.00% 100.00% 429,137,521 -8,003,803
Conaxess Trade Austria GmbH Vienna/Austria EUR 100.00% 100.00% -7,741,438 -192,705
Conaxess Trade Denmark A/S Soborg/Denmark DKK 100.00% 100.00% 112,106,000 -7,564,000
Conaxess Trade Denmark Beverage A/S Soborg/Denmark DKK 75.00% 75.00% 13,143,000 3,812,000
Conaxess Trade Holding AB Malmö/Sweden SEK 100.00% 100.00% 79,920 - / -
Conaxess Trade Norway AS Oslo/Norway NOK 100.00% 100.00% 57,071,424 -3,932,509
Conaxess Trade Sweden AB Stockholm/Sweden SEK 100.00% 100.00% 89,473,396 -354,716
Conaxess Trade Switzerland AG Neuendorf/Switzerland CHF 100.00% 100.00% 567,223 108,211
ConverterTec Bulgaria EOOD2 Sofia/Bulgaria BGN 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
Craft Channel Productions Ltd. Chesterfield/ 

United Kingdom
GBP 100.00% 100.00% 5,276,266 928,988

Craft Retail Incorporated Grand Rapids/ 
United States of America

USD 100.00% 100.00% -312,653 -312,653

Craft Retail International Ltd. Peterborough/ 
United Kingdom

GBP 100.00% 100.00% 1,888,997 -509,013

Create and Craft Ltd. Peterborough/ 
United Kingdom

GBP 100.00% 100.00% 2 - / -

Dawson Books Ltd. Norwich/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% -981,000 -89,000
Dawson Espana Agencia de Ediciones SL Valladolid/Spain EUR 100.00% 100.00% -573,004 -38,853
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Dawson France SAS Massy/France EUR 100.00% 100.00% 813,387 37,796
Dawson Iberica SRL Barcelona/Spain EUR 100.00% 100.00% -57,860 - / -
Dehler Yachts GmbH Greifswald EUR 100.00% 100.00% -1,328,350 -2,564
Delvita GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 18,839 -496,611
Deramores Retail Ltd. Peterborough/ 

United Kingdom
GBP 100.00% 100.00% 959,040 -221,678

Earls Gate Water Ltd. Manchester/ 
United Kingdom

GBP 100.00% 100.00% -26,000 -16,000

Education Umbrella Ltd. Norwich/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% -1,739,540 -1,795,042
Erasmus Antiquariaat en Boekhandel B.V. Amsterdam/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% 374,343 279,103
Erasmus Buchhandlung GmbH Berlin EUR 100.00% 100.00% 481,795 102,735
FB Education Equipment  
Manufacturing 01 GmbH

Hürth EUR 100.00% 100.00% 62,073 -2,116

Feedback Instruments Ltd. Crowborough/ 
United Kingdom

GBP 100.00% 100.00% 1,173,802 186,375

Fiert Holdings Ltd. Glasgow/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 138 - / -
Fixation UK Ltd. Norwich/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 2,402,000 241,000
Foto-Video Sauter GmbH & Co. KG Munich EUR 100.00% 100.00% 654,455 51,355
Foto-Video Sauter Verwaltungs GmbH Munich EUR 100.00% 100.00% 30,000 -4,293
GA Industries Holdings LLC Cranberry Township/ 

United States of America
USD 100.00% 100.00% 27,535,000 -27,985,000

GHOTEL Arcadia GmbH2 Bonn EUR 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
GHOTEL Austria GmbH Grünwald EUR 93.70% 93.70% 19,332 -15,000
GHOTEL Beteiligungs GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 9,367,020 -1,664,000
GHOTEL Deutschland GmbH Bonn EUR 100.00% 100.00% 21,863 - / -
GHOTEL Germany GmbH Bonn EUR 100.00% 100.00% 22,253 - / -
GHOTEL GmbH Bonn EUR 100.00% 95.00% 6,260,898 1,345,447
GIP Development SARL Luxembourg/Luxembourg EUR 100.00% 100.00% 2,224,666 7,741,083
GIP Holding GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 957,262 7,821,849
Göttingen Grundbesitz GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 630,259 -3,000
Göttingen Grundbesitz Holding GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 630,529 -3,000
GTM Development Ltd. Dublin/Ireland EUR 100.00% 100.00% 40,212,665 2,183,277
GTN IT Services BV Amsterdam/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% 14,249 -1,859
Guilbert International BV Venlo/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% 132,882,215 -181
Guilbert UK Holdings Ltd. Leicester/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 151,527,000 - / -
Gustav Raetz Gerüstbau GmbH3 Munich EUR 100.00% 100.00% 29,401 1,229
H&F Shoes (Thailand) Co Ltd. Bangkok/Thailand THB 100.00% 100.00% 143,383,864 39,201,094
H&S Shoes (M) Sdn. Bhd Kuala Lumpur/Malaysia MYR 100.00% 100.00% 100,000 1,318
Hammerl GmbH Gemmrigheim EUR 100.00% 100.00% 1,424,712 376,864
Hanse (Deutschland) Vertriebs GmbH & Co. KG Greifswald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 2,307,148 263,010
HanseYachts AG Greifswald EUR 76.77% 76.77% 12,961,110 2,355,409
HanseYachts Technologie und  
Vermögensverwaltungs GmbH

Greifswald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 32,833 - / -

HanseYachts TVH GmbH Greifswald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 22,788 - / -
HanseYachts US LLC. Savannah/Vereinigte  

Staaten von Amerika
USD 100.00% 100.00% 239,336 132,188

Health and Fashion Shoes Australia Pty Ltd. Victoria/Australia AUD 100.00% 100.00% 2,602,615 -309,028
Health and Fashion Shoes France SAS Paris/France EUR 100.00% 100.00% 755,834 19,673
Health and Fashion Shoes Hong Kong Ltd. Hong Kong/ 

People‘s Republic of China
HKD 100.00% 100.00% 1 -163,008

Health and Fashion Shoes Italia SpA Milano/Italy EUR 100.00% 100.00% 11,631,143 1,025,298
Health and Fashion Shoes Singapore Pte. Ltd. Singapore/Singapore SGD 100.00% 100.00% 1,345,761 -1,499,073,546
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Health and Fashion Shoes Spain S.A. Madrid/Spain EUR 100.00% 100.00% 2,809,005 857,461
Heteyo Holding BV Venlo/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% 640,683,734 -34,458
Heteyo Invest B.V. Venlo/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% -4,251 -4,252
Houtschild Internationale Boekhandel BV Rijswijk/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% 279,816 228,071
HY Beteiligungs GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 2,703,649 -453,000
HYD GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% -20,639 -46,450
Iberian IT Holding GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% -338,332 -358,000
Ideal Home Mail Order Ltd. Peterborough/ 

United Kingdom
GBP 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -

Ideal Shopping Direct Ltd.6 Peterborough/ 
United Kingdom

GBP 85.00% 85.00% -1,920,000 -30,533,000

Ideal Sourcing (Shanghai) Ltd. Shanghai/ 
People‘s Republic of China

CNY 100.00% 100.00% -2,666,322 -149,811

Ideal Sourcing Ltd. Peterborough/ 
United Kingdom

GBP 100.00% 100.00% 6,934,798 301,820

Ideal World Home Shopping Ltd. Peterborough/ 
United Kingdom

GBP 100.00% 100.00% 2 - / -

iKan Paper Crafts Ltd. Peterborough/ 
United Kingdom

GBP 100.00% 100.00% -30,403 -30,403

International Brand Value Management AG Zug/Switzerland CHF 100.00% 100.00% 192,627 -32,173
ISOCHEM Holding GmbH (in Liquidation) Grünwald EUR 100.00% 95.00% 753,901 -36,000
Klamflex Pipe Couplings (Pty) Ltd. Krugersdorp/South Africa ZAR 100.00% 100.00% 69,356,842 -9,257,322
LD Beteiligungs GmbH Hürth EUR 100.00% 88.25% 4,033,611 31,000
LD Didactic GmbH Hürth EUR 100.00% 100.00% 2,425,079 -2,011,492
LD Operations Kft. Cegléd/Hungary HUF 100.00% 100.00% 11,903,000 6,584,000
LD Vertriebs GmbH Hürth EUR 100.00% 100.00% 29,437 2,374
Lead the Good Life Ltd. Peterborough/ 

United Kingdom
GBP 100.00% 100.00% 50,500 - / -

Librairie Erasmus (French branch) Paris/France EUR 100.00% 100.00% 374,343 279,103
LoXite GmbH3,2 Berlin EUR 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
Mediterranean Yacht Service Center SARL Canet en Roussillon/ 

France
EUR 100.00% 100.00% -2,669,153 -7,893

MEZ Crafts Belgium NV Brussels/Belgium EUR 100.00% 100.00% 379,688 -10,682
MEZ Crafts Hungary Kft. Nagyatag/Hungary HUF 100.00% 100.00% 3,330,545,376 -135,080,008
MEZ Crafts Lithuania UAB Vilnius/Lithuania EUR 100.00% 100.00% -73,121 -78,721
MEZ Crafts Portugal Lda. Vila Nova de Gaia/Portugal EUR 99.90% 99.90%   
MEZ Crafts Switzerland GmbH Zurich/Switzerland CHF 100.00% 100.00% 326,466 18,781
MEZ Crafts Tekstil Anonim Sirket Istanbul/Turkey TRL 100.00% 100.00% 14,493,447 305,363,702
MEZ Crafts UK Ltd. Huddersfield/ 

United Kingdom
GBP 100.00% 100.00% 162,147 31,286

MEZ Fabra Spain S.A. Barcelona/Spain EUR 100.00% 100.00% 1,109,205 254,646
MEZ GmbH Herbolzheim EUR 100.00% 100.00% 464,335 -7,642,098
MEZ Grundstücksgesellschaft GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 527,143 495,403
MEZ Harlander GmbH Vienna/Austria EUR 100.00% 100.00% 945,327 -41,214
MEZ Logistics GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 25,000 - / -
MEZ Needlecraft GmbH Herbolzheim EUR 100.00% 100.00% 110,295 114,131
Mid Counties Photographic Supplies Ltd. Colchester/ 

United Kingdom
GBP 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -

Moody Yachts GmbH Greifswald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 16,764 -1,279
MRG Holding Ltd. Bury St Edmunds/ 

United Kingdom
GBP 100.00% 100.00% 2,220,633 750,000

nestor Hotel Objekt Ludwigsburg GmbH Ludwigsburg EUR 100.00% 100.00% 1,140,626 314,380
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nestor Hotel Objekt Neckarsulm GmbH Neckarsulm EUR 100.00% 100.00% 669,551 191,747
nds Group AS (previously: Hellanor AS) Hagan/Norway NOK 100.00% 100.00% 86,775,898 81,469,085
Niceday Distribution Center Ltd. Leicester/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% - / - -21,838,000
OD Participations (France) SAS Senlis/France EUR 100.00% 100.00% 81,862,858 -15,539,910
ODE Holding B.V. Venlo/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% 239,128,901 328,878,900
Office 1 (1995) Ltd. Leicester/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% -6,425,000 - / -
Office 1 Ltd. Leicester/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 790,841,000 18,553,000
Office Depot (Holdings) Ltd. Leicester/United Kingdom EUR 100.00% 100.00% 875,213,000 - / -
Office Depot BV Venlo/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% -25,685,471 -21,179,484
Office Depot DACHBEN Holding BV Venlo/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% 85,309,000 6,000
Office Depot Deutschland GmbH Großostheim EUR 100.00% 100.00% 23,858,237 1,264,630
Office Depot Europe BV Venlo/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% 18,592,856 539,946
Office Depot Europe Holding GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 94,221 949,000
Office Depot Europe Holdings Ltd. Leicester/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% -237,541,000 -20,585,000
Office Depot France Holding BV Venlo/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% 412,456 -117
Office Depot France Holding Two BV Venlo/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% 412,406 -167
Office Depot France SNC Senlis/France EUR 100.00% 100.00% 50,587,822 -18,529,361
Office Depot GmbH Lenzburg/Switzerland CHF 100.00% 100.00% -68,146,690 -98,719
Office Depot Growth Holding BV Venlo/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% 23,993,000 -6,037,000
Office Depot Holding GmbH Lenzburg/Switzerland CHF 100.00% 100.00% 10,799,411 -9,658
Office Depot Holding Spain Ltd.2 Leicester/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
Office Depot Holdings 4 Ltd.2 Leicester/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
Office Depot International (UK) Ltd. Leicester/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 385,228,000 21,489,000
Office Depot International BV Venlo/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% 22,137,905 -13,882,424
Office Depot International BVBA Puurs/Belgium EUR 100.00% 100.00% 22,476,826 958,814
Office Depot Ireland Ltd. Dublin/Ireland EUR 100.00% 100.00% -6,560,000 -862,000
Office Depot Italia Srl. Assago/Italy EUR 100.00% 100.00% 1,717,539 -1,832,057
Office Depot Service Center Srl. Cluj/Romania RON 100.00% 100.00% 25,997,962 2,057,097
Office Depot Service Holding BV Venlo/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% 29,966,522 -342
Office Depot SL Alcala de Henares/Spain EUR 100.00% 100.00% 1,104,426 -1,001,393
Office Depot Svenska AB Solna/Sweden SEK 100.00% 100.00% 142,031,913 -42,045,125
Office Depot Sweden (Holding) AB Solna/Sweden SEK 100.00% 100.00% 210,051,000 -644,503
Office Depot UK & Ireland Holding BV Venlo/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% 33,840,000 -270
Office Depot UK Ltd. Leicester/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 143,411,000 -11,511,000
Old Book Club Associates Ltd. Swindon/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 217,694 -352,991
OOO VAG Armaturen RUS Samara/Russia RUB 100.00% 100.00% 271,861,476 46,800,603
Oy Conaxess Trade Finland AB Helsinki/Finnland EUR 100.00% 100.00% 1,534,241 346,976
Pets and Wildlife Ltd. Peterborough/ 

United Kingdom
GBP 100.00% 100.00% 1 - / -

Privilège Marine Holding GmbH Greifswald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 619,147 -16,026
Privilège Marine SAS Les Sables d'Olonne/France EUR 97.43% 97.43% -15,665,470 -2,907,676
Promandis BV Amsterdam/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% 10,148,189 - / -
Regain Polymers Holding Ltd. Castleford/ 

United Kingdom
GBP 100.00% 100.00% -9,527 -26,955

Reliable UK Ltd. Leicester/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 29,714,000 640,000
Rivus Fleet Solutions Ltd. Solihull/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 229,376,000 20,073,000
Rover HoldCo ApS2 Aarhus/Denmark DKK 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
Samal Investments (Pty.) Ltd. Johannesburg/South Africa ZAR 100.00% 100.00% 5,492,955 355,174
Sealine Yachts GmbH Greifswald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 22,254 -1,158
Secop Beteiligungs GmbH3 Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 7,573,997 - / -
Secop d.o.o. (in Liquidation) Crnomelj/Slovenia EUR 100.00% 100.00% 5,109,468 -8,699
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Secop Verwaltungs GmbH3 Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 2,600,000 - / -
SEV Automotive & Plant Ltd. Solihull/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 157,919 -67,362
Silvan A/S Aarhus/Denmark DKK 100.00% 100.00% 79,077,435 -12,925,055
Silvan Holding GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% - / - -195,000
Studienkreis Holding GmbH Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 583,791 -125,127
Sweet Briar Park Management Company Ltd. London/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 1 - / -
Tavex International GmbH (in Liquidation) Grünwald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 125,232 16,480,000
Technologie Tworzyw Sztucnych Spol. Zoo. Goleniow/Poland PLN 100.00% 100.00% 22,406,615 5,715,215
Transform Hospital Group Ltd.2 Manchester/ 

United Kingdom
GBP 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -

VAG Armatura Polska Spzoo. Warschau/Poland PLN 100.00% 100.00% -765,167 2,510,465
VAG Armaturen Chile Limitada Santiago de Chile/Chile CLP 100.00% 100.00% 1,409,334,367 -406,524,313
VAG GmbH3 Mannheim EUR 100.00% 100.00% 42,720,412 - / -
VAG Holding GmbH Mannheim EUR 100.00% 100.00% -38,184,520 -12,296,990
VAG Middle East DMCC2 Dubai/ 

United Arab Emirates
AED 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -

VAG sro. Hodonin/Czech Republic CZK 100.00% 100.00% 469,662,000 -32,185,000
VAG USA LLC Pennsylvania/United  

States of America
USD 100.00% 100.00% 34,872,338 -1,695,272

VAG Valves Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. Petaling Jaya/Malaysia MYR 100.00% 100.00% 2,206,148 56,470
VAG Valves India (Private) Ltd. Telangana/India INR 100.00% 100.00% 159,294,332 -29,820,571
VAG Valves South Africa Pty. Ltd. Krugersdorp/South Africa ZAR 100.00% 100.00% -4,825,578 -5,043,220
VAG Valvote Italia Srl. Milano/Italy EUR 100.00% 100.00% 127,468 15,125
VAG Water Systems (Taicang) Co. Ltd. Taicang/ 

People‘s Republic of China
CNY 100.00% 100.00% 182,648,196 25,746,229

VAG-Armaturen GesmbH Vienna/Austria EUR 100.00% 100.00% 758,122 304,338
VAG Valves UK Ltd. Glasgow/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 193,195 -171,619
Verwaltung Hanse (Deutschland)  
Vertriebs GmbH

Greifswald EUR 100.00% 100.00% 48,851 2,736

Viking Digital ECIT Ltd.  
(previously: ECIT Development Ltd.)

Milton Keynes/ 
United Kingdom

GBP 100.00% 100.00% 58,445,063 49,973,579

Viking Direct (Ireland) Ltd. Dublin/Ireland EUR 100.00% 100.00% 6,420,000 1,471,000
Viking Direct GesmbH Pregarten/Austria EUR 100.00% 100.00% 12,018,447 787,868
Viking Direct Holdings Ltd. Leicester/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 47,457,000 -863,000
Viking Finance Ireland Ltd. Dublin/Ireland EUR 100.00% 100.00% 218,695,000 -44,980,000
Viking Holding Italia Srl. Assago/Italy EUR 100.00% 100.00% 1,613,377 -1,908,828
Viking Netherland B.V.2 Venlo/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
Viking Netherlands B.V.2 Venlo/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% - / - - / -
Waker BV Rotterdam / Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% 389,000 -128,000
Warehouse Express Ltd. Norwich/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 14,324,000 2,291,000
Wex Photo Video Holdings Ltd. London/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% -1,535,000 -1,268,000
WKF GmbH3 Schmölln EUR 100.00% 100.00% 355,875 - / - 
Wordery.com Ltd. Norwich/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% 4,187,000 1,407,000
Wrightway Marketing Ltd. Peterborough/ 

United Kingdom
GBP 100.00% 100.00% 1 - / -

Wychem Holding Ltd. London/United Kingdom GBP 100.00% 100.00% -454,981 -175,558
Wychem Ltd. Bury St Edmunds/ 

United Kingdom
GBP 100.00% 100.00% 2,911,011 593,799

Xtreme Office BV Venlo/Netherlands EUR 100.00% 100.00% -271,000 -18,000
Yachtzentrum Greifswald Beteiligungs GmbH Greifswald EUR 100.00% 100.00% -6,381,996 -68,355
YouBuild NV Brussels/Belgium EUR 100.00% 100.00% 5,662,556 -516,784
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Associated companies 
Earls Gate Gridco Ltd.4,2 Grangemouth/Scotland GBP 50.00% 50.00% - / - - / -

Participating interests
Borup Kemi Holding A/S Borup/Denmark DKK 45.00% 45.00% 82,065,927 4,595,282
1  Figures are stated in the local currency in every case. For figures stated in foreign currencies, the following exchange rates were applied: One euro 

equals the following amounts in the respective foreign currencies: Australia 1.6106 AUD, Brazil 4.4135 BRL, Bulgaria 1.9558 BGN, Chile 786.3539 CLP, 
Denmark 7.4661 DKK, United Kingdom 0.8773 GBP, Hong Kong 8.7724 HKD, India 78.8519 INR, Canada 1.4857, Malaysia 4.6372 MYR, Mexico 21.5573 
MXN, Norway 9.8497 NOK, Poland 4.2975 PLN, Romania 4.7457 RON, Russia 74.4585 RUB, Sweden 10.5866 SEK, Switzerland 1.1127 CHF, Singapore 1.5272 
SGD, South Africa 16.1731 ZAR, South Korea 1,305.4830, Thailand 34.7645 THB, Turkey 6.3599 TRY, Czech Republic 25.6700 CZK, Hungary 325.2033 HUF, 
USA 1.1196 USD, United Arab Emirates 4.1120 AED, People’s Republic of China 7.7339 CNY. The equity and profit/loss figures are the same as those pre-
sented in the local financial statements of the company’s last available financial statements.

2  No financial statements have been published since the formation of the new company.
3  Profit/loss agreement with the parent company is in effect.
4 Not consolidated for materiality reasons.
5 Shortened financial year.
6 Values are taken from subgroup financial statements.
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74. Events after the reporting date 

In January 2020, AURELIUS sold its subsidiary GHOTEL hotel & living to the Art-Invest Real Estate Group, which has 
its registered head office in Cologne. The buyer Art-Invest Real Estate engages in real estate development and also 
makes hotel investments and operates hotels through several investment vehicles. The GHOTEL Group has belon-
ged to the AURELIUS Group portfolio already since 2006. During this time, it was developed into a fast-growing, 
dynamic operator of business hotels with current 17 locations. In February 2020, moreover, the hotel property in 
Göttingen that had belonged to the GHOTEL Group since early 2018 was sold to Core Budget Hotelfonds, a special 
investment fund of Art-Invest Real Estate Funds GmbH. The transaction closed on February 28, 2020. 

In February 2020, AURELIUS announced the signing of an agreement for the purchase of the Renewable Power 
Systems (RPS) and Protection Relays divisions, both based in Kempen (Germany), of Woodward Inc. The transac-
tion is pending, subject to the usual closing conditions, including the approvals of antitrust authorities, and is ex-
pected to close in the coming months. RPS manufactures frequency converters and other key components for 
wind energy equipment at two production facilities and distributes spare parts for installed plant and equip-
ment, provides services under maintenance agreements and delivers hardware and software upgrades.

Already in December 2019, AURELIUS signed a purchase agreement to acquire a majority interest in ZIM Flugsitz 
GmbH, with its headquarters in the town of Markdorf on Lake Constance. ZIM Flugsitz GmbH is an established 
supplier of high-quality aircraft seats for commercial passenger aircraft. The company was founded in 2008 by 
the Zimmermann married couple of engineers, who still hold equity in the company and will remain in the 
 company’s management, and has grown steadily since then. With a development department that is recognized 
throughout the industry and an innovative, high-quality product portfolio especially for economy and premium 
economy classes, the company is well positioned to capitalize on the long-term growth trend in the market for 
aircraft seats. The company’s customers include numerous international airlines such as Lufthansa, Singapore 
Airlines, Japan Airlines and ANA. The transaction closed on February 28, 2020. 

Also in December 2019, AURELIUS signed an agreement to acquire the Distrelec and Nedis divisions from the 
Swiss Dätwyler Group, which is listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange. Distrelec, which has headquarters in Man-
chester (UK) and Nänikon (CH), is a leading online, B2B distributor of electronic and technical components. In 
addition to its main sales markets of Switzerland and Sweden, the company has a strong market position in a 
total of 15 other European countries. An especially noteworthy feature of the product portfolio is the strong 
focus on MRO components and an offering geared to B2B customers. Nedis, which has its headquarters in 
s’Hertogenbosch (NL), is a wholesaler of electronic products. In Europe, Nedis is especially active in the Nether-
lands, France and Scandinavia as a leading wholesaler of electronic products under its own Nedis brand. The 
company had already been operationally restructured by various initiatives, including a complete rebranding in 
2018. The plan now is to continue the strategy and further establish Nedis in the European market as a success-
ful category manager. The transaction closed on March 16, 2020. 

According to experts, the continuing and worsening coronavirus crisis at the time of this report will have consider-
able effects on the development of the global economy. In an economic forecast published in early March 2020, 
the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) concludes that the continuing coronavirus 
crisis represents the greatest risk to the global economy since the global financial crisis and that economic activity 
will decline sharply throughout the world in the first half of the year. The coronavirus crisis poses currently not yet 
quantifiable risks for general economic conditions and therefore also for AURELIUS. It is not possible to estimate 
the actual medium-term and long-term effects of the coronavirus crisis on the AURELIUS Group at the present 
time. Therefore, there is a risk that it may not be possible to meet the targets set in the companies’ business plans. 
There is a risk that impairments may need to be recognized in intangible assets, property, plant and equipment or 
trade receivables and a risk that the portfolio companies may require additional funding. There is also a risk that 
potential sales of companies cannot be realized or only realized at a later time than planned. On the acquisition 
side, however, AURELIUS also sees great opportunities already in the second half of 2020. In view of the fluid state 
of developments, the Executive Board will continually re-assess the strategy and orientation of AURELIUS and its 
portfolio companies.
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75. Approval of the consolidated financial statements 

The present consolidated financial statements were approved for publication by the Executive Board of the per-
sonally liable shareholder on March 26, 2020.

 
Munich, March 26, 2020

AURELIUS Management SE, 
personally liable shareholder of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA

The Executive Board

Dr. Dirk Markus Gert Purkert Steffen Schiefer 
Executive Board Chairman Executive Board member Executive Board member

Fritz Seemann Matthias Täubl 
Executive Board member Executive Board member
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

 
To AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA, Grünwald

Qualified Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements and Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities SE & Co. KGaA, 
Grünwald and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as 
at 31 December 2019, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the financial year from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 
2019, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting poli-
cies. In addition, we have audited the combined group management report of AURELIUS Equity Opportunities 
SE & Co. KGaA for the financial year from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019. In accordance with German legal 
requirements, we have not audited the content of those components of the management report specified in 
the “Other Information” section of our auditor’s report.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit
–  with the exception of the effects described in the section entitled “Basis for the Qualified Opinion on the 

 Consolidated Financial Statements and for the Opinion on the Group Management Report”, the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and the 
additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: 
 German Commercial Code] and, in compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, and financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and of its financial performance for the 
financial year from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019, and 

–  the accompanying group management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position. 
In all material respects, this group management report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements 
prepared according to IFRS as adopted by the EU, complies with German legal requirements and appropriately 
presents the opportunities and risks of future development. Our opinion on the management report does not 
cover the content of the management report specified in the “Other Information” section of the auditor’s 
 report.

Pursuant to Section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our audit, with the exception of the aforementioned 
qualified audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements, has not led to any reservations relating to the 
legal compliance of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report.

Basis for the Qualified Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements and for the Opinion on the 
Group Management Report
Contrary to the rules of IFRS 3.59 et seqq. and IFRS 8.23 (i), in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
the necessary information regarding the nature and financial effects of business combinations is not included or 
not individually stated, and material non-cash income is not disclosed by segment. 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the combined group management 
 report in accordance with Section 317 HGB and the German Generally Accepted Standards of Financial Statement 
Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our 
 responsibilities under those requirements and principles are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Group Management Report” section of our 
auditor’s report. We are independent of the group entities in accordance with the requirements of German com-
mercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other German professional responsibilities in accordance 
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with these requirements. We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management report.

Material Uncertainty related to going concern of single subsidiaries
We draw attention to Note 10 „Basic principles applied in preparing the financial statements“ in the financial 
statements as well as the information in section „Financial performance, cash flows and financial position“ of the 
combined management report, which indicate that the legal representatives prepared the consolidated financial 
statements on the assumption of a going concern (going-concern). This also applies to the portfolio companies 
Office Depot International BV, Venlo, Netherlands, and Office Depot UK Ltd., Leicester, Great Britain. The legal 
representatives of Office Depot International BV and Office Depot UK Ltd. have stated that the companies are un-
dergoing a restructuring phase and based on their business plans, they will generate sufficient positive operating 
cash flows in the next two years; however, this is dependent on the successful implementation of the measures 
assumed in the business plans, particularly including the stabilization and subsequent increase in revenues and 
further adjustment of the companieś  cost structure. Otherwise, the companies need financial support and the 
provision of cash and cash equivalents by the parent company.

As stated in Note 10 „Basic principles applied in preparing the financial statements“ in the financial statements 
as well as in section „Financial performance, cash flows and financial position“ of the combined management 
 report, these events or conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on 
the subsidiaries’ ability to continue as a going concern and represent circumstances endangering continued 
 operations pursuant to Section 322 Abs 2 Satz 3 HGB. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other Information
Management and the Supervisory Board are responsible for the other information. The other information 
 comprises the following sections of the combined management report that are not audited for content:
–  The corporate governance statement, included on page 77 of the combined management report.

Other Information also includes the remaining parts of the annual report. Other Information does not include the 
annual financial statements, the management report information audited for content and our auditor’s report.

Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management report do not cover the 
other information, and consequently we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance conclusion 
thereon.

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in so doing, to consider 
whether the other information 
–  is materially inconsistent with the annual financial statements, with the management report information 

 audited for content or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
– otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

Responsibilities of Management and the Supervisory Board for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
and the Group Management Report
Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that comply, in all 
material respects, with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German commercial law 
pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB and that the consolidated financial statements, in compliance with these 
 requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position, and financial performance of 
the Group. In addition, management is responsible for such internal control as they have determined necessary 
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
 ability to continue as a going concern. They also have the responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern. In addition, they are responsible for financial reporting based on the going concern 
basis of accounting unless there is an intention to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or there is no 
 realistic alternative but to do so.

Furthermore, management is responsible for the preparation of the group management report that, as a 
whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and is, in all material respects, consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal requirements, and appropriately presents the 
opportunities and risks of future development. In addition, management is responsible for such arrangements 
and measures (systems) as they have considered necessary to enable the preparation of a group management 
report that is in accordance with the applicable German legal requirements, and to be able to provide sufficient 
appropriate evidence for the assertions in the group management report.

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process for the preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements and of the group management report.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Group 
Management Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the group management 
report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and, in all material respects, is consistent 
with the consolidated financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit, complies with the German 
legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development, as well as to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the group 
management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with Section 317 HGB and in compliance with the German generally accepted standards for the audit of financial 
statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always detect a material misstatement. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolida-
ted financial statements and this group management report.

We exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
–  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements and of the 

group management report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
controls.

–  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial statements and 
of arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to the audit of the group management report in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of these systems.
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–  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by management and the reasonableness of estimates 
made by management and related disclosures.

–  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a mate-
rial uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements and in the group management report or, if such disclosures are inade-
quate, to modify our respective opinions. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to be able to 
continue as a going concern.

–  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements present the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabili-
ties, financial position and financial performance of the Group in compliance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU 
and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB.

–  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the group 
management report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our opinions.

–  Evaluate the consistency of the group management report with the consolidated financial statements, its 
conformity with [German] law, and the view of the Group’s position it provides.

–  Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by management in the group manage-
ment report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in particular, the significant 
assumptions used by management as a basis for the prospective information, and evaluate the proper deri-
vation of the prospective information from these assumptions. We do not express a separate opinion on the 
prospective information and on the assumptions used as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk that 
future events will differ materially from the prospective information.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

Munich, March 26, 2020

KPMG AG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

 
Hanshen  Bergler 
Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer 
[German Public Auditor] [German Public Auditor]
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